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My team and I also corrected several typographical evrors that we identified
on our own. and we removed a watermatrk and headers that designated the document
as a confidential draft.

After veviewing the draft report. the relevant intelligence agencies have
identified no content that is classified or otherwise unfit for public disclosure. The
White House Counse! has not conveved to me the President’s decisions as 1o
assertions of executive privilege: T understand that the White House Counsel wall
convey such decisions to yvou divect[v.

Thank veu for allowing the Special Counsels Office to conduct our
investigation independently and for supporting us with the necessary resonrces.

I am extvaordinanly grateful for the thorough. caveful. and diligent work of the
Department of Justice emplovees who worked on this matter. T am deeply honoved to
have served with them.

Respectfully,
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.__“.;:3@ ._: f -

Robevt K. Hur

Special Counsel
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

We conclude that no eriminal charges are warranted in this matter.! We would
reach the same conclusion even 1f Department of Justice policy did not foreclose
criminal charges against a sitting president.?

Our investigation uncovered evidence that President Biden willfully retained
and disclosed classified marerials after his vice presidency when he was a private
citizen, These materialz included (1) marked classifled documents about military and
forcign poliey i Afghanistan. and (2) notebooks containing My, Biden's handwritten
entries about issues of national security and foreign policy implicating sensitive
intelligence sources and methods. FBI agents recovered these materials from the
garage. offices. and basement den in My, Biden's Wilmington, Delaware home.

However, for the reasons summarized below. we conclude that the evidence
does not establish Mr. Biden's guilt bevond a reasonable doubt. Prosecution of Mr.
Biden 1= also unwarranted based on our consideration of the aggravating and
mitigating factors set forth in the Department of Justice’s Principles of Federal

Prosceution. For these reasons. we dechine prosccution of My, Biden.

The classified documents and other materials recovered in 1his case spanned

Mr. Biden's career in national publie life. During that carcer. My. Biden has long seen

"We submit this report to the Attorney General pursuant to 28 C.IF.R. § 600.8(c).
which states that, “{a]t the conclusion of the Special Counsel’s work, he or she shall provide
the Attorney General a confidential report explaining the prosecution or declination decisions
reached by the Special Counsel”

2 A Sitting President’s Amenability to Indictment and Crinanal Prosecution, 2.1 Op.
O.1.C. 222, 260 (2000).



himself as a historic figure. Elected to the Senate at age twentyv-nine. he considered
running for president as carly as 1980 and did so in 1988, 2008, and 2020. He believed
his record during decades in the Senate made him worthy of the presidency. and he
collected papers and artifacts related to significant 1ssues and events in his career.
He used these materials to write memoirs published in 2007 and 2017, to document
his legacy. and to cite as evidence that he was a man of presidential timber,

In 2009. then-Vice President Biden strongly opposed the military's plans to
send more troops to Afghanistan. U.S. policy 1n Afghanistan was deeply important to
My, Biden. and he labored to dissuade President Obama from escalating America's
involvement there and repeating what Mr. Biden believed was a mistake akin to
Vietnam. Despite Mr, Biden's advice, President Obama orvdered a surge of additional
LS. troops. and Mr. Biden's views endured sharp criticism {rom others within and
outside of the administration. But he alwayvs believed history would prove him right.
He retained materials documenting his opposition to the troop surge. including a
classified handwritten memo he sent President Obama over the 2009 Thanksgiving
holidayv. and related marked classified documents. FBI agents recovered these
materials from Mr. Biden's Delaware garage and home office in December 2022 and
January 2023.

Also. during his cight vears as vice president. Mr. Biden regularly wrote notes
by hand in notebooks. Some of these notes related to classified subjects. including the
President’s Daily Brief and National Security Council meetings, and some of the

notes are themselves classified. After the vice presidency, My, Biden kept these
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classified notebooks in unsecured and unauthorized spaces at his Virginia and
Delawave homes and used some of the notebooks as reference material for his second
memotr. Promise Me, Dad. which was published in 2017, To our knowledge. no one
has identified any classified information published 1n Promise Me, Dad. but Ay
Biden shared information. including some classified information. from those
notebooks with hix ghostwriter. FBI agents recovered the notebooks from the office

and bagement den in Mr. Biden's Delaware home mn January 2023,

Marked classified documents about Afghanistan. These documents from
fall 2009 have classification markings up to the Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented
[nformation level. They were found in a box i Mr, Biden's Delaware garage that
contained other materials of great personal significance to him and that he appears
to have personally used and accessed. The marked classified documents were found
along with drafts of the handwritten 2009 Thanksgiving memo My, Biden sent
Prexident Obama in a last-duch effort to persuade him not to send additional troops
to Afghanistan. These materials were proof of the stand My, Biden took in what he
regarded as among the most important decisions of his vice presidency.

Mr. Biden wrote his 2007 and 2017 memoirs with the help of a ghostwriter. In
a recorded conversation with his ghostwriter in February 2017, about a month after
he left office. Mr. Biden said. while referencing his 2009 Thanksgiving memo, that he
had “jJust found all the classified stuff downstairs.” At the time, he was renting a home
in Virginia, where he met his ghostwriter to work on his second memoir. Downstairs

from where they met was Mr. Biden's office. where he stored his papers. He moved
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out of the Virginia home in 2019, consclidating his belongings in Delaware—where
FBI agents later found marked classified documents about the Afghanistan troop
surge in his garage.

Evidence supports the inference thar when Ar. Biden said in 2017 that he had
“just found all the classified stuff downstairs” in Virginia, he was relerring to the
=ame marked classified documents about Afghanistan that FBI agents found in 2022
in his Delaware garage.

Nevertheless, we do not helieve this evidence is sufficient, as jurors would
likelv find reasonable doubt for one or more of several reasons, Both when he sevrved
as vice president and when the Afghanistan documents were found in My, Biden's
Delaware garage i 2022, his possession of them in his Delaware bome was not a
basis for prosecution beeause as vice president and president, he had authority to
keep classified documents in his home. The best case for charges would rely on Mr.
Biden's possession of the Afghanistan documents in his Virginia home in February
2017. when he was a private citizen and when he told his ghostwiiter he had just
found clasaified material,

Several defenses are likely to create reasonable doubt as to such charges. For
example, My, Biden could have found the classified Afehanistan documents at his
Virginia home in 2017 and then forgotien about them =oon after. This could convince
some reasonable jurors that he did not retain them willfullv. When AMr. Biden told
his ghostwriter about finding “all the clazsified stuff downstairs.” hiz tone was

matter-of-fact. For a person who had viewed classified documents neavly every day



for cight vears ag vice president. including regularly in his home, finding classified
documents at home less than a month after leaving office could have been an
unremarkable and forgettable event. Notably, the elassified Afghanistan documents
did not come up again i Mr. Biden's dozens of hours of recorded conversations with
the ghostwriter. or in his book. And the place where the Afghanistan documents were
eventually found in Mr. Biden's Delaware garage—in a badlvy damaged box
surrounded by houschold detritus—suggests the documents might have been
forgotten.

In additnion. Mr. Biden's memory was significantly hmited. both during hix
recorded mterviews with the ghostweiter in 2017, and in his interview with our office
in 2023, And hig cooperation with our investigation. including by veporting 1o the
government that the Afghanistan documents were 1in his Delaware garage. will likely
convince some jJurors thar he made an inhocent mistake. vather than acting
willfully—that 1= with intent to break the law- as the statute requires.

Another viable defensc 1s that My, Biden might not have retained the classified
Afghanistan documents in his Virginia home at all. They could have been stored. by
mistake and without hix knowledge. at his Delaware home since the time he wax vice
president. as were other classified documents recovered during our investigation.
This would rebut charges that he willfully vetained the documents in Virginia.

Given Mr. Biden's limited precision and recall during his interviews with his
ghostwriter and with our office. jurors may hesitate to place too much evidentiary

welght on a single eight-word utierance to his ghostwriter about finding classified



documents in Virginia. in the absence of other. more direct evidence. We searvched foy
such additional evidenee and found it wanting. [n particular. no witness, photo, e-
mail, text message. or anyv other evidence conclusively places the Afghanistan
documents at the Virginia home in 2017,

In addition to this shortage of evidence. there are other innocent explanations
for the documents that we cannot refute. When Mr, Biden told his ghostwriter he
Tust found all the classified stuff downstairs.” he could have been relerring to
something other than the Afghanistan documents, and our report discusses these
possibilities m detail,

We have also considered that. at trial. My, Biden would likely present himself
to a jury. as he did during our interview of him. as a svmpathetic. well-meaning.
clderlvy man with 4 poor memory, Based on our direct interactions with and
obscervations of him. he 12 someone for whom many jurors will want to dentifv
reasonable doubt. It would be difficull to convince a jury that thev should convict
him—by then a former president well into his eighties—of a serious felony that
requires a4 mental state of willfulness.

We conclude the evidence is not sufficient to convict, and we decline to
recommend prosecution of Mr. Biden for his retention of the classified Afghanistan

documentx.

Notebooks containing classified information. FBI agents recovered from

unlocked drawers in the office and basement den of My, Biden's Delaware home 4 set
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of notcbooks he used as vice president. Evidence shows that he knew the notebooks
contained classihied information. Mr. Biden wrole down obviously sensitive
mformation discussed during intelligence briefings with President Obama and
meetings in the White House Situation Room about matters of national securtty and
military and foreign policy. And while reading his notebook entries aloud during
meetings with his ghostwriter. Mr. Biden sometimes skipped over presumptively
classified material and wavned his ghostwriter the entries might be classified. but at
least three times My, Biden read from classified entries aloud to his ghostwriter
nearly verbatim.

Some evidence also suggests Mr. Biden knew he could not keep classified
handwritten notes at home after leaving office. My, Biden. who had decades of
experience with classified information, was deeply familiar with the measures taken
ro safeguard classified mformarion and the need for those measures to prevent harm
to national security. Asked about reports that former President Trump had kept
classified documents at his own home. Ay, Biden wondered how “anvone could be that
irresponsible” and voiced concern about “[wlhat data was in there that may
compromise sources and methods.” While vice president. he kept his notebooks in a
White House safe for a time. in contrast with his decision after leaving office to keep
them at home 1n unlocked drawers,

When Mr. Biden left office. he also knew his staff decided to store notecards
containing his classified notes in a Secure Compartmented Information Facility

(SCIF) at the National Archives. and he knew his notebooks contained the same tvpe
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of classified information. A¢ he told his ghostwrirer during a recorded intevview. the
same staff who arranged to secure his classified notecards "didn't even know™ he had
retained possession of his classified notebooks. Twice 1n 2017, Mr. Biden visited the
National Avchives SCIF to review his classified notecards while writing his book. Yet
he kept his notebooks, which also contained classified information, mm unlocked
drawers at home. He had strong motivations to do o and to ignore the rules for
properly handling the classified information in his notebooks, He consulted the
notebooks iberally during hours of discussions with his ghostwriter and viewed them
as highly private and valued possessions with which he was unwilling to part.

We do not. however. believe thiz evidence would meet the government’s burden
at trial—particularly the requirement to prove that Mr. Biden intended to do
something the law forbids. Consistent with statements My, Biden made during our
mterview of him and arguments made by the White House Counsel and My, Biden's
personal counsel. we expect Mr. Biden's defense at trial would be that he thought his
notebooks were his personal property and he was allowed to take them home. even if
they contained classified information. During our interview of him. Mr. Biden was
emphatic. declaring that his notebooks are "my property” and that “every president
before me has done the exact same thing.” that is. kept handwritten classified
materials after leaving office. He also cited the diarvies that President Reagan kept in
his private home after leaving office. noting that they included classified information.

Contemporaneous evidence suggests that when Mr. Biden lelt office in 2017,

he believed he was allowed to keep the notebooks mm his home. In a recorded



conversation with his ghostwriter in April 2017, Mr. Biden explained that. despite
his staff's views to the contraryv. he did not think he was required to turn in his
notecards to the National Archives—where they were stored in a SCIF—-and he had
not wanted to do so. At rrial, he would argue plausibly that he thought the same about
his notebooks.

If thix 1% what Mr. Biden thought. we believe he was mistaken about what the
law permits. but this view finds some support in historical practice. The clearest
example is President Reagan. who left the White House in 19883 with eight vears
worth of handwritten diarics. which he appears to have kept at his California home
even though they contained Top Secret information. During criminal litigation
involving a former Reagan administration official in 1989 and 1990, the Department
of Justice stated in public court filings that the "curvrently classified” diaries weve Mr.
Reagan's “personal vecords.” Yet we know of no =teps the Department or other
agencies took to investigate Mr. Reagan for mishandling classified information or to
retrieve or secure his diaries. Most jurors would likely find evidence of this precedent
and Mr. Biden's claimed reliance on it. which we expect would be admitted at trial.
to be compelling evidence that Mr. Biden did not act willfully.

As with the marked classified documents, because the evidence 1s not sufficient
to conviet Mr. Biden for wilifully retaining the notebooks. we decline prosecution,

We also considered whether Mr. Biden willfully disclosed national defense
information to his ghostwriter by reading aloud certain classified notebook passages

to the ghostwriter nearly verbatim on at least three oceasions. Mr. Biden should have



known that by reading his unfiltered notes about classified meetings in the Situation
Room. he risked sharing classified information with his ghostwriter, But the evidence
does not show that when Mr. Biden shared the specific passages with his ghostwriter.
My, Biden knew the passages were classified and intended to share classified
information. My, Biden's lapses in attention and vigilance demonstrate why former
officials should not keep classified materials unsecured at home and read them aloud
to others. but jurors could well conclude that Mr. Biden's actions were unintentional.
We therefore decline to charge Mr. Biden for disclosure of these passages to his

ghostwriter,

Principles of Federal Prosecution. We have alzo cvaluated “all relevant
conziderations” in aggravation and mitigation. as outhined n the Justice Manual, and
determined that on balance. these factors do not support prosecution of My, Biden.?

Historically. after leaving office. many former presidents and vice presidents
have knowingly taken home sensitive materials related to national security from
thewr administrations without being charged with crimes. This historical record 1s
important context for judging whether and why to charge a former vice president-- -
and former president. as My, Biden would be when susceptible to prosceution—Ifoy
similar actions taken by several of his predecessors.

With one exception, there 12 no record of the Department of Justice prosecuting

a former president or vice president for mishandling classified documents from his

U8 Dep't of Just., Just. Manual §§ 9-27.001. 9-27.220. 9-27 230 (2023).
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own administration. The exception 1= former President Trump. {1 1s not our role to
assess rthe criminal charges pending against Mr. Trump, but several material
distinetions between My, Trump's case and Mr. Biden's are clear, Unlike the evidence
involving Mr. Biden. the allegations set forth in the indictment of My, Trump. if
proven. would present serious aggravating facts.

Most notably. after being given multiple chances to return classilied
documents and avoid prosecution. Mr, Trump allegedly did the opposite. According
to the indictment. he not only refused to veturn the documents for many months. but
he also obstructed justice by enlisting others to destroy evidence and then to lie about
it In contrast. Mr. Biden turned in classified documents to the National Archives and
the Department of Justice. consented to the seavch of multiple locations including his
homes. sat for a voluntary interview. and in other wavs cooperated with the
Investigation.

In veaching our decision. we did not consider every clircumstance in which
crimmal charges against a former president or vice president for mishandling
classified information may be warranted. But on the facts of this case. “the
fundamental interests of society” do not “require” eriminal charges against My,
Biden.! For this additional reason. applving the Principles of Federal Prosecution set
forth in the Justice Manual. we decline prosccution.

The practices of retaining classified material in unsecured locations and

reading classified material to one’s ghostwriter present serious risks to national

FULS. Dept of Just., Just Manual §§ 9-27.001. 9-27.220 (202:3).
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security, given the vulnerability of extraordinarily sensitive imnformation to loss oy
compromise to America’'s adversaries. The Department routinely highlights such
risks when pursuing classified mishandling prosecutions. But addressing those risks
through criminal charges. the only means available to this office, is not the proper

remedy herve.

Other classified materials. For other recovered classified documents, after
a thorough investigation the decision to  dechine c¢riminal  chavges was
stratghtforward. The FBI recovered additional marked classified documents at the
Penn Biden Center. elsewhere 1n Mr. Biden's Delaware home. and in collections of
his Senate papers at the University of Delaware, but the evidence suggests that My,
Biden did not willfully retain these documents and that they could plausibly have
been brought to thexe locations by mistake. We also investigated whether persons
other than Mr. Biden knowingly mishandled these classified documents. and our
investigation showed that they did not. In reaching these conclusions, we note the
numerous previous instances i which marked classified documents have been
discovered intermixed with the personal papers of former Executive Branch officials

and members of Congress.

Mpr. Biden’s ghostwriter and destruction of evidence. After learning of the
spectal counsel's appointment in this matter. My, Biden's ghostwriter deleted audio
recordings he had created of his discussions with Mr. Biden during the writing of Mr.
Biden's 2017 memoir. The recordings had significant evidentiary value.

12



After telling the Special Counsel's Office what he had done. the ghostwriter
turned over his computer and external hard drive and consented to their search.
Based on the FBI's analvsis. it appears the FBI recovered all deleted audio files
relating to the memoir. though portions of a few of the files appear to be missing.
which 1= possible when forensic tools are used to recover deleted {iles. The ghostwriter
kept. and did not delete or attempt to delete, his near-verbatim transeripts of the
recordings and produced those transcripts to us, including foy each of the mcomplete
recovered files.

We considered whether to charge the ghostwriter with obstruction of jusiice.
but we believe the evidence would be insufficient to obtain a conviction and therefore
declined to prosecute him,

While the ghostwriter admitted that he deleted the recordings after he learned
of the special counsel's investigation. the evidence falls short of proving bevond a
reasonable doubt that he intended to impede an investigation, which is the intent
required by law. In his interviews. the ghostwriter offeved plausible. innocent reasons
for why he deleted the recordings. He also preserved his transcripts that contain some
of the most Incriminating information against Mr. Biden— including his statement
about finding “all the classified stuff downstairs™ 1in 2017 —which 1s inconsistent with
an intent to impede an investigation by destroving evidence. And the ghostwritey
voluntarily produced to mvestigators his notes and the devices from which the

recordings were recovered,
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For these reasons. we believe that the admissible evidence would not suffice to
obtain a conviction of the ghostwriter for obstruction of justice. On halance. relevant

aggravating and mitigating factors also do not support his prosecution.
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CHAPTER ONE
LEGAL FRAMEWORK GOVERNING CLASSIFIED INFORMATION

The Constitution vests the president with "authority to classify and control
access to information bearing on national security.”™ By executive order. presidents
since Franklin Roosevelt have preseribed a svstem for classifving and safeguarding
national security information.f In 1994, Congress divected the prestdent o establish
by executive order or regulation uniform procedures governing access to claxsified
information across the exceutive branch.” President Obama issued the current order
when Mr. Biden was vice president.® Among other things. the order sets forth rules
that determine whether a person may access classified information and how that
information must be handled.®

The 1994 statute—and. by implication. the current executive order governing
clasaified information—do not apply to a sitting president or viee president. members
of Congress. justices of the Supreme Court. and federal judges. 1?

There js. however, no statutory exception for a former president or viee

president, and the restrictions on access (0 classified information in the executive

S PDep’t of the Navy v, Kgan, 181 U8, 518 527 (1988): see U.S. CONST. art. {T.§ 2.

FREVIN R KOSAR, CONG. RSCH. SERV.. RA1528, CLASSIFIED INFORMATION POLICY AND
EXECUTIVE ORDER 13526 3 (2010).

TR0 LLS.C.§ 3161

* (lassified National Security Information. Executive Order 13526, 75 Fed. Rep. 707
(2009,

vld § 11

1050 U.S.C. 88 3161(a), 3163.
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order and the rules preseribed under i1ts authority appear to apply to such former
officials. U

The order defines elassified information to include: (a) military plans, weapons
svstems, or operations: (h) foreign government information: and (¢) intelligence
activities, meluding covert actions and intelligence sources. methods. or ervptology. 12
Informartion 12 classified only if “1ts unauthorized disclosure could reasonably be
expected to cause wdentifiable or describable damage to the national security.” 14
Information is classified as “Confidential” if 1ts unauthorized disclosure reasonably
could be expected to cause damage to the natwonal security. It 1s classified as "Secret”
if 1t= unauthorized disclosure reasonably could be expected to cause serious damage
to the national sccurity. And 1t 1= classified as "Top Secret” if its unauthorized
disclosure reasonably could be expected to cause exceptionally grave damage to the
national seceurity.!!

The order also =ets forth conditions that any person (other than the current
officeholders listed above) must meet to access to classified information.' To receive
such access. a person 1= required to:

1. Have a favorable determination of eligibility (generally after completion of
a background mvestigation):

2. Sign an approved nondixclosure agreement: and

150 U.S.C.§ 3163 Executive Ovder 13526 8§ 1. 1¢a), 1.1; Trump v. { nited Stales, No.
22-13005, 2022 WL 436668 1. at *8 t11th Cir. Sept. 21, 2022) (per curiam).

2 Fxecutive Order 13526 § 1.4,

Sld g1

b fed § 1.2

B § 41
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3. Have a nced-ro-know the information.é

For former presidents and vice presidents. the ovder expressly allows for the
nced-to-know requirement (but not the others listed above) to be walved by an
agenexy.!” A former official mayv obtain =uch a waiver only if a senior official of the
ageney that oviginated the classified information “determines in writing that access
is consistent with the interest of the national security.” “takes appropriate steps to
protect {the] classified information from unauthorized disclosure or compromise.” and
"ensures that the mformation 15 safeguarded in a manner consistent wirh [the
executive order].

In addition to establishing rules that govern access to classified information.
the order also requires ageney heads to establish controls over how 1t must be
stored.-* Among other things. Top Secret and Secret information must be kept 1n a
storage containeyr approved by the Generval Services Adminisiration or an approved
and locked storage area.?V Informarion that is even more sensitive—called Sensitive
Compartmented Information and sometimes referred to as “codeword” information —

must be stored in an aceredited Sensitive Compartmented Information Facility, or

SCIF.2

16 [, § 1. 1{a).

“fd § 1.1

B ld. § 44 Trwmp v United States, No. 22-13005, 2022 WL 366681, at *8.

10 Mxecutive Order 13526 § 4.1(g).

W See 32 C1.R§§ 2001.43(bY(1) and (2). 2001.53.

21 Office of the Director of National Intelligenee, Intelligence Community Divective
705 (2010). Sensitive Compartmented Information is a subset of classified information
“concerning or derived from intelligence sources. methods or analytical processes that is
required to be protected within formal access control svstems established by the [Dirceror of

17


https://information.Hi

The restrictions described above apply to classified imformation 1n any

documentary form. whether it is printed. typed. or handwritten.2?

National Intelligence].” Office of the Director of National Intelligence. Intelligence
Community Directive 703 "Protection of Classified National Intelligence. Including Sensitive
Compartmented Information.” § D2 (2013).

=2 See fixecutive Ordev 13326 8§ 1.1, 2.1 6. 103). 6. Hp) 6. 101

18
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CHAPTER TwoQ

OVERVIEW OF THE INVESTIGATION

1. DiSCOVERY OF CLASSIFIED DOCUMENTS
A. Personal counsel to Mr. Biden discovered marked classified

documents at the Penn Biden Center

On November 2, 2022, Patrick Moore—one of Mr. Biden's personal counsel—
reviewed boxes of material belonging to My, Biden, which were stored at the Penn
Biden Center for Diplomacy and Global Engagement in Washington. D.C.. an office
space formerly uzed by Mr. Biden. During this review. Moore [ound documents with
classification mavkings dating to My, Biden's vice presidency.

AMoore notified Robert Bauer. another personal counsel to My, Biden, who then
notified the White House Counsel That evening. the White House Counsel's Office
informed the general counsel for the National Archives and  Recovds
Admimstration,

The next morning, November 3. 2022, the National Archives sent two
archivists to retrieve the decuments and the three boxes in which they were found.2!
Upon reviewing the documents in a SCIF. the National Archives found nine

documents. totaling 44 pages. with classification markings.?® The documents were

23 NARA Gencral Counsel 11/10/22, FBI Serial 4 at 1-2: FBI Serial 1 1AS at 2-3. An
FBI Serial refers to a numbered entry in the FBI's case file. which mayv have evidentiary
attachments that are often designated as “1A7 files. When an FBI agent logs a new report,
for example. into the case file, the report is given a serial number corresponding to the order
in which the new file was logged.

2P NARA Archivist 2 TH/10/22, FBI Serial 3 at 1-2; NARA COS 11/16/22. FBI Serial 6
at 1-2: NARA COO 1115722, FBI Serial 10 at 2-3; NARA General Counsel 11710722, FBI
Serial -1 at 2

2P NARA Avchivist 2 11710722, FBI Serial 3 at 2: NARA COO 11/15/1022, FBI Serial
10 at 3 and 1A8 11-422 e-mail with notes on boxes.
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classified up to the Top Seceret level and included codes indicating some of the
information was Sensitive Compartmented Information.? The marked classified
documents were located in two of the three boxes. ' All three boxes contained records
dating from My, Biden's time as vice president. 2

The day after the National Avchives retrieved the classified documents. on
November 4, 2022, the Archives notified officials in the National Security Division of
the Department of Justice (DOJ) and the Office of the Director of National
Intelligence of the discovery of “classified records related to Presadent Biden's time as
Viee President.2 A few davs later. on November 9. the FBI openced an initial
assessment o begin investigating the matrer.™

The following dayv. November 16, the Chief of DOJ's Counterintelligence and
Export Control Section sent Bauer a letter describing the steps that Bauer and others
acting on the president’s hehalf should rake.® The Chief informed Bauer that “[tjhe
prospect that classified material may have been stored in an unsecure location over
a prolonged period may have national security implications.”! He alzo told Bauer
that. pending further action by DOJ. the Penn Biden Center and My, Biden's post-

Vice Presidential Office should (1) secure “rooms and locations that contain any

26 NARA Arvchivist 2 1110422, FBLU Serial 3 at 2; NARA COO 11/15/22. FBI Serial 10
at 3 and 1A8 11-422 e-mail with notes on boxes.

NARA COO 111522, FBI Serial 10 at 3.

122 e-matl] fram NARA OTG. FBI Serial 280 TA35.

5 The FBl opened an initial assessment on November 9, 2022, See FBI Serial 1: FI3I
Serial 2: FBI Serial 28, On Januarvy 13, 2023, the FBI converted the initial assessment to a
full investigation after receiving approval from the Attorney General and other appropriate
aurhoritics, I'BI Serial 68.

SLT0622 Trr. from CES Chief, FBI Serial 9.0 TA7T.

s Id
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additional potential government records and materials from President Biden's time
as Vice-President.” (2) prescrve the status guo as to the location of such materials
and refrain from reviewing them, (3) preserve all video footage. vigitor logs. and other
access records from the Penn Biden Center. (4) provide a list of all locations where
material from Mr. Biden's time as vice president have been stored. and (5) give
express consent for FBI and Department of Justice personnel to review the records
vetrieved by the National Archives.

Bauer responded the next day stating that President Biden had no objection to
the requested steps and would “cooperate fully with the Department and. as divected
by the Department. with jthe Archives]." Bauer stated. “[wle do not know of any
rooms or locations that contain additional potential government records and
materials [rom President Biden's time as Viee President. bur will immediately
acknowledge and act as divected in the event we learn of any. as we did here.™

On November 14, 2022, the Attorney General assigned John Lausch. then the
U5, Attorney for the Novthern District of Hinois, to lead the initial investigation and
assess whether the Attorney General should appoint a special counsel to investigate
the matter.” Among other steps. investigators mterviewed witnesses. reviewed the

recovered documents. obtained security video footage from the Penn Biden Center,

S2THI0/22 Tee, from CES Chief, FBI Senal 9, 1A7.

=11/11/22 e-mail from Bauer, FBI Serial 8. 1A7.

5 el

35 Attorney General Merrick B, Garland Delivers Remarks on the Appointment of a
Special Counsel. Offtce of Public Affairs, U8, Dep't of Justice (Jan. 120 2023)
hitps:/fwww justice.goviopa/speech/attornev-general-merrick-b-garland-delivers-remarks-
appointment-special-counsel-0 (ast visited Feb. 2, 202.41).
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and conducted a consensual search of the Penn Biden Center 1o ensure there were no
other classificd materials there 36

B. Personal counsel discovered marked c¢lassified documents
relating to Afghanistan in Mr. Biden's Delaware garage

On December 200 2022 nearly seven weeks after the mitial discoverv of
classified documents st the Penn Biden Center. Bauer and Moore traveled to Mr.
Biden's personal residence m Wilmington, Delaware 1o scarch the garage for
claxsthed documents or other Obama-cra presidential records.? They later explained
that through discussions with current and former Biden staffers. they came to believe
that documents from Mr. Biden's time as vice president may have been moved into
the garage.™ We considered the possibility that Mr. Biden alerted his counsel that
classificd documents were in the garage, but our investigation revealed no evidence
of =uch a dizcus=ion because. it if happened. it would be protected by the attorney-
client privilege.

Bauer searched a closet in the garage and found documents with classilication
markings inside a binder.? After Bauer made this discovery. Moove found documents
with classification mairkings in an unsealed box in another arca of the garvage.

inctuding documents from 2009 relating to U8, poliev in Afghanistan. 0 After finding

R e, NARA COS 11716722, FBI Serial 6: NARACOO 11415722, FBI Seyial 10: NARA
Archivist 3 11/16/22 FBI Servial 7: Moore 11718722, I'BI Serial 16; Staff Assistant 3 12/21/23,
FBIl Sertal 36; Executive Asststant 171722, FBI Serial 61; FBI Serial 19: FBI Serial 26; FBI
Serial 11; FBI Sertal 693: IF13] Serial 14,

¥ 8ee Moorve 2/17/23. FBI Serial 96: 12/28:/22 Narvrative from Bauer, FBI Serial 8 1A5.

¥ See Moore 12/21/22, FBI Serial 33,

W Jd at 20 12/28/22 Narvrative from Bauer at 2. FBI Serviat 8 1AL,

W oore 12/21/22, FBI Serial 33 at 2: 12/28/22 Narrative from Bauer at 2, FBI Serial
K 1AH: FBI Seral 75 at 2.
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these marked classified documents in two locations in the garage, Bauer and Moore
stopped their search. !l

Later that same day. Bauer notified Lausch of the discoveries in Mr. Biden's
gavage.'2 On Mr. Biden's behalf, Bauer provided consent for FBI agents to search the
garage and seize classified or other government vecords from the time of the Obama
administration. H

The FBI dispaiched two agents to retrieve the boxes in the garage the following
day. 't The agents met Moore at the garage. expecting he would point them to all of
the boxes porennally contaiming classified material.’s Upon learning. however. that
counsel had not searched the entire garage. the agents conducted a limited search of
the garage intended to determine whether it contained other classified documents. 19
The agents =eized the contamers My, Biden's counsel had identified and several other
containers. documents, and materals &

The two agents lacked sufficient vesources to conduct a comprehensive search
of the entire garage given the volume of material stored there. ™ Accordingly, Lausch
e-matled Baucr and asked that he ensure “that the garage remains secure. aceess to

it 18 strctly limited, and no items are removed from that location until a further

U Moore 12/21/22, FBI Serial 33 at 2; 12/28/22 Narrative from Bauer at 2, FBI[ Sevial
8 1AL,

2 Moore 2017723, FBI Serial 96 at 3-4 11 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 2: 12/28/22
Narvrative from Bauer. FBI Serial 8 1:A5.

141220722 Consent to Search, FBI Serial 35 1.A39.

HEBI Serials 29, 35.

BT Serial 35 at 1.

W fef oar 1-2.

Yold. at 3-5: FBI Serial 29.

# IR Sertal 35 at -2,



review of the remaining materials occurs.” ¥ Lausch also wrote that theyv needed to
“continufe] our conversation about the Department receiving appropriate assurances
that no vecords {rom President Biden’s prior term as Vice-President remain at any
unauthorized location. including within the Wilmington Residence. or any other
residence. storage facility, or space.”0

C. Personal counsel discovered more marked classified decuments
in Mr. Biden's basement den

After the holidavs, Bauer and Jennifer Miller, another personal counsel for Mer.
Biden. continued their efforts to determine whether there were any other elazsified
records in My, Biden's Delaware home.?! On the evening of January 11. 2023, counsel
traveled to the house to seavch arcas other than the garage.™ Bauer and Miller
remained together during the search.™ They first searched Mr. Biden's primary
office—sometimes called “the librarsy™—on the main floor of the house.3i They
identified no documents with classification markings there.? They moved on to the
den 1n the hbasement.3 There, in a wooden two-drawer file cabinet. counsel found a

document with elassification markings from the Obama administration in a notebook

M Id 12022022 e-mail from Lausch to Bauer: FBI Serial 31, 138,

12722022 ¢e-mail from Lausch to Bauer: FBI Seral 34, 1:A38.

5 Miller Tr. at 9-10; FBI Serial 51,

# Bl Serial A1 V17723 Description of Searches from Bauer. FBL Servial 53, 1A67T;
ADLiller Tr. at -4-5.

Y Miller Ty, at 10-12; FBI Serial 51.

L1123 Description of Searches from Bauer at 1-7. FBI Sertal 45, 1A67: Miller Tr.
at 6.

i See 1717123 Deseription of Searches from Bauer at 1-7. FBI Serial 53, TA67.

W117723 Desceription of Searches from Bauer at 7: Moller Tr. at 10,
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labeled “1/6/12 #2 Foreign Policy.” Bauer and Miller stopped their detailed search
at this point and performed a cursory visual inspection of the rest of the house after
that.?

The nexr day. January 12, 2023. Bauer informed Lausch of the dizcovery in the
basement den™ The FBI sent agents to the house that evening to vecover the
classified material b0 Bauer informed Lausch that. at that time, Bauer did not have
My Biden's consent for the FBI to scarch and seize his notebook that contained the
marked classified document. Thus, on Bauer's instruetions, Richard Sauber of the
White House Counsel's Office mer agents at the house and escorted them to the
marked classified marerial found in the notebook in the basement cabinet. /!

Agents observed Sauber pick up the notehook and leaf through 1. Sauber and
the agents eventually found two documents with classification markings: (1} a three-
page PowerPoint presentation mavked as “Secret// NOFORN/Pre-decisional” dated
Mav 22, 2013, relating 1o Afghanistan: and (2) a three-page memorandum Jabeled
“TS/SCI - <horthand for Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information-—dated
November 1. 2013, relating to lraq.%2 The agents seized the documents with
classification markings and secured the “1/6/12 #2 Foreign Policy” notebook 1n a

locking classified-document courier bag.b® After discussions with Lausch, Sauber

/17723 Description of Searches from Bauer at 72 Miller v at 40-42, {1 FBI Serial
14,

M 1/17/23 Description of Secarches from Bauer at 7-8: Miller Tr. at 16, 51, 59

M 1/13/23 Conference Call with Bob Bauer and personal counsel. FBI Serial 41 at 1.2,

# See BT Serial 44.

o BT Serials 14, 691,

52 "Bl Serial 43; FBI Serial 41 at 1-2.

“ Bl Serial 14 at 2: FBI Serial 160 at 2.
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provided the “1/6/12 #2 Foreign Policy™ notebook to FBE agents two davs later.t! The
notebook. like other notebooks described helow. contained My, Biden's handwritten
notes as vice president relating to forceign policy and national security.®
D. The Attorney General appointed a special counsel to investigate
On January 12, 2023—the same dav FBI agents retrieved marked classified

documents from the basement cabinet—the Attorney General appointed Robert Hur

as special counsel to investigate the matter. The Attorney Generals Order
authorized Hur to conduct the investigation initially led by Lausch. "including
possible unaurhorized removal and vetention of classified documents or other records
dizcovered at the Penn Biden Center for Diplomacy and Global Engagement and the
Wilmington, Delaware. private residence of President Joseph R. Biden. Jr.. as well as

any matters that arose from the mitial investigation or may arise directly from the

E. FBI agents discovered more marked classified documents and
handwritten classified notes in various parts of Mr. Biden’s
home

After the discovery of the classified documents in My, Biden's basement. My,

Biden consented to a search of the entirety of the Delaware home by the FBI for

SUICBT Serials 16, 31,

55 Notebook 1R15; I'Bl Serial 199

5 Office of the Attorney General, Ovder No. 5388-2023. Appointment of Robert K. Hur
as Speeial Counsel (January 12, 202:3).

8 Id. Section 600 Ha) of Title 28 of the Code of Federal Regulations provides. in
relevant part, that the jurisdiction of a special counsel "shall also include the authority to
investigate and prosecute federal erimes committed in the course of. and with intent to
interfere with, the Special Counsel's investigation. such as perjury, obstruction of justice.
destruction of evidence. and intimidation of witnesses.” 28 C.F.R. § 600.1(a).
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relevant materials, including documents with classification marvkings and other
potentially classified information 5%

FBI agents searched the home on January 20, 20235 Agents scarched all
areas of the house. including the garage. which agents had partially scarched on
December 21, 2022.7 The house has a lower-level basement, a fivst-level main floov.
a second level with the primary bedroom, and a third-level top floor with additional
rooms and attic storage space.”! Agents selzed 1tems that fell primarily into two
categories: (1) boxes or folders containing documents with classification markings.
most of which date to the 1970x and relate to foreign trips Mr. Biden took as a senator:
and (2) notehooks containing his handwritten notes from his time ax viee president
relating to foreign policy and national security. Two of these notebooks had marked
classified  documents  stored 1inside them, and several notebooks contained
handwitten information that was itself classified. 2

In My, Biden's garage. agents found several documents with classification
markings dating from Mr. Biden's time in the Senate in the 1970s and 1980s.7% Some
of those documents relate to foreign trips Mr. Biden took as a senator. some of which
he chronicled in his 2007 memoir. Promises to Keep. Agents found those Senate-era

documents in a storage closet in My, Biden's garage.

W8 1/20/23 Consent to Search for the Wilmington House, FBI Serial 77,
9 R Serial 77.

W RFBI Serials 77, 35,

B Serial 77,

2 FBI Serial 876,

BT Seriats 77, 639: Recovered documents D1-D17. D17-1 to Y19,
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In Mr. Biden's main-floor office, hasement den, and second-floor office, agents
found and =eized seventeen notebooks and a stack of notecards. all of which contained
Mr. Biden's handwritten notes on foreign poliey and national sccurity matters as vice
president.” Two of the notehooks, found 1n the main-floor office. had documents with
classification markings stored inside them.

Elsewhere in the house. agents found one document with classification
markings in the third-level den.”® And in an office attached to the primary bedroom
on the second level agents found a binder (similar 1o a binder previously found in the
garage). which contained most of the rame marked classified documents as the binder
found in the garage.””

F. FBI agents found more marked classified documents from the
Senate era at the University of Delaware

Between January and June 2023, FBL agents zecarched over 300 hoxes
contaming Mr. Biden's Senate papers. which were stored 1n two locations at the
University of Delaware. Within those hoxes, agents found documents with potential
classification markings. dating from 1977 to 1991, during My, Biden's service in the
Senate. ™
H.  SUMMARY OF INVESTIGATIVE ACTIVITY

The FBI and the Special Counsel's Office undertook an extensive investigation

into My, Biden's handling of classified mformation and of the classified documents

“EIBI Serial 7.

O fd FBI Servials 178, 682,
" EFBI Sevial 77,

o fd o FBL Serial 701,

PRI Serials 83, 91, 98, 290,
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the FBI seized. We applied our best efforts to conduct the investigation thoroughly
and expeditiously.

Investigators conducted 173 interviews of 147 witnesses, including Mr. Biden
himself. All told. the investigation collected over seven million documents. including
e-mails. text messages, photographs. videos. toll records, and other materials from
both classified and unclassified sources.

We also coordinated with the government agencies that had equities i the
classificd and potentially classified documents the FBI =ecized from locations
associated with My, Biden. The agencies conducted classification review of seized
documents to recommend the appropriate classification level, compartmentation. and
dissemination controls for cach document. Investigators met with subject-matter
experts i the intelligence community to determine whether the documents contained
information that a jury could conclude was national defense information under the
Espionage Act. ™

Mr. Biden's notebooks. which contained. among other things, his handwritten
notes taken during classified meetings as vice president. presented a challenge. None
of the pages contained classification markings but investigators assessed some of the
content was potentially classified. Classification review hy intelligence agencies of
unmarked information is more challenging and time-consuming than for marked
documents. We therefore reviewed all of Mr. Biden's handwritten notes and sclected

thirty-seven excerpts totaling 109 notebook pages to submit for classification review.

W See Chapter 9. Section I.B for a discussion of the term “national defense

information.”



Investigators selected entries thev believed were most likely highly elassified and
that a jury of lavpeople would find was national defense information under the
Espionage Act.

For both marked classified documents and unmarked documents, the Office of
the Director of National Intelligence reviewed cach document and provided a list of
agencies with potential equities 1n each document, The FBI requested classification
review from each identified agency accordingly. For documents where muitiple
agencies had equities. the Special Counsel's Office used the highest level of
classification identified by an agency as the current classification of the document.
Results of the classification review are summarized 1in Appendix A, which provides
an unclassified summary of the recovered documents submitted for classification
review.

Clasxification review conducted 1n the context of a criminal investigation has
Imitations. Agencies with equities in the information in the seized documents have
applied their best efforts to determine the current classification of the material we
submitted to them. In =0 domg. some have indicated that classification
determinations are subject to change. Real-world eventls and changed circumstances
can affect the harm to national sccurity that would result from unauthorized
disclogure of the information. Changed circumstances and events could therefore
result in future modifications to classification determinations.

Some agenceies have also noted that, in the rypical context of a classification

review, such as pursuant to a Freedom of Information Act request, they consult with
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one another before making a final classification determination. That is to ensure an
agency does not. for example. release information another agencey considers classified.
In this mnvesugation, however. the Special Counsels Office and FBI have asked
agencies to deterniine only the classification of informarion bhelonging {o them,
without consulting other agencies to determine the overall classification of a
document. Consistent with how the Department of Justice has handled the 1ssue in
similar mvestigations. the Special Counsel's Office enhsted the help of the Office of
the Director of National Intelligence to determine which information should be
submitted to which ageney. Claxsification determinations provided to the Special
Counsel’s Office. therefore. ave not “final” determinations of the agencies. in the sense
that each agency cannot unequivocally state the classification level of a document
without having undertaken that interagencey coorvdination themselves, Instead.
agencies have provided classification determinarions specific to the information rhey
originated or own, and nothing more.

Finallv, the National Security Council 1s an equity holder in a large volume of
the classified or potentially classified information recovered in this investigation. The
National Security Council. however, works 1n dirvect support of Mr. Biden in his
current position as president, To avoid a conflict of interest in having Mr. Biden’sown
National Security Couneil determine the classification level of documents recovered
in this investigation, the White House asked the Department of State to “stand in”
for the National Security Council in conducting elassification review of White Housc

or Natonal Sccurity Council information. The State Department did so by applving
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the National Security Council's classification guide to the documents with such
information. rather than by following its internal State Department classification
review process. The State Department, however. 1s not the National Security Council.
And the classification authorities at the State Department do not have the legal
authority 1o elassify mformation helonging to the Narional Security Council. Results
received from the State Department as a “stand-in” for the Natonal Security Council,
therefore. are the government's curvent best estimate of classification under the

circumstances. The Naronal Security Counceil could reach different conelusions.



CHAPTER THREE

HANDLING OF CLASSIFIED INFORMATION IN
THE OFFICE OF THE VICE PRESIDENT

Az vice president. My, Biden received and stored classified materials at the
White House, his official residence ar the Naval Observarory. his private home in
Delaware. and - ~very briefly—his rental home in Virginia.® He relied on staff to help
deliver. store. and retrieve these classified materials.

The task of tracking and retrieving these documents was challenging given the
relatively small size of M. Biden's staff and the volume of classified material My
Biden received through various channels on a ncar-daily and often urgent bhasis.
While many members of My Biden's staff sought to ensure thar classified information
was handled and stored properly. the Office of Vice President a= a whole was unable
to account for all the elassified material Mr. Biden received and retained. My, Biden
was known to remove and keep classified material from his briefing books for future
uze, and his staff strugeled—and sometimes failed—to retrieve these materialz. And
there was no procedure at all for tracking some of the classified material Mr. Biden
received outside his brefing books,

My, Biden also kept some material on hig person or in his briefease that he
carried between the West Wing and his residences ®t Staff did not go through the

briefcase (o retrieve or archive material from 1t.%2

8 See Chapter Seven,

81 Staff Assistant 3 10/4/23 Tr. at 19: Executive Assistant 92823 Tr. at 73-7-1:
Personal Aide 1 4/26/23 Tr. ar 38; Personal Aide 2 Tr. at 33,

84 See Staff Assistant 3 10/4/23 Tr. at 67-68: Mihitary Aide 10 Ty, at 22
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These gaps in the tracking and retrieval of Mr. Biden's classified materials
made it more difficult to determine when. how, and why many of the classified
documents later found in My, Biden's home and think tank ended up where they did
not belong.

L STRUCTURE OF THE OFFICE OF THE VICE PRESIDENT

Numerous witnessc= told us that My, Biden relied on his 2taff to help transport.
store, or return classified materials he received as vice president, and to ensure that
those marerials were handled properly.®? As summarized below, several groups of
staff were involved with the handling of classified material.

National Security Affairs staff. The Office of the Viee President had its own
National Security Affaws staff that supported the viee president. hig national securily
advisor. and his deputy pational security advisor.®! This office was distinet from
President Obama’s much larger National Security Council staff. which had its own
svstems for tracking and logging classified material that went to the president.®?

The National Sccurity Affars staff consisted of (1) the national security advisor
and staff. and {2) the Executive Secretary team. The national security advisor's staff
mmcluded a mix of political staff and detailees from agencies such as the State
Department: thev provided substantive advice to the vice president on matters of

foreign policy and national security.™ While the national security advisors often

B A Lltary Adde d Te. at 7; Military Adde 9 Tr. at 7.

“1See, e, Fxecutive Sceretary 3 Tr. at 11217,

* NSC Records Divector Ty at 18-31: MekKeon Tr. at 36--10: Exccutive Secretary 1Ty,
at 73: Executive Searetary 3 Tre. at 14-15; Bakotie 7/19/23 Tr. at 9.

S11A1/16 Memorandum from Outgoing OVEP NSA, SCOH-0001-13. See also OVP NSA
Staffer 3 Tv. at 5.
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attended meetings and briefings with Mr. Biden where classified documents were
discussed. these advisors did not view themselves as responsible for retrieving any
classified materials from Mr. Biden or ensuring that he stored them properly ™

The kExecutive Secretary team had an administrative role: It compiled.
provided. tracked. and retrieved classified material for My, Biden. It was a small
group. composed mostly of detailees from agencies. who provided administrative
support and assisted mn compiling classified briefing books for Mr. Biden.® The
Exccutive Secretary —an experienced. career military officer—worked closely with
the Dirvector of Programs. who continued through the transition from the Bush
adpnistration and served through the entirety of the Obuama administration.™

The Exceutive Secretary team had little direer access to My, Biden and relied
on others to deliver and retrieve classified briefing books.®! These others mcluded

military awdes. naval enlisted ardes. personal aides. and front office assistants.

SOV NSA Staffer 2 7Te at 41-42: OVP NS Straffer 1 Tr. at 41 Blinken Te. at T
Sullivan Te. ar 19,

* See, e.g.. Director of Programs Tr. at 55-538. 103; Executive Secretary 17Tr. at 1.1-18.
63 Executive Seeretary 3 Tr. at 13: Bakotie 7/19/23 Tr. at 9-10; Executive Sceretary 2 Tr, at
G, 9. 30; 11/1/16 Memorandum from Outgoing OVE NSA, SCOH-0G01.13.

® Executive Secretary 1 Tro at B 21-22: Bakotie 7/19%23 Tr. at 10; Darector of
Programs Tr. at 17-18; kExecutive Secretary 2 Tro at 9 Executive Secretary Staffer 3 Tr. at
24-25: Executive Sceretary Staffer 1 Tr. at 3.1 41; Exceutive Secretary Staffer 2 7/7/23 Tr. at
5-9.

90 Foxecutive Secretary 1 Tr. at 7. 11-12, 17, 65; Executive Secretary 2 Tr. at 5. &
Executive Secretary 3 Tr. at 11-13. 37-39; Bakotic 7/19/23 Tr. at 6-12; 11/1/16 Memorandum
from Outgoing OVP NSA, SCOH-0001 13; Divector of Programs Tr. at 5-6.

M See, e.g.. Director of Programs Tr. at 12; Executive Seceretary 3 Tr. at 16: Bakotic
71923 Tr. at 52-53: 1/1V17 e-mail amongst OV National Security Affairs staff, Military
Addes. and Naval Enlisted Aides, SCOH-0004.47.
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Military aides. Military aides were servicemembers on detail from the
Department of Defense.? Their primary role was to ensure continuity of operations
should something happen to the president.® They also helped deliver classified
material from the National Sccurity Affairs staff to Mr. Biden when he was not at the
White House, and brought classified material back when Mr. Biden was finished with
it.*! This included printing classified materials and compiling claxsified binders for
Mr. Biden when he was traveling 9

Military aides were not responsible for ensuring that all materials delivered to
the viee president were vetvieved or properly disposed of, or for otherwise tracking
classiflied documents % Bul they assisted with the handling of classified documents
because of their high-level sccuriry clearances. proximity to the vice president. and
access to proper storage containers for classified material, such as lockable bags ™

Naval enlisted aides. Naval enlisted aides supported My, Biden at the Naval
Observatory and at his personal home 1n Delaware. as well as on all foreign and
domestie travel¥ Their primary duties included cooking. cleaning. and laundry for
the vice president.” Like military aides. thev served as go-betweens for the delivery

and retrieval of classified information due to their security ¢learances and proximity

42 See, e.g.. Military Atde 9 Tr. at 7.

2 AMilitary Aide 4 Tr. at 7 Military Aide 9 T, at 7.

fUATHtary Alde A Tr, at 13-1-40 17 Military Aide 5 Ty ar 10-11. 13-14; Military Aide 8
Tr.at 24-25. b1 Military Aide 1 Tro at 25 NEA 2 Tre. at 33-3.1

M See, e.g.. Military Aide 4 Tr. at 8-9.

M See, oo Military Aide 3 Tr.at 32-33.

9 See, e.g Military Arde 1 Tro at 14-15: Military Aide 8 Tr. at 24-25: Mahtary Aide 10
Tr. at 23-2.4: Military Aide 12 Tr. at 1.4, 16.

WNEAS Tr. at 16-18

M fdat 13-11.
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to the viee president. !9 They were the only staff members who regularly accessed Mr.
Riden's private spaces on the second floor of the Naval Obscrvatory Residence and at
the Delaware residence 19 At nimes they delivered classified material to him on rhe
second {loor of the Naval Observatory. 92 and when Ay, Biden left classified material
out and unattended in those private spaces. they retrieved and secured it 108

Alr. Biden regularly received and reviewed classified material in the Naval
Observatory and his Delaware home and left that material out where the naval
enhbsted aides collected it when he was finished with 11, During his vice presidency.
naval enlisted aides occasionally found classified material in various locations on the
second floor of the Naval Observatory and in Delaware.’%! Theyv either =ent those
materials back to the White House divectly or through the military aides. who
brought them to the Executive Seceretary team for proper disposal 105

Personal aides (“body men”). Mr. Biden's personal aide. or "body man.” who
was alwave physicallv present with bim at the White House and when 1raveling
cxcept to Delaware. also delivered and retrieved classified documents for him 106

Personal aides tvpically had Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information

OO NEAD Tr at 7. 28: NEA 1 Te. at 13,

W See, e.g.. NEA 5 Tro at 29: Military Aide 3 Tr. at 31; Military Aide 5 Tr. at 21;
Residence Manager Tr. at 13 Personal Aide 1 1/26/23 Trv. at 113-14; Personal Aide 2 Tr. at
32, 146,

W2 NEA D Tr. at 28-30.

103 Id. at 28-30. 33-38.

WENEA 2 Tr. at 30-31, 36; NEA 3 Te,at 12, 40: NEA 4 Troav 110 15, 21-22, 24, 25, 34
NEASLTr at 533-531. 39, 81-85 NEAG6Tr. at 14-15. 24, But see NI2A 1 Tr.at 18, 25, 31, 32, 14
(did not recall seeing classifiad material left out at Naval Observatory or Delaware).

s See g, Military Aide 5 Ty, at 11: Military Aide 1 Tr. at 9; Military Adde 3 Tr. at
30-31: NEA 2 Troat 19-20: NEA S Tre. at 42-13. 104, 107-108; NEA 6 Ty, at 15, 18

96 Personal Alde 1 126/23 Tr. at 20, 22,
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clearances and were read nto codeword compartments (involving Sensitive
Compartmented Information) as needed. 9" They handled the logisties of Mr. Biden's
schedule and ensured he had evervthing he needed. 19 They coordinated with military
aides and National Sccurity Affairs staff to handle the flow of classified matenal to
and from Mr. Biden, but they did not track 1t 1%

Front office assistants. At the White House. two assistants sat in the front
office of My, Biden's West Wing office along with the personal aide and. at various
times. a Counselor to the Vice President.'? Staffers believed the West Wing office
was a SCLEF or otherwise approved for the discussion of classified information and
treated it as such.!1" The assistants did not intentionally keep classified material for
My, Biden in thew front office space. and recalled that the only storage arvea they
knew of for classified material in the Vice President’s West Wing space was the safe
i1 his olfice closet. which they generally did not access. 112 Assistants rerneved
unclassified material from an outhox on Mr. Biden's desk. kept 1t in a box m their
office space. and periodically sent 1t to the White House Office of Records

Management to be archived in compliance with the Presidential Records Act.'™ When

HT Personal Aide 1 126/23 Tr. ar 18 Personal Suade 2 Tr. at 29-30: Personal Adde 3
328023 Tr.at 21; 2/3/09 c-mail from OVE Counsel to Personal Aide 1, 1BOOT_ 003201938,

08 Poysonal de 1 4/26/23 Ty at 19-20.

W e, ar 20220 532 145-116 (delivery and vetrieval of classified material at the
Wilmington Residence "wasn't my role™},

% See e g Stafll Assistant 2 Tr. at 25; Fxecutive Assistant V423 Tr. ar 6-7, 17-19

M Fxecutive Assistant IFF23 Tr. ar 28; Stalf Assistant 2 Tr. at 33-34: Director of
Programs Tr. at 25-26; Blinken Ty, at 23-24.

N2 Staff Assistant 2 Tr. at 31-32; Executive Assistant 171723 Tr. at 32: Staft Assistant
3104423 Tr. at 18,

5 Sraff Assistant 2 Tr. at 19-20: Staftf Agsistant 170, at 19: Staff Assistant 3 104423
Tr.at 15-16: 5/22/12 Dutics and Responsibilities, TRO01_0294129:3,
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My, Biden left classified material in his outbox or handed it to an assistant, the
asslstant typically called hiz National Security Affairs team to retrieve 1t or veturned
1t to the Situation Room. 11}

Counsel to the Vice President. The vavious staff members within the Office
of Vice President vesponsible for delivering. storing. retrieving, and tracking
classificd documents velied on guidance from the Counsel to the Viee President.!?
Mr. Biden had hisz own Counsel. separate {from the White House Counsel's Office 110
The Counsel had a Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information clearance. 'V In
the early davs of the administration. Cynthia Hogan, My, Biden's first Counsel.
developed policies and procedures for the proper handling and storage of classified
materials in the Office of the Vice President.

The White Houxe Counscl's Office and other White House components also
provided guwidance on the proper handling of classifled material. '™ According 1o

=chedules and other documents, Hogan met with a number of White House employees

1 Staff Assistant 2 Tro at 19-21. 37238 45 Saff Assistant 3 10/4/23 Tr. at 17
Executive  Assistant  9/28/23 Tr. at  33-35 5/22/12 Duties and Responsibilities,
1BO01_02911293: August 2016 West Wing Guide. SCOH-000127: %6/11 e-mail from front
office assistant to Exccutive Sceretary team, 1B001_0287233 1; 4/3/12 e-mail from front oftice
assistant to Kxecutive Seerctary team, 1B001 02854428, Bus see Stafl Assistant 1 Tr. at 62-
63 (never returned classified material to his National Sceurity Stalf. hig personal aide “did
all of that™.

5 See, e.g., 817710 Memo [rom OVP Counsel to My, $3iden re "Handling of Classified
Documents,” NARAWH _00000050; 8/23/10 e-mail from Military Aide 11 1o OVP military
aides re "Handhing of Classified Material.,” NARAWH_000144.147.

U5 Hogan 3204723 Tr. at 23-24.

U7 2/25/09 e-mail from OVP Counsel, NARAWTH_000028:39; Lambros Tr. at 20; Nourse
Tr.at 48; McGrail 5/2/23 Tr. at 51,

'S Hogan 7723/23 Tr at 21-29,



to discuss the handling of classifted material. including emplovees from the National
Security Council and the White House Office of Records Management. 9
IL THE PRESIDENTIAL RECORDS ACT AND ARCHIVING OF RECORDS

Mr. Biden's staff was also responsible for ensuring that documents were
properly archived as requived by the Presidential Records Act. 120 The Act gives the
United States “complete ownership. posscssion. and control” of all presidential
records and vice-presidential records. which must be retained and sent to the
Natwonal Archives at rthe end of the administration.’2l The statute defines
presidential records and vice-presidential records broadly to include documentary
materials created or received "in the course of conducting activities which relate to or
have an effect upon the carrving out of the constitutional. statutory. or other official
or ceremonial duties” of the president or viee president. meluding memoranda,
correspondence. papers, photographs, and electronic records, 122

AMr. Bidens Executive Secretary team was responsible for ensuring that
classified documents were properly archived according to the Act,'#3 The White House

Office of Records Management handled the archiving of unclassified documents. 12!

U3 OVP Counsel's  Office Weekly Report for Feb.o 12 to Feb. 190 2009,
1BOO1_00010396_0001-0002: OVP Counsel's Office Weekly Report for Feb. 27 to March 5.
2009, 1BOO1_00040491_0018-0019: OVP Counsel's Office Weekly Report for June 4-10., 2009,
1BOGT 00019811 0011-0015,

20WH Records Divector Tr. at 1.1-16.

143 US.C 88 2201-09: 9426/16 Memo by White House Counsel ve Preservation and
Rerention of Records. NARAWE 000009045,

122 44 LRSS §§ 22012y 2207, We discuss the Presidential Recovds Aet agam in
Chapters Nine and Ten.

= WH Records Director Tr. at 11-16.

T ffoatr 13-1-1.
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During the first week of the administration. a member of the White House
Counsel's Office briefed Mr. Biden on the Act's recordkeeping requirements, ' Hogan
put in place a procedure to make sure that presidential and vice presidential records
were colleeted and properly avchived. She circulated a White House Counsel memo
on the Act's requirements to emplovees in the Office of the Vice President, 28 She also
met with My, Biden's personal aide to diseuss the Act and itz recordkceping
requircments. including the need to collect and preserve Mr. Biden's brieting books. '2

111. THE HANDLING OF CLASSIFIED MATERIAL IN THE OFFICE OF THE VICE
PRESIDENT

A, Classified products

AMr. Biden recerved classified documents in three primary forms: a classified
binder prepared by hix national security staff: the President's Daily Brief: and
niaterials dehvered to him as needed by his staff

Classified briefing book. Most davs. the Executive Secretary team compiled
a classified briefing book for Mv. Biden.!2® It was a binder of matenals drafted or

selected by Mr. Biden's advisors to prepave him for the day and upcoming tyips. 129

125 1/25/09 Memo re Briefing from White House Counsel on the Presidential Records
Act and Ethies Rules, NARAWH_000000.19: 1/26/09 Mr. Biden's Schedule for January 26.
2009, 1BO01_03202545.

1 3/17/09 e-mail from Hogan to AlL OVE emplovees, 1BOO1_03199194: 3/11/09 Memo
re  the Presidential Records Aet from White House Counsel to Al EOP Swaff
IBOO1_03199195.

27123709 e-mail from Hogan to Personal Aide 1. 1B001_03061921.

18 See, e.g.. Executive Secretary 2 Tr. at 9 7/18/12 e-mail to all OVP staff,
TBO0OT 00213201 7/29/15 e-mail between Personal Alde and Mr. Biden, 1B001_02072094.

2% See, e.g.. Executive Secrctary 3 Tr. at 14, 16, 21-24, 29-30; Executive Secretary 1
Ty, at 20,
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The Exceutive Secretary team assembled the book and ensured 1ts delivery to
Mr. Biden. in coordination with other staff as described above.'® The Executive
Sceretary team also tracked the book's return.!’! Once returned. the books were
stored In a safe in the Executive Secretary ream’s office. ' Periodically. the team sent
the books to the White House Office of Records Management to be archived. '3

President’s Daily Brief. The Office of the Director of Natonal Intelligence
compiled a colleerion of intelligence community products known as the President's
Daily Brief. Mr. Biden was assigned his own briefer. who also briefed his national
security advisor. deputy national =ecuriry advisor. and his last chief of staff.?*! The
Director of National Intelligence required inclusion of a core group of articles. while
the briefer supplemented articles tailored to My, Biden's interests and requests, i99

Early in his vice presidency. Mr. Biden declined to receive oral briefings from

his own briefer and instead joined President Obama for his briefings in the Oval

Ll See, e.g.. Executive Secretary 3 Tr. at 28, 33-3.10 Executive Secretary T Tr. at 26:
Exccutive Seeretary 2 Ty, at 13-1 1 10/26/16 ¢-mail amongst OV staff. SCOH-000239.

1B Executive Sceretary 3 Tr. at 34-357 Director of Programs Tr. at 55-56: Exceurive
Seevetary Staffer 2 7/7/23 Tr. av 24-25.

U2 Nyector of Programs Tr. at 53-3 1.

Vi fddoat 53, 61 100: Executive Secretary 3 Tr. at 35; 2/1/09 e-mail from Hogan to
Pevsonal Aide 1. 1B0O01_03201837:; 6/19/09 National Sccurity Advisory Stall Assistant
Standard Operating Procedures. NARAWH_00000712.

" PDB Briefer 1 Ty at 3.

B Ll at 22-2100 36-37.



Office. % Throughour his tenure. Mr. Biden received a written brief, {first on paper in
a binder, and beginning 1n 2014, on a portable clectronic device, #°

Mr. Biden's briefer generally retrieved the copy of the brief delivered to Mr.
Biden. Mr. Biden's Exccutive Secretary team stored the briels tn their safe until the
hriefer retrieved them. '™

“As-needed” materials. Ny, Biden also received classified documents on an
as-needed basis. hand-delivered to him by staff or printed to his West Wing office on
a secure printer. % The Naval Observatory alzo had a classified printer the military
aides used 1o print and deliver such materials to My, Biden there 10 The Executive

Secretary team lacked a formal system for tracking classified documents delivered to

L6 PDEB Brieter 1 Tr. at 20-22: 172809 e-mail to Personal Alde 1 hsting Mre. Biden's
schedule.  1BO0T_032021433: 12/15/0% e- mail between  listing  Mr. Buden's  schedule.
TBOOT 03183236 (79 15-10:15 am- Attend POTUS PDE™: 912411 e-mail Usting AMr. Biden's
schedule, TBOOT D2872057 (79:30-10:00am POTUS PDB in Oval™y

S PDB Briefer 1 Ty, at 42- 130 In the early vears. the PDB was printed for the Viee
President, received at the Naval Observatory. and brought with him to the West Wing.
2/70/10-2/11/10 ¢-mail hetween Executive Secretary 1 and staff. 1B001_03060726. When
interviewed. Mr. Biden said he received the PDB in a binder. Biden T0/8/23 Tr. at 19. When
Mr. Biden was traveling, he received the PTB in paper copy via secure fax. PDB Briefer 1 Tr.
at 40--13. See also V13717 e-mall amongst Secret Service describing PRI delivery. USS5-
Q000177 389,

Ur PDB Briefer 1 Tr. at 12- 14 PDB Briefer 2 Tr. ar 15, 24, 33,

L9 OVE NSA Staffer 2 Tr. at 24-26; 10/15/14 e-mail from Director of Programs to
Executive Assistant ("There is a high side printer under vour desk that 1 understand does
not work correctly.™). 11300] _O3521121: 1130716 e-mail amongst OVP staff (requesting “toner
for the l’lbhlflcd printer’), SCOH-0002214; 9/13/16 e-mail (discussing fixing the “"classified
printer”). SCOL-000269; 8f29!16 c-mail (requesting assistance with the “high side printer”
in “the Vice President’'s West Wing Office”™). SCOH-000125.

N 2/8/11 e-mail from Military Aide 13 to Personal Alde 1 and OVP National Security
Affairs staff (“If they have a SECRET or higher classification, please bave the WHSR send
them to our VP MILATIDE thigh side) printer here at the VPR, 1B00L_03153733; 11/17/16
e-mail amongst military aides and OVEP National Security Affairs staff ("There 18 one plece
of traffic/cable that { just printed to the Naval Observatory printer. Mil Aides, can vou please
deliver with morning traffic?”y, SCOH-0002411; Military Aide 5 Tre. at 10: Military Aide 1 Ty
at 8-9. The naval enlisted aides did not have access o a classified computer. NEA S Tr. at 30-
1.



Ay, Biden on an as-needed basis, and no one else in the Office of the Viee President
appears to have tracked them either.lit Several of the marvked classified documents
recovered by the FBI in this investigation appear to have been given to My, Biden
outside the briefing books t12

B. Efforts to retrieve and track classified material

[11 the early dayvs of My, Biden = vice presidency, his Counsel. Hogan. insiructed
Mr, Biden's personal aide that all classified material provided to Mr. Biden should be
returned to the Exccutive Secretary team.!' Although there was a safe in My, Biden's
office. Hogan told Mr. Biden's personal alde that “we don't want to store any classified
material in the [West Wing| office. o0 just look to hand this gtuff off as soon as 1
comes to you, ¢l

The Exccutive Secretary team sought to retrieve Mr. Biden's classified briefing
hooks every day but could not always do =0.11% At times. he kept one or more classified

bricfing books for hiz own reference or because he was not done with the matermal. V6

" Executive Secretary Statfer 2 7/7/23 Ty, ar 32-35: OVEP NSA Staffer 2 Ty, ar 40-12:
OVP NSA Staffer 1Ty at 11: Blinken Tr. at 13,

12 For example. document A2 was a memorandum recovered at the Penn Biden
Center. See Chapter Fourteen. E-mail correspondence indicates it was printed to the West
Wing printer, after the regular classified briefing book (which also contained a copy of the
document) was returned. ¥27/16 Memo amongst OVEP NSA and West Wing staff
TBOGT_02306967. See also Chapter Sixtecn.

T3 20400 e-mail [rom Hogan to Personal Aide 1. 1BO0T_0306G1837.

H12/16/09 e-mail from Hogan to Personal Aide 1. 1B0O01_032010 16,

5 Dirvector of Programs Tr. at 51 37-38. 748,

VO, at oL 8T-590 Executive Secretavy Staffer 2 7/7/23 Tre. ar 28-20. 1HE/10 ¢-mails
amongst Personal Alde 1. military atdes. and Executive Sceretary team, 1BOOT_051619073.
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And on occasion. he removed one or more briefing memos from the classified briefing
book before returning it.14

In 2010, rhe Executive Secretary team raised concerns about the number of
classified briefing books that My, Biden had not returned. and the fact that. even
when they were returned. some of the content was missing.!'™ These concerns were
raised with Hogan as well as Mr. Biden's personal aide and mihirary aides. E-mails
indicate that the Executive Secretary team alerted Hogan to the 1ssue at least in June
2070, when nearvly thirty of the classified briefing books from the first «1x months of
2010 were ourstanding. and in August 2010, when Me. Biden failed to return Top
Secret. Sensitive Compartmented Information (also referred to as “codeword”)
contents of a classified briefing hook that he had received during a trip to the
Hamptons, in New York.'™ We were unable to determine whether these materials
were ever reeovered, although they were likely found and disposed of by military

aidex or naval enlizted aides. 190

HE Director of Programs Tr. at 51-680; Exceutive Secretary Staffer 2 7/7/23 Tro at 28
29: 11/8/10 e-matls amongst Personal Aide 1. military atdes. and Executive Secretary team,
IBOO1_03161903.

15 Director of Programs Tr. at 69-76, 90-91; Executive Secretary 3 Tr. at 36-37:
Executive Secretary Staffer 2 7/7/23 Tr. at 28-29 (seeing the same in 2016-18).

L 6/29/10 e-mail from Director of Programs to Personal Alde 1 and military aides,
1BOOT _03171078; 8/16/10 e-mail from Executive Secretary to Hogan, TBOO1_03168570;
8/17/10 e-mails between Military Aide 14 and Personal Aide 1. 1BO01_03168569: Military
Aide 10 Tr. at 21-25,

15 817/10 to 8/18/10 e-mails between Togan and the Executive Seeretary team and
naval enlisled aides. NARAWH_00017121; Executive Secretary Staffor 2 7/7/23 Tr. at 31-33.
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The return of classified briefing books wirhout all of their contents fiustrated
the Executive Secretarvy team.'™ [n response. Hogan implemented additional security
procedures described below. 152 But even after those measures were implemented, the
Executive Secretary team continued to struggle to retrieve classified briefing books
from My, Biden.

We were able to trace one of the marked classified documents recovered by the
FBI to a brieflng book—a 2015 memorandum recovered from the Penn Biden
Center. ¥ But we were not able to determine whether other recovered documents
camc {rom briefing books or were handed ov sent 1o Mr. Biden on an a=-needed basis

C. August 2010 briefing of Mr. Biden on the handling of classified
material

Davs after the Top Secret. codeword book went missing in 2010, Hogan met
with My Biden to discuss the handling of classified material '™ Before the meeting.
she preparced a bricling memo for him.'"" The memo. which was addressed to Mr.

Biden and dated August 17. 2010, outlined “our procedures for handling yeur

B Divector of Prosrams Tr. at 72-73: Executive Secretary 3 Tr. at 36-37: 1 /810 o-
mail from Divector of Programs to military aides and others. 1B0O01_03161902. See alse
Executive Seevetary Staffer 2 7/7/23 Teo ar 30-31 {sceing the same in 2016-2018).

12 Director of Programs Tr. at 72-75. 90-91: 8/17/10 Memo from OV Counsel to M
Biden re "Handling of Classified Documents.” NARAWH_00000050.

155 A review of the classified book or binder from the Archives showed that the binder
from the date of document A8 was missing a tab and atrachment which matched document
A& FBI Serial 692, Document A8 was also hole-punched. indicating it mav have been the
copy that was originallv placed in that binder. FBI Serial 238,

158 &A17/10 e-mails between Military Aide 100 Military Aide 12, and Personal Aide 1.
1BO01T 03168569: 8/16/10 c-mail from Executive Scercrary to Hogan, TR001_03168570;
8/19/10 e-mail from OV Counsel to Executive Seeretary and others, 1BO01_03168 126,

155 8/17/10 Memo from OVEP Counsel to Mr. Biden rve “Handling of Classified
Documents,” NARAWH 00000050,
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classified briefing material” that “must be maintained at all times.” including the
following:

o “Classificd mformation of any kind may only he reviewed or discussed in
seeured locations. and never in a public place such as on a tvain.”

o "The [classified briefing] books must remain in vour custody, or that of vour
cleared staff. at all times unless thev are in vour safe. Classified material
must be returned to vour national security staff as soon as vou are finished
with them.”

o “(Classified materials may never be left unattended. but must be secured in
an appropriate safe or transferred to an individual authorized to transport
rhem in an appropriate locked bag whenever they ave not i vour personal
custody.”

o “Whenever posaible, classified materials should remain at the White Houxe
complex. . . . If vou need Lo recelve classified marerials while at vour
residence at NAVOBRS or in Delaware. the military aides will bring the
material 1o vou and then wait to take the material back when vou are
finished so that 1t can be stoved =afely, 196

When mterviewed. Hogan did not recall the August 2010 meeting with Mr.

Biden. She did. however. identifsy her handwritten talking points on “hest
practices.” 157 Kven though she did not remember their content. she identified her
handwriting and sald she likely created them m advance of her meeting with My,
Biden.?™ According to her talking points, she briefed My, Biden on such best practices
as making sure that “classified info stavs in the WH complex whenever possible” and

= "returned to N{ational] Sfecurityv] staff at end of each day.”7? She also counseled

My, Biden that any classified matevial taken from the White House must be

6 8/17/10 Memo from Hogan to Mr. Biden re "Handling of Classified Documents.”
NARAWH_ 00000050,

13 Undated handwritten notes, NARAWH 00000050 at

R Hogan 9/19/23 Tr. at 66-69.

B Undated handwritten notes, NARAWH 00000050 at 1.
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transported by military aides in locked bags and that military aides must retrieve the
classified material when Mr. Biden was done with ig. 1680

After the briefing. Mr. Biden sent Hogan an e-mail through one of his front
office assistants. thanking her for the “sccurity briefing, 16!

Despite the Hogan memo's language that the Office of the Viee President
"must” follow certain procedures for handling classified information. Hogan conceived
of the memo as describing “best practices” rather than legal requirements, '8 That
view 1s consistent with the executive order governing handling and storage of
classifled mformation, which. as explained in Chapter One. does not apply to a sitting
vice president. As outlined below. Mr. Biden and his staff did not follow Hogan's
suidance to the letter.

D. The handling of classified material in Mr. Biden’s personal
spaces after August 2010

As part of his duties as vice president. My, Biden accessed and stored classified
matecrial in the Naval Observatory and at his Delaware home. outside of containers

normally authorized for such imformation. His staff. following Hogan's advice, tried

0 Undated handwritten notes. NARAWH 00000050, See also 8/23/10 e-mail from
Military Aide 14 to other OVEP military aides re “Handling of Classified Material”
NARAWHL_ 0001 11175 Hogan 5/23/23 Tr. at 53-53.

817020 e-mail from front office assistant to OV Counsel. NARAWH _000170.43,

52 Hogan 9719723 Tr. at 65-68. 81, 113-1.1; 8/17/10 Memo from Hogan to Mr. Biden re
“Mandling of Classified Documents.” NARAWH 0000005,
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to ensure thar classified material was handled securely.
1. Tracking of classified hriefing books
In the wake of the August 2010 Hamptrons trip and the difficulty in retrieving
Top Secret. codeword documents, Exceutive Secretary staff implemented a more
formal svstem for tracking Mr, Biden's classified briefing books. The team began
numbering and recording the contents of each book. 16 and created a spreadsheet that
logeed the date. book number. how the book was delivered. and date of return.ivi
Despite these new procedures. the Executive Secretary team continued to struggle to
retrieve My, Biden's classified briefing books. 183
2. Delivery of classified material to personal spaces
Hogan orally mnstructed military aides that the classified briefing books must
he delivered divectly to Mr. Biden and “could not be left on the "round table™ in the
front hall on the main floor of the Naval Observatory residence.!™ During our
interview. Hogan said that she “wanted to make sure that a book with classified
information wasn't Just sitting on the hallway table. 1% According to notes taken by

one of Mr. Biden's military aides, Hogan instructed that “if [Mr. Biden] asks us to

165 812310 e-mail from [rector of Programs to OVP National Security Sraff,
NARAWH_00017126; 8/17/10 AMemo from Hogan to Mr. Biden re "Handling of Classified
Documents.” NARAWH_ 00000050,

HE8/23/10 e-mail from Dirvector of Programs to OVP National Security Staff
NARAWH_00017126: VP Classified book tracking. xlex, NARAWH _00014902.

165 Kixecutive Secretary Staffer 2 7/7/23 Tr. at 25-28; In November 2010, Military Aide
14 e-mailed Personal Aide 1 asking him to help retrieve multiple of Mr. Biden's classified
briefing books. 11/8/10 e-mail from Director of Programs to military aides and others,
1B001_03161902.

165 Hogan 3/23/23 Tr. at 15-16. 8/2:3/10 e-mail from Military Aide 14 to OVP Military
Aldes ve "Handling of (Classified Material.” NARAWH 00011447,

57 Hogan 5/23/23 Tr. at 16-47.
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leave it on the ‘round table’ we should place it on the table and then maintain eves
on it until he picks it up.”16 But in practice. military aides regularly left his classified
briefing books unattended on the round table at Mr. Biden's request. 199
3. Storage of classified material in personal spaces
According to a military aide’'s notes of a meeting with Hogan in August 2010,
she communicated to staff that Mr. Biden "understands that classified material needs
to be kept in one of two places a. Personal Custody. or b. a safe. "7 His staff then

installed 1dentical safes for him to use to store classified material, installing one safe

W ff 823/10 e-mall from Military Aide 141 ro OVP Military Aldes re “Handling of
Classified Material,” NARAWT_0001-1.1.17.

N litary Alde 1T, at 10-11, 12-61; Mihitary Aide 1 Tr. at 9. 16 (*lle knew thart at
some point in the evening there would be a book available for him on the tabie.”): Military
Arde 8 Tr. at 21-22 "We would make contact with him and he would sayv. hev. can vou leave
it on the table at the bottom of the stairs in the Naval Observatory. So. he would request that
and we would leave 1t for him to retrieve.™): Military Alde 10 Tr. at 15 {"his divcection to me
was to put it on a table in the fover . ... [H]is direction to me was to set it on that table.™).
But see Military Aide 11 Tr. at 28 (*You couldn’t . . . {I}f you couldn’t positively hand it off to
somebody, yvou didn't. [ wasn't going to leave. vou know, secrets sitting on the kitchen counter
in the Naval Observatory.”): Military Aide 13 Tr. at 15 (“All of the handoffs that ['m thinking
about. I don’t think we left classified sitting avound for him.™. Some military aides described
ensuring the material was picked up from the table that evening. Military Aide 3 Tr. at 10
("I wouldn't stand there waiting for him to come down and get them, sayv if he was, vou know.
upstairs. But I'would make sure they were picked up.”): Military Aide 6 Tr. at 30 ([W]e would
leave them on the table on the first floor, and 1 would always kind of wait, and be would walk
or let the dog out, Champ, and so0 vou'd see that he let [the] dog out. and then [ would go back
up to make sure that those documents were not on the table after T saw him.”). At least one
military aide pushed back if the material was particularly sensitive. Military Awde 5 Tr. at
13-15. 33 (would not leave anvthing above Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information
classification on the round table and My, Biden would be informed it couldn't be left on the
table: would not leave the book on the table for more than 30 minutes.). On at least one
occasion. Mr. Biden's personal aide sent an ¢-mail to Mr. Biden himself via Mr. Biden's
personal e-mail account notifving him that the “classified book was delivered and is on the
round table downstaivs[.|” 7/11/11 e-mail from personal aide to Mr. Biden, 1BOOT_0:3223.132.

70 8123/10 ¢-mail from Military Aide 11 to OVP Military Aides. NARAWH_0001 4417,

20



each in his West Wing office closet. the second-floor personal space of the Naval
Observatory. and his personal residence in Delaware, ' !

There 12 some evidence that after the new safes were installed at the
residences. Mr. Biden used them to store elassitied information. at least for a time.
in December 2010, for example, Mr. Biden's personal aide e-mailed members of the
Executive Secretary team saving that Mr, Biden had “just put” classified materal in
a safe 1n the Naval Obscrvatory, including classified briefing books and one of AMr.
Biden's handwrirten notebooks. 772 And in November 2010, the personal aide sent
another e-mail saving that “the system put in place by [Hogan] of using =afes at his
residence has been working. 7+

But we alzo found that Mr. Biden continued frequently to leave classified
documents unattended. outside of safes. at the Naval Observatory and hiz Delaware
home. As to the Naval Obscrvatory, only one of the ecight naval enlisted aides we
inrerviewed recalled a safe there ever being used to store classified material !
Several did not recall a second-floor safe at all.’"> And only one aide rvecalled a safe

being in the library of the Delaware home. but the aide never opened 11,176

P R23/10 e-mail from Military Alde 14 o OVP Military Aides, NARAWH_0001 Li47:
12/11/10 ¢-mail from Personal Aide 1 to Director of Programs. 1B001_03159080 (referring to
safe in Mr. Biden's "room” in his restdence at the Naval Observatory).

72 12/11/10 e-mail from Personal Aide 1 to Dirvector of Programs and Executive
Secretary. 1B0O01_03159095 (listing a “classificd binder” with materials from “two books™ on
“AtPak™)y: Notebook 1B63.

TI1/8/10 ¢-mail from Personal Aide 1 to Director of Programs. et al.,
1B0G1_03161902.

VENEA S Tr. at 35-36, 39, 10-11.

VS NEA L Tr at 17: NEA A Tr. 16: NEA 8 ar 23-24.

U 3/2/13 e-mail from Director of Programs, 1B001_03097089; 10/18/10 Memorandum.
NARAWH 0001.1906: NEA 5 Ty, at 80-83.
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Despite Hogan's admonishments never to leave classified material unattended.
several aldes observed classified material left out on the second {loor of the Naval
Observatoryt™™ or in the Delaware home. '™ Some thought it was fine for documents
to be left out in those spaces. and only recalled moving them if asked. '™ When
interviewed, Mr. Biden recalled that at the Naval Observatory his practice was to
“leave something on the desk that [ was working out of in the office . . . and they'd
come and clear it out .. . when [ got fimished. " 170

E. Lack of counseling on the handling of classified material after
2010

Hogan left her position as Counsel to the Vice President in June 201307 After
her guidance in 2010 and 2011, it does not appear the Counsel's office provided Mr.
Biden with any additional advice of significance about how to handle and storve
classified information until the very end of the administration. when an i=sue arose
relating 1o his handwritten classified notecards. Thar matter is discussed in detail in

Chapter Four.

FENEAN 2 Treooat 29232 NEA 3 Tr.oat 120 10: NEA + Teoat 11-13: NEA S Tr. at 53-55,
39 NEAGTr at 1.1-15: NEA T Tr. at 51-53.

PENEA 2 Tr at 36: NEA 1 Te. at 21, 2.4-25, 340 35-38: NEA S Tr. at 5:3-54, 84-85: NEA
G Tr. at 24.

PUNEA I Troat 23-21 47 NEA S Tr. at 84: NEAX T Troat 51-33

W0 Biden 10/8/23 Tr. at 30-31.

=i Hogan 5/23/23 Tr. at 36: Lambros Tr. at 13:; ¢/21/13 e-mail from Hogan.
1BOOT_001808]1 1.
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CHAPTER FOUR
MR. BIDEN’S CLASSIFIED NOTECARDS AND NOTEBOOKS

In addition to the marked classified documents Mr. Biden recewved through the
President’s Datly Brief. classified briefing hooks. and other avenues, he also regularly
created classified documents in the form of his own handwritten notes. Throughout
the eight vears of the Obama administration. Mr. Biden took notes during classified
meetings and about elassified mformation in notebooks and on notecards. Although
the substantive inlormation in the notebeoks and notecards was similar—and
similarly classified—the notebooks and notecards were handled differently. both
during the adminstration and after.

During the Obama adminisiration. Mr. Biden's staff regularly collected and
reviewod his notecards to determine if they contained classified mformation and so
they could eventually be arvchived as presidential records. At the end of the
administration. Mr. Biden's staff arranged for him to store most of hig classified
notecards, which contained notes on the President’s Daily Brief and other classified
information. in a SCIF at the National Archives. In contrast. My, Biden held his
notebooks close, and his staff did not review them. After the administration, My,
Biden brought his notebooks home with him and stored them in unsecured locations
that were not authorized to store classified information- ~even though the notebooks,

like the notecards, contained classified information.
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In addition to taking notes in unclassified scttings. Muv, Biden used notecards
to take notes on a varlety of classified meetings and briefings. including the
President's Daily Brief,'"0 Situarion Room meectings, and other briefings from the
mtelligence community. 9!

B. Mr. Biden’s notecards were collected and organized by his staff

AMr. Biden's front office staff regularly collected his notecards. Generally, Mr,
Biden handed them to his personal aide or staff assistants or left them in an outbox
on the desk in his office. where his front office staff collected material at each day's
end. "2 Staff then organized the notecards by date or topic so that Mr. Biden could
reference them, 9% Front office staff stored the notecards in their work area outside of
AMr. Biden's West Wing office.'!

When notecards contained notes relared to foreign policy meetings or other
potentially classified information. Mr. Biden's staff turned them over to the National

Sccurity Affairs team. who stored them in a sccure location.!® At times, the National

190 B o  NARA-Bx1 1682 2428, 2432-39, 24141-46, 2452, 2458, 2160; Staft Assistant 3
10447253 Tr. at 31-32; Personal Aide 1 4/26/23 Tr. at 26-29; Personal Adde 3 3/28/23 Tr. at 31:
FBI Serial 281 1A300. 1A301.

W o NARA-Bx1_0123, 195-96. 274, 277, 422, 1074-75. 1100, 1197, 1692-93, 1702,
17:37-38, 2110-11. 2159, 2218, 2372, 2403, 2442: NARA-Bx2 VP Noteeards 2016_0090: Staff
Assistant 3 104423 Tr. av 31-32; FBI Sevial 281 1A300, 1A301.

2 Sraff Assistant 2 3/16/25 Tr. at 19-20, 27-28; xecutive Assistant 92823 Tr. ar 43,
60-61; ¥1/16 West Wing Guide. SCOH-000-13.1; Staff Assistant 3 10/4/23 Tr. at 15-17. 26-27.

193 Sraff Assistant 3 1O/23 Tro at 24-27 9/1/16 West Wing Guide, SCOH-000 131
Staff Assistant 2 3/16/23 Tr. at 31, 98-99; Exccutive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. ar 13, 15,

M Staff Assistant 2 3/16/23 Tre. at 31, 98; Staff Assistant 3 100123 Tr. at 25-26. 35,
37 W16 West Wing Guide, SCOH-000 131,

13 Sraff Assistant 1 Te. at 37-39, 52-33. 101-102; Staff Assistant 2 3/16/23 Tr. at 20-
21: Personal Aide 1 4/26/23 Tr. at 28-29, 52, 536: 2/5/11 e-mail from Deputy Counsel to WH
Records Divector et all ve VP Notecards.” 1BO0OT 02886522 Stalf Assistant 3 104123 Tr. at
31-32: Executive Sceretary Staffer 2 11/21/23 Tre. at 6-7: Bakotie 1/11/24 Ty at 20-22,
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Security Affairs team marked some of the notecards as classified. 196 My, Biden also
marked some of his own notecards as classified. 197

C. Mr, Biden wanted to take copies of his notecards when he left
office to help write his book

As explained in Chapter Five, in the final yvear of his vice presidency. Mr. Biden
hegan writing a memoir about his time in office. When conceiving of and writing the
book, Mr. Diden worked with a ghostwriter. Mark Zwonitzer. In 2016, Zwonitzer
reached out to Mr. Biden's staff and requested help wath locating Mr., Biden's journals
and notes that would be helpful in writing the book.'¥ As he approached the end of
hig vice presidency, Mr. Biden sought to keep copies of his notecards and other records
for use in the book-writing process. According 10 a staffer involved in the project. Mr.
Biden wanted to take coples of the notecards “so that be didn't have to go to {the
National Avchives| every dax to help write this hook.™ 199

In late Seprember 2016, Zwonitzer e-mailed Mr. Biden's chief of staff to
schedule an interview with Mr, Biden 29 Zwonttzer said he wanted to cover “very
specilic topics and time frames” and said he would “tell vou exactly what ground/time
period I want 1o cover in the session so the VP could have relevant notes/diaries ete.

with bim when we talk. ™"

P Executive Secretavy Staffer 2 1172123 Tr. at 6-11: Ratner Ty, at 42-130 51,

7 Sraff Assistant 3 10/4/23 Tro at 31-32; NARA-Bx1_2138, 2116: FBI Serial 281
1A300, 1A301.

98 5/21/16 e-mail from Zwonitzer to Ricchettt, Zwonitzer-00007399,

197 Associate Counsel 3/29/23 Tr. at 59.

20 8/26/16 e-mail from Zwonitzer to Riechetti. Zwonitzer-000076135.

2wl 4.

U
g






ThE VUL PR SAH ST

0L0Z

LT

& 8K

——

Copies of notecards organized by year?®®

In addition to notecards, some of the binders contained copies of Mr. Biden's

schedules and other material 208

it c3

Copies of notecards and Mr. Biden’s schedules?0®

207 BlendedBoxes-0040, BlendedBoxes-0044.
208 F g, BlendedBoxes-0037; FBI Serial 392 1A469.
203 Blended Boxes-0035, BlendedBoxes-0037; FBI Scrial 392 1A469.
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D. Near the end of the administration, staff determined that some
of the notecards contained classified information

The counsel in the Office of the Vice President were involved in reviewing the
copics of the notecards that Mr. Biden wanted to take with him after his vice
presidency. 2! While reviewing the notecards. an assoclate counsel noticed that some
of them contained notes about the President’s Daily Brief21! Although the associate
counsel did not see any classification markings, she understood the President’s Daily
Brief was classified and was concerned hecause a non-classified copier had been used
1o make the coples.212

The associate counsel ralsed the issue with the Kxecutive Secretary team,
which. as explained in Chapter Three. was responsible for the delivery and handling

]
1

of classified material in the Office of rthe Vice President.2!? E-mail corvespondence
from early October 2016 indicates the notecards were temporarily stored in the
deputy national sccurity advisor's office "until the lawvers determine the appropriate
next steps. 2 In an interview, the deputy national sccurity advisor recalled

“reviewing materials” at the end of the administration “to understand what was

classified or not, 7215

20 Associate Counsel 372923 Tr. at 31-60: 10/6/16 e-mail from Associate Counsel to
FExecutive Assistant, ot al., NARAWH_00017698 (indicating Associate Counscl would deliver
the "2009-2013" binder to the Executive Assistant when she was finished reviewing i),

21 Associate Counsel 3/29/23 Tr. at 5-1-25.

2 Jdat 55,

20 fd.

tH10/7/16 e-mail between Assoctate Counsel, Deputy National Security Advisor Elv
Ratner, and others, NARAWH 00017743,

213 Ratner Tr. at 0.
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Soon after, a military detailee working on the Executive Seeretary team raised
her own concerns about the handling of Mr. Biden's notecards. After learning that
Mr, Biden wanted copies of the notecards for wse in writing his book “after the
admmistration has ended.” the detailee raised concerns that the notes contained
classificd marerial commingled with Mr. Biden's personal notes 2% According to the
detailee. the executive secretary, Kristen Bakotic (who was also on detail from the
mihta—_lry). disagreed and concluded that “the notes belong to the Viee President and
should be made available to him without restriction.”™?!” Because Bakotie outranked
the detailee, the detailee sent an c-mail to herself “for the vecord.” in which she
explained her belief that the notes were “heing mishandled” and documented her

reguest not 1o participate "in any project or meetings that involve these records.™

Forthe Record

15 in the OFce of the WV ce President’s Nalena Seour by Affars office. there negan a discassion
ron are cdrrently being stored 0 the EECE

O Qotoner 18th, 23
of the use a~d dispcaiiion of the Vice Pras deqt's notes. These notes,
room 297 contain classified nformaton tiat s comingied weth persana motes of the Vice Pres dent. They cover a
spar of several years. None of the rotes nave classification markings or are otherwise indicated as contamning

classified informatio~ The determimnation of classified content was mads by the Deputy NMationa! Secunty Adv sor,

g'ter reviewing the content

Krster Bakobic, the Vice Presidents Executive Secretary, insist thai the noles belong to ire Vice President and
shoutd be made avanabie to nim withcut restrictior. She Fas wndicated tnat she 's aware that these notes wil be used
durng trs book-wnting process. hut she is confident that ne the Vice President) understands woicn informator s
classifiad and wh.oh informator is nat.

Krster has stated that these ~clas shouid ~ot be sulzjected to the reguiations of the Prasidental Records Agt,
bacause they fall under tne category of personal notes. She has stated tnai the V.ce President can keep trase motas,
mcluding the ciass fied portiors fwithout redaction), after the administration has erded.

She has repeated:y stated that his position as the YVice President of the United Siates excudes nim from the
cuidance that other members of the gdmimstration are requred to adhere to.

I do net agree with Kristan Bakotic. | bel'eve these records are being mishardled, however, Kristen is my superior
officer and | am not in a pesition to chalenge her autherity. | nave reguested fo not participant i ary project or
meetings that mvolve these records.

Detailee’s e-malil “For the Record” (Oct. 15, 2016)2Y

2 10/18/16 e-mail from Executive Secretary Staffer 2. NARAWIL_00015180,
21T fd.
215 o,
KRN [d‘

61



When iterviewed by our office. the detailee said she believed providing the
notes to My, Biden afrer the administration "without vestriction” would be “outside of
the protocols and policies that . . . had been put in place for our office for safeguarding
the material. "22® The detailee did not recall the ultimate disposition of the notecards
or whether rhe discussion percolated up to Mr. Biden 221

As for Bakotic. during an interview with our office, she said that she did not
recall ever taking the position that Mr. Biden could take classified notes home with
him after his vice presideney. 22 According to Bakotie. she believed 1n the fall of 2018,
when the detailee wrote her e-mail. that there was =till time for Mr. Biden to review
hiz notes and get the mformation he needed In a secure fashion before the
administration ended. 22 She also did not recall ever advising My, Biden that he could
retain classified notes after his term in office. and said it was not her role to advise
the vice president about classified vecord-handling.>*' Noy did she recall anvone else
in the Obama administration taking the position that Mr. Biden could take classified
material home with him in an unsecure environment after the vice presidency.?#3
Based on her own traming. she knew that classified materials were supposed to be
stored 1n a secure facility. 226 A memorandum from the National Sccurity Council sent

to all Office of the Vice President stalf in December 2016 and January 2017 confirmed

20 Executive Secretary Staffer 2 11/21/23 T at 19,
= Id.at 320 38

22 Bakotic V11/21 Ty, at 45-47. 30-52, 56,

== d . at 110 43-15.

=1 at 56G-57, 539, 62

I fdat 62-613.

226 fel ot 50, 53-5-1.
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this undersianding. instructing that “[mjecting notes . . . . and classified notes of any
kind. are NOT personal notes” and that onlv unclassified pervsonal records could be
removed {rom the White House at the end of the administration. though there 18 no
evidence this guidance was ever communicated to My, Biden 227

E. In October 2016, Mr. Biden’s staff installed a new safe at the
Naval Observatory for the storage of Mr. Biden’s notecards

Shortly after the Kxecutive Secretary detailee raised an objection to the
handling of Aly, Biden's notecards in Octobey 2016, Mr. Biden's staff installed a new
safe at the Naval Observatory, E-mail traffic from that time suggests the safe was
meant to store Mr. Biden's classified notecards.

On October 20, 2016—two davs after the Executive Secretary detalee objected
to the handling of the notecards—2My, Biden's deputy national sccurity advisor
reached out to Mr, Biden's personal aide asking to "run something” by My, Biden 2%
Later that night. the personal aide replied that he had talked to Kxecutive Seeretary
Bakotic and "[s]ounds Lke we're good. Let me know if there's anvithing additional
hevond the safe 1ssue. 7229

That same day. the deputy national security advisor sent an e-mail with the
subject line “"New Safe at NavOhbs™ to Mr. Biden's chief of staff. Counsel, national

securlty advisor. and others.2%® In the e-mail, the deputy national security advisor

20 12022/16 e-mail  from  Director of Programs 1o #FALL-OVP. NARAWH-
CLASS_00015305: 1/3/17 e-mail from Director of Programs to #ALL-OVP. NARAWTI-
CLASS 00015634,

228 10/20/16 e-mall from Ratnev to Personal Aide. TBO0O1_02137508.

29 120116 e-mail from Personal Ajde to Deputy National Security  Advisor.
1B001_021373508.

2 10/20/16 e-mail from Ratner o Ricchertl, MeGrail, Kahl et al., 1BO01_03798394.
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sald that “[tThe VP approved the placement of a new safe at NavObs and conveved
his desived location.”23t He explained that the safe would be installed the following
day and would be “load{ed] up with the relevant materials. 2% Later that evening, a
career emplovee on the Executive Secretary team e-mailed the detailee to let her
know “for [her] awareness” that a sale was being mstalled 233

Although these e-mails suggest that Mr. Biden's staffers installed the new safe
at the Naval Ohservatory to store the notecards. the staffers told investigators that
they did not remember why the safe was installed or what was stored 1n it 2%

F. At the same time Mr. Biden's staff was considering how to
handle the notecards, he told his ghostwriter that “they didn’t
even know” he had notebooks containing similar classified
notes

AMr. Biden appearcd to reference the notecards issue during a recorded

mnterview with his ghostwriter Zwonitzer on October 10, 2016—the same time period
during which his stall were discussing and arranging the secure storage of his
clasgified notecards. At the time. Mr. Biden was reading aloud from his "Foreign
Policy” notebook. including reading notes from mectings in the Situation Room.2% Ay

explamed below. My, Biden's notebooks were separate from his notecards. though he

Policy” notebook. My, Biden added, "[t]heyv didn't even know I have this”

=3 fd.

=2 10/20/16 e-mail from Ratner to Ricehettl, MeGrail. Kahl et al., 1B0O01_(37985941.

235 10720016 e-mand from Divector of Programs to Executive Secretary Staffer 2, SCOH-
000263,

SR e Executive Seeretary Staffer 2 11721723 T at 29-30: Bakotie /11724 Tr. at 6GG-
G9: Ratner T'r. at 60-62.

=3 Norebook entries 1B58-30-51, 56-60.
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My, Biden:  There was a lot of stuff going on at the same time in foreign
policy. You said —they said, vou didn't wanna go into . . .
but [ have extensive notes over this period of time.
Zwonitzer:  Oh, vou actually have those here?
Alr. Biden:  Yeah. now there's a lot of other notex too. But. I mean, this
s my . ., They didn't even know I have this. Some of
this stuff I'm not. vou know. going . . . I have stuff all the
way up to 5-19. May 19. And then it skips in my notesto . ..
6-16 15 the next entry, 2936
In this exchange. Mr. Biden seemed to distinguwish between his notecards.
which hix staff were 1in the process of implementing protocols to safeguard. and his
notebooks, which, “Jtlhey didn't even know I have.” As explained below. although the
notecards and notebooks both contained classified information, most of the notecards
were handled differently than the notebooks after the vice presidency.
G. The investigation did not determine what, if anything, staff told
Mr. Biden about the proper storage of classified information in
his notecards
After staff raised concerns about the possibility thar My, Biden's notecards may
contamn classified material. his staff discussed how to propervly handle and store the
notecards, There is some indication that Mr. Biden's staff may have advised him that
hiz notecards contained classified information and needed to be held in a secured

location. But the investigation did not determine what. if anything, My, Biden's

staffers actually told him on this subject.

2 Ywonitzer recording Carved_000246 (emphasis added): Carvved_0002416 Ty, at 3-5;
FBI Sertals 315 335; Notebook entries 1B38-50-51, 56-60.
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As explained above, e-mails obtained during the investigation show that in
October 2016. Mr. Biden's national seeurity staff appear to have installed a new safe
at the Naval Observatory in which to store Mr. Biden's notecards during the rest of
his vice presidencey. After an e-matl from Mr. Biden's deputy national security advisor
asked My, Biden's personal aide to "run something” by My, Biden, a follow up e-mail
from the personal aide referred to the "safe 1ssue.” suggesting that the personal aide
had talked to Mr. Biden about the decision to install a new safe at the Naval
Observatory to hold My Biden's notecards2% But when interviewed. neither the
deputy national security advisor nor the personal aide recalled ralking to Mr. Biden
ahout the installation of the safe or the handling of his notecards. 23

For her part, the associate counscl who mmtially rawsed concerns about
potentially classified material in My, Biden's notecards behieved the then-Counsel to
the Vice President. John MeGrail, was going to meet with M. Biden to address the
aue. 2 According to the associate counsel. after she flagged the issue of classified
mnformation in My, Biden's notes. she thought "someone had a conversation” with the
Vice President “about the binders [containing copies of the notecards] and probably
about making sure classified documents are put in the safe.”210 The associate counsel
believed MeGrail had this conversation with My, Biden, but she was not part of 1t and

did not know what. if anvthing, was discussed.2! As explained below. for his part,

S 10020016 c-mail from Ely Ratner to Personal Aide. 1BOGT_02137508: 10020016 -
mail from Personal Aide to Ratner. TB0O01 02137508.

= Ratner 1172123 Tr. at 55, 74.

=2 Aguociate Counsel 372925 Tr. at 61,

20 fif

S0 fef oAt A,
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MceGrail did not recall any such conversation. and indeed, said he did not remember
anvthing about the notecard project or about concerns that Mr. Biden's notecards
could contain classified information.2 2

Mr. Biden's deputy chief of staff recalled discussions about a slightly diffevent
1ssue. As he desceribed 1t during the Tast year of the Obama administration. members
of Mr. Biden's staff {lagged that Mr. Biden had written personal notes by hand on the
pages of classified documents 2 My, Biden's deputy chief of staff had discussions
with MceGrail and the associate counsel. as well as others. about the proper
disposition of these notes.*'! They determined that the Counsel's office would convey
to Mr. Biden that he could not keep the notes after the end of the administration.
hecause “classified documents belong with either the ereator of the documents.” or.
“if they were native to our office.” to the National Archives.2Y The deputy chief of
staff was not mvolved in anv conversation between McGrail and My, Biden on this
1=sue.? 6 Again, MceGrail did not recall having any conversations with Mr. Biden about
the proper disposition of classified documents, though MceGrail did recall telling Mr.
Biden that all his records (which McGrail understood to encompass notes) would be
gent to the National Archives 217

E-muails obtained during the investigation suggest that McGrail and others in

the Office of the Vice President conducted some research on the handling and

iz NeCrail 1722024 Tr.at 9. 15, 16-18. 12, 18. 78, 98-99. 127,
S Amin Tr. at 29-3:3.

W Jd. at 33-37.

5 Jdat 29-133. 35-37.

L fef at 35-37.

26 NeGratl 1/22/24 Tr. ar 78-83, 86-87. 94 98-99, 107. 113, 123-26.
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accessing of classified marerials after the vice presidency. In November 2016, for
example, MceGrail sent an e-mail containing a reference to the executive order
governing classification. specifically citing the provision that would apply when a

former vice president sought 1o gaimn access to classified information. ##

hiessaze

Fram -‘u'IcG-a:i W FOEORANE o p 7 rte B o copaey

Sert: LAOLE EDGES PR

To - R _
Subject: Traased Natinnat Sesuty Infarraton

sod e Aroess op M sloncs Fesearsie g and Sty o Forten Goyerte P S0

MeGrail Nov, i4, 2018 e-mall about Executive Order 13,5267
Six weeks later, In January 2017, the associate counsel sent MceGrail an e-mail
containing information ahout the same executive order and abowt one use of Ronald
Reagan’s diaries after he was president. 2 a topic that is discussed in more detail 1n

Chapter Ten. The subject line of the e-mail was “per our discussions today. 25

SR 16 e-mail from MeGrail, SCOH-0003 10.

2w fed

010517 e-mail from Associate Counsel to MeGratl, SCOH-000339.
S d.
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flesnade

From Al rvp et govi

Sent.
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Subjact:
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e snifda -y resenran 2o e ese are 3 goad stat

Associale counsel Jaa, 3, 2017 e-mail referencing My, Reagun’s diavies™?

Duiing his micrview. MceGrail did not recall these o-mails or any discussions
about the executive order or the Reagan diaries, except that he recalled having
conversations about getting Mr. Biden's “security clearance” extended =o Ay, Biden
could access classified material after the vice presidency. 29 According to MeGrail. he
could not recall having any discussions about My, Biden's notecards. notes, or diaries
containing classified information, 23

MceGrail explained that he and an archivist at the National Archives had
arranged for all of Mr. Biden's records [rom the vice presidency, including all his
notes, to be sent to the National Archives when he left office.? In this arrangement.,

MeGrail made no distinctions between presidential vs. personal records. or classified

232 o]

253 NeGrail 1/22/24 Tr. at 51-55. 59-62. 68-70. T3-74 76-77. 92, 118-19.
31 o at 78-80, 98-99.

255 I at 80-83.
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vs. unclassified records: they simply arvanged to send all of Mr. Biden's records to the
Archives. 23 From there, McGrail said his understanding was that the Archives would
undertake the time-consuming task of sorting through the records to determine what
was personal and what was presidential 2%

According to MceGrail, near the end of the administration he told Mr. Biden
they would send all his records to the Avchives. ™ MeGrail's message was simple: [t
was just. Your records are gomng to the Archives.” That was 1,72 MeGrail told Mr.
Biden this more than once. and Mr. Biden understood the arrangement and accepted
16,250 MeGrail =aid he did not discuss with My, Biden the specific requurements of the
Presidential Records Act ov the treatment of personal ve. presidential records under
the Act. 281 MeGrail also said he did not discuss Mr. Biden's notecards. notebooks. or
diaries with him 2=

MeGrail said he never spoke with My, Biden abour withholding personal notes
from the National Archives.26% My, Biden never told McGrail he had notes he wanted
to take home msread of sending to the Archives. and MceGrail saw no indication that
Mi. Biden believed he could take classified notes home with him at the end of his vice

presidency.?6t If My, Biden had such a belief oy plan, McGrail would have expected

260 [fat 80-83. 126,

=1 at 83,109,

5% [ at 86-87. 9.1, 99. 107, 113, 123-26.
=, ar 107,

A I at 86-87. 91099, 107, 113, 115, 123-26.
51 Id at 85-87, 91,

e fdat TR-79. 83-85, 98-99, 117-19.

=5t ar 83-8.1,

2607, at 83-8.1. 99, 117-18.
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him o raise it during their conversations about sending all My, Biden's records to the
Archives at the end of the administration. 26 MceGrail never advised My, Biden one
way or the other about whether he could keep classified documents. including
classified handwritten notes, outside a secure, authorized facility, afror leaving office.
and McGrail was unaware of such advice from anyone else 266

Movre generally, MeGrail said he was unaware of any conversations among staff
m the Office of the Vice President suggesting that My, Biden could take classified
materials home after leaving office and keep them outside a SCIF. noting. "It was the
opposite. [t was how are we going to find him a SCIF in case he ever has a reason to
go to a SCIFT257 When asked during his interview about whether anvone told Mr.
Biden that the Presidential Recovds et authorizes a [ormer vice president to keep
certain materals at home. even 1if they are classified, McGrail said no. and added
"[Tihat doesn't make logical sense to me .. .. [M]y understanding 1s that .. . if you
copy or write down classified information on a piece of paper. 11 mammtains 1ts
classified status. 263

According to MeGrail. My, Biden did not. and would not. come to him for legal
advice about whether he could take classified information home after the vice
presidency. because. in McGrail's words, "I think he knows."269 In MceGrail's view. the

rule that vou cannot take classified information out of a secure facility is “ohvious, ™27

9 at 117-18,

26 el at 98-99, 107-08. 119, 126.
W I at 126,

W8 fdat 107-08.

9 Jd at 100.

=0 id at 102,



MeGrail explained that My, Biden knew classified information “needs to be
maimtamed 1n a secure facility. . .. [H]e was the chairman of the Foreign Relations
Commirttee. . . . [Hje understands how 1t works. 27!

Finally. McGrail said it would be “very surprising” if Mr. Biden intentionally
took home classified information after the vice presidency. 2 In McGrail's words, My,
Biden knew that “information is classified for a good veason. that its disclosure can
harm =ources and methods and the national security intevests of the United States.
and he has been committed to the national security Interests of the United States as
long as ['ve known him. ™ According to McGrail. 1f Mr. Biden took home classified

information afrer the vice presidency. “[ijt would be completely nconsistent with
evervthing that we were killing ourselves to try to accomplish™ at the end of the

administration by sending all of My, Biden's records to the National Archives 27

H. After Mr, Biden left office, copies of many of his notecards were
held in a SCIF at the National Archives

Ultimately. the associate counsel and MceGrail arranged for Mr. Biden's

classified notecards to be held in a SCIF at the National Archives under a deposit

VI ar 100-01.

S fdoar 111, 112, 117-18.
T3 ac 111,

Tl oat 112,
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agreement that allowed My, Biden to store personal matevial at a National Archives
facility. 259

On January 12, 2017, Mr. Biden signed a deposit agreement allowing him Lo
store “certain personal effects” in a “secure and protected area” at the National
Archives. 8 According to the agreement, the material consisted of “correspondence.
memorabilia. personal notes. and other miscellancous personal property.”

When the associate counsel made arrangements to bring the deposit
agreement to Mr. Biden's executive assistant for My, Biden's signature. she indicated
that McGrail “has spoken with him [Myr. Biden] about the izsues.2" But in an
mmterview. MeGrail said that he thought the deposit agreement related to personal
records from Mr. Biden's Senate tenure. and he did not vecall binders of classified

El

notecards going into Mr. Biden's personal storage at the Archives 2
On January 16, 2017 —Ifour davs before Mr. Biden left the vice presidency—the
assoclate counsel asked a member of the Exceutive Seeretars team to “pick up the

Vice President’s elassified materials” at the Naval Observatory 27 Soon after. another

member of the Executive Secretary team explained that the material consizted of four

=5 Associate Counsel &29/23 Tr. at 9-10. 76: 1/3/17-1/6/17 e-mails between Associate
Counsel, McGrail, and NARA Archivist 1. SCOH-000326, SCOH-000330. SCOH-000:332,
SCOH-00035.1.

26 1/12/17 Deposit Agreement regarding the Administration of Personal Materials of
Viee President Joseph R Biden, NARA-H-70000001 2.

STUIVT - V1117 e-mails between Associate Counsel and Executive Assistant
1B0OG1_01915351.

=7 NeGrail 1/22/24 Tr. at 82, 120-21.

29 16/17 e-mail from Associate Counsel to Executive Secvetary Staffer 2, SCOH-
000216,

73



to five binders and that “"[o}nce vou return [vou] will need to place in 1-2 pra
[Presidential Records Aet] boxes along with the ormginals. 250

The following dav was the associate counsel's last day in the Office of the Viee
President. She sent MeGrail and others an outstanding to-do list.2*! Among other
things. she reminded MeGrail to approve the deposit agreement to allow My, Biden
to store his personal materials at the Archives. She also wrote. “[w]e need to send his
personal diaries to storage at the Archives. A National Archives emplovee] bhas
offered to come and pick them up. T think this ig the best option.”2¥2 When
interviewed. the associate counsel clarified that she was “referring to the binders that
we copled.” meaning the binders of Mr. Biden's notecards containing classified
mformation. discussed above 2™ The associate counsel said, "I believe we were using
diaries as shorthand because thev were personal notes, thoughts. 2% She explained
that "it was the safest decision to have [the notecards] be in a SCIE since there wicre]
likely classified documents 7255

On January 18, 2017. a National Archives emplovee visited the White House.
picked up the copies of the notecards m Mr. Biden's West Wing office from MeGrail,

and brought them to the National Avchives, 288 MeGrail 2aid in his interview with our

#01416/17 e-mail from Director of Programs to Executive Secretary Staffer 2. SCOH-
0002 16,

S 1ATMT e-mail from Associate Counsel to MeGrail, SCOH-000111 ¢ wanted to
send along the list of 1tems that still needs to be taken care of after [ leave.™),

2

W Agsoclate Counsel 829/25 Tr, at 65.

=

25 fefat 9-10, 76,

21817 e-matt from NARA Avehivist 1 to MeGral, NARA-T-700000010,
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office that he had no memory of giving the Archives emplovee the binders of
notecards. or that they contained classified mformation, but the Archives emplovee
recalled MeGrail telling him that the matevials contained classified information. 2"
Accordingly, the Archives stored the materials inside a SCIEF 28

I. After he left the vice presidency, Mr. Biden twice visited the
National Archives to review copies of his notecards in a SCIF

Soon alter he left office in 2017 and while researching his book. My, Biden
visited the National Archives twice 1o consult the copies of his notecards that were
heing held in a SCIF 2%

During a recorded interview on Apil 24, 2017, My, Biden told his ghostwriter.
Zwonitzer. that he took separate notes regavding his private lunches with President
Obhama.2? My, Biden said that before each lunch. he and his chief of staff prepared
and wrote an agenda on “one of those litrle cards of mine”—an apparent rveference to
the long narrow notecards that Biden carried in his jacket pocket.29t Afrer cach lunch.
Mr. Biden dictated notes about the lunch to his executive assistant.™? My, Biden
explained that he previously “had all those [notes] at the house 1n a sale” but that 71
don’t know what they made me do with them . ™293

Zwomtzer: Can we spend some rime on that lunch?

27 MeGrail 1/22/24 Tr. at 121-22; NARA Avchivist T Tr. at 36, 62,

88 NARA Archivist 1 Tr. at 46, 62

51T and 7/11/17, Nartonal Avchives Visitor Logs. NARA-TL-700002505; NARA
Avchivist 2 6/1/23 Tr. at 14; MeGrail 5/2/23 Tr. at 169-80.

20 Zwonitzer recording 17042.1_0091: 170424 0091 Tr. al 28-30; Evidence item 1B80.

= Zwonitzer recording 170424_0091; 170424_0091 Tr. at 28-30; Evidence item 1B&80.

22 Zwonitzer recording 170424 _0091; 170424 0091 Tr. at 28-30: Evidence item [RB8:
Exceutive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 17,

2 Zwonitzer recording 170424_0091; 170123_0091 Tr. at 28-30: Evidence item 1R800,
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Mr. Biden:

Zwonitzer:

My, Biden:
Zwonitzer;

My, Biden:

Two davs later, in another recorded interview. My, Biden said he had Tearned
that his notecards had been “turned in” to the National Archives and that My, Biden

would have to go through his former counsel. McGrail. to get them 2% Mr. Biden also

[ had all those presidential notes,
[ know vou gave me this much from the diaries.
But | actually, [ wonder where those . . .

Do vou have separate notebooks of the presidential
[Tunches]?

Yeah. What I would do 1s after every lunch 1 would dictate
to. um. I would call in [the Executive Assistant] and [ would
dictate to her what the lunch was about. I had all those
at the house in a safe. I don’t know what they made
me do with them. But what [ would do 1= [ would make
up a card, one of those httle cavds of mine. Before I'd have
lunch, I'd meet with Steve [Riechetti] and anyvthing
anybody thought T should be bringing up {I'd put] on our
agenda. And when I came back. I'd dictate notes to {the
Executive Assistant] as to what actually transpired at the
lunch.2

told Zwonitzer that he had not wanted to turn the notecards

My, Biden:

Assiatant;

I'm told by [a personal aide]. [ guess he checked with you.
in order for me to get myv. uh, get all those presidential
notes I had for lunch. the luncheon meetings. [ have to go
to McGrail?

Yes. McGrail has them. We were supposed to turn it in and
that 1¢ the last person who had them.

“H wonitzer recording 170421_0091 (emphasis added): 1704121_0091 Ty, at 28-30:
Evidence 1itera 1B&0.
=5 Zwonitzer recording Carved 000399 Carved_000599 Tr. at 3--1: FBI Sertals 315,

335,
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Mr. Biden: OK. Uh, Sec if vou can get me McGrail on the line while |
have vou now. OK? And stay on okav?

Agsistant:  Got 1t sir. Hold on.

Zwonitzer:  This is probably something that goes to the
presidential papers.

AMr. Biden: 1 don’t think so. It was 1h between. I didn't want to
turn them in,

Zwonitzer: Right, so, it’s the gray area.®®

The next day. Zwonitzer sent an e-mail to the assistant and personal aide.
explaining that My, Biden "may try to review some of his notes from lunches with the
President and asked [Zwonitzer] to give him a list of the dates of the lunches that
would be tmportant.” " Zwonitzer included a hist of the dates of several such lunches
in his ¢-mail. Zwonitzer forwarded the list to My, Biden's personal e-mail account on
May 11,203 7.29¢

On that dav and again two months later. Mr. Biden visited the National
Arvchives to review copies of his notecards. which were held in a SCIF. 2 McGrail
accompanied him. 3% During both visits. Archives staff made clear to Mr. Biden that,

by viewing the notecards in the Archives SCIF, he was accessing classified

26 Zwonitzer recording Carved_000599 {emphasis added): Carved_000599 Tr. at 3- 1
FBI Serials 315, 3345,

WY ALTIT e-mall from Zwonitzer to Excculive Assistant and Personal Alde 3,
Zwonitzer-00001164.

=8 I

29 5/11/17 and 7/11/17 National Archives Visitor Logs, NARA-H-700002505; NARA
Avchivist 2 6/1/23 Tr. at 1.1; MeGrail 5/2/23 Tr. at 169-80.

0 MeGrail recalled only the first visit to the Archives. but visitor logs show he
accompanied Mr. Biden on both visits, 5/11/17 and 7/11/17 National Archives Visitor Logs.
NARA-H-700002505: NARA Archivist 2 6/1/23 T, at 15 McGrail 5/2/23 Tr. at 169-80.
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information 30! Nonetheless, in his interview with our office, MeGrail said he behieved
the material was in a SCIF at the Archives simply to keep 1t secure. not necessarily
because 1t was classified. 02

During the first visit on Mav 11. Archives staff followed a detailed checklist to
ensure they properly safeguarded the classified information in the notecards<."%? The
staff ensured that My, Biden did not bring his phone or other clectronie device mto
the SCIF.3% They announced that the visit involved access to  classified
information.* Thev rvemained in the SCIF and monitored Mr. Biden while he
reviewed the notecards=.% They also reminded him of his continumg responsibility to
protect all classified information after his visat 30

On July 11, 2017, two months alter their first vistt to the Archives. Mr. Biden
and McGrail returned.’9 Before the second visit. Zwonitzer e-mailed Mr. Biden
another list of lunches and events for which hix notes would be helpful ™ During the
sccond visit, Archives staff followed the same general procedures to safeguard
classified information.?'V My, Biden also signed a form cntitled "Notice to Users of

NARA Classified Research Rooms. ™! The first sentence of the form read. "You will

WESA1/1T and 7/11/17 National Archives Checklist for Classified Visits and Meetings.
NARA-H-700002505.

A A eGrat 1220248 Ty at 09-70. 113-1 1 129-30.

SE5/11/17 National Archives Visitor Logs, NARA-TT-700002505.

st feo

WIS 1“]'

6T NARA Arvchivist 1 Tr, at 70-71 NARA Avchivist 2 Tr, at 18-19.

0T 11T National Archives Visitor Logs. NARA-H-700002505.

RNk [d

MTANT eemall from Zwonitzer to Mr. Biden. Zwonitzer-00000631. Zwonitzer-
QO000632,

AOT1A1T Nattonal Archives Visitor Logs, NARA-H-T000023045.

.
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he viewing materials containing classified national security information.” and the
remainder of the form explained the various procedures and rules necessary to
safeguard such classified imformation. 12

Not all of Mr. Biden's notecards made their way to the SCHE at the Archives.
When the FBI searched Mr. Biden's Delaware home on January 20. 2023, they
discovered a stack of Mr. Biden's notecards in hix office #7 While many of these
notecards were from after his term as vice president. some of them dated from his
vice presidency and included handwritten notes about intelligence products and
matters of national security.?!? One notecard mcluded a handwritten classification
marking.#'% Some of the notecards found 1n the Delaware home remain classified up
to the Top Sccret level 516
II. MR, BIDEN’S NOTEBOOKS

A. Mr. Biden used notebooks during his vice presidency to record
hoth official and personal events

As with his notecards, My, Biden also frequently took notes about classified
information in notebooks. Most of the elassified notecards were stored differently

from the classified notebooks after the vice presidency. As explained above. most of

ald !u’

S1FBE Serial 77,

STV Serials 77. 691, 530, 661; Handwritten material 1B23,
315 FBI Serials 691, 530, 664: Handwritten material 11323,

316 BB Serial 619; Handwritten material 1B23.
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Notebooks seized from file cabinet under printers
in Delaware home office’?!

15/

——
"15

Notebooks seized from boekcase in Delaware home’s second-level office32Z

321 20230120_FBI_0132. FBI Serial 77 1A86.
822 20230120_FBI_0218. FBI Serial 77 1A86.
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The content of Mr. Biden's notebooks took several forms. 3

(1) Work notes. Mr. Biden wrote these notes during or soon after meetings he
attended as vice president. These notes memorialize, often in bullet-point
format. things such as the issues presented. comments of meeting
participants, and decisions made. For example, Mr. Biden often took notes
during meetings of the National Security Council and the President’s Daily
Brief.#21 Most of the notes in Mr. Biden's collection of notebooks recovered
by FBI agents from his Wilmington residence are work notes of this tyvpe.

(2) Work reflections. These were Mr. Biden's impressions, reflections. opinions,
and commentary about people and 1ssues he encountered as vice president.
For example. during the 2009 review of UU.S. military strategy and foreign
policy in Afghanistan, discussed in Chapter Six, Mr. Biden rvecorded his
deep concerns that President Obama’s eventual decision about Afghanistan
would be a terrible mistake. 23

(3) Political notes and reflections, These were Mr. Biden's summaries of and
commentary about political or electoral issues—for example. his notes
about his decision whether to run for president in 2016,

(4) Personal reflections. These were entries about purcly personal subjects.
such as the illness and death of his son. Beau.

(0} To-do lists. These were reminders about issues ranging from poliey
deliberations, to political concerns, to personal matiers,

While My, Biden often organized his notebooks roughly based on subject
matter. many notebooks contained entries on a variety of topics. He tvpically added
entries sequentially by date. so that a given notebook could contain. for example. real-
time notes of White House meetings, purcly personal entries about Mr. Biden's

familyv. and entries abour an upcoming election. Most of the notebooks contained

24 See generally Notebooks 11315, 1320, 1322 1325, 1B30. 1B51-52. 1B57-59. 1B62-
68,

1 Klain Tr. at 44 51: Personal Aide 1 126723 Tr. at 130-31: see generally Notebooks
TR15. 1820, 18322, 1325, 1B30. 1B51-52. IB57-59. 1R62-68.

23 Personal Adde T-126/23 Tr, at 30-31, 130-32: Exccutive Asslstant %/28/23 Tr. at 75;
Chapter Six.
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predominantly “work notes’™—summaries or minutes of work meetings—-but a few
writings were more diarv-like and personal in nature.?26

B. The notebooks contained classified information

Though none of the notebooks have classification markings. some of the
notebooks contain information that remains classified up to the Top Secret/Sensitive
Compartmented Information level 2

As with his notecards. My, Biden routinely took notes in his notebooks about
classified subjects and during meetings where classified information was
discussed.’2¥ For example, he regularly took notes related to the President’s Daily
Brief, which typically contains classified information.*2 He also regularly took notes
during meetings in the White House Situation Room, and numerous photographs

document this practice.

126 See generally Notebooks 18315, 1320, 1B22, 1823, 1B30, 1B31-52. 1857-59, 1B62-
68.

= FBI Seral 676.

328 Notebooks 1B15, 1B20. 1322, 1B30. 1B51-32, 1B57-58, 1B363-64, 1BG6-67.

329 £ g., Notebook entries 1B30-0063, 0093-91; 1B67-0076.

50 I o Notebook entries 1B15-0012; 1B20-0031: 1B531-0073-7 4. 0080-81: 1B58-0029-
31 1B63-0016, 0026-29: 1B66-0082-81: 1BG7-0019-20.
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Mr. Biden using a notebook at a Principals Committee meeting
(Sept. 29, 2009)3531

Mr. Biden writing in a notebook ai a meeting with the Joini Chiefs of Staff (Oct. 30, 2009)332

331 SCOH-000756.
432 SCOH-000757.
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Often. Mr. Biden's notes contained real-time minutes of National Sceurity
Council meetings. during which the President deliberated with his senior military.
intelligence. and foreign policy advisers. ™ These meetings regularly involved
dizcuxsions of classified information. ™! For this reason. theyv took place m the
Situation Room. which 1s itself a SCIF. and signs con=picuously designated National
Security Council meetings as “Top Secret,” )

Some of the handwritten notes Mr. Biden took in his notebooks during these
meetmgs  included  classified information.®  The notebooks contained  such
information ahout the followig subjects;

o ['.S. intelligence sources. methods, and capabilities. "

U.S. intelligence activities, 3%

¢ The activities of foreign intelligence services B9
o .5 military programs and capabilities, 3
e Foreign military programs and capabilities V)

e  Plans and capabilities of foreign terrovist organizations, 2

Wi K e Notebook entries 1B15-0012; 1B20-00:34: 1B51-0073-7-1 0080-81: 1BA8-0029-
31 1B63-0016, 0026-29: 1366-0082-81; 1BG7-0019-20.

o Notebook entries 1B15-0012-13; 1B51-0073-71: 1B63-0016. 0026-29,

#5 See photographs above: SCOH-000756: SCOH-000757.

R Sevial 676,

=7 g, Notebook entries 11322-0026: 1Ba2-0091: 1B57-0014: 1B63-0012:80-0028;
1B6G-0082.

W8 I oo Notebook entries 1B21-0080-81; 1B86-0082.

#9 [F o. Notebook entriecs 1B21-0074: 1B66-0082.

0 R Notehook entries 1B58-0029-30: 1B363-0028.

I g, Notebook entries 1B15-0012: 1351-0080: 1B58-00:3:3: 1136.1-0056; 11367-0019-

2 o, Nolebook entries 1320-0031: 1B538-00941.
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The FBI and the Special Counsels Office selected thirtv-scven excerpts
totabing 109 pages from Mr. Biden's handwritten materials—including mostly
notebook entries and a few notecards seized from his Delaware home—to submit to
classification authorities in the intelligenece community and the Department of
Defense to determine the appropriate classification level for each. Investigators
selected a sampling of excerpts across Mr. Biden's notebooks that hoth appeared to
he classified and that thev expected a jury could find are national defense information
under 18 U.5.C. § 793,

Subject to the limitations discussed in Chapter Two. classification authorities
wdentified each excerpt as contamming presently classified information ' Of the
thirtv-seven excerpts;

o  Eight are Top Secret with Sensitive Compartmented Information. =even of
which include information concerning human intelligence sources.

s  Six are Top Secroet.

Twenty-one are Secret. and

Two are Confidential 3!

A more detailed deseription of the results of the classification review 15 in Appendix
B.
Mr. Biden also sometimes placed marked classified documents 1nside his

notehooks 4" Photos in the Situation Room show documents tucked inside his

5B Serial 676.
S
15 8COH-000758, SCOH-000759: Recovered documents C1, ("2, (3. C4, D20, D21,
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notebooks, and the FBI recovered marked classified documents from inside three

notebooks found in Mr. Biden’s Delaware home.346

Notebook with additional inserted documents at the end of the same meeting (Oct. 30, 2009)3%

346 SCOH-000758, SCOH-000759; Recovered documents C1, C2, C3, C4, D20, D21.
347 SCOH-000758.
8 SCOH-000759.
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Karly in the Obama administration. the first Counsel to the Vice President,
Cynthia Hogan. personally advised him about the proper handling of classified
mformation and Mr. Biden agreed to follow her advice ¥ As explained in Chapter
Three, the advice was codified in a 2010 memo from Hogan. which instructed My,
Biden that “[c]lassified materials may never be left unattended.” but must be kept n
the custody of Mr. Biden or an authorized staff member. or secured in a safe.3?
According to Hogan's notes. among her concerns were Mr. Biden's "notes on codeword
info” which were kept in his "TAFPAK - notebooks.” that 15, his notebooks concerning
various poliey veviews relating to Afghanistan and Pakistan. which are discussed
further in Chapter Six.*% Hogan's notes sayv that Mr. Biden's personal aide “will
colleet” those notebooks. " But i interviews with the Special Counsels Office m
2023, Hogan did not remember Mr. Biden's notebooks. or whether she ever advised
Mr. Biden about how he should store notes he took during claxsified meetings. 35

In 2011, Hogan provided Mr. Biden further writien guidance about the proper
handling of classified notes.# In a memo to Mr. Biden about protocols for hiring a

historian to work in the Office of the Vice President. Hogan explained that:

1 Hogan /23723 Tr. at 27, 53,

35 81710 Hogan memo to VP, NARAWH_00000050: see afso 8/23/10 e-mail from
Military Aide to VP MILAIDEs, NARAWH_00014417 ("The VI’ understands that classified
material needs to be kept in one of two places|:] a. Personal Custody. or b. a safe.”): Hogan
H23125 Troat 27, 53, 91-92: Hogan W19/23 Tr. at 68-69, 79-80. 83, 106.

3536 8/17/10 Hogan memo to VP, NARAWH_00000050: Evidence items 1B63. 1B66. [n
her interview with the Specaial Counsel's Office over a decade later. Hogan did not remember
her note on this topie. or any of her concerns or advice about My, Bhiden’s notebooks, Hogan
5/23/23 Tr. 39, 90-93; Hogan 9/19/23 Tr. at 86.

T &15/10 Hogan memo o VP, NARAWH_00000050.

8 Hogan 5/23/23 Tr. at 39, 90-93; Hogan 9/19/23 Tr. at 69, 82-83, 86, 120-21.

S 4725711 memo from Hogan et al. to the Vice President, TBO0I_D2881350.
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any dizcussions with vou that cover classified topics will need to rake
place 1n accordance with Executive Order 13526 on Classified National
Security Information. This means that such discussions must occur in a
secure facility like your West Wing office. and that any notes or other
materials that contain classified information must be
maintained in secure safes, produced on a classified computer,
and stored in a secure facility[.]?0

For a time—at least during the early part of hig vice presidency—>Mr. Biden
stored his notebooks relating to national security, along with other classified
documents, in a safe 1in his West Wing office. ' Ax Mr. Biden's first personal aide
explained. Mr. Biden stored these notehooks—including the Af/Pak notebook—n the
safe because “[t]hat safe was for classified information. It was the purpose of the
safe 02 Periodicallv. My, Biden removed certain classified items from his safe and
asked his personal aide to return them to members of his national security staffl but

My Biden never let anyvone else possess his notebooks. 56

i fof (emphasis added).

“t Personal Alde T F26/23 Tre. ar 302310 103-01, 125-27. 129-130. 134-35: Personal
Adde 1 9718/23 Tr. at 122: Klain Tr. 38-10.

362 Peysonal Alde 1 426/23 Tr. at 104 129, In a second interview. the personal aide
said he could not sav that the reason Mr. Biden stored the notebooks in a safe was because
they were classified, explaining that the personal aide did not vead the notebooks, was not
an expert in classification. and that My, Biden could have stored the notebooks in the safe
simply because they were private. Personal Aide 1 9/18/23 Tr. at 123, In contrast. in his first
interview, the personal aide said Mre. Biden only stored materials in the safe 1t they were
related to national security and explained, “it's not like he ever felt like, oh myv God. if | leave
this on my desk. somebody’s going to come steal this thing out of my West Wing office . . . at
the White House ™ Personal Aide 1 #26/23 Tr. at 129 In both interviews. the personal aide
explained his belief that because My, Biden was taking notes about classified subjects in
classified meetings, the notebooks contained classified information. Personal Atde 4726723 Tr.
at 101 129: Personal Aide 9/18/23 Tr. at 121. Other witnesses confirmed generally that the
purpose of the safe was to store classified information and that classified information was
stoved 1n 1. See, e.g.. Director of Programs Tr. at 26-28. 38, 79. 111-1.1: Staff Assistant 1 Ty
at 16-30.

w3 Pepgonal Adde T 4/26/23 T at 128, 132-33.
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At some point during his vice presideney. My, Biden appears to have stopped
storing his notehooks in the West Wing =afe.’6) Mr, Biden's first personal aide. who
regularly retrieved the notebooks from the safe for Mr. Biden. left the administration
in 2014363 After that, there i= no evidence My, Biden or his staff stored his notebooks
in the West Wing safe 266

Mr. Biden also appears to have kept his notehooks and other classified
information in a safe when he was at the Naval Observatory, again. at least for a time
near the beginning of the administration 67 For example. a 2010 e-mail from My,
Biden'« personal aide to members of his staff notes that Mr. Biden had “just put”
classified material into the Naval Observatory safe. including several sets of marked
classified  documents and  Mr. Biden's notebook  documenting  the 2010
Afghamstan/Pakistan policy veview 6%

D. After his vice presidency, Mr, Biden stored the notebooks in
unlocked and unauthorized containers in his home

After Mr. Biden left the White House in 2017, while most of his classified
notecards went to a SCIEF at the National Avchives. his notebooks went to his private
homes. where they were not secured in a safe, and were in a sctting that was not

authorized for the storage of classified information.”®® The notebooks [irst went to M,

st Parsonal Aide 3 3/28/23 Tr. at 48-49. 52-5.L.

305 Personal Alde T 4/26/23 Tr. at 63.

a6 Personal Aide 2 Te. ar 47; Personal Aide 33 3/328/23 Tr. at 18-19. 52-34; Lxecutive
Assistant /423 Tr. at 32: Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 32,

367 12/11/10 e-mail from Personal Aide 1 to Exceutive Seeretary 3 and Director of
Programs, 1BO01_0:3159085; Notebook 1BG3.

A3 12/11/10 ¢-mail from Personal Aide 1 to BExeeutive Secretary 3 and Director of
Programs. 1B0O01_03159095; Notchook 1B63.

39 Piden 10/79/23 Tr. at 30, 11: B Sertal 77 1ASS: 20230120 FB1 0127, 0151.
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Biden's rental home in Virginia. where he kept them in a room he used for
meetings.?? As explained in the next chapter. in the months after he left the White
House, Mr. Biden gathered the notebooks and referred to several of them while
writing his book, Promise Me, Dad. During their conversations while writing the
book. Mr. Biden told his ghostwriter. Zwonitzer. that the notebooks might contain
classified information. 7!

When My, Biden moved out of the Virginia home, his notebooks were
eventually moved to his home in Delaware.? 2 In January 2023, during a search of
the Delaware home. FBI agents found the notebooks in unlocked and unauthorized

locations. primarily in My, Biden's main-floor office and basement den.

40 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 26-28 30, 11,
T Zwonitzer recording 1701210091 170424 0091 Tr. at 13-11 Exvidence item 1B&0.
= FBI Sertal 77 1TA8G: 20230120 _FBI_0127, 0151
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e 4 _ ___._'+ Tt Wy L, b

= -z & : e
File cabinet under television in Delaware home’s main-floor office,

File cabinet under printers in Delaware home’s main-floor office,
containing three seized notebooks (Jan. 20, 2023)%74

373 20230120_FBI_0151.
371 20230120_FBI_0127.
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In Mr. Biden's interview with our office, he explained that he took his
notebooks with him after his vice presidency because “[t]hey are mine.” and explained
that “every President before me has done the same exact thing.”373 He also specifically
referenced President Reagan, who, after leaving office. kept handwritten diaries
contaming classified information at his private home. as discussed m Chapter Ten 376
In later written answers, Mr, Biden wrote that. “fl]ike presidents and vice presidents
before me, I understand these notes to be my personal property.”™ " He declined to
answer several questions about whether he believed his notes contained classified
information: whether he believed he was authorized to possess classified information
after his vice presidency: and whether he took steps to avoid writing classified

information 1in his notehooks, 378

=8 Biden 179723 Tr. at 4213

5 Biden 10/8/23 T, at 111-12.

7 Biden 12/1/23 written reaponses at 1.
S Id at 1.2
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CHAPTER FIVE

MR, BIDEN’S SECOND BOOK, ProMISE ME, DAD, AND
THE DISCOVERY OF CLASSIFIED AFGHANISTAN DOCUMENTS

Like many presidents. My, Biden has long viewed himself as a historic figure.
Iilected to the Senate at age twenty-nine. he considered running for president as carly
as 1980 and did so 1n 1988. 2008, and 2020. During his thirty-six vears in the Senate.
Ar. Biden believed he had built a record in both domestic and foreign affairs that
made him worthy of the presidency.

In addition to the notebooks and notecards on which he took notes throughout
his vice presidency. Mr. Biden collected papers and artifacts velated to noteworthy
issues and evenrs in his public life. He used these materials 1o write memoirs
published in 2007 and 2017, 1o document his legacy, and to cite as evidence that he
was a man of presidential timber.

For example. as a voung senator in the 1970s. My, Biden led several
congressional delegations to Kurope and the Soviet Union.** As explained in Chapter
Eight. he viewed these trips as historic and believed they prepared him to be
president. Mr. Biden wrote about these trips in his 2007 memoir. Promises to Keep.
In 2023, FBI agents vecovered official documents, including marked classified
documents, related to these trips in My, Biden's Delaware garage . ##0

In 2009, while serving as vice president, Mr. Biden strongly opposed the

military's plan to send tens of thousands of additional troops to Afghanistan.’8! My,

579 See Chapter Eight.
0 Kyidence items 1B17, 1B18&.
1 See Chapter Six.



Biden endured s<harp criticism both during the debate and after President Obama
rejected his advice and decided to send additional troops to Afghanistan. But Mr.
Biden alwavs believed he was right and that he would be vindicated by history. He
kept documents related to the debated troop surge. including a classified handwritten
memo he sent President Obama in 2000 opposing the surge and marked classified
documents supporting hiz position. In December 2022 and January 2023, FBI agents
recovered these materials from Mr, Biden's Delaware garage and office, 2

Finallv. as explained in Chapter Four, during his eight vears as vice president.
M. Biden regularly wrote notes by hand 1in notebooks. One =uch notebook entry
makes clear that Mrv. Biden had long contemplated writing a book about his vice
presidency. In July 2010, he documented a meeting to discuss a possible book ah.out
"my V. P.vears. 5 In My, Biden's view. “there were three plausible reasons for having
one written or writing one.

1. Defense — others will write and I want a record

2. Fuiure — who knows about 2016

3. Profit — retirement].] 351

One function of Mr. Biden's notebooks was to provide raw material for his
eventual second memoir. After leaving office. My, Biden kept his notchooks at his

homes m Virginia and Delaware and used them to write that book. Promise Me, Dad.

2 Fvidence items 1BOL 1B17. and 1B14.
4 Notebook entry 1B30-0012,
wtd,
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In Januarv 2023, FBI agents recovered these notebooks, primarly in My, Biden's
home office and den.?3
1. MR. BIDEN’S 2017 MEMOIR: PROMISE ME, DAD

After his vice presidency, Mr. Biden wrote and published o memoirv in 2017
titled Promise Me, Dad. Evidence suggests that, while researching and writing the
hook. Mr. Biden found marked classified documents in the basement of his rental
home i Virginia and told hiz ghostwriter about 1t during an audio-recorded
conversation. And while the published book 1s not known 1o contain classified
mformation. while writing the hook in unsecure location=. Mr. Biden used notebooks
containing notes he took during his vice prestdency about classified meetings and
information.

A. Promise Me, Dad

Unlike Mr. Biden's earlier idea for a book that would chronicle all eight years
of his vice presidency. Promise Me, Dad has a narrower focus. "% The book recounts »
T4-month period of Mr. Biden's vice presidency from Thanksgiving 2014 to January
2016, during which he dealt with the illness and eventual death of his elder son. Beau.
who died 1n May 20155 The book discusses the toll that loss took on Mr. Biden, the
foreign policy isgues in Ukraine, Central America, and lraq he addressed during that

time, and the role his son's death playved in Mr. Biden's decision not to run for

5 Eyvidence items 11317 and 1B18.

WE See generally Joe Biden, PROMISE ME, DAD: A YEAR OF Hore, HARDSHIP. AND
P1rRrPOSE (Fatiron Books 2017); Notebook entry 1B30-0012.

T See generally Biden, PROMISE Mu. DaD.
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president in 201633 Published in November 2017, Promise Me, Dad quickly became
a#1 New York Times bestseller. ™
1. Mark Zwonitzer

Mr. Biden worked with a ghostwriter, Mark Zwonitzer, to write Pronise Me,
Dad #% Zwonitzer is an author and documentary filmmaker specializing in American
history and politics. ™! He had previously ghostwritten Mr. Biden's 2007 memoir.
Promises to Keep H42

Zwonitzer has never held a security clearance or become familiar with the
restrictions on the handling of classified matevial 3 My, Biden knew this. 59! [n 2011,
he proposed hiring Zwonitzer as an official histortan for the Office of the Vice
President. 595 At My, Biden's request, Counsel to the Vice President Hogan prepared
4 memorandum assessing the proposal and any 1sgsuex that could arvige The
memorandum noted that if hired. Zwonitzer “will likely need a sccurity clearance”
and that anv discussions that cover classified topics would have 1o "occur in a secure

factlity like vour West Wing office.™9" The memo explained that "anv notes or other
A A 54 ¥ :

W See generally Biden. PROMISE ME, DaD,

8 The New Yaork Times Best Sellers. NY. TIMES.
https:/Awww nvtimes com/books/best-sellers/2017/12/03/  (last visited January 30, 202.1%
Promise  Me,  Dad. Pan  MacMillan.  hups/Avww.panmacmillan.com/authorsijoe-
biden/promisc-me-dad/9781509890088 (last vistted Jan. 30. 2021,

W Zwonitzer 773123 Tr. at 56,

M fd at 12,

2 at 31-32.

Wi at 98-100.

s Jd L at 102 Zwonitzer recording 170821 0091 #2711 Memo, Cvnthia Hogan to My,
Biden. 1BOO1_0:2881350.

5127711 Memo from Cyvnthia Hogan to Mr. Biden, 1BO01_02881:350.

RN ‘Id'

W Jd ar ).
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material that contained classified information must be maintained in secure safes.
produced on a classified computer. and storved in a sceure facility. ™ Mri. Biden did
not go through with the proposal 3™
2. Book planning and resecarch

In late 2015, shortly after his son’s death. Mr. Biden began planning ro write
a memolr that drew upon his time as vice president, ' He met with Zwonitzer and
other aides to discuss book ideas and logistics. ' They also =olicited 1nput from
editors and pubhishers 92 During these carly meetings in late 2015 and carly 2016,
Mr. Biden and “Zwonttzer decided to focus the book on a “small window in time” during
which Mr. Biden balanced his vesponsibilities as vice president with his family
respongibilities during and in the wake of hix son's illness and death. 2

From approximately April 2016 through February 2017, Mr. Biden worked
with Zwonitzer to suthne the book and draft a proposal to subnut to publishers. 0!
Zwonitzer compiled a chronology of Mr. Biden's day-to-day activitics in late 2015 and
carly 2016 using Mr. Biden's daily schedules and calendars from his time as vice

president. ™ My, Biden's staffers gathered the schedules for Zwonitzey, 106

W ],

W Ywonltzer 7/31/23 Tr. 53-514.

W0 fd. at 36,

Wl at 59 2/10/16 e-mail from Executive Assistant re "Thursday, 2/11, mtg/dinner,
6:30 pm.” Zwonttzer-00000117; 4/6/16 e-mail from Exccutive Assistant re "Meeting/dinner,
Monday, Aprvil 11 6:30 — 8:30 pm.” Zwonitzer-00008802.

W Zwonitzer 723123 Tr. at 59,

W3 5121716 Document named “JRB-Book-Idea.doc” cireulated on Mayv 21, 2016,
Zwonitzer-00007:100; Zwonitzer 7731523 Tr. at 56-59: Draft Book Proposal civeulated on June
222016, Zwonitzer-00003163.

W Zswonitzer /3123 Tr. at 59,

05 Jd. at 62-64.

W6 Jef at 63-6G51 92916 e-malil from Zwonitzer to Riechetti, Zwonitzer-000076135.
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3. The writing process

Zwonitzer interviewed Mr. Biden more than a dozen times while researching
and writing Promise Me, Dad."V" During the mmterviews, Mr. Biden recounted the
events of 2015, mncluding the challenges of dealing with profound personal tragedy
while fulfilling his duties as vice president. Zwonitzer also interviewed Mr. Biden's
family members and former staffers. ¥ Zwonitzer audio-recorded the interviews.
then transcribed the recordings for use in writing Promise Me, Dad '

The interviews began in the spring of 2016 and continued through the summer
of 2017, Zwonitzer interviewed Mr. Biden several times at the Naval Obzervatory in
2016 while Mr. Biden was still serving as vice president. After Mr. Biden left office.
he met with Zwonitzer at his rental home in Virginia. V'? During the summer of 2017,
Zwonitzer and Mr. Biden worked together to finalize the manuscript at Mr. Biden's
beach home in Rehobath Beach, Delawaye 1t

B. Mr. Biden used his notebooks in writing Promise Me, Dad

In writing Promise Me, Dad. Mr. Biden relied extensively on the notebooks
contalning notes he took during his vice presidency. Mr. Biden referved to and vead

from his notebooks during hix interviews with Zwonitzer. 12 According to Zwonitzer.

WFB] Serials 315, 330,

WE Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. at 14.1-45,
0 Il at 95-96.

BT Sevial 315, 335,

W Zwonitzer 7/31/23 T, at 130,

U= fef . at 96,
100



the notebooks “made the book possible™ by providing the “emotional are of the . . .
story.” s

One of the primary sources of material for Promise Me, Dad was My, Biden's
"Daily” notebook for "August 2014-September 2016.7U! This notebook contaimed
notes of meetings My, Biden attended as well as entries about his other activities
during this period. Many of the meetings related to foreign poliey and classified
mformation. 1ncluding the President’'s Daily Brief, National Sccurity Counctl
meetings. and other briefings. Some of these entries remain ¢lassified up to the Secret
level 119

The notebook also contained notes on matters other than foreign policv.
meluding My, Biden's private lunches with President Obama and meetings with
advizors to discuss whether to run for president in 2016, Some of the entrics were
highly personal -most notably, entries reflecting on his son's illness and death.

While this notebook provided much of the framework for Promise Me, Dad. Nr.
Biden also used other notebooks in writing the book. Mr., Biden used and referred to
4 notebook labeled "Foreign Poliey 11/2013-2014.7 16 This notebook also contained his
notes on the President’s Daily Brief. National Security Council and other Situation

Room meetings, and other foreign policy brielings. As explained below, at one point

1 Jef ar 63, 65,

i Notebook 1Ba7.
13 FRBT Serial 6786.
I Notebook 1B67.
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Mr. Biden told Zwonitzer that some of the information in the notebook may be
classified. Some of these entries remain classified up to the Top Sceret level 17

Mr. Biden also referred to a notebook labeled “Foreign Poliey,” which contaied
similar notes on classified briefings. 1* Some of these entries remain classified up w
the Secret level ' Finally. Mr. Biden also used a notebook labeled "Obama/Biden 7-
15-13 — 10-10-16.7" It contained mainly notes on meetings with political advisors
and upon preliminary nspection 1t does not  appear 1o contain  classified
Information. 2!

C. Mr. Biden referred to and read from his notebooks during his
interviews with Zwonitzer

During many of the interviews with his ghostwriter, My, Biden vead from his
notebooks nearly verbatim. sometimes for an hour or more at a time. Zwonitzer later
transcribed the recordings of the interviews. Zwonitzer described this process of
listening to and transeribing My, Biden's reading from his notebooks as “incredibly
pamstaking.” 22

At times during these nterviews, Mr. Biden took steps to ensure that
Zwonitzer did not read or have access to the classified portions of the notebooks, With

one exception of which we are aware. discussed below. Mr. Biden did not let Zwonitzer

read or handle the notebooks. On muluiple occasions, Zwomtzer suggested it would

U7 FBI Serial 676.
15 Notebook 11338,
i FBI Serial 676.
20 Notebook 1R68.
2RI Seral 676.
2 Zwanitzer 73123 Treoar 710121
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be casier if My, Biden photocopied the relevant norebook entries and allowed
Zwonitzer to use the copies. but Mr. Biden declhined. 2 According to Zwonitzer. Me.
Biden "really never Iet the journals out of his hand™ and did not let others access
them 2!

D. Mr. Biden disclosed classified information in his notebooks to
Zwonitzer

Based on our review of the notebooks and recorded interviews, when Mr. Biden
came to potentiallv classified material in his notebook entries. he appears to have
sometimes stopped at or skipped over the potentially classified materal. =7 Zwonitzer
also recalled Mr, Biden mentioning the need to be careful "because he was worred
that there was a possibility that . .. some ol this stuff [handwritten entvies in the
notebooks] could be classified.” % According (o Zwonitzer. “there were things he
couldn’t tell me. lines he couldn't cross.” 27

At other times. however. Mr, Biden read hix notes from classified meetings to
Zwonitzer nearly word-for-word., 125

Notes of Situation Room meeting during summer of 2015. On February

16, 2017, for example—when My, Biden was no longer vice president—he met with

230 al TA 121-22.

LI at T1-720 113,

25 Jof . at 102: Evidence items 18357, 1B38. 1B67. 11379, 11381,

26 Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. at 83.

EN )

8 Zwonitzer recording Carved_000571: Notebook entry 1B37-0062-65; Zwanitzer
recording 170424_0091: 170424_0091 Ty, at 1-22; Notehook entry 1B67-006:3-65: Evidence
items 1BY9 and 1B81: FBI Serials 315, 335.
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Zwonilzer at the rental house in Virginia. '™ During this meeting. Mr. Biden read
from notes he took during a meeting in the Situation Room in the summer of 2015,
which wax attended by sentor military officials. the CIA Director. and others. 0 M.
Biden appeared to tell Zwonitzer this notehook entiv related to "a long meeting on
the Security Council on - 1t probably was classified.” Mr. Biden's meeting notes
summarized the actions and views of U.S. military leaders and the CLA Director
relating to a foreign country and a foreign terrorist organization. 2 My, Biden had
skipped over this same notebook entry during a previous conversation with Zwonitzer
in OQctober 2016, when Mr. Biden wax still vice president, 133

But on February 16, 2017, after he was no longer vice president. Mr. Biden
read portions of the same notehook entry aloud and nearly verbatim to Zwonitzer,
including portions containing mformation that remains classified up to the Secret
level. ! Though My, Biden read these portions of the notebook entry. he also skipped
over other portions of the entry.

Two months later. on April 10, 2017, during another recorded conversation

with Zwonitzer. My, Biden returned to the same notchook entry detatling the same

2 Recording Carved 000556: Carved_000336 Tr. at 5-6: 2/15/17 e-matl re "VP's
Schedule — Thu, Feb 16, 2017, USSS-0000523776; FBI Scwale 315, 335 Bvidence 1tems
18379, 1381,

130 Zwonitzer recording Carvved _000556; Carved_0005356 Tr. at 1 Notebook entry
1B47-0062-65: I'Bl Sevials 315, 335 Evidence items TB79. 1RS81.

Ul Zwanitzer vecording Carved_000536; Carved_000356 Ty at I: Notebook entry
[BA7-0062-65: FBI Serials 315, 335; Fvidence items 1B79. 1B81. Mr. Biden's precise words
are difficult to discern. This quotation is our best attempt to do so.

i Notebook entrv 1B47_0062-65.

Y Zwonitzer recording Carved _000241; FBI Sertals 315, 345,

B Zwonitzer recording Cavved 000356 Carved 000556 Tr. at 4 Notebook entry
TR57-0062.65: BT Serials 315, 335, 676.
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Situation Room meeting from the summer of 2015.95 Immediately before discussing
the notebook entrv. Mit Biden discussed extremely personal notebook entries
touching on the iliness and death of his son Beau. its cffect on his family. and the
wrenching decision about whether to run for president 1n 2016, After discussing
these highly emotiwonal topics. AMr. Biden turned immediately to the notebook entry
from the summer 2015 Situation Room mecting. which began on the very next page
of the notebook. and read additional portions of the entry nearly verbarim, meluding
the portions of the entrv he read to Zwonitzer during the February 16, 2017
meeting. " The passages My, Biden read to Zwonitzer on April 10, 2017 contain
information that remains classified up to the Secret level. 18

Notes of National Security Council meeting in November 2014, In a later
recorded conversation with Zwonitzer on April 24, 2017, My, Biden read from a
different notebook entry. this time from notes he took during a National Security
Council meeting in the Situation Room in November 201449 Ny, Biden read aloud
from notes summarizing a range of 1ssues relating to a foreign terrorist organization.

including speeific activities of the US. military and views cxpressed by the

% Ywonitzer recording Carved _000571; Carved_0005371 Tr. at 2-6; FBI Serials 315,
335: Notebook entry 1BA7-0062-65: Evidence items 1B79, 1B81.

H Zwonitzer recording Carved_ 000571 Carved _000571 Tr. at 1-2.

I Ywonitzer vecording Carved_000571; Carved 000571 Tr. at 2-6; Notebook entry
1B57-0062-65; FBI Serials 315, 335; Evidence items 1B79. 1B31.

18 (B Serial 676,

39 Zwonilzer recording 170124_0091; 1704240091 Tr. at 1-22: Notebook entry 1B67-
0063-65: Evidence items 1B79, 1381,

105



intelligence community. including the Director of National Intelligence and the ClA
Director, o

While reading these notes. Mr. Biden struggled to read his handwriting, and
he showed part of the handwritten passage to Zwonitzer. The two then had the
following exchange:

Mr. Biden: Do you have any idea what the hell I'm saving there? Less
on the number of what? Isn't that awful?

Zwonitzer:  Something, Number. something — quality. [ can't.

M. Biden:  Some of this may be classified, so be careful.

Zwonitzer:  Okay.

My Biden:  I'm not sure. It isn't marked classified. but.#4}
My, Biden then continued to read nearly verbatim from portions of his notes on the
2014 Situation Room meeting. 2 Some of the portions that My Biden read to
Zwonitzer remains classified at the Secret level 'H

More generally, during his dozens of hours of interviews with Zwonitzer. My
Biden read from notehook entries rvelated to many classified meeting«, mcluding
National Sceurity Council meetings, CLA briefings, Department of Defense briefings.

and other meetings and briefings with foreign policy officials 1

Lo Zwonitzer recording 17042.1_0091: 170:424_0091 Tr. at -1-22; Notcebook entry 1B67-
0D063-65: Evidence ttems 1B79. 1B81,

1 Zwonitzer recording 170421_0091: 1704210091 Te. at 13-1.1: Notebook entry
1B67-0065,

He Zwonitzer recording 1700200091 (emphasis added): 17042.0_0091 Tr. at 11-22;
Notebook entry TBG7-0063-60.

s B Serial 676.

L £ g Notebook entries TBA7-0039, 18BA7-0062-6:3, 1B67-0059-61, 1B67-0063-65.
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E. Mr. Biden also used his notecards in writing his book

In addition to his notebooks. My, Biden used other notes he wrote on notecards
while vice president. ' These included notes that he took during his private lunches
with Prexident Obama. several of which featured prominently in the hook. 11

In the hook. Mr. Biden described his weekly lunches with President Obama as
“the one setting where we could talk frankly. without fear of being overheard.” 0
Thev were an opportunity to “discuss the most important issues facing the
administration. the country, and the world at that moment: and we could talk
through any personal issues we were having.” ' “If something one of us had done
angered or disappointed the other. the weekls lunch was the time to clear the a1
The lunches were often personal in nature. as Mr. Biden described in the book:

The conversation at our lunches was just as often personal. We talked

about ouwr wives., We talked about the close friendship between his

daughters and my granddaughter. and what was going on 1n their lives,

We talked about golf. 150

Many of My, Biden's notes on his lunches with President Obama were taken on the

long, narrow notecards that he used regularly as vice president. !

M5 See Chapter IPour,

16 See, e.g., Biden, PROMISE ME. DAD 21, 57-39, 66-79, 88-89. 156-39. 203-04. 206-07,
232133,

1 d. at 67.

18 o,

M fd. at 66,

B [ at 68,

51 See Chapter Four: Staff Assistant 2 3/16/23 Tr. at 100: 12/20/10 e-mail from OVEP
staffer to Staff Assistant 2. 1BO01_02888681; Stafl’ Assistant 3 1071723 Tr. at 34-35; FBI
Serial 3; NARA_SCAN 00001317,
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F. Mr. Biden’s staff made copies of his notecards for use in writing
Promise Me, Dad

Ax explained in Chapter Four, Mr. Biden's staff made copies of his notecards
for him 1o take after he left the vice presidency and use in writing Promise Me, Dad.
After his staffers rvaised concerns that some of the notecards contained classilied
information, it appears that My, Biden's staff arvanged for his copies of the notecards
ro he stored in a safe at the Naval Observatory, and then to be held in personal storage
in a SCIF at the National Archives 152 My, Biden visited the National Archives twice
after he left office i 2017 to review the notecards as part of the book-writing
process. 9 Both trips were occasioned by Zwonitzer's requests for notes related to
specific events during My, Biden's vice presidency. including several of Mr. Biden's
lunches with President Obhama that were later featured in Promise Me, Dad. ¥}

11, FEBRUARY 16, 2017: “I JusT FoUND ALL THE CLASSIFIED STUFF
DOWNSTAIRS”

During a recorded interview on February 16, 2017, at My, Biden's venital home
1 Virginia after the end of his vice presideney. Me, Biden told Zwonitzer he had just
found classified material downstairs, 9

From context, Mr. Biden appears to have been referring to classified

documents relating to American military and foretgn pohicy in Afghani<tan. When he

132 See Chapter Four; 1/12/17 Deposit Agreement regarding the Administration of
Personal Materials of Viee President Joseph R, Biden. NARA-H_700000012,

¥ See Chapter Four.

Bt See Chapter Four: 5/21/16 e-mall from Zwonitzer to Riechett., Zwonitzer-00007:399.

135 Recording Carved_000556: Carved_(000836 Tr. at 5-6: 2/15/17 e-mail re "VP's
Schedule — Thu. Feb 16, 20177 USSS-0000523776; Bl Serials 315, 333 Evidence items
1379, 11381,
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Mr. Biden began the interview with a long discussion about the murder of nine
worshippers at the Emanuel African Methodist Church in Charleston. South
Carolina, and a discussion of his son Beau. 2 During this portion of the recording.
Mr, Biden did not sound like he was reading from notes. 9%

He then turned to his “Daily™ notebook for “August 2014-September 2016.716:
Mr. Biden read from an entry containing notes on a July 7. 2015 National Security
Council meeting about [raqg. 197

While reading from his notebook. My, Biden listed four points he made about
the Iraq situvation during the July 7. 2015 meeting. My, Biden explamed to Zwonitzer
that he had made similar argsuments vears earlier. during the 2009 debate about the
troop surge 1n Afghanistan. ' Mr. Biden told Zwonitzer he had sent President Obama
a 10-page. handwritten memo arguing against the deployment of additional troops in
Afghanmistan “on the grounds that it wouldn't matter.” " AMid-sentence during this
narrative. My, Biden said, in a matter-of-fact tone. that he had “just found all the
classified stuff downstairs,”

So this was — I, early on. in '09—1I just found all the classified stuff
downstairs—I wrote the President a  handwiitten  40-page

e Zwonitzer recording Carved_(00536; ZWONITTZER-TR_0061-78: FBI Serials 315,
335 Evidence items 1379, 11381,

13 Ywanitzer recording Carved_000556: ZWONITZER-TR_0061-78: I'BI Sceials 315,
335 Evidence items 1B79, 1881,

Wl Zwonitzer recording Carved_000556: ZWONITZER-TR . 0079: FBI Scrials 315, 335
Notebook 1B57: Evidence items 1B79. 1B&1.

W Zwonitzer recording Carved_000556: Carved_000556 Tr. at 11 ZWONITZER-
TR_0079: FBI Serials 315, 335 Kvidence ttems 11379, 1B81.

5 wonitzer recording Carved_000356; Carved_000526 Tr. at 5-6; ZWONITZER-
TR_0079: FBI Serials 315, 335 Evidence items 1B79, 1B81.

W Ywonitzer recording Carved_D00556: Carved_ 000536 Tr. at 3-6; ZWONITZER-
TR_0D079: FBI Sevials 315, 335: Evidence ttems 1B79. 1381,
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memorandum arguing against deploving additional troops to lrag—I

mean. to Afghanistan—on the grounds that it wouldn't matter, that the

dav we left would be like the day before we arvived. And I made the same

argument . .. I wrote that picee 11 or 12 vears ago. o

Ar discussed 1n the next chapter. Mr. Biden was referring to a long
handwritten memo he faxed to President Obama from Nantucket over the
Thanksgiving weekend in 2009, In the memo—which Bob Woodward later detailed
in his book. Obama’s Wars—Mr. Biden argued against engaging in full-scale
counterinsurgeney and nation-building in Afghanistan, /69

As noted above, this February 2017 meeting with Zwonitzer was on the main
{loor of the Virgima home. "Downstairs” from where Mr. Biden and Zwonitzer sat was
AMr. Biden's basement office. where he kept his personal papers.t'° The photo below

shows the basement office in Qctober 2017, several months afrer the February 2017

meeting with Zwonitzer:

% Zwonitzer recording Carved _(000556; Carved 000556 Tr. at 5-6: ZWONITZER-
TR_0079 {emphasis added); FBI Serials 315, 335: Evidence items 1B79, 1B81.

9 Bob Woodward, OBAMA'S WARS 309 (Simoen & Schuster 20100,

Fu Biden 104923 Tr. at 36-37; SCOH-000322.
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Fermet nca praudest _os Bdee ot =5 home n Melear Yigra

Mpvr, Biden’s basement office in the Virginia home (Oct. 2017}

During Mr. Biden's interview with the special counsel, he said that at the time
of the February 2017 meeting, which was about a month after he moved into the
Virginia house, he was likely still going through boxes of materials.*72 He said his
belongings were “taking up a lot of room” in the house, and he was trying to figure
out “what’d they [his staff] pack up, what’s here?” “where in the hell is all this stuff

going?’ and “what do I clear out . . . what do I get out of the way? . . . ’473 Among the

“1 David Kamp, Why Joe Biden Didn't Run . . . And Why He’s Not Ruling Out 2020,
VANITY FAIR (Oct. 25, 2017), https://www.vanityfair.com/news/2017/10/why-joe-biden-didnt-
run-for-president-and-why-hes-not-ruling-out-2020 (last visited Jan. 30, 2024).

472 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 32-34,

47 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 33.
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things he probably searched for in boxes were his notebooks. which he believed he
gathered and kept on the main floor of the Virginia house. 7!

All three participante 1n the February 16, 2017 meeting—>Mr. Biden,
Zwonitzer. and My, Biden's sister. Ms. Biden Owens—said they did not remember
Mr. Biden's statement that he had “just found all the classified stufl downstairs.” 9
For his part. Mr. Biden said he did not remember anything ar all about this incident.
mcluding whether he actually found classified documents 1n his basement office. 170

During his interview with our office. Mr. Biden said he did not remember
finding marked classified documents at any time after the end of the Obama
administration and before he was elected President, but that if he had found «uch
claszified material. he would have given it to his personal aide at the time, or to
another trusted staff member such as his former chief of staff. "" We have mmterviewed
the personal aide. former chief of staff. and several other staflers with whom My
Biden interacted at the Virginia house in and around February 2017, Except for a
separate incident involving diffevent classified materal given to the personal aide 1n
January 2017, some weeks before the Zwonitzer conversation, no one recalled Mr.

Biden turning in classified documents afier the end of his vice presidency. '™

THfd ar 1.

5 Jdat 32: Zwoniteer 7/31/23 Tr. at 82-84; Biden Owens Tr. at 28-30, T1-7:3: 2/13/17
e-mail re “VI’s Schedule — Thu, Feb 16, 20177 USSS-0000523776.

U6 Brden 1009/23 Tr. at 32-33.

0T ar 320 39-40.

8 oo, Ricchetti Ty at 187; Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 165: Personal Aide 3
32823 Tro at 197-212. As explained in Chapter Sceven. Mr, Biden's personal aide recalled
that during rhe first week after the end of the administration-—several weeks before Mr,
Biden told Zwonitzer he “just found all the classified stuff downstairs™—Mr. Biden returned
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The Special Counsel's Office worked with the National Archives to identify
whether Mr. Biden returned any classifted documents after the end of the Obama
administration. The National Archives has no awareness or records indicating that
Mr. Biden veturned classified records to the White House (to then be turned over to
the Archives) in the weeks [ollowing the end of the administration. % As 15 the case
with every presidential transition. the National Archives continued 10 veeceive Obama
administration presidential records from the White House after the end of the
administration, " There would therefore have been nothing unusual or notahle for
the National Archives about also receiving vice presidential records after the end of
the administration. =

Several vears after Mr, Biden's February 2017 meeting with Zwonitzer, n
December 2022, FBI agents recovered marked classified documents from a cardboard
hox 1n the garage of Mr. Biden's Delawave home ¥ These marked classified
documents related to Afghanistan and the U.S. troop surge in 2009—the very same
subject that Mr. Biden addressed with Zwonitzer in 2017 when he said that he had
“just found all the classified stuff downstairs.” In one of the folders containing these

marked classified documents. agents also found drafts of My, Biden's 2009

a «lim hinder of classified material he had found at the Virginia home, which the personal
aide believed was related to foreign leader calls My, Biden made in the last davs of the
administration. Personal Aide 3 3728/23 Te. at 197-212

T1A0/2 1 e-mail from NARA General Counsel to Special Counsel’'s Oftice, 5COH-
000761,

W

WL,

152 See Chaptor Six,
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handwiitten Thanksgiving memo to President Obama. Agents later found the final

Thanksgiving memo n the office of Mr. Biden's Delaware home. %

3 See Chapter Six.
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CHAPTER SIX
THE CLASSIFIED AFGHANISTAN DOCUMENTS

To fully appreciate Mr. Biden's references to Afghamstan in his conversation
wilth Zwonitzer on February 16 2017, 1t 1= helpful to understand Mr. Biden's place in
the fraught debate abour American policy in Afghanistan in the early davs of the
Obama administration.

In that debate, My, Biden plaved a conspicuous role. He strongly opposed the
military’s effort to send large numbers of U.S. troops to Afghanistan. and this
opposition culminated in the lengthy handwritten memo Mr. Biden sent President
Obama over the Thanksgiving holiday in 2009, By 2017, Mr. Biden believed his
judgment as reflected i the memo had been vindicated by history. Years later. in
December 2022 and January 2023, FBI agents found the handwritten Thanksgiving
memo and marked classified documents contaming his advice to President Obama n
AMr. Biden's Delaware home.

L MR. BIDEN'S ROLE IN THE 2009 AFGHANISTAN POLICY REVIEWS

At the beginning of 2009. one of the incoming administration = first and most
significant foreign policy challenges was the war in Afghanistan. which was then in
its erghth vear. Early in the administration. My, Biden opposed President Obama's
decision to deploy additional American troops to Afghanistan. and in the
administration’s internal debates. My, Biden was the lone dissenter. ! Privately, he

worried the nation was drifting into another Vietnam. 85

HEBavack Obama, A PROMISED LAND 317-19 (Crown 20200,
B Notebook entry 1B61-0012-1:4.
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Soon after the announcement of additional troops in March 2008, General
Stanley MceChrystal assumed command of forces 1 Afghanistan and conducted his
own review of the war effort. ™ MeChrystal's written assessment concluded that
America must =end vet more troops and adopl a counterinsurgency strategy to profect
the Afghan populanon. ¥ MceChrystal soon followed this asscssment with a request
for another 40,000 U.S. troops. 3¢

Around the time McChrystal submitted his assessment. “the Obama foreign
policy team was splintering” and the divisions between two opposing sides “hegan to
harden.” ™ On one side. Defense Secretary Robert Gates. Secvetary of State Hillavy
Clhinton. Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Michacel Mullen. and General David
Petyaeus supported MceChrvstal's call for a counterinsurgency campaign and for
significantly more American troops in Afghanistan. " On the other side. Mr. Biden
and a number of National Security Council and other White House advizers were

deeply skeptical of these proposals, 19!

5 Obama, A PROMISED LAND 323,

¥ Stanley MeChrvstal, COMISAF's INITTAL ASSESSMENT (unclassified version) 1-
I, I-t (Aug. 30, 2008 https//msarchive.gwu eduw/document/24560-headquarters-
international-security-assistance-force-kabul-afghanistan-gen-stanley (lust visited Feb. 2,
2021).

#5 Kevin Whitelaw, Can Obama Sav No To His Generals On Afghanistané, NATIONAL
PUBLIC RADIO (Sept. 30. 2009), httpsi/fwww npr.org/2009/09/30/113339833/can-obama-say-
no-to-his-generals-on-afghanistan {(last visited Feb, 2. 202-4).

9 Robert Gates. DUTY: MEMOIRS OF A SECRETARY AT WAR 323 (Knopf 201:4); Obama,
APROMISED [LLAND 432-33: Klamn Class. Tr. at 19-21: Klain Tr. at 25-26, 56-57.

#Gates, DUTY 323: Obama. A PROMISED LaxND 432-33: Klain Class, Tr. at 19-21. 3.1
Klain Tr. at 25-26, 56-57.

T Obama, A PROMISED LAND 4:32-33: Klain Ti. at 25-26, 56-57.
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Mr. Biden left no doubt where he stood. The military’s public lobbying for more
troops was, he said at the time, “fucking outrageous.”#¥? Privately, Mr. Biden
continued to fret that President Obama was poised to repeat the disastrous mistakes
of Vietnam 493

A, Fall 2009 review

Against this backdrop, from September to November 2009, President Obama
convened nine meetings of the National Security Council to debate McChrystal's

troop request and the strategy in Afghanistan.#9* One such meeting is shown below.

A National Security Council meeting to debate Afghanistan strategy (Oct. 9, 2009)*%

192 Obhama, A PROMISED LAND 434-35; Notebock entry 1B66-0050.
482 Notebook entry 1B64-0012-13.

494 Obhama, A PROMISED LAND 437.

95 SCOH-000762.
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administrationf] . . .. So he was looking for me to make the strongest

case I could . . . which [ was prepared to do because I knew ax much

about it as they did. 9

Plaving the role of leading in-house skeptie. Mr. Biden consistently and
forcefully opposed MceChrystal's call for a fully resourced counterinsurgency strategy
in Afghanistan and the request for 40,000 more troops to implement this strategy .5
Asg an alternative, Mr. Biden advocated a narrower strategy involving a reduced U5,
military footprint. 50t

Mr. Biden's notebook entyy after the flrst meeting of the fall 2009 review
reveals the depth of his opposition to McChrystal's proposed counterinsurgency
strategv (often abbreviated “COINTL2 My, Biden wrote that in his presentation
during the meeting, he was “able to punch a hole in the logic of " those advocating
COIN and noted that another official in attendance praised My, Biden's eritique as
“devastating. % Summing up. Mr, Biden's notehook entry explained:

If I succeed 1n slowing down or stopping this misguided (policy) buildup
it will make taking this job worthwhile.

This decision will define our Admin[istration} in history  hanging out
there alone 13 worth it. [ don't want history to associate me with the
adoption of a COIN St

¥9 Biden 10/49/23 Tr. ar 17-18.

0 Notebook entries 1B66-0067-69, 1B66_0098-99: Blinken Class. Tr. at 10-11; Klain
Tr. at 46-47; Sullivan Class. Tr. at 83-5.1: FBI Servials 683 1A772. 5312 TA614: Recovered
documents B1%, B24, B25. B28. B29.

1 Blinken Class. T'r. at 11 Klain Class, Tr. ar 4142 FBI Serials 683 LAT72, 512
1A611; Recovered document B2

2 Gates, DUTY 339: FBI Serial 77 1A86; Notebook entryv 166 _0068-G9.

W5 Notebook entry 1B66-0069.

W e
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Deep into the fall 2009 review, when, 1n President Obama's words. “everyone
was sick of Afghanistan. sick of meetings, and sick of one another.” Secretary Gates
offered a compromise 3 This modified version of McChrystal's proposal called for an
“extended surge” of approximately 30,000 troops, with a plan 1o begin drawmg this
number down within 18 to 24 months.59% The troop number was far larger than what
Mr. Biden wanted but the drawdown was meant to avold what My, Biden {eared most:
an open-ended American commitment.”" The last National Security Councal meeting
to discuss the president’s options was held neav the end of November. with President
Obama promising a [inal deci=ion soon aftey. 20

B. Mr. Biden’s Thanksgiving memo to President Obama

With the Thanksgiving holiday looming. My, Biden made one final push to
change President Obama’s mind about the way forward. "™ The dayv before
Thanksgiving. Mr. Biden sent a typewritten memo to the president emphasizing My,
Biden's concerns that adding more troops was a potential “strategic blunder. 210

As was his longstanding (radition. Mr. Biden spent Thanksgiving with his

family in Nantucket.?'! For much of the holiday weekend. Mr. Biden and his staff

W Obama, A\ PROMISED LAND 1380 Li2-13: FBI Serials 683 1A7720 512 1AGLL
Recovered documents B26, 1330, Bi37.

08 Obama, A PROMISED LAND $142-13: FBI Serials 683 1AT72. 512 1A614; Recovered
documents B26, B0, B37.

SUT BT Serials 77 TASE, 683 TATT2. 312 1A61:4 682 Recovered documents B18-1, B2,
B25. B25-1. B28, B29: Handwritten material 1B66-0001-28; Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 14-19:
Blinken Tr. at 85-86.

W Obama, A PROMISED LAND 4142-13: Gates, DUTY 352-53: Bob Woodward, QBAMA'S
WARS 289,

3 Biden /923 Tr. at 14-15.

S RFRL Serials 683 1AT72, 312 1A614: Recovered document B25.

511 Biden, PROMISE ME, DAD 5-7; Notebook entry 1B66-0099; 11/29/09 VP Schedule
1B0GT_00010833; 11/27/09 e-mail from Blinken to Klain. SCOH-000228; FBI Serial 77 1.A86:
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worked on vet another memo to the president on Afghanistan.®#2 That Saturday. two
dayvs after Thanksgiving, Mr. Biden sent President Obama a lengthy handwritten
memo offerimg My, Biden's final thoughts—the same memo he recalled in his 2017
discussion  with  Zwomitzer.’'' The memo  strongly  criticized  the premises
underpinning the military's counterinsurgency strategy.? Ay, Biden also vented his
frustration with senior military officials. noting that he was “tired and angry at the
way they have tred to box vou [in] through leaks and less than straightforward
analvsis of the alternative offered.” 15 Mr. Biden's notes from that day refleet that the
memo was sent by secure fax and “placed in Pres. Hands. "' The handwritten
Thanksgiving memo. later found in My, Biden's home office 1n 2023, contains
inflormation that remains classified up to the Secret level 5

As Ay, Biden explained to the special counsel, he =ent the handwritten
Thanksgiving memo “hecause 1 was trving to change the President’s mind. and |
wanted to let him know [ was veady to speak out .. . and ro really. quite frankly. save
hig ass[.]79 Ay, Biden said he "spent a lot of time”™ writing the memo. and he "staved

up Thanksgiving writing it. *1? It was. he said, the “first and only time” he ever wrote

72 Notebook entry 1B66-0096; Recovered documents B25-1, B25: 11/27/09 e-mail from
Blinken to Klain and Carney. SCOH-000230: Biden 10/9/23 Ty, at 14-15.

U Handwritten material 1B66-0003-0022; Evidence items 1B79. 1B&1: Military Adde
9 Tre. at 17-57; Chapter .

E Handwritten material 1B66-0003-0022: FR1 Serial 682,

T Handwritten material 1B66-0006: FBI Serial 682.

#15 Notebook entry 1B66-0098: F1B1 Serial 682,

TR Serials 7T TABG. 676, 682; Handwritten material 1B66-0003-0022,

AR iden 1089/23 Tr. at 11-13.

ST at 11-15.
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the President & memo such as this by hand, and without distributing it to anyone else
1n the government . 2v

The same day Mr. Biden sent the memo. he wrote in his Af/Pak notebook that.
based on his deep disagreement with what he anticipated would be President
Obama's decision, he considered resigning as Vice President.

Tomorrow the President 1z going 1o make a fateful decision regarding

Afghanistan — as I sat looking out the window at the wea — thinking [

should resign in protest over what will bring his administration down.

Although I obviously wasn't there[.] [ feel like this 1s what 1t must have
felt like for Kennedy then Johnson in the carly dayvs of VTN [Vietnam].

[ feel guilty and boxed mm myself. Guilty for not having been more
successiul w/ the President — and stayving.

Boxed in by knowing or at least feeling that my resignation would only
harden his position and leave him with one less voice. 2!

C. President Obama’s final decision

The next dayv. My, Biden left his family in Nantucket to he by the President's
side for the final decision 522 Before a scheduled Oval Office meeting. Mr. Biden tried
to schedule a last-minute conversation with the President but his request was
rebuffed.”?? Undaunted, Mr. Biden showed up to the White House early and waited
for the President to come down from the residence.®2' My, Biden used the short walk

to the Oval Office to urge the President not to bend any further to the wishes of his

a2 e at 18: see also Military Aide 9 Ty, at 17-19, 62-63.

721 FRBI Serial 77 1AR86; Notebook entry 1B66-0098-99.

322 Notehook entry 1B66-009%: 11/29/09 VP schedule, 1BO0O1I_00010833; 11/28/09 -
mail discussing meeting with POTUS on 11/29/09, SCOH-000228.

28 Klain Tr. at 59: Klain Class. Tr. at 39-10. 44-45.

I,
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generals. 323 After the dayv's meetings ended on November 29, My, Biden recorded this
final veflection:

I think — | hope - I did all I could have done to move us as far away from
[Petracus and McChrystal] as possible.

On the short walk over from the WH to Oval. T emphasized [President

Obama's] need to be strong. He said that is why | brought them in “face

to face.” T waid good he was Presiident] and not me — I would have gone

to war with them — he smiled and said - “T know - I would have enjoyed

seeing that. 726

Two davs later. in a speech at West Point. President Ohama announced the
Afghanistan troop surge: an additional 30,000 Amevican tvoops. who would begin to
draw down after 18 months 527

As Ron Klam—one of My, Biden's longest-serving and most-trusted aides---
cexplamed. although My, Biden publicly supported the President, privarelv. he

“deep{ly] disagree[d]” with the decision. which he considered to be a “historic
mistake. 52% Among other things. he fearved "a second Vietnam.” with the United
States “sending tens of thousands of Americans over to a pointless wae. 29 Mr,

Biden's personal aide at the time likewise explained that the 2009 Afghanisian

decislon was a "huge” issue for Mr. Biden that was “very, very important” to him.

53 Notebook entry 1B66-0101-105,

26 Notehook entry 1B66-0105.

=7 Remarks by the President in Address to the Nation on the Way Forward 1n
Afghanistan and Pakistan, The White House (Dec. 1. 2009),
httpsifobamawhitchouse.archives.govi/the-press-office/remarks-president-address-nation-
way-forward-afghamstan-and-pakistan (last vizited Feb. 1, 202.D.

725 Klain Class, Tr. at 13,

=,

0 Paprsonal Aide 1 971823 Tr. at 137,
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In the vears since the 2009 surge. Including when Mr. Biden, as president,
decided to withdraw all TL.S. troops from Afghanistan in 2021, he has invoked his
Thanksgiving memo and claimed that history has confirmed his good judgment.™!

11. IN DECEMBER 2022, THE FBI FOunD IN MR, BIDEN'S DELAWARE GARAGE
MARKED CLASSIFIED DOCUMENTS FROM THE FALL 2009 AFGHANISTAN
REVIEW

Asexplamed in Chapter Two, in November 2022, marked classified documents
were found in Mr. Biden's files at the Penn Biden Center in Washington. D.C. After
this discovery. Mr, Biden's personal counsel then searched his Delaware home for
additional classified documents.?3? Their first search occurred on December 20. 2022,
when counsel searched his garage. found additional marked clasgified documents
there, and alerted the Deparvtment of Justice.”? The next dav. December 21, 2022,
with My, Biden's written consent. FBI agents searched the garage

Al The garage hox

The garage contained a signilicant volume of boxes, storage. and clutter. as

shown in the photographs the agents took upon arrival:

#1 Klain Class. Tr. at 411-42.
2 FBI Serials 33, 31

3 Id.

33 PRI Serial 35.
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Mr. Biden’s Delaware garage (Dec. 21, 2022)53

Mr. Biden’s Delaware garage (Dec, 21, 2022)33¢

5% 20221221_ERT_0013.
536 20221221_ERT_0022.



Among the places Mr. Biden’s lawyers found classified documents in the garage
was a damaged, opened box containing numerous hanging folders, file folders, and
binders.57 The box, which was labeled “Cabinet” and “Desk file,” was in a mangled
state with ripped corners and two top flaps torn off.33 Photos of the box, as the FBI

encountered it, are below.

o . .
4 L J
s 4 s ,

Garage box (Dec. 21, 2022)5%

Because the box was damaged and not able to properly package classified

material, the agents transferred its contents to a new box for transport.>% The

537 FBI Serials 33, 35 1A42.

538 PBI Serials 35 1A42, 680 1A770; 20221221 ERT _0024; 20221221_ERT 0025;
20221221 _ERT 0026; 1/22/24 photograph, GarageBox-001.

338 20221221 _ERT_0024.

540 FB] Serial 35.
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photographs below show the contents of the garage box in the original box and in the

new box:

T <

Garage box (Dec. 21, 2022)541

341 F'B] Serial 35 1A42 20221221_ERT _0025.
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Garage box in original condition (Dec. 21, 2022)2

Garage box after repackaging (Jan. 3, 2023)>%

542 20221221 ERT 0026: FBI Serial 35 1A42.
513 20230103 _DSC_0003; FBI Serials 35, 195 1A212.
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Inside the box, the FBI located two folders containing marked classified
documents related to the fall 2009 policy review on Afghanistan.®t
1. “Facts First” folder
Omne of the folders containing marked classified documents about Afghanistan
was an unlabeled red file folder with handwriting on the front. which neluded the
phrase “Facts First."17 [n his interview with the special couns=el. My. Biden identified
the handwriting as his. but said he recalled nothing about how this folder or its

contents got into his garage 56

When "Bl agents repackaged the contents of the ripped garage box into a new box on
December 210 2022, 1t appears the order of a few of the materials changed slightly, This
chapter discusses in detail below two folders thar contained marked classified documents
ahout Afghamstan: the manila "Afganastan” folder and the ved “Facts Flrst” folder, [t
appears the “Afganastan” folder was near the "Facts First” folder in the garage box when
agents recovered the box, but the precise original location of the “Afeanastan” folder at that
lme 1s unknown.

1 RRBL Serial 512 1A614: Evidence items 1BO1. 1B4L

315 FBI Serial 512 1A614; Evidence item 1B44.

A6 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 43-15. In general. when our report identifies handwriting as
Mr. Biden's, it 18 based on the following factors, which often occur in combination: (1) Mr.
Biden idennified it as his handwriting or hkely hiz handwriting: (2) others familiar with My,
Biden's handwriting identified it as his or likely his: (3) Mr. Biden confirmed that he wrote
an entire class of documents, such as his notebooks and notecards: (4) the handwriting
appears 1o match known instances of My, Biden's handwriting: (3) the document was found
at Mr. Biden's home or office and is swurounded by materials attributable to Mr. Biden: and
(6) the content and context of the handwriting suggest that it 1s My, Biden's.
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“Facts First” folder’

Garage box in original condition showing “Facts First” folder’®

5471 1B004-FACTS_FIRST-000001.
548 20221221 ERT _0026; FBI Serial 35 1A42.
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The "Facts Fivst™ folder contained over 200 pages of documents related to the
fall 2009 Afghanistan policy review. with a date range from approximately August
through October 2009.5 Among the marked classified documents were the following,
which are summarized further in Appendix A:

o  McChrvstal's assessment. marked "CONFIDENTIAL REL NATO/ISAF”
and dated August 30. 2009, 1n which McChrystal announced the urgent
need for additional troops and a comprehensive counterinsurgency
campaign n Afghanstan.®® My, Biden marked up thiz document with
extensive handwritten notes, which were highly critical of MceChrystal's
reasoning and conclusiong, 3!

o An August 31, 2009 memorandum from the National Security Advizser to
President Obama marked "TOP SECRET/SCL ™2 Aceording to subject-
matter experts in the intelligence community, this document contains
national defense information in the form of highly sensitive mmformation
about the military programs of the United States and a foreign government.
The unauthorized disclosure of this information. both today and tn 2017
when Mr. Biden was no longer vice president. reasonably could be expected
to cause exceplionally grave damage to the national security.

o A September 1. 2009 draft memorandum from Mr. Biden to President
Obama.?? Thiz memo, marked "TOP SECRET.” was likely sent from My,
Biden to President Obama in advance of the first National Security Council
meeting of the fall review. held on September 13, 2009.73" During the
meeting, My, Biden made lengthy comments that closely tracked the
memo.>* As explained above, after this meeting. My, Biden wrote in his
journal that his presentation had “punchled] a hole™ in the logic of his
opponents, that the Afghanistan decision would define the administration
in history, and that he did not want history to associate him with
counterimsurgency strategy. 26

11 Recovered documents B6-B24.

M Recovered document B23,

WU Jd.

52 Recovered document B20.

7% Recovered document B24.

W0 12/3/09 e-mail chain between Carney, Blinken, and Kiain titled "Proposed
Additions 1o Timeline,” SCOH-000251; Evidence item 1B1.4.

5 Notebook entry 1B66-0068-69: 12/3/09 ¢-mail chain between Carney. Blinken, and
Klain titled "Proposed Additions to Timeline,” SCOH-00023 1 FBI Scrial 525 1A632,

>0 Notebook entry 1B66-0068-G9,
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¢ An undated memorandum marked “TOP SECRET/HSC»/NOFORN"
entitled "Some Facts and Considerations.”® This memo supported My,
Biden's views in the Afghanistan debate and offered commentary on the
intelligence community's analysis about Afghanistan.™® According to
subject-matter experts 1 the intelligence community. the memo contains
national defense information, including highly sensitive information about
intelligence activities. sources. and methods. Unauthorized disclosure of
this information in 2017 when My, Biden was no longer vice president
reazonably could be expected to cause exceptionally grave damage to the
national security,

s A September 29, 2009 memorandum with attachments. from the National
Security Advisger to the President. marked “TOP SECRET WITH TOP
SECRET/NOFORN/CODEWORD  ATTACHMENTS. 560 My, Biden
underlined and marked several passages that relate to the classified
attachments 1o the memo. " The memo's attachments melude several
intelligence products from the Office of the Director of National
Intelhigence. .56z One such attachment. marked “TOP
SECRET/HUMINT/COMINT/ORCON/NOFORN/FISA”  appears  to
contain Mr. Biden's handwriting and underlining 7% According to subject-
matter experts in the intelligence community, portions of this document
contain national defense mnformation about sensitive intelligence sources
and methods. Unauthorized disclosure of this information. in 2017 when
Mr. Biden was no longer vice president. and still today. reasonably could be
expected 1o eause serious damage to the national security.

o A draft handwritten note from Mr. Biden to President Obama, dated
October 18. 2009, offering Mr. Biden's advice about Afghanistan. including
Mr. Biden's explanation of why he beheved the military’s proposed
counterinsurgency strategy would {ail. "% This note does not appear to have
been completed.

7 This 1s a typographical error. The correct marking is HCS. which stands for
HUMINT Control System, and signifies information human intelligence sources.

8 Recovered document 315,

5] I(f_

750 Recovered documents B6-B13.

31 Recovered document BE,

52 Recovered documents BY, B9, B1O. B11.

563 Recovered document BT,

5 Recovered document B18-1: Klain Class Tr. at 3-1.
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in handwritien notes as vice president. and before that i notes he took as a senator
dating back to 198036~

The “Alganastan” folder contained almost 100 pages of documents from
October and November 2009, including numerous materials My, Biden used as
reference material when writing the Thanksgiving memo to President Obama %9
Among the documents were the following, which are summarized further in Appendix
A:

¢ A November 25. 2009 typewritten memorandum {rom Mr. Biden to
President Obama about Afghanistan. marked “TOP SECRET."57 Mr. Biden
made handwritten edits 1o this memo. some of which were incorporated into
the handwritten Thanksgiving memo dated three days later®'! Entire
pages of the handwritten Thanksgiving memo are repeated nearly verbatim
from the November 25 memo, making the November 25 memo the original
source document.?7?

o Multiple drafts of the handwritten Thanksgiving memo.7"* These include
documents with edits, comments, and additions from Mr. Biden's staff.
which were delivered to My, Biden when he was in Nantucket writing rhe
Thanksgiving memo. ! Mr. Biden repeated numerous passages from these
documents nearly verbatim in the final memo 573

o A copy of Mr. Biden’s talking points for a National Security Council meeting
held on November 11. 2009, and My, Biden's follow-up memorandum to the
National Security Advisor a few davs later, on November 135, 2009. both

5% 6/11/80 Handwritten Noteg from June 11. 1980 Mecting with West German
Chancellor Helmut Schmide, 1BOY7-BIDEN MEETING WITH CHANCELLOR SCHMIDT-
000015: Notebook entries 1B67-0011, 0013; 1B68-0033: 1B65-0016; 1822-0016.

s Recovered documents B25-B38; Fvidence item 1804: FBI Sevials 35, 512 1AGL,
682683 LATTL.

570 Fividence item 1B04; Recovered document B25.

1 Recovered document B25: Handwritten matertals 1866-0003-28; Biden 10/9/23 T,
at 52-53; Klain Class. Tr. at 8; Evidence item 1RB01.

372 Recovered document B25: Handwritten materials 1B66-00003-28: 11/27/09 c-mail
from Blinken. SCOH-000230; Evidence item 1801

373 Recovered document B25-1.

an !U’

5 fd o KEvidence item 1804,
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B. Other materials in the garage bhox

In addition to the two folders with marked clasaified documents about
Afghanistan, the garage hox contained folders with unclassified material that was of
great personal interest to Mr. Biden and that he appears to have personally used and
accessed, !

Several folders 1n the garage box contained materials that My, Biden appears
to have accessed both shortly before and shovtly after February 16, 2017, the day Mr.
Biden told Zwonitzer he had “just” found classified documents downstairs. ™2 For
example, in January 2017, less than a month before he told Zwonitzer he had just
found the classified documents downstairs. Mr. Biden appears to have accessed
documents later found in the box. On January 23, 2017, Mr. Biden wrote a notebook
entry about a call scheduled for later that dayv to finalize a deal with Creative Artists
Agency (CAA). a talent agency that went on to represent him in negotiating his book
deal for Promise Me, Dad.” The same entry also referenced Mr. Biden's work with
hig xister on hig S Corp." !

The box found in Myr. Biden's garage contained a corresponding file folder.

labeled “Signed Contracts Penn, CAA” which contained the signature page of a final

L FBI Serial 512 1A61 4.

32 FRI Serials 315, 355 1TA100. 512 1A614; Evidence item 1B80: Chapter 5.

5 Notebook entry 1B59-0025: ASSOCIATED PRESS, Joe and Jill Biden get multi-book
deal, WHYY (Apr. d, 2017). hteps://whyy.org/articles/joc-and-jill-biden-get-multi-book-deal/;
FBI Sermal 77 1A86; FBI Serial 682,

1 Notebhook entry 1B59-0025.
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agreement between My, Biden and Creative Artists Agenev.? Mr. Biden signed the
agreement, which was dated a few days after the notebook enteyv. on January 26.
2017.%%6 The folder alzo contained the final agreement between My, Biden and the
Penn Biden Center- Mr. Biden's primary emplover after his vice presidency—which
Mr. Biden signed. alzo on January 26, 20177 And the folder contained a W-9 tax
form for Mr. Biden's 8 covporation. CeltieCapri. which My, Biden used to receive
mcome from book deals and speceches. among other purposes.™* The W-9 form listed
My Biden as the president of the S corporation and was signed by My, Biden and
dated January 30, 2017 less than three weeks before My, Biden told Zwonitzer he
had just found classified documents downstairs. 59

The folder of signed contracts from late January 2017 was found 1n the box a
foew folders away from the “Facts First” folder that contained marked classified

documents about Afghamstan. as shown in the image below %0

SSIBO0L-SIGNTED CONTRACTS PENN_CAAD00001 - 1BRBO0LSIGNED
CONTRACTS PENN_CAA-000008. Evidence 1item 1BOL

{EOIROOE-SIGNED CONTRACTS PENN_CAA-000008,

SSYIB0OA-SIGNED CONTRACTS PENN_CAN-000001 - 1ROOLSTGNED
CONTRACTS PENN _CAN-000007: FBI Serial 512 14611 Kvidenee 1tem 1B0O4.

#RB00L-SIGNED CONTRACTS PENN_CAA000002: FBL Serial 512 1A614:
Evidence 1item 1BO:: Davla Mercado, Jae Biden used this strategy to frim his tax bifl, You can,
too, CNBC (Aug. 6. 2019}, httpsAwww enbe.ecom/2019/08/06/0e-biden-used-this-strategy-ta-
trim-his-tax-bill-vou-can-too html.

PR Serial 512 1A61 1 1BO0L-SIGNED CONTRACTS PENN_CAA-000002,

M ERBL Serial 512 TAG] L
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Mr. Biden also appears to have created a folder wirh the handwritten label
"Short Termism”™ and the handwritten date February 3. 2017—less than two weeks
hefore he told Zwonitzer he had just found classified documents downstairs.?? This
folder. later recovered by the FBI in the same box as the classified Afghanistan
documents, appears to be labeled in Mr. Biden's handwriting and contains material
about a public policy 1ssue of longstanding interest to Mr. Biden. ™ After creating
this folder in or around February 2017, Mr. Biden spoke on a panel addressing “short-
termism” at the University of Delaware a few months later in May 2017.591

The box also contained a folder labeled "mark Z7 and dated 2/16/17.595 “Mark
Z s a reference to Mr. Biden's ghostwriter, Mark Zwonitzer. and the folder 1s dated
the same day Mr. Biden met with Zwonitzer at the Virginia home and told Zwonitzer

he had just found classified documents downstairs. 6

M Zwonitzer /5123 Teo at 82-83; FBI Sertal 512 TAG61.L As explained below. the
folder appears to be labeled in My, Biden's handwriting, based on comparisons with other
known instances of that handwriting.

W EBL Serials 35, 3120 see also, eg.. Joe Biden, [low Short-Termisne Saps ihe
Feonomy, WALL ST, J. Sept. 27, 2016 Notebook entries 1B20-0027. 0025, 0011,

W Larissa [Kubitz, Biden Instiiute takes first step with dynainic business panel. THE
REVIEW (May 2. 2017). https://udreview comvbiden-institute-takes-first-step-with-dyvnamice-
business-pancl (last visited Feb. 1, 202.0).

W3 TBOOE-MARK 2 2-16-17-000001; FI¥M Serial 512, 1AG14.

e IROO4-MARK 72 2-16-17-000001: Biden 10/8/23 T'r. at 132: Zwonitzer 7731723 Tr. at
82-83: Fvidence item 1B01.
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“MARK Z 2/16/17” blue file folders®

Inside the Mark Z folder was the final book proposal for Promise Me, Dad.5%8
Mzr. Biden used this proposal to shop his book to potential publishers, and this bidding
process resulted 1n a book contract netting Mr. Biden an advance of $8 million.5%? Mr.
Biden’s assistant identified the handwriting on this folder as Mr. Biden’s.%%0 The date
ont the folder indicates that Mr, Biden created it at or around the same time he met
with Zwonitzer on February 16, 2017, and said he had just found classified
documents. The folder was at some point placed in the same box as the marked

classified documents about Afghanistan.

397 1B004-MARK Z 2-16-17-000001; FBI Serial 512.

588 1B004-MARK Z 2-16-17-000001 through 000005.

599 Zwonitzer-00001334; Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. at 32-33, 59-66, 78-79, 82, 85-89.
600 Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 84.
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Mr. Biden also continued to access materials in the box after he told Zwonitzer
on February 16, 2017 that he had found the classified documents. For example. on
AMarveh 5, 2017, less than three weeks later. Mr. Biden wrote 1 one of his notehooks

that he wanted to get a copy of the contract offered by Washington Speakers Bureau—

a group that had made Mr. Biden a lucrative offer to arrange paid speeches—"for my
records.”01 The garage box contained a folder with the handwritten label
“Washington Speakers Bureau.” which contained a copy of that offer.®? The
handwriting 13 Mr. Biden's.8% The Washington Speakers Bureau folder was found a
few folders away from the “Facts First™ folder containing marked claxsified
documents about Afghamstan.

The materials described ahove., which Mr. Biden appears to have accessed in
the weeks before, during. and after he told Zwonitzer about “just” finding classified
documents. were all located in folders in front of the "Facts First” folder in the box (to
the right of the foldey in the image of the box above).

Immediately behind (to the left of) the "Facts First” folder were three more
items that contained information of significant per=onal interest to My, Biden:

e A manila envelope containing documents from February and March 2017
relating to Mr. Biden's rvetirement pavments and then-current health-
Imsurance mformation, along with a copv of the Scnate Kthies Manual
hearing Mr. Biden's handwriting. Mr. Biden also wrote on the envelope.

including the date "4-17.7 an apparvent reference to April 2017.6%% Thesc
months—February., March, and April 2017—coincide with and closely

51 Notebook entryv 11359-0027; FBI Serial 77.

A IR0 EWASHINGTON - SPEARKERS BUREAL 000001-000007: FBI Semal 512,
603 Biden 1/9/23 Tr. at 57 Personal Aide 1 Tr.o at 119,

0 TBOOL-ENVELOPE ADDRESSED TO JOE BIDIEN-000001-000028: FBI Serial

it
—
o
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follow the date when Mr. Biden told Zwonitzer he found classified
documents, February 16. 2017,

A white binder labeled 2016”7 containing detailed financial information
about Mr. Biden's income and expenses, including expenses relating to the
Virginia home 5% Mr. Biden described this tvpe of financial binder as the
sort of material that he knowingly kept 1n his file=.6% When interviewed.,
his sigter. Ms. Biden Owens. 1dentified materials in the binder as ones she
printed for Mr. Biden at his request 607

A brown/maroon binder labeled "Beau lowa.” which appears to have been
compiled in roughly 2014, and which contains, among other things.
photographs of Beau Biden campaigning in fowa 605

The box alszo contained other materials of personal interest to Mr. Biden, =ome

of which go back decades. and some of which extend for vears after My, Biden told

Zwonitzer he had found classified document= % These included:

The Biden Archives. which compiled ancestry information about the Biden
family, and which was addressed to Mr. Biden's parents at their home in
Delaware 60

Photos and biographical information of Mr. Biden and other members of his
a8
graduating law school class. from 1967.61)

A folder labeled "V.P. Image — Press™ containing a 2015 newspaper article
from the Delaware News Journal. The article’s opening sentence reads:
“While Vice President Joe Biden has assured himself a place in U.S. history
books, his political legacy in tiny Delaware is epic. 612

1AG12

505 BT Serial 512 TAG1-1

606 Biden 1O/8/23 Tr. at 99-101: FBI Serial 554 1A662.

507 Biden Qwens Tr. at 62-66.

88 BT Serial 512 1AG14.

609 FRI Serial 512 1A612.

610 TROO4-ARCHIVES BIDEN THE BIDEN ARCHIVES-000001; FBI Serial 512

SHTBO0A_MANILA FOLDER WITH DOCUMENTS-000002; FBI Serial 512 1A612.
P12 1B004_ARCHIVES BIDEN_VP IMAGE - PRES-000006: FI3I Scrial 512 1A612.
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¢ Polling data related 1o the 2016 presidential election showing My, Biden
outperforming My, Trump In soveral swing states that Hillary Clinton
Lose 613

o Documents from the end of the Obama administration. For example.
mformation about Mr. Biden's move out of the Naval Obscrvatory. from
November 2016:%1% a folder about the Penn Biden Center with materials
from November 201653 moving company information for My, Biden and
Dr. Jill Biden from December 2016516 and a folder relating to the Biden
Institute at the University of Delaware. dated January 3. 2017 647

¢ Documents from the first few months afrer the Obama administrarion.
when My, Biden was a private citizen,

o An IRS Form 1099 for tax vear 2017 documenting Mr. Biden's lump-sum
payvment to Zwonitzer for his work ghostwriting Promise Me, Dad. and
other tax documents dated 2018.61%

e A binder of briefing materials from the 2020 presidential campaign. dated
from 2019 and 2020. Inside the binder are peisonal photos of Mr. Biden and
hix family. including his grandchildren 19

o  Notecards with presidential campaign remarks from 2020 620

In sum. the materials surrounding the marked classified documents about

Afghanistan were of personal importance to My, Biden and werve marerials he appears

to have acceszed around the time he told Zwonitzer. while they were in My, Biden's

Virginia home. that he had “just found all the classified stuff downstairs,”

S5 ERL Serial 312 1AG12: 1B004_POLLING HRC 2016 JRB-000002-000005,

HEFBE Seral 512 1A612: 1RBOO_VICE PRESIDENT OF THE US_FURNITURE-
000001; 1800 (_VTCE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES-000001.

S BRI Serial 512 1A612: 1B0064_PENN D(C-000001.

6 EB] Seral 512 1AG12: 1BOOI_TRANSTTION-000001.

SUOFBL Serial 512 TA612: 1B00L_UDEL 1-03-17-000001.

S FBI Seral 512 1A612: 1BOOL-GREEN FOLDER WITH DOCUMENTS-000003.

9 FRE Serial 512 1A612: 1BOC1-BOOK 2-000001.

SO FBT Serial 512 TAG12: TBOOL-CARDS-REMARKS AND NOTES-000001.
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III. IN JANUARY 2023, THE FBI FOUND THE CLASSIFIED 2009 THANKSGIVING
MEMO IN MR. BIDEN’S DELAWARE HOME OFFICE

On January 20, 2023, about a month after FBI agents searched Mr. Biden’s
Delaware garage and found the box with classified Afghanistan documents, agents
returned to search the living areas of Mr. Biden’s Delaware home.62! In Mr. Biden's
main office, agents found the notebook he used to chronicle the fall 2009 Afghanistan
policy review.622 The notebook, which was labeled “Af/Pak 1,” was found in a drawer

along with many of Mr. Biden’s other notebooks from the Obama administration.623

4 A Sy iae — e = L=

Mr. Biden’s Delaware home o:fﬁce co-ncaining his notebooks (Jan. 20, 2023)524

821 TB] Serials 35, 77.

622 FB] Serial 77; Notebook 1B66.

623 FBI Serial 77 1A86.

624 FBI Serial 77 1A86 20230120 JLH_0173.
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Office ﬁle cabinet under television containing eight seized notebooks (Jan 20 2023)52>

Contents of office file cabinet under television containing eight seized notebooks

(Jan. 20, 2023)525

et

625 20230120_FBI_0151; FBI Serial 77 1A87.
626 20230120 FBI_0152; FBI Serial 77 1A87.
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In December 2022 and January 2023. in My, Biden's Delaware garage and
home office. FBI agents found classified documents relating to one of the seminal
moments of his vice presidency: his opposition to the 2009 troop surge in Afghanistan.
The classified documents were physically surrounded by Mr. Biden's private.
personal material. including matertal he accessed around the same time he told his
ghostwriter in February 2017 while in his Virginia home. that he “just found all the

classified stuff downsrairs.”
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CHAPTER SEVEN
TRACING THE AFGHANISTAN DOCUMENTS

We were unable to determine how the marked classified Afghanistan
documents got from the White House. where My, Biden possessed them as viee
president in 2009, to his Delaware home. where thev were found in 2022, My, Biden
had at least some of the Afghanistan documents with him in Nantucket during
Thanksgiving 2009, when. as described in Chapter Six. he used some or all those
documents as reference material i writing his handwritten meme to President
Obama. From Nantucket. we have been unable to determine whether the documents
next went to My, Biden's ¢ffice in the White House. or 1o hi= official residence at the
Naval Observatory. or to his personal home in Delaware.

In an artemipt to trace the path of the Afghanistan documents and other
marked clasaified documents found in the Delaware home. we reviewed extensive
evidence of the movement of My, Biden's belongings from the end of the Obama
administration. We interviewed numerous people who were in My, Biden's Delaware
and Virginia homes at relevant times. and reviewed photographs and videos of the
spaces as well as records from moving companies, furniture companics. and other
sources. Ulrimately. we could not determine precisely when the box containming the
Afghanistan documents got into the garage. or who put the documents there.

A= explained in Chapter Eleven. the strongest casce for criminal charvges
against Mr, Biden relating to the Afghanistan documents would rext on his vetention
of the documents at the Virginia home 1n 2017, The February 16, 2017, vecorded

conversation when My, Biden told Zwonitzer he “just found all the classified stuff
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downstas” in the Virginia home is evidence that the Afghanistan documents were
there. Other evidence provides some additional clues suggesting that these
documents may have been stored in the Virginia home and then moved to the
Delaware home. where thev were ultimately placed in the box in the garage. As
discussed further in Chapter Eleven. we find this evidence to be insufficient to meet
the government's burden 1in a ¢riminal prosecution.

I. MR. BIDEN'S MOVES FROM THE NAVAILL OBSERVATORY TO VIRGINIA AND THEN
TO DELAWARE

As explained below, when My, Biden left the vice presidency in January 2017,
he moved 1nto a rental home n Virgimia. From 2017 to 2019 Mi. Biden split time
hetween the Virginia home and his permanent home in Delaware. which he owned
before. during. and afier the vice presidency. and still owns todaxv.93t [n July 2019,
some of Mr. Biden's belongings in the Virginia home were moved to his home in
Delaware 35

A, 2017 move out of the Naval Observatory

On January 7. 2017, the Bidens moved furmiture and personal belongings out

of the Naval Observatory and into the Virginia home using a private moving

641 Biden 10/8/23 Tr. at 10-47 (describing building the Delaware home while a
Senator). See also Sections LA and 1.B below.

535 See Section 1.1 below.
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company.® The Bidens paid for the move themselves and packed thewr own
belongings. with the help of staff members and naval enlisted aides. %%

My, Biden was personally involved in the move: He seleeted which pieces of
government-owned furniture from the Naval Obscrvatory he bought and moved to
Virginia. directed some of the packing. and was personally present for the entirety of
the move. 5% One military aide recalled seeing him “packing by himself and just him
moving his stuff one at a time into the .. . truck™ at the Naval Ohservatory on moving
day, and Seeret Service agents saw Mr. Biden "moving boxes" at the Virginia house
during the weckend of his move into that house.*

My, Biden stored papers in =everal places at the Naval Observatory. mcluding
desks, safes. and briefeases. As explamed above in Chapter Three. Mr. Biden stored

classified materials at the Naval Observatory while vice president. We were unable

B12/21/16 Invoice from private moving company. Georgetown Moving and Storage,
SCOH-000279: 1/7/17 e-matls from Seeret Service agents describing status of movers packing
up the Naval Obzervatory, USS5-0000528890 and USSS-000032901:3.

G E2/21/16 Invoice from private moving company. Georgetown Moving and Siorage
SCOH-000279 (indicating “customer to pack all.” "carrier to pack none’): Residence Manager
Tr. at 37: NEA 5 Tr. at109-111: Ricehetti Tr. at 122, 121 NEA 1 Tre at 48, 50-51. 55-56: NIEA
3 Tr. at 28-30. 34 Personal Aide 3 3/28/23 Troat 111-112; Personal Aide 3 1071723 Tr, at 14-
15. 31 Dr. Biden Perzonal Azde Tr ar 58-61: Staft Assistant 2 Tr. at 86-87. 91-92

B 10/6/16 Memo from Residence Manager to the Viee President and Dr. Biden.
1B004-Vice President of the US_Furniture at 000002 (" Per our conversation vesterdas ... .k
handwritten notes desevibing phone call with Residence Manager on 12-19-16. FBI Serial
278, Notebook 113590 entry in Notebook DATLY 2016 (1B39) describing 12/19/16 call with
Residence Manager (*12-19-16, %:35pm The Lake: Also =pent time on phone w/ [Residence
Manager| re: furniture -~ movement of furniture™): NEA 3 Tr.oat 28-34 NTEA S T at 11
NEA 1 Tr. at 18, 50-51. 35-56; Military Aide 7 Tr. at 50: 1/7/17 e-mail from Secret Sevvice
agents describing Mr. Biden as present at the Naval Observatory with the movers, USSS-
0000A28890: 1/7/17 e-mail from Seeret Service agents describing My, Biden going to Virginia
Residence, USSS-000052 1211 Personal Aide 3 107423 Tr. at 3-6. 16-18. 20: Residence
Manager Ty, at 60: Ricchetod Ty at 122, 125

0 Military Arde 7T at 300 33-35; V1317 Secret Service e-mail, 1TS55-0000106162,
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Mr. Biden and his staff kept classified documents in safes at the Naval
Observatory, but staff cleaved out their contents alter the January 7. 2017 move %
My, Biden was also known to keep documents in his briefeases, which he carried with
him when traveling.®% Mr. Biden's staff did not go into his desk at the Naval
Obszervatory, and 1t appears staff retrieved documents from his briefease only rarely,
if ever. so we were unable to determine if those locations contained any documents at
the end of the administration. St

We were also unable to determine whether any of My, Biden's papers—
classified or not- -~were n the boxes moved out of the Naval Observatory and to
Virginia. No one involved recalled packing or moving papers or files belonging to Ay,
Biden 8 # Mr. Biden also stated that he did not “ever remember packing up written
material to go anvwhere 519 He explained that, "[i]t deesnt mean 1t didn’t bappen.
but [ just don't remember any of that, 7650

During the investigation, we obtained photographs of the Virginia home from

several sources Inoan attempt to identify photographs shoewing the classified

G5 1415717 eomadl from mibitary aide to Exceutive Secrerary, SCOH-000255: Militarvy
Alde 8 Tr.at 17,3533 1 V16/17 e-mail correspondence between OV National Seeurity Affairs
and OV Counsel staff. SCOH-000246: 1/16/17 e-mail correspondence hetween OVP National
Security Affaies and OVP Counsel staff, SCOH-000218: 116/17 c-mail. SCOH-000259:
Exceutive Secretary Staffer 2 7/7/23 T, at 57 1/17/17 e-mail, SCOH-000256; Associare
Counsel 372923 Tr. at 16. 74 Bakotic 7/19/23 Tr. at 90-92,

w6 Seaff Assistant 3 Tr. at 19: Exceutive Assistant 9/28/2:3 Tr. at 73-74: Personal Aide
1426723 Trooar 68: Personal Aide 2 Ty, at 353 Personal Aide 3 3728/23 Tr. at 312350 56-57:
Personal Aide 3 TO/H23 Tr. at 32-533.

67 Personal Aide 3 3/28/23 Tr, at 85 Personal Nide 3 1041723 Tr. at 10: NEA D Tre. ar
67 Stalf Assistant 3 100123 Tr. at 67-68; Military Aide 10 Tr. at 22,

B8 See, e.g.. NEA T Tr. at 58 NEA 3 Tr. at 30-31.

i Biden 10/8/23 Tr. at 67,

s at 67



Afghanistan documents or the box in which they were found. We found none. We did
wentify photographs taken in January 2017. while Mr. Biden was moving into the
Virginia home from the Naval Observatory. But the photographs showed only the
exterior of moving boxes. not thelr contents. and we weve not able to identify the box
in which the Afghanistan documents were found in any of the photos.

B. Security at the Virginia home

The Virginia home was not authorized to store classified informarion n
February 2017, when Mr. Biden told Zwonitzer he had “just found all the classified
stuff downstairs.”

The Virginia home was not set up for secure handling or storage of classified
documents, No one we interviewed recalled any safes or other approved facilities for
the storage of classified material in the home 55! The Virginia home had an alarm
svetem. 5?7 It was also generally locked, although a staff member entered the house
through an unlocked door to facilitate the move-out in July 2019.653

Although the White House Situation Room delivered a classified book to Mr.
Biden at the Virginia home on one occasion near the end of the Obama administration

in early January 20179t his National Security Affairs staff later determined that he

Bl See, e.g.. Secret Service Special Agent 2 Tr. at 80; Virginia house manager Tr. at
15.

532 \rginia House Manager Tr. at 14-15; 1/30/17 e-mail from U.S. Secret Service agent
to Dr. Biden's personal aide, USSS-00005327876; Secret Service Special Agent 1 Tr. at 37-39.
But see NEX T Tr. at 86 ("[f there was [an alarm{ we didn't use it or it didn't work.™).

W NEA 1 Tr. at 87 Secrer Service Special Agent 1 Tr. at 39: Dr. Biden Staffer 1 Tr.
at 63-6-1.

631 1/15/17 e-mail from Military Aide 8 to OVP staff and White House Situation Room.
SCOH-000318: 1/14/17 Secret Service e-mail, USSS-0000521184: 1/15/17 e-mails between
military aide, OVP stafl, and the White House Situation Room. SCOH-000314. That evening,
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should not receive classified material there. F-mail correspondence among his
staff, military aide. and briefer reflect that Mr. Biden lecarned of this change in
process. as he “vequested the [President’s Daily Brief] for the drive into the White
Houze 6 when he started spending the night at the Virginia home 577 as opposed to
his staffs alternative plan of delivering it to the West Wing for him to review after he
arrived there (59

After the vice presidency. the Virginia home had an intermittent Secret Serviee
presence for xix months< ending in July 2017 9% During those six months. agents were

present only when a protected person was there (such as My Biden or Dr. Jill Biden).

the Bidens returned 1o the Naval Ohsorvatery, 11517 Seceret Serviee o-mail USS8S-
GO00H2.4182.

S UTTITT e-mall from National Security staffer to Kahl SCOH-000301 1717717 e-
mail frgm Kahl to National Security Staff. SCOH-000301.

W 171817 e-mati from Military Adde 3 1o OV National Secuvity Affairs craff and PDB
bviefer, SCOH-000271.,

657 Between January 72017 when he moved into the Vieginla home. and January 18
2017. when he began spending the night there. Mr. Biden traveled extensively and continued
to srav overnight at the Naval Obseyvatory on the few occasions he was in Washimgton. 13.0,
See, e.g.. /817 e-mails berween Military Mde 7. OV sraft, and the White House Situation
Room. SCOH-0002148; 1/7/17 Secret Serviee e-mail. 1B0OT_01916050 tindicating Mr. Biden
returned to the Naval Observatory at 2317 on January 7, 20170 T/8/17 e-mails between
military aide and OVE staff. 1B0OOL_01915912 (indicating that briefing books for January 9.
2017 will be delivered o the Vice President in the morning in Los Angeles): V10417 e-mails
between military aide. OVP staff. and the White House Situation Room. SCOH-0002.11.
SCOH-000252. SCOH-000265: 1/11/17 e-mail from OVP National Security Aflairs staff
SCOH-000261: Secret Service schedule for January 110 2017, USS5-000000 1188;  Secret
Service schedule for January 12, 2017, USS8S-000000.4194: 1/11/17 e-matls amongst OVP staff
with My Biden's schedule for January 12, 2017, 1BO01_0198 1097: 1/13/17 White House Press
Release, SCOH-000222: 1711417 Secret Service e-mail. L'SSS-0000001109 (indicating M
Biden arrived at the "lLake House™ the evening of Januavy 13, 2017).

W 11817 e-mail from Military Alde 33 to OVP National Security Affatrs staffand PDB
hriefer, SCOH-000271; 1/118/17 e-mail from Military Aide 3 to Executive Assistant, OVP
National Securiry Affairs staff. SCOH-000302: 1/18/17 e-mail (rom OVEP National Security
Affairs staffer 1o Nattonal Security Affaivs staff. SCOH-000272: /1% 17 e-mails amongst OVP
National Security Affairs staff, SCOH-000263.

68 T T Secret Service e-mail, USSS-0000523706: Secret Serviee Supervisor Tr. at
32: Secret Sevviee Special Agent 1 &2 1723 T'r. at 36,
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and agents generally had a stafter or protected person give them access to the
home 5% My, Biden split his nme between the Virginia home. the Delaware home,
and his recently purchased beach home in Rehoboth Beach. Delawarve. 58! Dr. Biden
staved overnight at the Virginia home when she was teaching 662

The Virgmia home was frequented by family members, stalf. and guests. not
all of whom had a security clearance. A Secrer Service agent lived intermittently in a
hasement bedroom from about the summer of 2017 until the summer of 2018, though
he was not working on My, Biden's =ecurity detail ar the uume %> A former naval
enhisted aiwde staved there from about January 2018 until Julv 2019560 Family
members and guests also visited occasionally 569

C. In January 2017, after the end of his vice presidency, Mr. Biden

found classified documents at his Virginia home and returned
them

Soon afrer leaving the vice presidency. My, Biden apparently recognized that
the Virgimia home wasx not a secure location for the storage of classified material.
When interviewed. Mr. Biden's personal aide recalled that during the first week after
the end of the administration—several weeks before My, Biden told Zwonitzer he “just

found all the classified stuff downstairs"—Mr, Biden discovered classified material at

660 1/13/17 e-mail from Secrer Service agent to personal atde, SCOH-000223: Sceret
Service Special Agent 2 Ty, at 79; Virginia house manager Tr. at 15-18; NEA 1 Tr. at 86-87;
Dr. Biden Staffer 1 Tr. at 32.

B See, eg, NEA 1 Tr. at 92; Secret Service Special Agent 1 8/24/273 Tr. at 28, 34, 36
Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. at 146-17; Ricchetti Tr. at 110; Personal Aide 3 3/28/23 Tr. at 1141, 174,
6/8/17 Schedule, NARA_SCAN_00000300 (*Close on the Beach House™: FBI Serial 3.

2 NEA 1 Tr. at 66.

661 Secret Service Special Agent 1 8/214/23 Tr. at 31-32.

6 NEA 1 Tr. at 63-66.

565 Il at 66-68: Dr. Biden Personal Aide Tr. at 78-79; Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. ar 144-16.
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the Virginia home and directed the aide to return it to the White House % According
to the aide, he was standing outside the Virginia home when Mre. Biden approached
him and handed him a “slim binder{ ] with a classified coversheet. %67 My, Biden said
something like, "I just found rhis. Can vou make sure it gets back to the White
House? 558 The aide surmised that the binder contained materials relating to “foreign
leader calls™ because My Biden participated in many such calls in the lasr days of the
administration 569

The aide believed he notified the director of programs for the Office of the Viee
President's National Sccurity Affairs team. who had staved on into the next
administration.® ? The aide believed he then gave the classified binder to a Secret
Service agent at the Virginia home, who brought 1t to the Naval Obhservartory, where
a mulitary aide deliveved 1t to Vice President Pence's national secuvity =taff at the
White House 571 We reviewed available phone records and interviewed several people

serving at the time in the White House, the Secret Service., and the Naval

66 Popsonal Aide 3 3/28/23 Te. at 197-212: Personal Aade 3 1074723 Tre. at 58 (deseribing
timing of incident a2 "a week or roughly a week after the Inauguration.™

o7 Pepsonal Aade 3 03728/23 Tr. at 197-99. The aide did not helieve 1t was one of the
“tvpieal” elassified coversheets with red. orange. or vellow classification markings: rather. he
believed it had the “vice presidential scal” and “some tvpe of classified mavking on 1t.” /d. at
198-59.

6% fed. at 199-200: see also id. at 197,

ol at 200 211-12. The aide did not believe the binder was one of the Vice
President’s “traditional briefing book[s]” from his National Security Affairs team. {d. at 199,

G fd ar 201-0 4 Initially. the aide stated it was possible that he notified a mitlitary
aide mnstead. Td. at 201, When re-interviewed. however. the aide stated that he believed he
contacled the Direcror of Programs for National Sccurity Affairs. and not a military aide.
Personal Arde 3 104123 Tr. at 53-54%.

L Porsonal Aide 303028023 Tr. at 203-04. 208-10.
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Obscrvatory. and none of them recalled this event 472 Mr. Biden did not remember it
either, although he stated in written responses to questions submitted by the special
counsel: "If [ had seen any marked classified documents in my home or office between
the time when [ was serving as Vice President and President, [ would have
immediately returned them to the ULS. government, 97 During his interview. he also
stated that if he found classified documents. T would have gotten rid of them. I would
have gotten them back to their source. . . . | had no purpose for them. and I think it
would be mappropriate for me 10 keep clearly classified documents, 67!

D. Move out of Virginia home to Delaware in 2019

On July 18, 2019. private movers packed and moved the Bidens belongings
from the Virginia home to the Delawave home. under a staffer’s supervision. .t Mr.
Biden was not present for the packing or move. as he was traveling for his

presidential campaign 676

2 Director of Programs Tr. at 156-57. 180 (stating that the incident did "not sound
familiar™: Secret Service Supervisor Tr. at 29-30 (stating he was unaware of Secret Service
agents being given classified information found at the Virginia Residence): Military Aide 1
Tr. at 32-37: Military Aide 2 Tr. at 13-14; Military Aide 3 Tr. at 82-8:3: Military Aide 8 Ty, at
D9-H6.

673 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 7-8. 39-10; President Joseph R. Biden. Jr’s Responses to
Written Questions Submitted by the Special Counsel. Dec. 1, 2023, at 1. Mr. Biden caveated
his response in his interview by adding that “notes in my book. they're my notes and theyv're
my property, but that document 1s not my property.” Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 12.

61 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 11.

63 Moving company invoice, SCOH-000274 (indicating a pack date of 7/16/19. a load
date of 7/17/19, and move date of 7/18/19 from Virgima home to Delaware home): Dr. Biden
Staflfer 1 Tr. at 61-6:4.

S0 CITY NEWS SERVICE, Joe Biden visits Crenshawe-district soul food restaurant, hits
Trumtp  on go  back’ rhetorie, 108 ANGELES Dally  NEWS (July 19, 2019),
https:/iwww.dailvnews.com/2019/07/19joe-biden-visits-crenshaw -district-soul-food-
restaurant-hits-trump-on-go-back-rhetoric/ (last wisited Jan. 31, 2024) (Biden returned
Thursday [Friday, July 19, 2019)] to Southern California to raise money for his Democratic
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Our 1nvestigation focused on a wooden, two-drawer file cabinet that moved
from the Virginia home to the Delaware home, because marked classified documents
were later found inside the file cabinet in the Delaware home. and because of the
possibility that the classified Afghanistan documents later found in the Delaware
garage were at one time stored in the file cabinet. %"

In the Virgimia home. the file cabinet held files and was located near My,
Biden's green-top desk in his basement office 7% In July 2019, the file cabinet moved
from the Virginia home to the Delaware home. 5™ My, Biden said in his interview he
helieved he bought the cabinet for the Virginia home. but was unsure 5 We were
otherwise unable to determine where the cabinet originated. although photographs
and records suggest it did not come from the Naval Observatory, and it Iikely came

from the Delaware home or was bought for the Virginia home.® Regarvdless. My,

presidential bid{.["): Heidi Przvbyla. Biden's plan for rurad America s the latest Democeratic
oultreach to Tramp coniry. NBC NEWS (July 13, 2019y
https/iwww . nbenews.com/polities/2020-clection/biden-s-plan-rural-america-latest-
democratic-outreach-trump-country-n1031 1 11 (last visited Jan. 31, 2024): Alexandra Jaffe.
Biden plan seeks to boost rural America through investments. AP NEWS ONLINE, (July 16,
20149, https:/fapnews.com/united-states-presidential-election-
51h68d 199thd 161587 35b87{8a1518al (ast vigited Jan. 30, 20243 ("We have to ensure we
bring along evervone. the former vice president said in Manning, an lowa town of about 1.500
residents.”),

57 BT Serials 43, §L

5 Biden 10/8/23 Tre. at 78-79: Personal \de 3 10/ 423 Tr. ar £3-11.

9 Personal Alde 3 10/1/23 Ty, at 43-11 {"green hanging files™). The desk did not move
to Delaware. See, e.g., SCOH-000271: August 2019 Photographs of Virgima home, SCOT-
O00711: SCOLH-000742: SCOH-0007 .53, SCOH-00074 {; SCOH-0007-15: SCOH-0007-16.

w0 Biden 10/8/23 Tr. at 13, 72,

51 We identified several other sourvces of furniture and deliveries of items to the
Virginia home between January and April 2017, However, none of those deliveries appear to
have ncluded the file cabinet. 2/1:4/17 e¢-mail from Mr. Biden's Personal Aide to Secret
Service. USSE-0000523734: 1/12/17 e-mail from Secret Service agent to Dr. Biden's personal
ade. SCOH-000220: 1317 e-mail between Sceret Scrvice agents, USSS-0000527855:
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Biden told us the file cabinet contained his own files and no one else’s, and his
personal aide recalled filing papevs for Mr. Biden in both that cabinet and his green-
top desk when those items of furniture were in the Virginia home 5%

The staffer present for the move out of the Virginia home recalled that
furniture such as the cabinet was plastic-wrapped and moved with contents inside,
rather than being emptied before moving.® No one we interviewed recalled emptying
the cabinet and packing its contents for the move to Delaware 8!

[n January 2023. FBI agents recovered two marked classified documents from
a notebook found in the same file cabinet in the basement den of My, Biden's
Delaware home.®% Both documents were dated from 2013, and one related to

American troop levels in Afghanmstan. while the other related to Irag. 56

February 2017 Secret Service Final Survey Report, USSS-0000523800; March 2017 Secret
Service e-mails, USSS-0000313361, USSS-0000310321.

b2 Biden 10/8/23 Tr. at 79 ("[Tlhey were all my files, I believe, or at least under my
control . ... [I]t wasn't like somebody filed their papers in my file cabinet.”); Personal Aide 3
10/4/253 Ty, at 11-14, 13-44.

% Dr. Biden Staffer 1 Tr. at 62, 66-67, 70-72.

580 [d . T/15/09 text messages between Dr. Biden Staffer 1 and Personal Aide 3, SCOH-
QU038U: Personal Aide 3 10/4/23 Tr, at 54-36.

5 BT Serials 14 1,456, 682.

586 FBI Sevial 683 1AT72 C1. C2, C3, C4.
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File cabinet in Virginia home’s basement office

File cabinet in Virginia home’s basement {March §, 2018)%%
office (Sept. 21, 2017)587

File cabinet in Delaware home’s basement den (Jan. 12, 2023)59°

67 I'BI Serial 89 1A92; 9/21/17 photograph taken in Virginia home, SCOH-000321.

88 SCOH-000767; FBI Serial 696 1A786.

589 1/12/23 photograph taken in Delaware home, FBI Serial 44 1A56
202301112_DSC_0005.
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1L. EVIDENCE THAT MR. BIDEN POSSESSED THE CLASSIFIED AFGHANISTAN
DOCUMENTS IN THE VIRGINIA HOME

Some cvidence suggests the Afghanistan documents were stored in the
basement of the Virginia home from 2017 to 2019, moved in July 2019 to the
Delaware home. and. at some point either before or after the move. transferred to the
garage box. where they weve finally found n the Delaware garage in December 2022,
But we cannot rule out other explanations. including the possibility that the classified
Afghanistan documents were left somewhere in My, Biden's Delaware home while he
was vice president and forgotien rthere. until someone put them in the garage box
after the 2019 move [rom the Virginia home to the Delaware home without vealizing
the documents contained classified mformation.

A. The dates of documents in the garage box suggest they were in
the Virginia home

There are clues in the files themselves that suggest the contents of the garage
box were moved from Vieginia to Delaware. The garage hox containing the
Afghanistan documents also contained other documents with dates that correspond
to dates when Mr. Biden's schedule shows him present at the Virginia home m and
around February 2017 and afterward. The coincading dates suggest that those

documents were at the Virginia home with him during that period. 5

0 EBT Serials 3040 LA, 179 FBLI-00001343 (Schedules): 1BOOL-SHORT TERMISAM
2-3-17-000001: 1BOOI-PLAN FORYOUR FUTURE VANGUARD-000001: 1BOO1-MARKZ 2-
16-17-000001. The garage bhox also included Biden’s speeches, speaking engagement offers,
and financial documents dated between March 2017 and March 2019, 1B001-2016
CAMPAIGN SPEECHES_LABOR-000017; 1B004-CAA - SPEECHES-000003: 1B001-
INCOME AND EXPENSES 2016-000005-21; 1B001-

GREEN FOLDER WITH DOCUMENTS-000002-28.
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B. The garage box containing marked classified Afghanistan
documents came from the move out of the Virginia home

Based on photographs we obtained. it ix likely the garage box that was later
found to contain the Afghanistan documents came to the Delaware home during the
July 2019 move from Virgima to Delawave.

About a month after the move from Virginia to Delaware. m late August 2019
a photo shows what appears (o be the same box as the garage hox contaming the
Afghanistan documents. inside the Delaware home in Mr. Biden's mam-floor office.
immediately next to his desk.%! The box is not seen in photographs of that space next
to his desk from June 2019 (one month before the move)."?? Two months after the
Augusr 2019 photo ol the box. 1n October 2019, another photo shows what appears to
be the same box in the same place in Mr. Biden's office.t9 Based on irs gize and
markings. the box next to My, Biden's dexk in the August and October 2019 photos
appears to be of the same tvpe as the hoxes that moved from the Virginia home te the

Delaware home mn late July 2019891

W1 8/26/19 photograph. SCOH-000576; FBI Serial 625 1A720.

2 713/19 photos, SCOH-00077 1 and SCOH-000775

s SCOH-000768. Our conclusion 1s based on close inspection of the box's distinctive
markings and packing tape,

WETR20/2019 pheto. SCOH-000769: FBI Serial 679 1AT68.
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Top left: zoomed-in photograph of box from August 2019597
Top right: zoomed-in photograph of box from Ociober 2019
Bottom: photograph of garage box containing marked Afghanistan documents (Jan. 22, 2024)%%9

One possibility is that the classified Afghanistan documents were stored in the
Virginia home, then placed in the box and moved to the Delaware home, where the
box (with the Afghanistan documents inside) sat in Mr. Biden’s office for several

months between August and October 2019. But we cannot rule out other possibilities.

897 8/26/19 photograph, SCOH-000576; FBI Serial 625 1A720.
9% SCOH-000768; FBI Serial 625 1A270.
699 1/22/24 photograph, GarageBox-001; Evidence item 1B87
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The August and October 2019 photographs of My, Biden’s Delaware office desk
do not show the box's contents. When the garage box was vecovered by the FBI in
December 2022, it contained material dated between December 2019 and September
2020. afrer Mr. Biden moved out of the Virginia home and when he was hiving in the
Delaware home."™™ This means that at least some of the box's contents were added
after the box was stored in Mr. Biden's Delaware home office in 2019, [t 15 also
possible that, sometime aficr the box was photographed in Mr. Biden's Delaware
office in October 20719, someone put the classified Afghanistan documents mnto this
box [rom elsewhere in the Delaware home. reusing the box for this purpose. One
witness specifically recalled Mr. Biden reusing old boxes., even when they were
damaged.'®" In any case. the box containing the Afghanistan documents was
eventually moved out of My, Biden's Delaware home office 1o the Delaware garage.
where 11 was found in 2022,

We interviewed dozens of witnesses about the box and its contents. including
Mr. Biden. All denied knowing that the classified Afghanistan documents were in the
hox. and all denied knowing when or how the box and its contents arrived in the
garage. or who put them there. In the intervening vears, boxes. furniture. the

Corvette, and miscellancous items were repeatedly moved in, out, and around the

0 1BOOI-BOOK 2-000001177 (binder containing memos, schedules, and specches
dated between December 2019 and March 20200 1B00+-LOOSE DOCUMENTS AND
PHOTO-000001-13: 1BO04-CARDS-REMARKS  AND  NOTES-000001-73  {campaign
speeches, schedules. and an event memao for Justice Ginsburg's memorial service dated
between August 2019 to September 2020): Personal Aide ! Tr. at 86-89. Secret Service e-
mails show Mr. Biden also visited his beach house. See, e.g.. 6/13/20 c-mail between Sceret
Service agents, USSS-0000007733.

OENFEA T Ty at 123,
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garage.’" While staffers—and even Mr. Biden—vecalled being in the garage and
sceing boxes at various points, no one recognized the box containing marked classified
documents or recalled moving hoxes within the Delaware home 1o the garage. ™93

C. Investigation of the file cabinet that was moved from Virginia to
Delaware was inconclusive

We alzo examined connections between the contents of the garage box and the
file cabinet that moved from Virginia to Delaware. to investigate the possibility the
Afghanistan files were at one time stored in the [ile cabinet. No witnesses recalled

removing files from the eabinet "¢! Ultimately. the investigation was inconclusive.

Independent of the February 2017 Zwonitzer recording. the dates of the files
in the garage box and the way the box was laheled suggest that some or all the files
m the garage bhox. including the classified Afghanistan documents. may have been
moved from the Virginia home to the Delaware home in 2019, before they were {found
in a hox 1n the Delaware garage in 2022, Bul there are alternative explanations for
how the Afghanistan documents got 1nto the garage box that ave also consistent with

the evidence described above. As discussed in Chapter Eleven. we find the evidence

120023 FBI photographs of garage. 202530120 JLH_0027 and 20230120_J1.1_001
8 12/21/22 FBI photograph. 20221221 ERT_0013: April 2018 through December 2022
Mechanic vecords. SCOH-000568: Photograph of Delaware residence. SCOH-000575: FBI
Serial 625 1TAT20: Secret Service photographs of Delaware home, USSS-0000386970. USSS-
0000262676: Campalgn phoetographs SCOH-000770. SCOH-00077 1. SCOH-000772. SCOH-
0007738,

03 See, e.g.. Personal Aide 1 Troat 112-113: Dirvector of Oval Office Operations Tr. at
6.1-70; D, Biden Personal Adde Tre. at 113-118.

TENEA T Tr. at 111-12: Pevsonal Aide 4 Tro at 11748 (doesn’t remember going
through the cabinet): Divector of Oval Office Opevations T, at 115 (7] have never accessed
rhat. no.™)
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as a whole msufficient to meet the government's burden of proving that Ay, Biden

wiltfully retained the Afghanistan documents in the Virginia home in 2017,
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CHAPTER EIGHT

MR. BIDEN'S FIRST BOOK, PROMISES TO KEEP, AND
THE CLASSIFIED SENATE DOCUMENTS IN THE DELAWARE GARAGE

The Afghanistan documents were not the only marked ¢lassified documents in
My, Biden's garvage. FBl agents alzo found boxes containing ovganized filex related to
several international trips Mr. Biden took as a young zenator in the late 1970s°%
Like the 2009 debate over the troop =urge 1n Afghanistan, Mr. Biden viewed these
trips as seminal episodes in his public Hife. Indeed. in his 2007 memotr Promises to
Keep: On Life and Politics. Mr. Biden described these trips as historic and formative
experiences that prepared him for the presidency.-0¢

Ar oxplained below. some of the documents in these files were marked
claxsified. though. because of the passage of time, we do not know whether Ay, Biden
willfullv retained the classified documents or consulted them when writing the book.

I. Ix 2023, THE FBI Founp FILkEsS RELATED TO THE TRIPS CHRONICLED IN
PrOMISES 10 KEEP IN MR. BIDEN'S DELAWARE GARAGE

During the January 2023 scarch of Mr. Biden's Delaware garage. FBI agents
recovered boxes labeled “International Travel 1973-19797 and “Foreign Travel. 9
Agents found these boxes in a storage closet. in the same garage where thev found

the box containing the classified Afghanistan documents. as shown below. 0%

U kvidence items 1B1T. 1B18.

U Joseph R. Biden PROMISES TO KERP: ON LIFE AND POiLITICS (Random House Trade
Paperback ed. 2008},

7 Fvrdence items TB17. 1B 1S,

S EBI Serials 30, 77 1ASG,
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Storage closet containing
Senate documents

_ A i 4 = -
Afghanistan documents IL U8 = > ] o e # {

Garage box and storage closet in Mr. Biden’s Delaware gar:dge (Dec. 21, 2022)79

710

Interior of Mr. Biden’s garage storage closet containing Senate documents {Jan. 20, 2023)

709 20221221_ERT 0013; FBI Serial 35 1A42.
710 20230120_FBI_00564; 20230120_FBI_0058; FBI Serial 35 1A42.
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Like the hox containing the classified Afghanistan documents, these boxes
contained files and documents related to Mr. Biden's foreign policy experience and
expertise— namely, organized files documenting his official foreign travel, including
tr1ps to the Soviet Union, West Germany, and Yugoslavia that he wrote about m his
first book.71! The files contained handwritten notes, briefing materials, and travel
itineraries related to the trips. 7t
1.  PROMISES TO KEEP

In 2007. My, Biden published a memoir titled Promises to Keep: On Life and
Politics. As with his later book, Mr. Biden hired Zwonitzer as a ghostwriter.”1?
Written 1n anticipation of Mr. Biden's run for president in 2008, Promises to Keep
covered his life and political career from his childhood through his final vears in the
Senate.

In Promises to Keep. Mr. Biden discussed several international trips he took as
# voung senator in the late 1970s. including a congressional delegation to the Soviet
Union where he met with the Soviet Premier, a trip 1o West Germany where he met
with the Chancellor, and a wrip to Yugoslavia, where he represented the United States
al the =tate funeral of a Yugoslavian leader.7!¢

According to Zwonitzer, he and Mr. Biden included these anecdotes to show
how then-Senator Biden gained experience in foreign policy "not just learning by

being a staff member but by literally sitting across the table from people like [the

T Biden, PROMISES TO KERP 132 1 13, 2148 Eyvidence items 184, 1B17. 1B18.
Y2 Evidence items TB17. 1318,

U Biden. PROMISES TO KEED 366: Zwonitzer 7731723 Ty at 31-35.

“HBiden, PROMISES TO KEER 132, 142-13. 218-52.

172



Soviet Minister of Foreign Affairs].” % During a rvecorded interview with Zwonitzer.
Mr. Biden explained that during these international trips. he learned the importance
of foreign policy experience and that “[i]t matters what kind of personal relationships
and rapport vou can cstablish with foreign leaders<.” 7% Mr. Biden =aid that when he
later considered a presidential run, he "was never worried . . . whether I could sit
across [from] [Soviet President Leonid] Brezhnev or sit across from [British Prime
Minister Margaret] Thatcher . . . or [that I would] sit there and be intimidated.™™ 1

Promises to Keep put these anecdotes in a similar context. In discussing his
decision to run for president in 1988, for example. Mr. Biden wrote that despite hix
relative vouth. he felt he "measured up™ to the other candidares m part due to his
foreign policy experience:

I was just forty-two vears old. but after a decade on the Scnate Foreign

Relations Committiee and nearly that long on the Scenate Select

Committee on Intelligence, 1T knew the world and America’s place n it

in a way few politicians did. My education in foreign affairs wasn't just

the time spent in committee hearings but in traveling the world and

meeting leaders. 7%
I1I. FOREIGN TRIPS CHRONICLED IN PROMISES TO KEEP

A. Mr, Biden’s 1979 trip to Yugoslavia

One of the trips Mr. Biden wrote about was his 1979 tnp to Yugoslavia to
represent the United States at the state funeral of a Yugoslavian political leader. Mr.

Biden deseribed the trip as “a strange kind of awakening for me.”"'? He made the trip

U Zwanitzer 7431423 Tr. at 16-47.

16 1978-race.doc at 18, Zwonlitzer-00009492.
171988 doc at 10, Zwonitzer-00009.159.

¥ Biden., PROMISES TO KEEP 143,

T fA at 248,



with Averell Harriman. one of America’s most distinguished diplomats. who
“adopted” My, Biden and served as his “own personal tutor. 20 During the trip. Mr.
Biden and Harriman had a private meeting with longtime Yugoslavian president and
World War I hero Josip Broz Tito."2! My, Biden called the mecting "remarkable.” an
opportunity to be in the room with “the last two living men who remembered” the
Yalta Conference at the end of World War 17,722

B. Myr. Biden’s 1979 congressional delegation to the Soviet Union

Elsewhere in the book. My, Biden wrote that he observed rhe benefits of divect
engagement with foreign leaders during a congressional delegation he led to the
Soviet Union in 1979. The purpose of the trip was to discuss arms contrel and the
SALT IT strategic nuclear arms limitations agreement. ?% In Pronitses to Keep. My,
Biden described how he “gained the grudging respect” of his Russian counterpart
during a frank and sometimes tense face-ro-face meeting with the Soviet Premier.
where Mr. Biden also met President Leonid Brezhney 72!

Mr. Biden also sought to put the trip in the larger context of his foreign poliey
expertize and political ambitions. As the 1988 presidential election approached. My,
Biden explained, "1t was becoming clear that the new Soviet leader. Mikhail

Gorbachev, was looking for a partner to write the end to the Cold War. And there

=0 Biden, PROMISES TO KEEDP 248,
T at 248 250-52,

S id o ar 251,

"L ar 113-15.

=,
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For example. the “International Travel 1973-19797 box contained files related
to the congressional delegation that My, Biden led to the Soviet Union in 19797
Inside the files were more than a dozen folders devoted to aspects of the trip.
including Mr. Biden's travel itinerarvy. handwritten notes. letters. and briefing
material. 3

The files also contained documeoents marked as classified. For example. a folder
labeled "Senator Biden™ stored several documents. including background information
ahout Soviel officials. 32 These documents were mavked "CONFIDENTIAL® and
"CONFIDENTIAL NOFORN  [not vreleasable to foreign nationals]. " The
ntelligence community has determined that these documents are curvently classified
at the Secret level, 4!

The box also contained a file related to My, Biden's 1979 trip to Yugoslavia.
A note on the front page indicates that the file consists of a "reproduction of the
contents of [Mr. Biden's] Yugoslavia file."% The file contained documents marked

—

“(Classified” and “Confidential” as well as 8 memo marked "SECRET."" The

i Jovidencee item 1318,

S

2 [d. Recovered documents D11-1319.

=5 Reeovered documents D11-1D19.

“EBRI Serial 676: Recovered doclunents D11-D19. The veason for the change is that
the velevant intelligence ageney noe longer uses the designation “Conlidential.” Information
that was previoushy elassified as “Confidential” 1s now classified as “Secret”

-3 Recovered documents DO-£-DOG. folder labeled "Yugoslavia.”

O Estdenee ttem 1818,

T Recovered documents DOA-DO6G. folder labeled "Yugoslavia”
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mtelligence community has determined that these documents are classified at the

Seeret level. 733

We were imited 1n our ability to investigate these documents because of the
significant passage of time since their creation. Although we cannot prove that My,
Biden retamed these classified documents willfully or used them in wiiting Promises
to Keep. he did write about the foreign trips that were the subject of the documents.
And like the classified Afghanistan documents, the classified files in Mr. Biden's
garage relating to the trips discussed in Promuises To Keep were part of a lavger set of
materials 1in My, Biden's home chronicling his experiences and achievements,

particularly in foreign poliey.

i FPBI Serial 676.



CHAPTER NINE
LEGAL STANDARDS

Our investigation focused on the “possible unauthorized removal and retention
of classified documents or other records discovered at the” Penn Biden Center. the
University of Delaware. and Mr. Biden's personal residences." The crimmal
statutory provizion that best firs the facts of our investigation 1s 18 U.S.C. § 793(e). a
section of the Kspionage Act that proscribes unauthorized vetention and disclosure of
national defense information. The law governing that crime is discussed below 1n
sections I and [1. We discuss other criminal prohibitions. and why theyv do not apply.
in section 111
I. UNAUTHORIZED RETENTION OF NATIONAL DEFENSE INFORMATION

To prove unauthorized retention of national defense information undey
18 U7.S.C. § 793(e) the government must =how: (1) the defendant had unauthorized
possesaion of a document. writing. or note: (2) the document. writing, or note related
to the natonal defense: and (3) the defendant willfully retamed the document.
writing. or note and failed to dehiver it to an emplovee or officer entitled to receive

TR

0 Office of the Attorney General. Order No. 5388-2023. Appointment of Roberr K.
Hur as Special Counsel tJanuary 12, 2023).

0 See [United States v, Rosen, 115 17, Supp. 2d 602, 823-26 (K1}, \'a. 2006). aniended,
Ovrder. No. 1:05-cr-225, 2006 WL 5019151 (.1 Va_ Aug. 16. 2006): Couwrt's Instruction to the
Jury at 19, Dnited States vo Brown, Noo 21-cr-318 (M D, Fla. Dee. 12, 2022), ECE No. 304
Government's Proposed Juvy Instruetions at 18, {nited States . Sterling, No. 1:10-cr-185
(KD Va, Oct. 11, 20110, ECE No. 258 Final Jury Instructions at 1L United States v, Ford.
No. 05-cr-235 (13 Mdo.
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A. Unauthorized possession

The Espionage Act does not define "unauthorized possession.” but courls in
recent decades have construed that language and a related phrase in the same statute
{"entitled to receive”) by referencing the execurive order governing the handling of
classified information 1n effect at the time of the conduct.™! Ax explained 1n Chapter
One. under that exccutive order a private eitizen's access to classified information is
authorized only if he or she recelves a favorable eligibility determination. signs an
approved non-disclosure agreement, and has a need to know the information or
obtains a formal waiver of that requirement.”? Classified information must also be
kept in approved and secure storage containers.” "

By implication from the exception in § 4.4 of the exccutive order, the

restrictions on access to classified information in the order appear to govern a former

T United States o Morizgon, 3 LLE 2d 1057, 1075 ¢hth Cirs 19881 (construing governing
oxecutive order and holding. "the words ‘entitled to receive” in |18 US.0C. § 793(cd) and (¢)] ean
be limited and clarified by the Classification Regulations . .. 7 Rosen, -£45 Y. Supp. 2d at
622 "the rule regularing who is “entitled to receive’ is the Executive Order setting forth a
uniform classification system for national security information™): see also United Stafes v
Hung, 629 F.2d 908, 919 n. 10 (4th Cir. 1980) ("The trial judge provided adequate content for
unauthorized possession’] by advicing the jury that a person would have aurhorized
possession if he had an appropriate sccurity clearance and if he gained aceess to the document
hecause 1t was necessary to the performance of his official duties.”). Jury instructions in
Espionage Act cases have generallv mirrored the executive order’s regquirements for gccess to
classified information by defining unauthorized possession to mean that the possessor lacks
a security clearance. lacks a need to know . or removes the information from its propoer storage
location See Final Jury Instructions at 13, Ford. No. 05-cr-235: Government's Proposed Jury
[nstructions at 10, Sterling. No. 1:10-cr- 185, ECE No. 258: Transcript of Jury Instructions at
19.1. United States v, Morison {"An individual has unauthorized possession of documents and
writings when he possesses those under eircumstances or in a location which 1s contrary to
law or regulation for the conditions of his emplovment.”).

12 Executive Order 13526 §§ 1.1(a), 4.1

B 1d§ 1 1) see 32 CLF R, §§ 2001.43(b} 1) and (2), 2001.53; Office of the Director of
Natonal Tatelligence, Intelligence Community Dirvective 705.
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vice president. which Mr, Biden was between January 2017 and January 20211
Under the exccutive order’s provizions, a former vice president (or former president)
may receive a waiver of the need-to-know requirement. but only if a senior official of
the agencey that originated the classified information “determines 1n writing that
access 18 consistent with the interest of national security” and “takes appropriate
steps to protect classified information from unauthorized disclosure or compromise.
and ensuves that the information is safeguarded in a manner consistent with this
ovder[.["" 1

For all of the classified materials recovered during rhis investigation. after the
vice preswdency. Mr. Biden did not receive a written waiver of the need-to-know
regquirement. and no agency official made the findings required by the execcutive
order. Therefore. Mr. Biden's possession of those materials in unsecured spaces n his
home aftev hi= vice presidency was unauthortzed within the meaning of the
Esplonage Act. 16

The White House Counsel's Office and Mr. Biden's personal attorneys have
argucd to us that, despite these reguirements, the Presidential Records Act
authorizes a former president or vice president to keep classified maternals 1o
locations that are not approved for storage of classified mformation at home. as long

as those materals ave not defined as presidential records under the Act. Counsel note

S Executive Ovder 133268 L1

TSI §8 11, Lk Trump v Uniled States, No. 22-13005, 2022 WL 1366681, at *8.

W See Triemp v, Uniled States. No. 22-13006. 2022 W1, 1366684, at *8; Superseding
Indictiment ¥4 18-19, { ‘nifed States v. Trump, et al., No. 23-cr-80101 (8D Fla, Juls 27, 2024,
ECE No. 85,
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that the Presidential Records Act excludes personal records (which can include
diaries) from government ownership and preexisting White House guidance has
mterpreted the Act to exclude rough meeting notes from its definition of records.
Pointing to Mr. Reagan's treatment of his diaries contaming Top Secret/Sensitive
Compartmented Information (as discussed in Chaprer Ten). counsel contend that a
former president or vice president may lawfully retain written national defense
information provided it is not a presidential vecord under the Act and that My, Biden's
notehooks. like Mr. Reagan's diaries. are not presidential records.

The approach that the Department and courts have taken in Espilonage Aet
cazes ufter passage of the Presidential Records Act cuts against this view." " Courts
and the Department have determined whether possession of national defense
information is authorized principally based on the terms of the executive order. The
order specifically addresses and is the primary source of law governing access to such
mformation. in contrazt with rhe Presidential Records Act. which mentions classified
material m just one irrelevant provision."'® The executive order’s restrictions on
access to classified information also appear to apply to former presidents and vice

presidents. ¥ We thercefore decline to adopt the argument that compliance with the

R g Trump v. United States, No. 22-13005, 2022 WL, 1366681, at *8: Superseding
Indictment Y 18-19, Uniied Staies v. Trumyp, No. 23-cr-80101. ECEF No. 85.

"8 See 14 U.S.C, § 2204(a)(1)(A).

T See nnl 711446 abave,
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Presidential Records Act authorizes former presidents and vice prexidents to retain
national defense information in unzecured and unapproved locations. ¢

As explained in Chapters Ten. Twelve. and Thirteen, we do consider the
historical practices of former presidents and vice presidents—including Mr. Reagan's

treatment of his diarles—when evaluating whether Mr. Biden acted willfully and
when weighing the factors set forth in the Principles of Federal Prosecution.

B. Related to the national defense

The Kspionage Act. including Section 793(e). 12 concerned with “information
relating to the national defense.” which is distinet from but related to the term
“classified information.” ™ "Classified information” is defined by the exccutive order
as imformation whose "unauthorized discloswre could reasonably be expected to cause
identifiable or deseribable damage to the national sccurity [L]7752 Information relating
to the national defense (often reforred to as "national defense information™) 12 not
defined in the Espionage Act and so its meaning has been construed by courts. As the
Supreme Court held in the seminal case Gorin v United States. "national defense 11

w

a “generic concept of broad connotations, referring to military and naval

5 Additionally, the Presidential Records Aet makes no menticn of the relevant
criminal statutes and there iz no conflict between the Act and those ciminal laws. See
Carcieri v, Salazar. 555 U8, 379, 395 (2009) ("Absent a clearly expressed congressional
intention. an implied repeal will only be found where provisions in two statutes are In
irreconcilable conflict, or where the latter Act covers the whole subjeer of the earlicr one and
s clearly intended as a substiture.”) (cleanced up).

S Compeare 18 US.Co § 793 (concerning information “relating to the national
defense™. with 18 U.S.C. § 1921 (concerning “classified information of the United States”
which 1g statutorily defined as “information originated. owned. or possessed by the United
States Government concerning the national defense or foreign relations of the United States
that has been determined pursuant to law or Executive order to require protection against
unauthorized disclosure in the interests of national secuvity)™).

U Executive Ovder 13526 §§ 1.2, 1oL 61410,
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establishments and the related activities of national preparedness.” ™ It includes "all
matters directly and reasonably connected with the defense of our nation against 1ts
enemies,” 9!

Information relating to the national defense must be “closely held” and not
lawfully "made public” or "available to the general public.” % But *[t]he meve fact that
similar but unofficial information is publicly available does not automatically remove
information in closely-held documents from the realm of mational defense’

In determining whether information relates to the national defense under the

Espionage Act. the fact that the information 1s classified i3 neither sufficient nor

necessary. but it 12 “highiv probative” evidence. 5"

¥ Garin v United Siates. 312 U8, 19 28 (19417,

S Id at 300 see {ndled States v Drvmmond, 354 .24 132, 151-52 (2d. Cir. 1965)
(applying Gorin definition to 18 U.S.C. § 794 and finding jury instructions “more than ample”
where distriet court instructed jury to consider documents as well as restimony about their
content and significance to determine whether standard was met).

5 Morison. 841 F.2d at 1071-72: see also [Hung, 629 F.2d at 918 n.9 (publicly available
information not national defense information under the Espionage Act): Uniled Stafes .
Dedevan, 548 11.2d 36, 39-40 (1th Cir. 1978) (affirming jury instruction for Section 793(f)
stating information did pot relate to the national defense if it was "made pubhic [by the
government andf . . . is found In sources lawfully available to the gencral public” or if
government “made no effort to guard such information™),

S Tniled States v Squillacote, 221 Fo3d 542,559 (rh Cir, 2000,

T Rosen, 140 F. Supp. 2d at 623, Jury instructions follow this principle. E.g.. Jury
Charge at 22-23, {niled Siates v. Schulte, No. 17-cr-348 (S.D.N Y. July 8, 2022), ECF No. 879
(“In determining whether material 1s ‘closely held.” you may consider whether i1t has been
classified by appropriate authoritics and whether it remained classified on the date or dates
pertinent . . . [ caution vou that the mere fact that information is classitied does not mean
that the information qualifies as NDIL.™}: Court's Instructions to the Jury at 20, Brown, No.
21-cr-348, ECF No. 304 (same); Government's Proposed Jury [nstructions at 44, Sterling. No.
1:10-cr-485, ECE No. 258 (*[Y]ou are to determine whether certain information in this case
was national defense information. That is not the same 4s ‘classified information.” However.
vou may consider the fact that information was classified in determining whether the
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C. Willfully retains

Finally, the government must prove that a defendant willfully retained the
material and failed to deliver it to an officer or emplovee “entitled to receive” the
information. The statute does not define who is “entitled to receive” the information.
s0 again. courts have looked to the governing rules concerning the handling of
classified materials, primarily the executive order.”™ Generally. those entitled 1o
receive the information arve people with the requisite security clearance and the need
to know 73

Willfulness 12 a heightened mens rea. which as articulated by the Supreme
Court mm Bryan v. United States. reguires proof "that the defendant acted with
knowledge that his conduct was unlawful.""60 Under the Esplonage Act. an act 1s
willful when ~it 1= done voluntarily and intentionally and with the apecific intent to
do something that the law forbids, That is to say. with a bad purposze either to disohey

or to disregard the law. "% While willlulness requires proving an intent to disobeyv

information at issue was national defense information.”y: FFinal Jury Instructions at 16, Ford.
Now 05-¢-235 (UIn determining whether material 1s closely held.” vou may constder whether
it has been classified by appropriate authorities and whether it remained classified on the

date or dates pertinent . 7).
8 Morison. 844 Fo2d at 1075 (the words entitled to vecetve in [18 U.5.C0 § 793(d
and (e)] can be limted and clarified by the Classification Regulations ... ") Rosen. L5 T

Supp. 2d ar 622 "the rule regulating who 1s entitled to veceive 1s the Executive Order setting
forth a uniform classification svstem for national security information™),

3 Rosen. 110 F. Supp. 2d ar 622.23

W0 Brvan v Uncted States, 524 ULS. 181, 191-92 (1998); accord Ralzlal . United
States, 310 U8, 135, 136-37 (1990 United States v. Bursev, 116 F.3d 301, 308-09 (4th Cir.
2003).

B Moreson. 841 F.2d at 1071: aecord Court's Instructions to the Jury at 22, Brown.
No. 21-cr-348. 15CF No. 306 Government's Proposed Jury Instructions at 15, Sterling. No.
I:10-cr- 185, KCF No. 238; Final Jury Instructions at 1 Ford. No. 08-cr-235.
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the law. courts have applied Bryan's standard of "simple willfulness™ to Section 793(e)
and rejected any need for the government to prove an intent to cause harm 762

Accordingly. to prove a violation of Section 793(e) we would need to show that
Mr. Biden knowingly retained national defense information and failed to deliver 1t to
an appropriate government official, and that he knew this conduct was unlawful. As
discussed in more detail below, because of the interrelation between "national defense
information” and “classified mformation.” when evaluating a porential Section 793(e)
charge. the Department considers whether the information the person possessed was
clazsified and whether the person knew 1t was classified.
11. UNAUTHORIZED DISCLOSURE OF NATIONAL DEFENSE INFORMATION

Section 793(e)  also prohibits the willful communication. delivery., or
transmission of national defense mmformation to a person not entitled to receive it.
The first two elements, unauthorized possession and relating to the national defense.
are tdentical to those addressed above in sections LA and 1.B. The element of willful

disclosure to a person not entitled to receive 1s addressed below.

2 United States v, Hitselberger, 991 F. Supp. 2d 101, 107-08 (D.D.C. Dee. 3, 2013)
(applving Bryvan's willfulness standard to Section 793(c) and explaining “the core of "willful’
misconduct is to act with the knowledge or intent to disregard the law, not an evil intent to
ijurce the United States™); United States v. Drake, 818 F. Supp. 2d 909, 918 (D Md. 2011)
(applving Sryan’s willfulness standard to Section 793(e) and noting the definition is
consistent with Fourth Cireuit precedent predating Bryvan); see also {'nited States v. Kim.
808 1. Supp. 2d 44, 5341 (D.D.C 201D (applving Bryan's willfulness standard to Section
T93(d)).
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A, Willfully communicates, delivers, or transmits to a person not
entitled to receive

Just ax with retention. disclosure under Section 793(e) requires that the
defendant act willfullv—that is, with the intent to do something the law forbids. 767 A
person 1g not entitled to receive national defense information if he or she lacks a need
to know and an appropriate clearvance as required by the executive order. 6

For an oral disclosure of information (as opposed to the disclosure of a classified
document). the government must also prove that “the possessor has reason to believe
[the information] could be used to the injury of the Unired States or 1o the advantage
of anv foreign nation.”"% Accordingly. to establish that Mr. Biden violated Section
793(c) when he read mformation from his notebooks to his ghostwriter, we would
need to prove that he acted with an intent to violate the law and had reason to believe
the mmformation he disclosed could be used to harm the United States or benefit a

foreign nation.

T Rosen. 115 FoSupp. 2d ar 625-20 (applving willfulness standard 1o disclosure under
Sections T93d) and T93(e)).

i See nn.T08-59 above: Chapter One.

w8 US.Co§ 793(e): Rosen, 1D F. Supp. 2d at 625-26 (when dizsclosure involves
intangible information government must prove this “additional and significant sclenter
requirement’ that is analogous to bad faith. but this requirement does not apply in insrances
where the disclosure 1s through a tangible medium such as a document): aeeord Drake. 818
. Supp. 2d at 917 ("Section 793(¢) provides for different scienter requivements depending on
the character of the national defense tem or data that a defendant 15 charged with
possessing. In casex like this one. involving documents, the defendant need only have acted
willfully, as a defendant will more readily recognize a document relating to the national
deflense based on its content. mavkings or design than it would intangible or oval ‘information’
that may not share such attributes.”).
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III. OTHER CRIMINAL PROVISIONS

A, Other Espionage Act provisions

The other provisions of the Espionage Act do not fit the facts of this case,
Subsections (a). (b), and (¢} of Section 793 are facially inapplicable because at no point
did we find evidence that Mr. Biden mtended or had reason to believe the information
would be used to injure the United States or to benefit a foreign nation. which is a
requirement of those subsections, % Subsection (d} also does not appiv, because it
reguires a failure to deliver materials on demand. and when asked to return any
classified materials from his vice presideney. Mr. Biden consented to searches and
returned all potentially classified materials that were discovered. 9

Among other reasons, Section 793(f) does not fit because that subsection
requires removal of national defense information from “its proper place of custody”™
by a person who has lawiul possession. That is a difficult requirement to apply here
because presidents and vice presidents are generally permitted to retain classified
information at their residences while in office. Because Section 793(f) can only be
violated when Mr, Biden had lawful possession (i.e. when he was vice president) any
removal of classified information would have occurred while Mr. Biden was still vice

president, when that conduct was not proscribed by the executive order 1ssued

e 18 US.C0§ 793(a) requires acting “for the purpose of obtaining information
respecting the national defense with intent or reason to believe that the information is Lo be
used to the injury of the United States, or to the advantage of any foreign nation.” Subsections
{b) and {c) incorporate this requirement by reference to “the purpose aforesaid.”

w18 ULS.C§ 793(d) eriminalizes conduct where the defendant “fails to deliver [the
national defense information] on demand to the officer or emplovee of the United States
entitled to receive it
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pursuant to the president’s authority to control national security information. it is at
least arguable that as vice president. My, Biden could not have removed national
defense mnformation “from its proper place of custody.” as the statute requires.
because his home and other locations werve proper places of custody during his time
in office. In any case. interpreting Section 793(0) to apply to a sitting vice president's
conduct 1 that context would raise sigmificant separation of powers concerns, 6%
Where such concerns exist. the Supreme Court and the Department of Justice have
declined to mterpret statutes as applving to the president ' or vice president

absent elear statutory text.

B Tnited States v United States Thsiriet Conrte 107 UUS0 297, 310 (1972) (President
“has the fundamental duty, under Avt. 11§ 1. of the Constitution. to ‘preserve, protect and
defend the Constitution of the United States ™) Disclosure of Grand Jury Material (o the
Intelligence Commupenity. 21 Op. O.1.C 159, 172119973 The Constitution vests the President
with responsibility over all matters within rhe executive branch that bear on nartional defense
and foreign affairs including rhe collection and dissemination ol national security
imformation.”).

W See Franldin oo Massachusetts. 5305 US. 788 800-01 (1992) (out of respeet for
separation of powers, “|wle would require an express statement by Congress” before applying
the Administrative Procedure Act to the presidenty: The Constitutional Sepaialion of Powers
Betreeen the President and Congress. 20 Op. 0.1.C. 121 178 (1996) ("plain statemoent rule” 1s
rooted 1 principles of eonstitutional avoidance and separation of powers): Application of
Consumer Credit Reporting Reform Act of 1996 to Presidential Nomination and Appoinfment
Process. 21 Op. OLLC. 211 21101997 Tt 1s a well settled principle of law. applied [requently
by both the Supreme Court and the executive branch. that statutes that do not expressly
apply to the President must be construed as not applyving to him if such application would
involve a possible confliet with his constitutional prevogatives.”y: Application of 28 U.5.C
¥ 438 fo Presidential Appointments of Federal Judges. 19 Op. O.L.C. 3300 351-53 (19953)
(articulaning the “well-settled principle that statutes that do not expressly apply to the
President must be construed as not applving to the President 1f such application would
involve a possible conflict with the President's constitutional prerogatives'),

" The Executive power is vested in the president. US. CONST. art. [1§ 1. and the vice
president has limited constitutionally enumerated functions, U8, CONST. art. | § 3. amends
NI XX XXV (viee president's constitutional duties include serving as president of the
Senate. opening the certified votes from eleclors for rhe president and vice president. and
duties related to the death. disqualilication. or inability of rhe president). Thus. o could be
argued that the separation of powers concerns giving rise to the express statement rule are
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B. Unauthorized removal of classified materials

We also considered the applicability of 18 U.S.C. § 1924, which criminalizes
the unauthorized removal of classified material by an officer. emplovee, contractor.
or consultant of the United States. In addition to concerns about the statute's five-
vear Hmitations period. ! the statute’s text suggests that it should not apply to the
conduct of a sitting president or vice president.

First. the statute requirves removal “without authority.” and when My, Biden
war vice president he was authorized to take and keep classified materials at his
private vesidences, Because any act of removal must have occurred when Mr. Biden
was vice president. 1t was arguably done with authority,

Second. the statute does not explicitly apply to a president or vice president.
and given the significant separation of powers concerns that would result from the
statute’s application to a sitting president or vice president. the express statement

rule cautions against construing the statute to apply.™'2

less applicable to the vice president. See Mem. from Laurence H. Silberman. Dep. Att'y Gen..
[or Richard T. Burress, Office of the President, Re: Confliet of Inferest Problems Arising ont
af the President’s Nomination of Nelson A. Rockefeller to be Vice President under the Tiwenty-
Fifth Amendment to the Constitiution. at 2 (Aug. 28, 197.1). Nonetheless, given that the vice
president is an elected constitutional officer who 15 regularly delegated significant executive
duties, the Department of Justice has long applied the express statement rule to vice
presidents. Whether the Office of the Vice President ts an "Agency” for Purposes of the Ireedom
of Information Act, 18 Op. O.L.C. 10, 11 (1994) (“Because the Vice President is also a
constitutional officer, the same ‘express statement’ rule should apply” (citation omitted) in
the context of determining whether the Freedom of Tnformation Act applies to the Office of
the Vice President.); Conflict of Interest Problems, at 5-6 (concluding that a federal conflict-
of-interest statute does not apply to either the president or vice president beeause “[ift would
be strange for Congress to subject the President and the Vice President to possible criminal
prosceution without naming them exphcitly ... .7).

118 U.S.C. § 5282.

72 See nn. 768-70 above.
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Finally. beeause Section 1924 requires that a defendant "knowingly remove[d]”
classified information "withouwt authority and with the intent to retain [it] at an
unauthorized location,” a prosecution under this statute would face many of the same
evidentiary hurdles discussed in Chapters Eleven and Twelve.

C. Removing, concealing, or destroying a government record

Title 18 U.S.C. §2071 criminalizes vemoving., concealing. or destroyving
government records. While there is scant case law, most courts that have addressed
the statute’s elements have required prool that the defendant deprived. or attempted
to deprive. the government of its ability to use a given record.”  We found no evidence
that the government was deprived of the use of any of the materials recovered during
this mmvestigation or that Mr. Biden acted with the intent to deprive the government
of any record. In fact. no one in the government scems to have noticed that any
classified materals were missing at any point {rom the rime My, Biden left office on

January 20, 2017, until marked classified documents were found at the Penn Biden

T U ndbed States v Hitselberger, 991 F. Supp 2d 108, 122-21(D.D.C. March 5. 201 1)
(analvying case¢ law and concluding “the government will need ro prove that [the defendant]
obliterated information from the public vecovd™y: United States o0 Rosner. 352 F. Supp. 915.
921 (S D.NY 1972 [ adted States oo Novtl, TO8 F.Supp. 364 369 0.3 (. D.C. 1988): accord
United States o, Poindexter, 725 F. Supp. 13, 20 (D.D.C. 1989} ("The obvious purpose of the
statute 1% to prohibit the impairment of sensirive government documents . .7y Melneruey
vo Dndied States, 113 F. 7290 730-31 (1st Cie, 1906y (Section 20715 predecessor statute was
“enacted for the purpose of proteeting records. papers. and proceedings of courts of justice,
and papers, documents. and records filed or deposited in the public offices of the federal
government’y: Cuited States oo De Groet, 30 F. 7640 765 (1212 Mich. 18873 (the “essential
element” of Scction 20718 predecessor statute was “the specifie intent to destvoy them as
records of a public office: or in other words. to abliterate or conceal them as evidence of that
which constitutes their value as public records. or to destroy or impair theiv legal effect or
uselulness ax a vecord of our governmental affaivs . ) but see {nited Slates ¢, Lang. 361
FF.3d 12100 1221-22 (10th Cir. 2001 (finding that “a copy of a government record itself
functions as a vecord for purposes of § 20717, cort. granted, rev’d on other grounds, 313 U S,
1108 (2003). and oprnion rernstated (n pard, 105 F.3d 1060 (10th Cir. 2005).
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Center on November 2, 2022, It 1s therefore unhikely we could prove deprivation,
Section 2071 also requires proof of willfulness. a heightened mens rea discussed above
n sections LLC. 1LA And so even putting aside the issue of deprivation, any Section

2071 charge would fail for the same reasons discussed in Chapters Eleven and

Twelve.
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CHAPTER TEN
HisTORICAL BACKGROUND

1. HISTORICALLY, FORMER PRESIDENTS AND VICE PRESIDENTS TREATED ALL
RECORDS AS PERSONAL PROPERTY

For most of our nation’s history. presidents and vice presidents treated all
records from their rexpective administrations—including records relating to issues of
national securitv—as personal property that they took with them upon leaving
office. ™! A congressionally commissioned study found in 1977 that. when leaving
office. past presidents routmely took national sccurity files including “briefing
materials for the President. records of negotiations with foreign governments.
correspondence with foreign heads of state or governments, [and] correspondence

The practice of outgoing president= and vice presidents vetaining their records
was reconsidered in the 1970s culminating in the passage of the Presidential Records

Act in 1978776 The Act provides that all "Presidential records”—documents created

TV See Nixon v United States, 978 F.2d 1269, 1270 (D.C. Cie. 1992) (remavking upon
the “long and unbroken history relating to the use. control. and disposition of presidential
papers” and concluding “that Mr. Nixon. like every President before him. had a4 compensable
property mterest 1n his presidential papers™): Title to Presidential Papers—Subpoencs, 13
Op. Atty Gen. 11. 11 (1971 (former presidents’ ownership of materials from their
administration was a matter of "almost unvaried understanding of all three branches of the
Government since the beginning of the Republic™): FINAL REPORT OF THIE NATIONAL STUDY
COMAMISSION ON RECORDS AND DOCUMENTS OF FEDERAL OFFICIALS at 16 (March 31, 1977
"The papers of Viee Presidents of the United States have traditionally heen disposed of in
the same manner as Presidential papers: that 1s, Vice Presidents have removed them when
thev left office.”).

SO FINAL REPORT OF THE NATIONAL STUDY COAMISSION ar 13-15.

i Before the Presidential Recorvdinegs and Matevials Preservarion Act of 1971 which
applied only to former Prestdent Nixon, “Presidents exeveised complete dominion and control

() Ranlian

over their presidential paper<” Nivon, 978 ¥.2d at 1277 “In 1978, Congress prospectively
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or received by the president or his staff to assist or advise him in carrying out his
official duties —helong to the government.”’ In contrast. “[plersonal records” remain
the property of the former officecholder.

The Act defines "personal records™ to mean “all documentary materials, or any
reasonably segregable portion thereof, of a purely private or nonpublic character
which do not relate to or have an effect upon the carrving out of the constitutional.
statutory. or other official or ceremonial dutics of the President. 7" Such personal
records include “diaries, journals, or other personal notes serving as the functional
cquivalent of a diary or journal which arc not prepared ov utihized for, ov cireulated
or communicated in the course of. transacting Government husiness, ¢

While the Presidential Records Act marked a turning point in the treatment of
preswdential materials, as discussed in Chapter Nine, the Act does not exempt former
presidents and vice prestdents from specific prohibitions on removing. retaining.
lorxing. or disclosing classified and national defense information. !

After the Act's passage. at least one former president. President Reagan, left
office with his presidential diaries, which conrained classified information. and stored
those diaries at his private home. The Department of Justice, the National Archives.

and others knew that President Reagan treated his diaries (containing classified

abolished presidential ownership of White House materials with the Presidential Records
Aot d at 1277 n 10

a4 ULS.CL 8§ 2201-02,

oHId. 88 2201-03; Nixon, 978 F.2d at 1277 n. 19,

94 US.C. §§ 2201(3).

TR ]Uf

"1 See Executive Order 13526 §§ 4.1 4.4; 18 U.S.C § 793.
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information) as personal property. but no agency took action to recover the classified
materials or to investigate or prosecute the former president.
I1. THE REAGAN DIARIES

The first president subject to the Presidential Records Act, Mr. Reagan kept a
diary in which he wrote an entry nearly each day while he served as president.™s= His
diaries contained information that was classified up to Top Secret/Sensitive
Compartmented Information level. and remained so until 2007 or later. vears after
Mr. Reaguan died. My, Reagan took all five volumes of his diaries home with him when
he left office. and at that time. 1t was known to the Department of Justice. the Iran-
Contra Independent Counsel. and the National Archives that (1) Mr. Reagan's diaries
contained Top Sceret classified mformation. and (2) Mr. Reagan treated his diaries

as personal property that was not in the National Archives possession. ™ The

2 Ronald Reagan. THE REAGAN DIARIES ix (Douglas Brinkley ed., First Harper
Perenmal Kd. 2009).

% Other former presidents kept diavies or journals that thev took with rhem after
theyv left office. I"or example. President George H. W. Bush regularly kepr a dictated diary
thal was later quoted extensively in published works. interview by George W. Bush with Jon
Meacham.  Author, DESTINY  AND  POWER,  (Nov. 8. 2015). httpsi/iwww.c-
span.org/video/? 10001 1.2/destiny-power;  JON  MEACHAM. DESTINY  AxD PoweR: THE
AMERICAN ODYSSEY OF GEORGE HERBERT WALKER BUSH (Kindle ed. 2015); George H. W,
Bush & Brent Scoweroft, A WORLD TRANSFORMED (First Vintage Books ed. 1999). President
Carter also kept a dictated diary that was typed up by his secretary and that he took with
him upon leaving office. Jimmy Carter. WHITE HOUSE DIARY «ii-xv (20100, My, Carter
published excerpts from that diarv—keeping the original, full version with him at his home
and transferring a copy to his presidential library. fd. While there 1s some reason to think
that the Bush and Carter diaries mayv have also contained classified information. the
historical record is clear that Mr. Reagan's diaries did and that relevant government entities
knew of Mr. Reagan’s possession of that material.

We also examined the practices of other former Presidents predating the Presidential
Records Act, but we werve unable to glean muach from that inguiry. Like the key statutory
provision, 18 U S.(0. § 793(¢). the modern classification system did not come into being until
the mid-20th centurv. See Cong. Research Serv.. The Protection of Classified Information:
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Department of Justice also repeatedly described the diaries in public court filings as
Mr. Reagan’s personal records !

Mr. Reagan’s personal possession of his diaries. and the fact that portions of
his diaries were classified up to the Top Secret level, was also known to the
Congress™ and the federal courts.™®% In the wake of the Iran-Contra affawr. Mr.
Reagan produced relevant excerpts from his diaries to various investigative bodies.
including congressional committees and the Independent Counsel.™ During the

Independent Counsel's prosecution of former National Security Adviser John

The Legal Framework 1 (updated Feb. 2. 2023). Two Presidents during this period died in
office (Franklin D. Roosevelt and John F. Kennedy), and several appear to have entercd
agreements while in office expressly contemplating their continued access to classified
information in their presidential papers after the end of their terms. See Letter for James B,
Rhoads and Robben W, Fleming from Gervald R. Ford. annex B, § 5(e)(vui}. (d). (g) (Dec. 13,
1976}, https:/www . fordlibrarvmuseum gov/ibrarv/forddeed asp: Letter for Lawson B. Knott.
Jr., from Landon B, Johnson, §§ 2(e)ii) & (e). 5 (Aug. 13, 1963). reprinted rn 111 Cong. Rec.
21661-62 (1965): Letter for Franklin Flocte from Dwight D. Eisenhower. §§ 5. 7(a). 8 (Apr.
13, 1960}, reprinted tn The “Public Documents Act™ Hearings on H.R. 16902 and Related
Legislation Before the Subcomm. on Printing of the H. Comm. on H. Admuin., 93d Cong.. 2d
Sess. 131 (1974). Nor were we able to find specific evidence that the Department of Justice
was contemporancously aware of anv instances where these earlier Presidents kept classified
materials without appropriate safeguards. For these and other reasons, what we have been
able to discern aboul the earlier history sheds little light on the question at hand and our
analysis focuses on the Reagan diaries as the most probative historical example.

B See, e.g., Memorandum in Support of Motion to Quash Subpoena to Archivist and
Statement of Interest by the Department of Justice at 5-6. United States . Poindexier, Crim.
No. 88-0080-01 (HHG) (D.D.C. Dec. 6, 1989) (DOJ Mot. to Quash in Poindexier).

85 Lawrence Walsh, FINAL REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT COUNSEL FOR TRAN/CONTEA
MATTERS: VOLUME TIE at 686 n.30 (1993) (*Access to the President’s relevant diary entries
was provided by the President to the Tower Commission, the Congressional Comnittees and
to the Independent Counsel, who reviewed them in 1987.7).

W6 Cnited States v, Poindexter, 732 F. Supp. 135, 137-41 (D.D.C. Jan. 30, 1990).

#H Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion by Former President
Ronald W. Reagan to Quash Subpoena at 32-33, United States . Poindexter, Crim. No. 88-
0080-01 (HHG) (D.D.C. Dec. 6. 1989 (Reagan Mot. to Quash in Pocndexter); David FE.
Rosenbaum, Reagan Will Allow Investigators to See Diary [tems on Iran Affair, N.Y. TIMES
(Apr. 9, 1987), httpsi//www.nytimes.com/1987/04/09world/reagan-will-allow-investigators-
to-see-diary-items-on-iran-aftair html.
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Poindexter, Poindexter sought My, Reagan's diary entries for purposes of his criminal
defense. ™ In numerous public filings and judicial opinions in 1989 and 1990 after
Mr, Reagan left office, the Department of Justice and the U.S. District Court both
acknowledged that Mr. Reagan’s diavies contained information that was classified.
including Top Secret information about sensitive matters. ™™

While this ltigation was ongoing. Mr. Reagan was a private citizen living in
California. where he kept his diaries at his private home. apparently outside of
facilities that were authorized to stove Top Scceret nformation.™ According to the
cditor of the published versions of Mr. Reagan’s diavies, "{flor several vears after their
return to California, the Reagans would often sit together in their den after dinner.
reading aloud from their diaries and reminiscing about their White House vears, 91
While it 15 unlikely that, after leaving office. Mr., Reagan's den was approved for the
storage of Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information. My, Reagan retamed
Secret Service protection at his home for the remainder of his life,"? Mr., Reagan

maintained the ability to receve and handle classified information after leaving the

3 Memorandum in Support of Motion to Quash Subpocena to Archivist and Statement
of Interest by the Department of Justice at 5-6, United States v Poindexter. Crim. No, 38-
0080-01 (HHG) (DOJ Mot. to Quash in Poindexter). Lawrence Walsh, Final Report of the
Independent Counsel for Iran/Contra Matiers: Volwme HEar 686 n.30 (1993).

ke, DOJ Mot. to Quash at 3-7. United States v, Poindexter. Crim. No. 88-0080-01
(HHG): Poindexter. 732 F. Supp. at 137-41,

M See Ronald Reagan, THE REAGAN DIARIES x (Douglas Brinkley ed.. First Harper
Perennial ed. 2009).

1l 1t 1s not elear that the Department of Justice knew, at the time of the Poindexter
litigation. how Mr. Reagan's diaries were stored, or who had aceess to them.

2 et of Sept. 15, 1965, Pub. L. No. 89-186, 79 Stat. 791 {1965) (codified as amended
at 18 U.S.C. § 3056); Former Reagan Official Tr. at 51-32 (Mr. Reagan's private residence
had Sccret Service protection that invelved converting portions of the home into Secret
Service Space. Former Reagan Official described the home as a “very tight secured 247
protected facility.™).
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White House. as he continued to receive national security briefings at his office space
located a few miles from his home, and he consulted with President George H. W,
Bush about foreign affairs.™* Notably. Sceret Service agents collected daily
intelligence briefing materials after Mr. Reagan had finished with them and ensured
that they were properly destroved. ™

The wider American public also knew of the existence of Mr. Reagan's diaries.
Indeed. the diaries served as sources for at least three publications that Mr. Reagan
or his representatives authorized: (1) An American  Life " My, Reagan’s
autobiography published in 1990: (2) Dutch, a biography authored by Edmund Morris
and published in 199979 and (3) The Reagan Diaries. a collection of the diaries
themselves fivst published 1n 2007 after My, Reagan's death. "™ Notably. An American
Life was being written during the Poindexter litigation™ and includes dozens of
verbatim quotations from Mr. Reagan's diarie=.™ And even ax early ax 1989, the
classified nature of My, Reagan's diaries was discernable to any member of the public

who read filings and opinions from the Poindexter litigation. 800

1 Former Reagan Official Tr. at 26-11.

e Idl‘

5 Ronald Reagan, AN AMERICAN LIFe (First Threshold trade paperback od. Jan.
2011).

6 Kdmund Morris, DUTCH (Random [House 1999).

97 Ronald Reagan, THE REAGAN DIARIES (Douglas Brinkley ed., First Harper
Perennial ed. 2009).

9% Robert Lindscy, GHOST SCRIBBLER: SEARCHING FOR REAGAN. BRANDO AND THIE
KING OF PoP, Chapter 37 (2d cd. 2014) (explaining that ghostwriter Robert Lindsey hegan
helping Mr. Reagan write the book after a March 1989 interview).

W g, Reagan, AN AMERICAN LIFE 445-47.

foo g, DO Mot. to Quash at 5-7, United Stales v, Poindexter, Crim. No. 88-0080-01
(HHG): Poindexter. 732 F. Supp. at 137-41.
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Mr. Reagan died in 2004501 In 2005, Nancy Reagan provided his diaries to the
Reagan Library.®? which is run by the National Archives, % zo that the diaries could
be publicly displaved ax part of the collection of My, Reagan's personal papers. 0 At
that time. the Archives worked with officials at the Natwonal Security Council to
identily  several pages of material that were still classified up to the Top
Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information level. Archives officials removed all
pages containing classified information from the diaries so theyv could be publicly
displaved.

Meanwhile. a historian reviewed the unelassified portions of Mr. Reagan's
diaries and compiled a collection of them for publication in 2007.%95 The Reagan
Diaries was a bestseller. % and a New York Times article from Mayv 2007 remarked
that “readers can get a retroactive sense of being in on some classified information. ™0

Today. anvone can view online the full set of My, Reagan's presidential diaries,

# Preas Release, The White House. Anrouncing the Deatl of Ronald Reagan (June 6.
200, httpsifigeorgewbush-whitchouse avchives.govinews/veleases/200.4/06/200-40606-

1. html.

2 Anna Bakalis, Library Gets First Loole af "Reagan Diaries” VO STAR (Mayv 20, 2007,
htips:/archive vestar.com/news/librarv-gets-first-look-at-reagan-diaries-cp-375630016-
302887911 html.

M Ronald Reagan Presidential Library & Musewm: About {'s. Ronald Reagan
Presidential Library & Museum, hotps/avww reaganhibrarv.gov/about-us (last visited Feb. 2,
202.1).

A Interview of Michael Duggan & Douglas Brinkley (Apr. 27, 2007} httpsi/ivww.c-
span.org/video/?198313-1/the-reagan-diarics#,

805 Anna Bakalis, Library Gets First Look at ‘Reagan Diaries” VO STAR (Mav 20. 2007},
hitps:farchive vestar.com/mnews/hbrarv-gets-first-look-at-reagan-diaries-ep-3756.30016-
352887911 . html.

806 BREST  SELLERS:  July 29, 2007 NY. TiMmes  (July 290 2007,
https:/archive. nyvtimes com/query. nytimes com/gst/fullpage-
GCOAETDDUI3TFO3ANISTHAC0A9GT9C8B63. hitml.

87 Motoko Rich. HHistory Made Intimate Through Reagan's Diaries. NY. TIMES (May
3. 2007) https:/Awww. nytimes.com/2007/05/03/books/03diar html,
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excluding a small number of excerpts that weve redacted for personal reasons or
national security concerns,sos

There is no indication that My, Reagan acted with any ill intent, attempted to
secret away his diaries. or hid their existence or content from appropriate authoritics.
Quite the opposite, he disclosed the existence of his diaries to several investigarive
bodies during the Iran-Contra investigations. And during the Poindexter Litigation.
Mr. Reagan’s personal attornevs and the Department of Justice repeatedly asserted
that the diaries were Mr. Reagan's personal propertv.®™Y But it was apparent his
diaries contained classified information. Indeed. some diaryv entries specifically
described information recorded there as “very hush, hush” or “top secret.”s19 Some
entries were obviously classified at the time he wrote them: some continued to he
classified until at least 2007 and some contain national security information that

appears to be sensitive to this dav 51!

808 [ o White House [aries. Diarvy fntry 0172071985, Ronald Reagan Presidential
Foundation & Institute.  https://www reaganfoundation.org/ronald-reagan/white-house-
diaries/diarv-entrv-01201988/ (last visited Feb. 2, 2024).

9 Reagan Mot. to Quash at 1-2, {nited Slates v. Poindexter. Crim. No. 88-0080-01
(HHG).

BI012/1/23 National Security Council production of classified excerpts from Reagan
diaries.

11 We veviewed some of the materials that were deemed to be classified at the Top
Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information level when the National Security Council
conducted prepublication review for the Reagan Diaries. While we did not submit those
unpublished cntries for a new classification review, the subject matter appears to us to bhe
sensitive even today. 12/1/23 National Security Counecll production of classified excerpts from
Reagan diaries. Additionallv, National Archives officials scem to have inquired about the
classification status of the diarics in 2022 and were told that the diaries remained classified
at the Top Sceret/Sensitive Compartmented Information level. NARA Employee Tr. at 61-63.
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CHAPTER ELEVEN

ANALYSIS OF THE EVIDENCE — CLASSIFIED AFGHANISTAN DOCUMENTS
1. INTRODUCTION

There 1= evidence that, after his vice presidency, Mr. Biden willfully retained
marked classifted documents about Afghanistan  and unmarked classified
handwritten notes in his notebooks. both of which he stored 1in unsecured places in
his home. He had no legal authority to do so. and his retention of these materials.
and disclosure of classified information from his notebooks to his ghostwriter, risked
sertous damage to America’s national security.

But the evidence falls short of proof bevond a reasonable doubt that My, Biden
retained and disclosed these classified materials willfully. The Department’s prior
treatment of former presidents and vice presidents who kept national security
materials also counsels against prosecution of Mr, Biden, as do the most relevant
aggravating and mitigating {acts presented heve.*1? Therefore. under established
Department principles, we decline criminal charges against Mr. Biden relating to the
classified Afghanistan documents and his classified notebooks.% We would do so
even if we were not bound by the Office of Legal Counsel's legal conclusion that a
sttting president may not be charged with federal crimes 81

In reaching these conclusions, we consider two questions. First. whether the

evidence proves bevond a reasonable doubt that a crime occurred: and then, if so,

#12 See US. Dep't of Just., Just. Manual § 9-27.320 (2023).
28 See 1l ot §§ 9-27 001 9-27 220, 9-27.2530 (2023).
S0 Sitfing President’s Amenability to Indictment and Criminal Prosecution. 21 Op.

0. L.CL 2220 260 (2000).
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whether ¢riminal charges are warranted. Thus, the Department’s Justice Manual
requires federal prosccutors to determine whether the person under investigation
committed a federal offense and whether "the admissible evidence will probably be
sufficient to obtain and sustain a conviction. ™13 Next, the Manual directs prosccutors
to evaluate relevant aggravating and mitigating facts and to determine whethey
criminal charges ave supported by a “substantial federal intevest.”s1" A prosecutor
should seck criminal charges only after considering each of these questions and
making “a policy judgment that the fundamental interests of society reguire the
application of federal criminal law to a particular set of circumstances[.] ™t

We address the flrst question, the sufficiency of the evidence. for the classitied
Afghanistan documents immediatelv below. then for the classified notebooks in
Chapter Twelve, We discuss the sccond question. whether criminal chavges arve
otherwise warranted, for both sets of classified material in Chapter Thivteen.

1I1. THERE IS EVIDENCE THAT MR. BIDEN WILLFULLY RETAINED THE CLASSIFIED
AFGHANISTAN DOCUMENTS

In a recorded conversation on February 16, 2017, at My, Biden's rental home

in Virginia, Mr. Biden told Mark Zwonitzer that Mr. Biden had “just found all the

815 0.8, Dep't of dust.. Just. Manual § 9-27.220 (2023).

B See id, at § 9-27.220 (2023). In determining whether prosecution would sevrve a
substantial federal intevest, proscculors should wetgh “all relevant considerations.”
including: (1} federal law enforcement priorities: (2) the nature and seriousness of the offense:
3) the deterrent effect of prosceution: (1) the person’s culpability: (5) the person’s eriminal
history, or its absence; (6) the pervson's willingness to cooperate in the investigation or
prosecution of others: (7} the person's personal cireumstances: (8) the interests of any vietims;
and (9) the probable sentence or other consequences if the person is convicted: and (10) other
relevant facts. Id. § 9-27.230.

U Id, § 9-27.001 (emphasis added).
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classified stuft downstars.™1% According to what Mr. Biden told Zwonitzer. "all the
claxsified stuft” related to President Obama’'s 2009 decision to surge American troops
to Afghanistan. and to a pivotal moment when Mr. Biden sent President Obama his
handwritten Thanksgiving memo opposing the troop surge.®'® Photos of the Virginia
home show that the lowest level "downstairs™—where Mr, Biden told Zwonitzer he
had “just found all the classified stuff'—included rooms that Mr. Biden used as work
and storage spaces 820

Six vears later, during this criminal investigation. the FIBI recovered marked
classified documents relating to the debate over the 2009 Afehanistan troop surge in
a box in Mr, Biden's Delaware garage ™' The classified documents were in [olders
that also contained drafts of My, Biden's Thanksgiving memo. other source
documents [or that memo, and other memos establishing My, Biden's strong
contemporancous opposition to the surge.®??2 The folders of classified Afghamstan
documents appear to be files of Mr. Biden's ereation. labeled in his handwriting, and
containing memos and intelligence products he removed from the ordinary flow of
paper he received as vice president. ™2 Inside My, Biden's home office. agents found

his "Af/Pak 1" notebook with the classified Thanksgiving memo rucked mside #2!

812 See Chapter Five.

W19 See Chapters Five and Six.
820 See Chaprer Five.

*21 See Chapter Six.

R See id.

21 See d.

si1 See fd.
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In the same box in the garage where FBI agents found the classified
Afghanistan documents, agents also found other documents of great personal
importance to Mr. Biden, including photos of his son Beau and documents Mr. Biden
filed. accessed. and used 1n ecarvly 2017, during the same time he told Zwonitzer he
found the classified documents about Afghanistan in his Virginia home.®2% The
evidence suggests that Mr. Biden maintained these files himself.

Mr. Biden had a strong motive to keep the classified Afghanistan documents.
He believed President Obama's 2009 troop surge was a mistake on par with
Vietnam. 5% He wanted the record to show that he was right about Afghanistan; that
hiz erities were wrong: and that he had opposed President Obama’s mistaken decision
forcefully when it was made—rthat bis judgment was sound when it mattered most, 52

This evidence provides grounds to believe that Mr. Biden willfully retained the
marked classified documents about Afghanistan. If he was not referring to those
documents —later found in his garage—when he told Zwonitzer he had “just found all
the classified stuff downstairs,” it 1g not clear what else Mr. Biden could have been
referring to.528

Nevertheless, for the reasons below. we believe this evidence 18 not strong

enough to establish Mr. Biden's guilt bevond a reasonable doubt.

825

See Chapters Five and Six.
526 See (Chapter Six.

H2T See id,

#28 See Chapters Five and Six,
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III. THE EVIDENCE FALLS SHORT OF ESTABLISHING MR. BIDEN'S WILLFUL
RETENTION OF THE CLASSIFIED AFGHANISTAN DOCUMENTS BEYOND A
REASONABLE DOUBT
In February 2017, when Mr. Biden told Zwonitzer he had “just found all the

classified stuff downstairs,” Mr. Biden was at his home 1n Virginia.?* In December
2022, the FBI recovered the marked classified documents about Afghanistan in the
garage of Mr. Biden's home n Delaware, nearly six vears later and over one hundred
miles awav. ™ When the FBI recovered the documents in 2022, Mr. Biden was the
sitting president, and he was authorized to have classified documents in his private
home. Thus. any criminal charges would most plausibly depend on Mre. Biden's
possession of the Afghanistan documents in the Virginia home 1 2017. when he was
not in office.

There ave at least three defenses likely to ereate reasonable doubt as to such
charges. Fiest. My, Biden could have found the clazsified Afghanistan documents at
the Virginia home in 2017 and then forgotten about them soon after. This could
convince some reasonable jurors that he did not willfully retain them. Second. Mr.
Biden might not have vetained the classified Afghamistan documents in the Virginia
home at all. They could have been stered. without his knowledge. at his Delaware
home since the time he was vice president. This would rebut charges that he willfully
retained the documents in Virginia. Finally, Mr. Biden could have found only =ome
of the classified Afghanistan documents in the Virginia home in 2017—the ones n

the manila "Afganastan” folder found in the garage box— and 1t is unclear whether

R See (Thapter Five
S0 See (Chapter Six.
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this folder contained national defense information. This too would rebut charges that
he willfully retained national defense information. as required by the criminal
statute.nH!

We discuss cach potential defense in turn.

A. Mr. Biden may bave found the classificd documents in Virginia
in February 2017 and then forgotten about them

It 12 possible that Mr. Biden encountered the classified Afghanistan documents
at the Virginia home in February 2017, told Zwonitzer about them. and then. soon
after, forgot about them and did not willfully vetain them. While such a swift and
permanent bout of forgetfulness mayv scem implausible. several picces of evidence
provide some support for this possibility.

If Mr. Biden discovered classified documents at the Virginia home on February
16. 2017, when he told Zwonitzer he “just found all the clascified stuff downstairs,” it
may not have been something he found memorable. My, Biden. after all. had seen
classificd documents nearly every day for the previous eight vears. As vice president,
he regularly - and permissibly—kept classified documents in his home.?*2 When he
spoke to Zwonrtzer in February 2017, Mr. Biden had left the White House less than
a month carlicr. After more than forty vears in the highesi ranks of government, he
was accustomed o having staff members attend to the details of handling. storing,
and retrieving classified documents.®3 For a person of his position, the presence of

classified documents might not have been noteworthy, and it may have scemed

B See 158 U.S.CL§ 793(e).
%2 See¢ Chapter Three.
Bt See fd.
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natural that someone else would inevitably take care of it because, for Mr. Biden.
that 15 how 1t had nearly alwavs worked.

In response to this defense, the government could note that several weeks
before the February 2017 conversation with Zwonitzer. just after leaving the vice
presidency. Mr. Biden returned different elassified material he found in the Virginia
home, giving a slim binder of material possibly relating to foreign leader calls to his
personal aide to return to the White House ®' One explanation 1= that My, Biden
returned rhe binder of foreign leader calls because he did not care about 1t. whereas
he mtentionally kept the classified Afghanistan documents because he cared about
them a great deal.

But another inference the evidence permits is that My, Biden returned the
binder of classified material to the personal aide because. after leaving office, My
Biden did not intend to retain any marked classificd documents. As My, Biden said
m his interview with our office. if he had found marked classified documents after the
vice presidency. "I would have gotten rid of them. [ would have gotten them back to
their source. . . . I had no purpose for them. and I think it would be inappropriate {or
me 10 keep clearly classified documents.” % Some reasonable jurors may credit this
statement and conclude that if My, Biden found the clazsified Afghanistan documents
in the Virginia home. he forgot about them rather than willfully retaining them.

Mr, Biden's own words to Zwonitzer provide some support for this conclustion,

In the recorded conversation when My, Biden told Zwonitzer he had “just found all

S See (Chapter Seven,
&7 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 41,
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the classified stuff downstairs.” Mr. Biden's tone was remarkably casual. His sole
reference to this discovery of elassified documents was this brief aside. Mr. Baden did
not sound surprised or concerned by the documents he referenced. While reasonable
jurors could draw different conclusions from Mr. Biden's sceming nonchalance. one
conclusion 1s that if Mr. Biden discovered classified documents, it simply was not
significant to him and was something he could have quickly forgotten.

After all, the Afghanistan documents and the 2009 troop surge plaved no role
in Promise Me, Dad. the hook Mr. Biden wrote with Zwonitzer in earty 201753 There
15 no reason to believe My, Biden mtended to discuss the 2009 Afghanistan troop
debate in his book. which, as explained in Chapter Five. covered his experiences in
2014 and 2015, In dozens of hours of recorded conversations with Zwonitzer in 2016
and 2017. when Mr. Biden talked about a vast arrav of topies. the Afghanistan
documents never came up again.™ This may suggest that after February 16, 2017
the documents were simply not on Mr. Biden's mind.

Mr. Biden's memory also appeared to have significant limitations—both at the
time he spoke to Zwonitzer in 2017, as evidenced by their recorded conversations, and
today. as evidenced by his recorded interview with our office. My, Biden's recorded
conversations with Zwonitzer from 2017 are often painfully slow, with Myr. Biden
struggling to remember events and straining at times to read and relay his own

notebook entries . ®38

w6 See generally Biden, PROMISE ME, DaAD: Chapter Five.
837 See generally FBI Serials 315, 335.
S35 See generally id.
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In his interview with our office, Mr. Biden's memory was worse. He did not
remember when he was vice president. forgetting on the first day of the interview
when his term ended (1if 1t was 2013 — when did 1 stop being Vice President?”). and
forgetting on the second dayv of the interview when his term began ("in 2009, am 1
still Vice Presadent?”).8% He did not remember. even withm several vears, when his
son Beau died.3 And his memory appeared hazy when desceribing the Afghanistan
debate that was once 2o important 1o him. Among other things. he mistakenly said
he "had a real difference” of opinion with General Karl Eikenberry. when, in fact.
Eikenberry was an ally whom My, Biden cited approvingly in his Thanksgiving memo
to Preaadent Obama 51t

In a case where the government must prove that My, Biden knew he had
possession of the classified Afghamistan documents after the vice presidency and
chose to keep those documents. knowing he was violating the law. we expect that at
trial. his attornevs would emphasize these limitations in his recall.

We alzo expecet many jurors to be struck by the place where the Afghanistan
documents were ulumately found in Mr. Biden's Delaware home: in a badly damaged
box in the garage. near a collapsed dog crate. a dog bed. a Zappos box. an empty

hucket. a broken lamp wrapped with duct tape, potting soil. and synthetic firewood %2

%1 Biden 10/8/23 Tr. at 1.16; 10/9/23 T'r. at 5.

S0 Biden 10/8/23 Tr. at 82-83.

S5 Biden T0/9/23 Tr. at 17: Recovered document D20,
812 See Chapter Six.
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GGarage box with classified Afghanistan documents as encountered by FBI (Dec. 21, 2022)843

A reasonable juror could conclude that this is not where a person intentionally
stores what he supposedly considers to be important classified documents, critical to
his legacy. Rather, it looks more like a place a person stores classified documents he
has forgotten about or is unaware of. We have considered—and investigated—the
possibility that the box was intentionally placed in the garage to make it appear to
be there by mistake, but the evidence does not support that conclusion.

Finally, Mr. Biden’s cooperation with our investigation will likely cause some
jurors to conclude that the Afghanistan documents were in his Delaware home by

mistake, which is consistent with him forgetting about the documents soon after he

84 See id.
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discovered them in the Virginia home. Most significantly, Mr. Biden self-reported to
the government that the Afghanistan documents were in his Delaware garage and
congented to searches of his house to retrieve them and other classified materals. He
also consented to searches of other locations. and later in the investigation. he
participated 1n an interview with our office that lasted more than five hours and
provided written answers to most of our additional written questions,

Many will conclude that a president who knew he was illegally storing
classified documents in his home would not have allowed a search of his home 1o
discover those documents and then answered the government’'s questions afterwards.
While various parts of this argument are debatable, we expect the argument will
carry real force for many reasonable jurors. These jurors will conclude that My,
Biden—a powerful. sophisticated person with access to the best advice in the world—
would not have handed the government classified documents from his own home on
a =ilver platter 1f he had willfully retained those documents for vears. Just as a person
who destroyvs evidence and lies often proves his guilt, a person who produces evidence
and cooperates will be gseen by many 1o be mnocent.

To prove that My, Biden willfully retained the Afghanistan documents. the
government must establish that he acted “with a bad purpose either to disobey or to

disregard the law. "5 Reasonable jurors could conclude that Mr. Biden discovered the

M1 See Chapter Nine: Morison. 811 F.2d at 1071 (emphasis omitted): accord Court's
Instructions to the Jurv at 22, Brouwn. No. 21-ce-348, ECEF No. 304: Government’s Proposed
Jury Instructions at 24 Sterfing, No. 1:10-cr-1485. KCEF No. 238 Final Jury Instructions at
19, Ford. No. 05-cr-2:35.
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Afghanistan documents in his Virginia home and then forgot about them almost
immediately. Such jurors would likely acquit him.

B. The classified documents may never have been in the Virginia
home

The sccond potential defense argument 1s that Mr. Biden mayv not have
retained the classified Afghanistan documents in the Virginia home at all. While
there 18 evidence that he did. most notably his recorded statement to Zwonitzer 1n
February 2017, that evidence 1s not conclusive.

First, as discussed i Chapter Seven. while the evidence provides clues that
the classified Afehanistan documents were stored 1n the Virginia home. there 18 no
definitive evidence putting them there. Bevond the Zwonitzer recording. no witness.
photo. e-mail. text message. or other evidence cstablishex that the documents were
ever stored in Virginia. When considering charges that Mr. Biden willfullv retained
the classified documents 1in the Virginia home in February 2017, this absence of
additional direct evidence that the documents were in the Virginia home in February
2017 1= significant.

Sccond. the Zwonitzer recording itself 1s not conclusive. When writing Promise
Me, Dad. Zwonitzer recorded dozens of hours of conversation with Mr. Biden, and
those recordings show that Mr. Biden's statements were often imprecise and his
meaning was not always clear ¥ That was particularly true when Mr. Biden spoke

elliptically or in asides, as he did when he briefly referenced finding “all the classified

stuff downstairs.” Given Mr. Biden's tendency towards loose talk with Zwonitzer

S5 See generally FBI Serials 315, 333,
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and Mr. Biden's limited precision and recall during his interview with our office.
dizcussed above—reasonahle jurors may hesitate 1o place too much evidentiary
welght on a single eight-word utterance to Zwonitzer from almost seven vears ago. In
the absence of other. more direct evidence,

Third. there arve alternanve explanations for Mr. Biden's statement to
Zwonitzer that do not involve the classified Afghanistan documents later found in the
Delaware garage. For example. Mr. Biden could have been referring to the collection
of handwiitten notebooks he kept when he was vice president, As discussed in
Chapter Four. My, Biden rctained more than a dozen such notehooks. which
contained his handwritten notes from the President’s Daily Brief and White House
Situation Room meetings. Some of these notes were themselves classified. One of
those notebooks was hix Af/Pak 1 notebook. which contained his detatled notes about
the 20090 Afghanistan policy veview. and a copy of the handwritten Thanksgiving
meme. i

Mr. Biden explained in hiz interview with our office that he believed he
gathered hiz notebooks in the Virginia home after moving in. which was at around
the same time he met with Zwonitzer in February 201770 And we know from his
recorded conversations with Zwonitzer that Mr. Biden planned to. and did. refer to

some of his notebooks regularly while writing his book S

w0 Sep Chapler Six.
U Biden 1009123 Tre. at 30, 1011,
#18 See Chupter Five.



Thus, some evidence suggests that when Mr. Biden told Zwonitzer he had “just
found all the classified stuff downstairs.” he could have heen referring to his collection
of notebooks. including his Af/Pak 1 notebook, which contained classified information.
As explained in Chapter Twelve, we do not believe there are viable criminal charges
against Mr. Biden for willfully retaining classificd information in the notebooks *#¥
This would make the notebook explanation a potentially successful defense.

Another possible explanation is that My, Biden could have been referring to
the shim binder of classified documents he found at the Virginia home shortly after
leaving office and gave to his personal aide to retwrn to the White House 55 As
discussed above, this appears to have happencd several weeks before Mr. Biden's
recorded statement to Zwonitzer in February 2017,

This explanation scems improbable, as My, Biden said he “just” found the
classifiecd materal, which typieally suggests more receney—a matter of hours or davs,
rather than several weeks, And the personal aide recalled that My, Biden handed him
a single sfim bindev or folder of materal, which the aide believed related to calls with
foreign leaders in the last week of the administration ¥ It 1s unhkely Mr. Biden was
referring to such a small amount of material when he said he just found “all the
classified stuff.” and it would have been a non sequitur during a conversation about

his deciston-making on Afghanistan in 2009.%2 But our assessment that this

19 See (Chapter Twelve for an analvsis of the evidence pertaining to the classified
notebocks.

830 See Chapter Seven.

851 Popsonagl Alde 3 3/28/23 Tr. at 197-212.

832 See Chapter Five.
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explanation seems unlikely does not make it unreasonable, and reasonable jurors
could conclude that Mr. Biden's statement to Zwonitzer referred to classified
information Mr. Biden had already found and returned.

Mr. Biden could also point to the possibility that the classified Afghanistan
documents were never in Virginia but were stored clsewhere without his knowledge:
for example. tucked away in his Delaware home since the time he was vice president.
We cannot rule out that possibility. As discussed in Chapter Seven, if the documents
were somewhere 1n the Delaware home for many vears. someone must have moved
them (o the garage box after the move from the Virginia home to the Delawave home
1 July 2019, because that is likely when the garage box arrived in Delaware. But it
1+ possible My, Biden or others moved the Afghanistan documents to the garage box
without carefully reviewing the files or realizing thev contained marked classified
documents. As explained in Chapters Fourteen. Fifteen. and Sixteen. our
nvestigation has revealed several other instances of Mr. Biden and others making
similar {ilhing mistakes.

Unlike most defendants in classified mishandling cases. Mr. Biden was
allowed to have classified documents in his home for eight vears as vice president. He
also had lavers of stafl who were responsible for assembling. carmrving. storing, and
retrieving the tvpes of classified briefing materials found among the Afghanistan
documents ® Even if Mr. Biden intended to keep the Afghanistan documents for

some time while he was vice president—to help him write the 2009 Thanksgiving

"3 See Chapter Three.
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memo. for example, or as reference material for the Afghanistan policy debates to
come 1n the later vears of the Obama administration —it remains possible that Me.
Biden lost track of the documents in the nearly eight yvears that folowed. and that he
did not know he still had them after leaving office.

Mr. Biden's house was also filled with paperwork and other materials from
almost five decades 1in government service, He kept boxes of files from nearly every
political campaign he ran between 1972 and 2012: files documenting his more than
thirty vears 1n the Senate: files from his eight years as vice president: and files
relating to his family, his house. his car, and his pets.¥3% [t 18 possible the Afghanistan
documents. which were in ordinary folders that were not packaged or marked as
containing classified information, were needles in the havstack of Ar. Biden's papers.

While 1t ix natural to assume that Mr. Biden put the Afghanistan documents
in the box on purpose and that he knew thev were there, there is 1n fact a shortage of
evidence on these points. We do not know why, how. or by whom the documents were
placed in the box. We do not know whether or when Mr. Biden carefully veviewed the
box's contents. We do not know why only some of M. Biden's classified Afghanistan
memos to President Obama from the fall of 2009 were found in the box. but several
other memos he wrote during that time were not.®3 And we do not know why Mr.

Biden would have wanted to keep some of the other marked classified documents 1n

81 See generally FBI Serial 512, 1A611, FBI Serial 77, 1A&6.

3% During the fall 2009 Afghanistan review, Mr. Biden wrote President Obama
multiple additional classified memos opposing the troop surge. None of these memos were in
the garage box with the other classified Afghanistan documents, and none of the memaos were
vecovered during this investigation, though we obtlained copies of the memos from the current
White House. See Classified memos on file with Special Counsel’s Office.
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the box—in particular. a classified document relating to President Obama's second-
term foreign policy goals, which was kept in a folder right next to the Afghanistan
documents. and which scrved no particular purpose of Mr. Biden's of which we ave
aware. 0

The location of the box containing Afghanistan documents 1n a seemingly
random place in the Delaware garage. and Mr. Biden's cooperation with our
investigation—hoth discussed above—could provide additional reasons for jurors to
conclude that the Afghanistan documents weve stored in the Delaware home without
My, Biden's knowledge. and were not in Virginia in 2017.

C. Mr. Biden may not have found the “Facts First” folder
containing national defense information

A reasonable juror could also conclude that. even if Mr. Biden found classified
documents about Afghanistan in his Virginia home in February 2017, and even if he
remembered he had them after that dayv. and even if they were the same documents
found 1n his garage six vears later and one hundred miles away in Delaware, there 1s
a shortage of evidence that he found boih the “Afganastan”™ folder and the "Facts
First” folder. This 15 important because even though the “Afganastan™ folder
contamed documents that were marked classified in 2009. there are serious questions
about whether those particular documents remain sensitive today. or when Mr. Biden
met with Zwonitzer in 2017, Thus. the “"Afganastan” folder alone is not a strong basis
upon which to prosecute Mr. Biden for willfully retaiming national defense

information. And if Mr. Biden saw only the "Afganastan”™ folder and not the "Facts

A EFRE Serial 512, 1A61 1 B, BA.
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First™ folder. which did contain national defense information. he did not willfully
retain such national defense information.

This “only one folder” defense is not very strong. but 1t does find some support
in the evidence. Mr. Biden spoke of finding “all the classafied stuff downstairs™ in the
context of telling Zwonitzer about the 2009 handwritten Thanksgiving memo.’" And
the folder most closely associated with that memo is the “Afganastan” folder. which
held the raw materials that we know Mr. Biden must have relied on when writing
the Thanksgiving memo. The “Afganastan”™ folder contained previous handwritten
and typewritten drafts of the Thanksgiving memo. some of which were incorporated
nearly word-for-word into the final document.®" The folder alzo held a November
2009 memo from Mr. Biden's communications director, and Mr. Biden incovporated
portions of this memo. again nearly word-for-word. into the final Thanksgiving
memo.* Thus. the evidence establishes that Mr. Biden used the documents 1n the
"Afganastan” folder 1o write the 2004 Thanksgiving memo to President Obama.

My, Biden probably also used the documents in the "Facts First” folder when
writing the Thanksgiving memo. but the connection between that folder and the
memo 18 not as strong. The “Faets First”™ folder contains numerous documents
relevant to the memo, but none of them are documents Mr. Biden must have used.
And most of the materials in the “Facts First” folder were from September 2009, two

months before My, Biden wrote the Thanksgiving memo.860

BT

See Chapter Five.

s Seo Chapter Six.

&0 11/27/09 e-mail from Blinken to Klain, SCOH-000230.

860 FBI Sertals 35 1A12. 512 1A61 1 683 1AT72; Recovered documents B6-B24.
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Based on thiz difference between the two folders, some reasonable jurors may
conclude that when My, Biden told Zwonitzer he “just found all the classified stuff
downstairs.” he mayv have been referring only to the "Afganastan” folder. which
reminded him of his Thanksgiving memo. The "Afganastan” folder contained roughly
a dozen marked classified documents, which could correspond to Mr. Biden's
reference to “all the classified stuff’ he found. And f Mr. Biden found the
“Afganastan” folder, it is possible he did not continue looking through the contents of
the separate "Faets First” folder, whose cover had no label or other indication that
the materals mside related to Afghanmistan,

None of these possibilities are particularly plausible. There is no reason to
think. for example. that after identifving the contents of the "Afganastan™ folder. Mr.
Biden stopped looking through folders that were nearby. including the "Facts Fivst”
folder. and that he never returned to these materials.

But reasonable jurors who are unwilling to read too much into Mr. Biden's brief
aside to Zwonitzer—"'I just found all the classified stuff downstairs™—may find a
shortage of evidence to establish that Mr. Biden looked through the "Facts First”
folder, which is the only folder known to contain national defense information. These
jurors would acquit My, Biden of willfully retaining national defense information from
the "Facts First” folder.

D. For other reasons, a jury will be unlikely to unanimously convict
Mr. Biden

Several additional facts would make it difficult for the government to present

a case that reazonable jurors would unanimously find compelling.
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Fust. the Afghanistan documents are now almost fifteen vears old. While there
i= evidence that some contain national defense information, in general, they concern
a conflict that 1s now over. in a country where there arve no longer any American
troops. abour a subject (the 2009 troop surge) that has already been widely discussed
i books and media reports. At a trial, we expect the defense would strongly challenge
whether the documents still contain sensitive national defense information.

Sccond. Mr. Biden was allowed to have the Afghanistan documents in his home
for cight vears as vice president. And when the documents were discovered in his
home in December 2022, he was again allowed to have them there as president. To
prevail. the government must convince a jury to conviet him for having the documents
1 hig home 1n between. in February 2017, about a month after he left the White
House. Because of the possibility that, even if Mi. Biden discovered the Afghanistan
documents. he might have forgotten about them =soon after. any criminal charges
would likely be limited to the days or perhaps weeks surrounding his conversation
with Zwonitzer in February 2017, [t may be difficult to convince a jury they should
care ahout Mr. Biden's brief illicit possession of documents from 2009, particularly
since he was allowed to possess the same documents both hefore February 2017 (as
vice president) and after (as president).

Third. as discussed to some extent above, My, Biden will likely present himself
to the jury, as he did during his interview with our office, as a sympathetic, well-
meaning, elderls man with a poor memory. While he 1s and must be accountable for

his actions—he 1s, after all, the President of the United States—based on our direct
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observations of him, Mr. Biden is someone for whom many jurors will want to search
for reasonable doubt. It would be difficult to convinee a jury they should convietr him—
by then a former president who will be at least well into his eightiecs—of a serious
felony that requires a mental state of willfulpess,

Finally, while jurors might not f{ind reasonable doubt in any one of the
evidentiary shortcomings identified above, some jurors may find reasonable doubt
because of the cumulative effect of some or all of these shortcomings.

E. There is also insufficient evidence that Mr. Biden willfully
retained the handwritten Thanksgiving memo

As explained in Chapter Six. inside the office of Mr. Biden's Delaware home,
agents found his Af/Pak 1 notebook, which contained his handwritten notes about the
2009 Afghanistan troop reviews. In the front of the notebook. binder-clipped together.
were the pages of the handwritten 2009 Thanksgiving memo in which Mr. Biden
made his final argument to President Obama opposing the Afghanistan troop surge.
The Thanksgiving memo discussed a November 2009 State Department cable. and
the cable 1tself which is marked as Confidential, is clipped to the memo.#t In My,
Biden's interview with our office. he said he “guess{ed]” he "wanted to hang onto {the
Thanksgiving memo] for posterity’s sake” because “this was my position on
Afghanistan. 362 The handwritten memo. though unmarked, contains information

that remains classified up to the Sccret level. 3 The State Department cable shows a

st FBE Sertals 77 1TABG. 682, 683 1A772: Evidence item 1B66: Recovered document
1220,

%2 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 21.

55 BT Servial 676,
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declassification date of November 2019, but the State Department has been unable
to tell usif it has been formally declassified 86!

Though the handwritten Thanksgiving memo has been determined to be
currently classified, we cannot prove that Mr. Biden belicved it was classified after
leaving office in 2017. The memo was derived from at least one document that was
matked as classified in 2009, but during his interview with our office, Mr. Biden said
he did not consider the memo classified when be discussed 1t with his ghostwriter.
Zwonitzer, in 2017.569 The memo concerned deliberations {rom more than seven vears
earlicr about the Afghanmistan troop surge. and in the Iintervening vears those
deliberations had been widely discussed in public. so My. Biden could have reasonably
expected that the memo's contents became less sensitive over time. Because we
annot prove that he knew the memo was classified when he left office, we cannot
prove that by retaining the memo. he willfully retained national defense mmformation.

As for the State Department cable, 1t does not appear to contain national
defense information today, and there is no reason to believe it did in 2017, Therefore.
the cable cannot be the subject of a willful retention charge under Section 793(e). In
addition, Mr. Biden told us in his interview that he does not recognize the marking
“Confidential” as a classification marking. To him, the marking means the document
should be held in confidence, but not necessarily that it is classified. 86 Although

“Confidential” 1s, in fact, a category of classified information enumerated in the

851 Il

#5 See Chapter Six: Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 31-33, 38 (explaining that the memo "wasn't
a Top Secret thing,” and was “not confidential in the classification sense”).

it Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 24-25.
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governing executive order. we would likely be unable to refute My, Biden's claim that

he did not know this.

We conclude that the evidence 15 insufficient to meet the government's burden.
In accordance with the Justice Manual. because we do not believe the government 1s

likely to obtain a conviction at trial. we decline prosccution.



CHAPTER TWELVE
ANALYSIS OF THE EVIDENCE — CLASSIFIED NOTEBOOKS

There 18 evidence that when Mr, Biden left office in 2017, he willfully retained
his classified notebooks—that is. he knew he kept classified information in notebooks
stored in his house and he knew he was not allowed to do so. There 1s also evidence
that Mr. Biden willfully disclosed classified imformation in his notebooks to his
ghostwriter by reading 1t aloud to him. We conclude that this evidence does not
establish Mr. Biden’s guilt bevond a reasonable doubt. We thevefore decline
prosccution of Mr. Biden based on his retention of his notehooks and disclosure of
information in them.

1. WILLY¥UL INTENT

A, There is evidence that Mr. Biden retained the classified
notebooks, knowing he was not allowed to do so

As with the classified Afghanistan documents, there 1s evidence that Mr. Biden
kept his notebooks after his vice presidency knowing they werve classified and he was
not allowed to have them.

The evidence shows convincingly that Mr. Biden knew the notcbooks. as a
whole, contained classified information. For eight years, he wrote in his notebooks
about classified information during classified meetings in the White House Situation
Room and elsewhere .56 He was familiar with the notebooks' contents, which included
obviously classified information. When reviewing the notebooks with Zwonitzer, Mr.

Biden sometimes read aloud classified notes verbatim. but he also sometimes

867 See Chapter Four.
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appeared to skip over classified information, and he warned Zwonitzer that the
material in the notebooks could be classified #5% My, Biden also stored the notebooks
in a classified safe in the White House for a time as vice president because the
notebooks were elassified 289

[n My, Biden's wriiten answers to questions from our office. he called into
question whether he knew the information 1n his notebooks was classified. In those
answers. Mr. Biden explained that when he deseribed material in his notebooks to
Zwonitzer as “classified” he did not actually mean “classified.” Accovding to Mr.
Biden. " may have used rhe word ‘classified with Mr. Zwonitzer In a generic sense.
to refer not to rthe formal classificarion of national sccurity information. but to
sensitive or private topics to censure that My, Zwonitzer would not write about
them.™ 0 Mr. Biden qualified this answer by explaining. “[ do not recall the specific

conversations vou reference wirth Mv, Zwonitzer. which took place move than six vears

This explanation—that “classified” does not mean “classified’—is not credible.
At the time My, Biden met with Zwonitzer. Mr. Biden had nearly fifty vears of
experience dealing with classified information. including as a member of the Senate
Select Committee on Intelligence. a member and Chairman of the Senate Committee

on the Judiciary. a member and Chairman of the Senate Committee on Foreign

868 Zwonitzer recordings 1701240091, Carved_0005356. Carved_000571.

$i See Chapter Four,

S Biden 1041723 written responses at 1. Mr. Biden said something similar during ouy
in-person interview of him, Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 32-33.

1 Biden 1071723 written responses at 1
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Relations, and Vice President of the United States. 572 [t 1s not plausible that a person
of his knowledge and experience used the term “classified” in rhis context as a
euphemism for “private.”

Mr. Biden's explanation 1s even less credible in light of his actual words Lo
Zwonitzer. As described below, among the times Mr. Biden spoke to Zwonitzer about
clagsified information was when Mr. Biden handed Zwonitzer a notebook entry about
a National Security Council mecting in the Situation Room and asked if Zwonitzer
could read Mr. Biden's handwriting %3 My, Biden warned Zwonitzer, "Some of this

mayv be classified. so be careful.” and added, "I'm not sure. It isn't marked classified,

This is not a reference to merely private material. In this context, when a
former official of Mr. Biden's stature and experience warns =omeone without a
security clearance to "be careful” because some information "may be classified.” and
then refers to "marked classified” material, the former official 1s talking about
classified national security information.®™ The evidence shows that My, Biden knew
his notebooks contained such information.

There is also evidence that Mr. Biden knew he could not keep classified

handwritten notes unsecured at home after his time as vice president.

2 NARA_SCAN_00000904; Biden, Joseph Robinette (Joe), Jr., Biographical
Directory of the United States Congress, https:/hioguideretro.congress.gov/Home/MemberD
etails?memIndex=hb000444 (last visited Jan. 30, 2024).

87 Lwonitzer recording 170424_0091; 170424_0091 Tr. at 13-14; Evidence item 1B80.

81 Zwonitzer recording 170424_0091:; 1704240091 Tr. at 13-14; Evidence item 1BR0.

¥ Awonitzer recording 170424_0091; 170424 _0091 Tr. at 13-14; Evidence item 11B80.
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1. Mr. Biden knew the purpose of classified handling rules:
to prevent unauthorized disclosure of our nation's secrets

The basic principles of the svstem that protects classified informartion should
be clear to anvone who understands why 1t is necessary to protect such material in
the fHrst place. Information is classified only if its unauthorized disclosure
“reasonably could be expected to cause ... damage to the national security.™8 To
prevent such disclosure, people who access classified mformation must store 1t n
authorized. secure places 57 And if classified information is disclosed. for example to
a foreign adversary. it can damage national security whether 1t 1= typewritien or
handwritten 8%

These principles are familiar, even obvious. to anyvone with experience
handling classified information. And they have long been enshrined in the legal and
policy regime uzed to safeguard our nation’s secrets. That vegime requires clasxified
mmformation to be safeguarded properly whether it is written by hand or typed on a
kevboard #®

As noted above, when Mr. Biden left office in 2017, he had nearly fifty vears of
expertence with classified mformation. including eight vears in the second-highest

position in the lxecutive Branch, He was deeply familiar with the measures taken to

#6 Executive Ovder 13526 § 1,2,

U d 8 4 1) 32 CF RO§§ 20001.43(0)( 1) and (2), 2001.53 (202 1): Office of the Dirveclor
of National Intelligence. Intelligence Community Divective 705 (2010).

## Under Executive Order 13526, information is classified only if “its unauthorized
disclogure could reasonably be expected to cause identifiable or describable damage to the
national security,” § 1.4, and “information” refers to “anv knowledge that can be
communicated or documentary material, regardless of its physical form or characteristics.”
§ 6.1{(1).

Y Sep id. §§ 2.1. 6.1(1), 6.1(0), 6.1(p), B.1(t).
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safeguard classified information and the reasons for them. As Ron Klain. one of Mr.
Biden's closest aldes, explained, Mr. Biden “had traveled the world. He knew the risks
that men and women were taking to gather this information and . . . felt a grear deal
of responsibility about it."3%0 And John McGrail, Mr. Biden's top lawver at the end of
the Obama administration, said he would be “surprise[d]” if Mr. Biden intentionally
took classified materials home because he well knew. from extensive government
experience, that diselosure “can harm sources and methods and the national security
interests of the United States.”s!

2, Mr. Biden’s public statements show he knew the
restrictions on handling classified information after
leaving office

Mr. Biden's public statements show he knew classified information must be
safeguarded to protect intelligence sources and methods, As Mr. Biden has put jt.
“People know | take classified documents and classified information serviouslsy ™2 In
a September 2022 interview with CBS. My. Biden said the following in response to a
question about the marked classified documents allegedly found in Mr. Trump's
private home;

Reporter:  When you saw the photograph of the top sceret documents

laid out on the floor at Mar-a-Lago. what did you think to
vourself? Looking at that image.

Mr. Biden: How that could possibly happen. How one—anyone could
he that irresponsible. And I thought, what data was 1n

B0 Kiain Tr. at 52-53.

381 MeGrail 1/22/24 Tr. at 100-01, 111

552 Carol E. Lee, Ken Dilanian. Kristen Welker. and Zoé Richards, Biden says he was
“surprised” ta learn government docs were found at hus former office, NBC NuEWS (Jan. 10,
2023}, https:/www.nbenews.com/politics/white-housefless-dozen-classified-documents-
found-biden-office-sources-sav-renabn 179 (last visited Feb. 2, 2024).
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there that may compromise sources and methods? By
that I mean names of people who helped or th-- ¢t cetera.
And 1t just-- totally irresponsible 83
Mr. Biden's emphatic and ungualified conclusion that keeping marked
classified documents unsecured in one's home is “totally irresponsible” because it
“may compromise sources and methods” applies equally to his own decision to keep
his notebooks at home in unlocked and unauthorized containers. The notebooks, like
the marked documents. contained classified information, the unauthorized disclosure
of which could compromise intelligence sourcex and methods and damage national
security. ¥ And Mr, Biden's public statements. during his vice presidency and after.
demonstrate that he understands “classified information.” not merely marked
classified documents. 18 what must be protected. ™ These statements undercut his

purported belief that he could lawfully retain the classified information in his

notebooks.

w5 President Joe Biden: The 2022 60 Minutes Interciewe. CBS NEWS, at 12:09 (Sept.
12, 2022y, httpsi/waw.ovoutube com/watch?v=ul UC89H 18Swe (Jlast visited Feb., 20 2020
{emphasis added).

881 See (Thapter Four.

859 Clarol K. Lee, Ken Dilanian. kristen Welker, and Zo¢ Richards, Biden says he wwas
“strprised” to learn government docs were found at his former offrce, NBC NEWS (Jan. 10,
2023), https:/www . nbenews.com/politics/white-house/less-dozen-classified-documents-
found-biden-office-sources-sav-renats 179 (last visited Jan, 30, 202.40); Transcript And Audio:
Vice Presidential Debate. NPR NEWS (Oct. 11, 2012y, https:///swww.npr.org/2012/10/11/16275
1053/transceript-hiden-rvan-vice-presidential-debate (last visited Jan. 30, 2024 (during a vice
presidential debate in October 2012, My, Biden asserted that he had to be careful about
safeguarding classitied information when he said. “with vegard to the abtlity of the United
States to take action militarily, it 15 — iU is not in my purview to ralk about classified
information”).
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Mr. Biden has also publicly acknowledged himits on how he may properly
handle classified information in his home. even as a sitting president. In August 2022.
he told reporters:

Reporter:  Mr. President. in simple terms. 18 It ever appropriate for a
President to take home with them classified and top secret
documents?

My, Biden: Depending on the civcumstance. For example, [ have in my
home, a cabined-off space that is completely secure. I'm
taking home with me todav's PDB. It's locked. I have a
person with me-—military with me. I read 1t, [ lock it back
up. and give it to the military,

Repaorrer:  Without a specialized area in which vou can declassify
documents. 1s 1t ever appropriate for a president to bring

classified and top secret documents home with them?

Mr. Biden: It depends on the document. and it depends on how secure
the room 18 556

If Mr. Biden thought in 2022 that he was obligated to keep the PDB—the
President's Daily Brief—sccured in his home as a sitting president. he should have
known in 2017 that as a former vice president and a private citizen he was not
permitted to keep handwritten notes ahout the President's Daily Brief and other

classified information in unlocked drawers in his home.

8% Remarks by President Biden Before Marine One Departure, The White House
(Aug. 26. 2022, https://'www. whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/specches-
remarks/2022/08/26/remarks-by-president-biden-before-marine-one-departure- 18/ (last
visited Jan. 30, 2021).
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3. As vice president, Mr, Biden received advice from staff
about the need to secure classified notes properly

Mr. Biden received advice from his staff about the need to secure classified
information in the form of notes. [n 2011. his first Counsel to the Viee President,
Cynthia Hogan, advised him in writing that classified notes generated in the context
of dircussions with a historian “must be maintained in secure safes” and “stored 1n a
secure facility.™*" And as vice president, Mr. Biden stored his classified notebooks 1n
a safe. at least for a time. in contrast with his decision after leaving office to keep the
notehooks at home 1 unlocked and unauthonzed drawers 54

4. After his vice presidency, Mr. Biden stored his classified
notecards in a SCIF, but kept his classified notebooks in
unlocked drawers at home

When Mr. Biden left office. he knew his staff decided to keep his classified
notecards in a SCIF at the National Avchives. and he knew his notebooks contained
the same tvpe of classified information. As he told hiz ghostwriter during a recorded
interview in October 2016, the same staff who eventually arranged for careful storage
of his classified notecards in an Archives SCIF “didn't even know™ he also had
posscssion of his notebooks. which he simply took home without informing his staff 849

After his vice presidency. My, Biden was reminded twice more that his
classified notes should be secured in a SCIF; on each of the two davs in 2017 when he

visited the Archives SCIF to review his notecards in writing his book.#% The form he

887 1/28/11 e-mail from Hogan to OVP staff, 1BO01_02881319; 1/27/11 Brmefing Menmo
from Hogan. TBO01T 028813510,

s See (Chaprer Four.

859 See 7l

wh See id.
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was required to sign at the Archives made clear he was accessing classified
information that could not leave the SCIF, and that he had an ongoing obligation to
protect this information.®¥! And at the end of his first visit, Archives staff asked to
sce the notes he had taken during his review of the notecards. to ensure he was not
removing and mishandling classified information.”? [t should have been clear to My,
Biden that not only were his classified notecards required to be in a SCIF. he also
could not take classified notes about those notecards home with him—and. by
extension. he could not keep any classified notes at home at all.

J. Myr. Biden had strong motivations to ignore proper
procedures for safeguarding his classified notebooks

Finally. Mr. Biden had strong motivations to ignore the proper procedures {or
safeguarding the classified information in his notebooks, He decided months before
leaving office to write a book and began meeting with his ghostwriter while still vice
president.™? After his vice presidency. the notebooks continued to be an invaluable
resource that he consulted liberally 39t During hours of recorded interviews in which
he read aloud from his notebooks in his private home, Mr. Biden provided raw
material to his ghostwriter detailing meetings and events that would be of intevest to
prospective readers and buvers of his book.® He also likely viewed the notebooks,
like the marked classified documents related to Afghanistan recovered from his

garage. as an wrreplaceable contemporancous record of some of the most important

#1 See id.

892 See id.: NARA Archivist 1 Tr. at 56-59, 77-78, 81-82, 93-91, 12223,
#3 See Chapter Five.

#1 See Chapter Four.

#05 See id.
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moments of his vice presidency. This record was valuable to him for many reasons.
including to help defend his record and buttress his legacy as a world leader.

B. The evidence does not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.
Biden willfully retained the notebooks

We do not believe this evidence would mect the government’s burden at trial
to prove Mr. Biden knew his handling of the notebooks broke the law. We expect M.
Biden's defense would be that he thought his notebooks were his personal property
and that he was allowed to take them home after his vice presidency, even 1f they
contained classified information. Enough evidence supports this defense to establish
reasonable doubt.

First. we expect Mr. Biden to offer direct evidence that he believed he was
entitled to take the notebooks home. During his interview with the Special Counsel's
Office. Mr. Biden was emphatic. declaring that his notebooks are "my properiy.” and
that “everv president before me has done the exact same thing.” that 1s. kept
handwritten materials after his term in office. even 1if thev contain classified
material % He also specifically cited the diaries President Reagan kept while 1n
office. noting that they included classified information.®¥” My, Biden repeated this
theme In his written answers to our questions, writing that. “[{Jike presidents and
vice prestdents before me. [ understand these notes to be my personal property. 89

At trial, we expect Mr. Biden to offer similar evidence of his subjective

understanding. Such evidence would be admissible as to the element of willfulness,

#6 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 41-43: Biden 10/8/23 Tr. at 111-12.
a7 Biden 10/8/23 Tr. ar 111-12.
s Biden 12/1/23 written responses at 1,
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which requires proof that Mr. Biden acted with intent to do something the law
forbid=.®" And we expect the evidence of My, Biden's state of mind to be compelling—
clear. forceful testimony that he did. in fact. believe he was allowed to have the
notebooks, While the government could question this testimony's veracity as a
convenient answer perhaps suggested by his attornevs after the discovery of his
clagsified notebooks, such a suggestion lacks evidentiary support and Mr. Biden's
testimony will likely carry significant weight with many jurors.

The government could also question the veracity of Mr. Biden's testimony by
introducing evidence that he appears to have come to and acted on the belief that he
could take home classified notes entirely on his own. without the advice or knowledge
of any of hiz staff. including the Counsel to the Vice President, John MeGrail. %% Based
on the cvidence we found. Mr, Biden appears to have consulted no one on this
significant question. None of the witnesses we interviewed recalied My, Biden
mentioning that he intended to take his classified notebooks home or that he helieved
he was permitted to do so, even during conversations in which MeGrail told Mr. Biden

that a/f of Mr. Biden's records- -including all his notes—would be sent to the National

9 A broad array of defense evidence is admissible at eriminal trials for willfulness
cerimes that would not be admissible for crimes that require a less culpable mental state.
United States v. Lankford. 955 F.2d 15145, 1550 (111h Cir. 1992) (when willfulness is at issue,
a defendant is entitled to “wide latitude in the introduction of evidence tending to show lack
of intent™) {(quoting United States v. Garber, 607 F.2d 92, 99 (5th Cir. 1979) {cn banc)); see
also Cheel v, United States, 198 U8, 192, 203 (1991) {reversible error to instruct the jury to
disregard evidence of defendant’s belief that he was not required to pay taxes “as incredible
as such misunderstandings of and beliefs about the law might be”). Indeed. the Supreme
Court has admonished, in the context of a tax erime requiring proof of willfulness, “forbidding
the jury to consider cvidence that might negate willfulness would raise a serious question
under the Sixth Amendment's jury trial provision.” Cheelk, 498 U.S. at 203,

0 MeGrail 1/22/24 Tre. at 81-87, 97-119,
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Archives. 2t When interviewed, McGrail recalled that My, Biden "understood why his
documents were going to [the National Archives.] ... He understood 1t and accepted
1.7902 AMeGrail also told us the following:

s MMy Biden never told McGrail that he was retaining any notes he took while
vice president.® McGrail said My, Biden understood the approach of
sending all his records to the Narional Archives so that archivists could
separate presidential records from the rest 90!

¢ My Biden never told McGrail that he was retaining any classified notes s
MeGrail said he would have expected that to be part of the conversation he
had with Mr. Biden about the handling of his notes 908

¢ MeGrail never advized My, Biden that he could bring home classified
material of any kind " Indeed, MceGrail said he would be surprised to learn
that Myr. Biden took classified materials home—even personal notes—
knowing thev were classified because (1) that would have been
“inconsistent with evervthing that we were killing ourselves trying 1o
accomplish.”?% (2) he knows his home 1s not a SCIF.9 and (3) as former
chatrman of the Senate Forelgn Relations Committee, Mr. Biden knew that
classified information cannot be stored outside a secure facility because its
dizclosure can harm national security and compromise intelligence sources
and methods. MY

o MceGrail never spoke to Mr. Biden or anyvone else about the Reagan diaries,
or historical practices of presidents taking home classified diaries oy other
materialg 1!

" See Chapter Four.
902 AMeGrail 1/22/24 Tr. at 115,
aSId L at B4, 117,
g at 86-87, 115,
A I at 98-99.

O Td, at 117,

W fd o at 107, 111-12.
MO8 T at 112

e Fedoal 101,

T, at 100-01, 111
M fedat T3-71 114
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All that said., we expect Mr. Biden's defense at trial to remain fawlsy simple.
According to McGrail, the only thing he recalls telling Mr. Biden about the disposition
of hig records was that all his records would go to the National Archives after the
administration to sepavate personal from presidential records *# MeGrail sayvs he
never spoke 1o Mr. Biden about classified notes or how they should be stared.®?s

From this. Mr. Biden will likelv claim that McGrail outlined a cautious
arrangement—not a legal requirement—to treat all his records as presidential
records until the Archives could sort out what was personal. But. My, Biden will hikely
sav. he never believed his notebooks, which he thought of as his personal diavies, fell
within that arrangement. He treated the notebooks markedly differently from the
rest of his notes and other presidential records throughout his vice presidency. for
example, allowing staff 1o store and review his notecards, but not his notebooks 91!
Thiz treatment. he will argue. and the extremely personal content of some of the
notebooks, shows that he considered them to be bis personal property. My, Biden's
notebooks included gut-wrenching passages about his son’s death and other highly
personal material.®" His claim that he believed he did not need to send what he
constdered to be his personal diary to be stored at a government facility will Likely

appeal to some jurors. 916

N2 See Chapter Four.

I See 1d.

I See id.

A E g Notebook entries 1B37-0051, 54,

I The government could respond that many of the notebooks are unlike diaries
because they contain work notes, including minutes of mectings of the National Sccurity
Council and other classified briefings. See Chapter Four. These notebooks do not meet the

235



We expect Mr. Biden also to contend that the presence of classified information
in what he viewed as his diary did not change his thinking. As a member of the
exclusive club of former presidents and vice presidents. Mr. Biden will claim that he
knew such officials kept diaries, and he knew or expected that those diaries—Ilike Mr.
Reagan's—contained classified imformation.” He also understood that former
presidents and vice presidents took their diaries home upon leaving office. without
being mvestigated or prosccuted for it. Thus, whatever McGrail now thinks of the
matter. Mr. Biden will claim that it did not occur to him to store what he thought of
asx his personal diaries—which he held close for eight vears—at the National
Archives. and he certainly did not know that by failing to do so he committed a crime.

Contemporancous evidence from immediately after the vice presidency
supports this defense. In a recorded conversation with Zwonitzer on April 26, 2017,
three months after leaving office. My, Biden said the following:

Mr. Biden: I'm told by [a personal aide]. I guess he checked with

vou. i order for me to get my, uh, get all those
presidential notes I had for lunch, the luncheon
meetings. I have to go to McGrail?

Assistant: Yes. MeGrail has them. We were supposed to turn it
in and that is the last person who had them.

definition of “personal records” under the Presidential Records Act hecause they “relate to or
have an effect upon the carrying out of the dutics of the vice president, and thev are not “of
a purcly private or nonpublic character.” 14 [L85.00 § 2201(3). But My, Biden will likely
present a compelling case that he viewed the notebooks as his personal diaries or the rough
equivalent. Indeed. in a recorded conversation with Zwonitzer. while reviewing a notebook
entry about a national sccurity mecting, Mr. Biden twice referred to the passage as a “diary
entry.” Carved_000556. And, as discussed extensively in Chapter Ten, Mr. Reagan's diaries
contained scveral instances of c¢lassified information, the Department of Justice described
them as hig "personal records.” and My, Reagan brought them home after his presidency
without repercussion.
5 See Chapter Ten.
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Mr. Biden: OK. Uh. Sec if you can get me McGrail on the hne
while I have yvou now. OK? And stay on okay?

Assistant: Got 1t sir. Hold on.

Zwonitzer: This is probably somecthing that goes to the
presidential papers.

Alr. Biden: I don’t think so. It was in between. 1 didn’t
want to turn them in.

Zwonitzer: Right so, it’s the gray area.”!™

This exchange concerned Mr. Biden's handwritten notecards. which, like his
notehooks. addressed both personal and official matters. and which also contained
classified information ¥'® The evidence suggests, as explained above, that McGrail
decided the classified notecards should be stored at the National Avchives after the
admimstration, with Mr. Biden telling Zwonitzer he did not want to do 50.92¢ But
when Zwonitzer suggested that the notecards might be “presidential papers —that
18, presidential records that are required by law to be stored ar the National
Archives-—Mr. Biden disagreed. My, Biden explained that he did not think he was
required to turn in the notecards and that he had not wanted to do so.

One interpretation of this exchange that the evidence permits is that, while
My, Biden followed McGrail's advice to store the classified notecards in a SCIF at the
Archives, he did not believe he was required to, and he thought that. at most, the

notecards fell into an “in between” or “gray area.” Indeed, when interviewed, McGrail

8 Zwonitzer recording Carved_000599 (emphasis added); Carved_000599 Tr. at 3-4:
FBI Seriala 315, 335.

919 See Chapter Four.

N0 See id,
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recalled that he advised Mr. Biden to turn over all his records, "whether personal or
not.” to the National Archives 2! MeGrail's advice was premised on a desive to avoid
taking a constrained view of the Presidential Records Act's requirements, as McGrail
believed former vice president Dick Cheney had, and the understanding that
archivists would review My, Biden's notes and separate presidential records from the
rest."?? MeGrail also =aid he behieved that the notes were to be stored 1n a SCIF at
the Archives due to their general sensitivitv. not because they were classified.”2s

At trial, Mr. Biden would argue that the 2017 Zwontzer recording is the best
evidence of what he believed after the vice presidency, and 1t shows he did not believe
he was legally required to store his notecards at the Archives, and that he thought
the same about his notebooks. In this way. the Zwonitzer recording dovetails with
Mr. Biden's expected defense at trial that the Presidential Records Act defined his

notebooks as his personal property. and that the Act authorized him to keep these

120 MeGranl 1722724 Tr. at 83,

92 d. at 843,

2 Id, ar 114. MeGrail's recollection on this point 15 inconsistent with e-mails and
other documents that suggest he knew the notecards contained classified information in late
2016 and early 2017, 10/7/16 e-mails between Ratner, Associate Counsel, MceGrail, and
others, NARAWH-00017698, NARAWI-000177 13, NARAWH-00019307: 10/18/16 ¢-mails
between Associate Counsel, MceGrail, and others. NARAWH-00017820; 10/20/16 e-mail from
Ratner to Ricchetti. MeGrail. kahl et al., 1BOO1 _(37985394; 11/14/16 e-mail from MceGrail
SCOH-000310; 1/05/17 e-mail from Associate Counsel to MeGrail. SCOH-000339; 1/5/17 and
1/6/17 e-mails between Associate Counsel. MceGrail, and NARA Archivist 1. SCOH-000326.
SCOH-000330.  SCOH-000332, SCOH-00033%; 1/6/17 Handwritten Nate re; VP
diavv/notecards. It 1s also at odds with the recollection of the NAR:\ archivist that MeGrail
told him the notecards contained classified information. NARA Archivist 1 Tr. at 56. 62, and
the understanding of the associate counsel who helped MceGrail arrange for the notecards to
be stored at the Archives. In an interview with our office, she said that “it was the safest
decision to have [the notecards] be in a SCLF sinee there wieref likely classified documents.”
Associate Coungel 8/29/23 Tr. at 9-10. 76 (emphasis added). MeGrail's memory of these events
could well have faded over the course of more than six vears.
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notehooks in his home. even if they contained classified information. That My, Biden
was mistaken in his legal judgment is not enough to prove he acted willfully. which
requires intent to do something the law forbids 2!

The defense will buttress these claims by contending that other credible
authorities, including at least one former president and the Department of Justice,
also have concluded that a former president may keep handwritten notes even if they
contain classified information. As discussed in Chapter Ten, the clearest historical
example is President Reagan. who left the White House in 1989 with eight vears
worth of handwritten diaries. which he kept at his private home in California. The
Reagan diaries contained classified information. such as entries recounting National
Security Council meetings and referencing highly sensitive intelligence sources and
methods. including human sources and signals intelligence 92 Some entries that
addressed sensitive subjects icluded deseriptions such as “top secret” and “very hush
hush.” and some entries remained classified Top Secret as of 2007, decades after Mr.
Reagan wrote them.

As we also describe in Chapter Ten, during the Poindexter litigation in 1989
and 1990, after Mr. Reagan’s presidency, the Department of Justice tock the position
in public court filings that the diaries were both “currently classified” and My,

Reagan’s “personal records” that were not in the Archives' possession.”26 In a later

#2i See Chapter Nine and n.899 above.

#25 See (Chapter Ten.

226 Memorandum 1n Support of Motion to Quash Subpoena to Archivist and Statement
of Interest by the Department of Justice at 2-3, 6-7, 17 n.8, 20, United States v. Poindexter,

Crim No. 88-0080-01 (HHG).
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written order. the district court, afier conducting an in camera rveview of diary
excerpts, described the diaries as containing “classified and highly sensitive
information” including an entry about “a certain top-secret and extremely sensitive
activity, 2"

After these legal declarations by the Department and the court. the classified
diaries remained in Mr. Reagan's private home for another fifteen vears, unnil he died
in 2004. And even though the Department of Justice publicly acknowledged that M.
Reagan treated the diaries as his personal records and thev were not in possession of
the National Archives. to our knowledge neither the Department nor anvone clse
sought the diaries’ return or mitiated a criminal investigation.”=s

In short, there will be evidence at trial that at least one former president did
what Mr. Biden now claims it was proper for him to do too: take his diaries home
after leaving the White House, even though the diaries contained classified
information. As indicated by letters we have received from the White House Counsel's
Office and Mr. Biden's personal attornevs, the defense will argue that the
Department of Justice blessed this view in Mr. Reagan’'s case by stating in public
filings that the diaries were both clagsified and My, Reagan’s personal records and by

taking no recovery or enforcement action. Most jurors would hikely find this precedent

92 Undted States v, Poindexter, 732 F. Supp. 135, 138 n.3, 141 (D.D.C. Jan. 30, 1990).
w24 See (Chapter Ten.
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and Mr. Biden's claimed reliance onit. evidence of which we expect would be admitted
at trial. 2 to be compelling evidence that My, Biden did not act willfully.

The government could reply that, whatever the reasons for the Department of
Justice’s inaction 1n Mr. Reagan's case—including, perhaps. that former presidents
have Secret Service protection indefinitely after leaving office, or simply that officials
at the Department did not vealize Mr. Reagan stored his diaries at home-- the
relevant executive order and controlling regulations require former presidents and
vice presidents to store classified information in a gsecured location after their time in
office 930

While we agree with this statement of the law, and we recognize that the
Reagan precedent is from a different era with a different legal landscape. we think
jurors axsessing Mr. Biden's guilt and intent will be persuaded less by what the
government savs in exccutive orders and agencey regulations. and more by what the

government actually has done (or not done) by way of enforcement among the small

729 Admissible evidence concerning a lack of willfulness can include legal materials
upon which the defendant claims to have relied in forming the view that his conduct was not
forbidden by law, so long as the defendant lays a proper foundation. United States ¢, Powell,
955 I* 2d 1206, 1214 (Sth Cir. 1991}); see also United States v. Harris, 942 124 1125, 1132 n.6
(7th Cir. 1991) (noting that, in the context of tax crimes requiring proof of willfulness,
defendants can introduce expert testimony about case law “to the exteni that the defendant
claims actual reliance on that case law”); United States v Willie, 941 F.2d 1381, 1392-98
(10th Cir. 1991} (to show lack of willfulness in a tax case. defendant can introduce evidence
to prove his “descriptive” belief that the law does ot apply to him, but not his "normative”
belief that the law should not apply to him).

B0 See Fxecutive Order 1:3526 §§ 1.1, 4.4; Superseding Indictment €% 18-19, United
States v. Trump, No. 23-CR-80101-AMC, ECF No. 85, It is not clear that the presence of
Sccret Serviee agents materially enhances the level of protection afforded to classified
materials. Agents we interviewed said theyv focus on the protection of persons, not documents.
and they do not monitor the movement of or access to documents. Secret Service Supervisor
Tr. at 12-13; Secret Service Special Agent 1 8/24/23 Tr. at 27-29. 87-88: Secret Sevvice Special
Agent 2 Tr. at 31-33.
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group of former presidents and vice presidents. Many jurors would conclude that,
given the Department’s treatment of Mr. Reagan. who kept his classified diarvies for
move than a decade hefore his death, it would have been plausible for My, Biden to
helieve he could properly keep his classified notebooks. Citing the relevant sources of
law likely would not sway such jurors from this conclusion.

We also believe some of the same evidence that supports reasonable doubt for
the classified Afghanistan documents also supports reasonable doubt for the
notehooks, including Mr. Biden's cooperation with the investigation. his diminished
faculties n advancing age. and his sympathetic demeanor. These factors will likely
make It difficult for jurors to conclude he had eriminal intent,

Finallv. the two main sets of evidence summarized above, suggesting that Mr.
Biden knew he was not allowed to keep classified notebooks. do not suffice to prove
his willfulness bevond a reasonable doubt, The fivst set of evidence 1s that My, Biden.
at his staff's insistence. stoved his classified notecards in a SCIF at the Archives, and
several months earlier in the fall of 2016 he told Zwonitzer “they didn't even know |
have this [notebook].” This could suggest that Mr. Biden concealed his notebooks
from staff to avoid restrictions on his access to or use of them.,

But the defense will argue that this trcatment of the notecards and notebooks
18 also consistent with an mmnocent explanation: Mr. Biden mayv have simply
acquiesced to his stafls decision to store his notecards n the Archives SCIF. even

though, as he suggested to his ghostwriter on April 26, 2017, he (ke Mr. Reagan and

21 See Chapter Four.
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the Department of Justice before him) did not think he was required to do so. If that
18 what happened, Mr. Biden was not required to inform his staff that their (in his
view) unnecessary advice could also apply to his notebooks. His failure to flag the
notebooks for what he believed o be his staff's overly cautious treatment is not
compelling evidence of willfulness. In the same vein, Mr. Biden could have concluded
that the forms he signed about safeguarding classified information in the Archives
SCIF were botlerplate paperwork that applied in most cases, but not to the
handwritten materialg of a former president or vice president. which historically have
been treated as the former officeholder’s personal property. And he could point to
MeGrail's current understanding that the notecards were stored in a SCIEF simply to
keep them secure, not because they were classified. 932

The second ser of evidence concerns the guidance on “hest practices” that
Counscl Cynthia Hogan gave Mr. Biden in 2010 and 2011 about handling classified
information, and his decision after receiving this guidance to store the notebooks in
a safe in the White House. 93 This evidence, too, 1s consistent with innocence. By the
time Mr. Biden left the White House in 2017, Hogan's guidance about storage in a
safe was six yvears old. and Mr. Biden had long since stopped following it. The evidence
suggests that he did not store his notehooks in a safe for the last several vears of his

administration. and no one in the White House raised concerns. %

92 MeGrall 1/22/24 Ty, at 69-70, 113-14. 129-30.
%3 See Chapters Three and Four.
91 See td.
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While Mr. Biden may have recalled Hogan's advice and concluded that it meant
he should not bring the notebooks home with him when he left the White House. there
15 no evidence he did so recall. And there would have been good reason for him not to
think this way. especiallv since Hogan gave her 2010 advice seven vears earler
during a meeting scheduled to last ten minutes. and Mr. Biden had long since stopped
following her advice. which Hogan told us would bave reflected best practices rather
than legal requirements.9%

For these reasons, we do not believe the government could prove bevond a
reasonable doubt that Mr. Biden knew it was unlawful to retain his notebooks at his
home after the vice presidency.

C. The evidence does not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.
Biden willfully disclosed national defense information in the
notebooks to his ghostwriter

We have also considered whether Mr. Biden willfully disclosed national
defense information to Zwonitzer by reading certain passages of his notes, aloud and
nearly verbatim, from national security meetings. 6 My, Biden should have known
that by reading his unfiltered notes about classified meetings in the Situation Room,
he risked sharing classified information with his ghostwriter. But we do not belicve
the evidence supports charges of willful disclosure bevond a reasonable doubt,

At least three times, Mr. Biden read classified notes from national security

meetings to Zwonitzer nearly verbatim, The first two incdents involved the same

L0 f-;lg(_-, ‘;d‘
86 See 18 UU.S.C § 793(e) {(prohibiting the willful transmission of national delense
information).

214



notcbook passage®’ On February 16. 2017, Mr. Biden appeared to explain to
Zwonitzer that a notebook entry related to "a long meeting on the Security Council
on — it probably was classified.”® Mr. Biden had skipped over this eniry entively
during a recorded conversation with Zwonitzer several months ecarlier in October
2016.%% But during the February 16, 2017 recorded conversation. Mr. Biden read
aloud to Zwonitzer portions of the notebook entry that contained classified
information. *40

Two months later. on April 10, 2017, during another recorded conversation
with Zwonitzer. Mr. Biden turned to the same notebook entryv and read additional
classified portions aloud, again nearly verbatim. 2!t He did =0 immediatels after
reviewing aloud highly emotional notebook entries about the death of his son Beau
and other personal topics. which appeared on the pages right before the classified
cntry 912

This evidence shows thar Mr. Biden disclosed classified information to
Zwonitzer. who was not authorized to receive it But the evidence falls short of
proving that My, Biden did so willfullv—that 1s, that he knew these notebook
passages were classified and that he intended to share classified information with

Zwonitzer. During the February 16, 2017 conversation, Mr. Biden appeared to sav

97 See Chapter Five.

8 Awonitzer recording Carved_000556; Carved 000536 Tr. at 1; Notebook entry
1BA7-0062-65; FBI Serials 315, 335; Evidence item 1B79:; Evidence item 18381,

4 See Chapter Five.

M See 1,

M1 Seoe id.

w12 See i,
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that the meeting his notes summarized—not his notes themselves—"probably” was
classified " Though it was foresceable that Mr. Biden's notes about a classified
meeting would themselves be classified (which thev were), the evidence does not
prove definitively that My, Biden actually knew that. or that he intended to sharve
classified information.

And during the April 10, 2017 meeting. jurors could well conclude that Mr.
Biden read from the same classified entry without pausing to consider that it was
classified. given his discussion of highly emotional topics with Zwonitzer just before
he read the classified passage. and the lack of any pausc before Mr. Biden launched
into reading the classified entry.?!! Though 1t would require jurors to find that My,
Biden ignored or missed clear warning signs that he was sharing classified
information with Zwonitzer in February and April 2017, we believe some reasonable
jurors would likely reach that conclusion.

The third incident happened on April 24. 2017, when Mr. Biden read aloud to
Zwonitzer portions of a different entry of classified notes from a National Security
Council meeting, also nearly verbatim.? When My, Biden could not read a particular
word 1n the entry, he showed the entry to Zwonitzer but warned him, “Some of this

may be classified. =0 be careful ... I'm not sure. It 1sn't marked classified, but...”16

B See .
T See el
85 See fd,
W See 1.



Mr. Biden nonctheless continued to read aloud and nearly verbatim portions of the
same passage of his notes, some of which remain classified at the Seceret level 9

Mr. Biden's decision to read notes nearly verbatim 1o Zwonitzer that My, Biden
had just identified as potentially classified cannot be justified. But the evidence does
not prove bevond a reasonable doubt that he intended to share classified information.
My, Biden told Zwonitzer he was "not sure’ the notebook passage he read was
classified. That is enough to ereate reasonable doubt about whether Mr. Biden acted
willfully.

There 15 also evidence that Mr. Biden took some steps to avoid sharing
classified information with Zwonitzer. As explained in Chapter Five. Mr, Biden
sometimes skipped over notebook passages to avold reading classified information.
And if called as a witness at trial, Zwonitzer would testifs that Mr, Biden mentioned
the need to he careful “because he was worried that there was a possibility that ...
some of this stuff [handwritten entries in the notebooks] could be classified.” and.
“there were things he couldn't tell me. lines he couldn't cross. 948

Given the intelligence and military officials present and the topics discussed
at the meetings Mr. Biden recounted for Zwonitzer. Mr. Biden should have realized
that his notes did or were likely to contain classified information. But taken as a
whole, the evidence will likely leave jurors with reasonable doubts about whether My,
Biden knew he was sharing classified information with Zwonitzer and intended to do

s0. For these jurors. Mr. Biden's apparent lapses and faitlures in February and April

G417 SE?F‘. i'd
HE wonitzer 73123 Tr. at 83,
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2017 will bkely appear consistent with the diminished faculties and faulty memory
he showed in Zwonitzer's interview recordings and in our interview of him.?"
Therefore, we conclude that the evidence does not establish that My, Biden willfully

dizelosed national defense information to Zwonitzer.

19 See Chapter Eleven.
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CHAPTER THIRTEEN
ANALYSIS OF PRINCIPLES OF FEDERAL PROSECUTION FACTORS

In addition to considering the sufficiency of the evidence, we have also
evaluated “all relevant considerations” in aggravation and mitigation and determined
that on balance. for both the marked classified Afghanistan documents and the
classified notebooks, these factors do not warrant eriminal charges 930
I. HISTORICAL PRACTICE

While in office. the president and vice president. like members of Congress and
federal judges. are exempt from the ordinavy rules governing classified information
that apply to almost everyvone else #1 As discussed in Chapter Nine, presidents and
vice presidents are constitutional officers whose handling of classified information
supports thewr Article I funetions of conducting foreign affairs and providing for the
national defense 992 After their time in office. for much of our nation’s history, 1t
appears that many former presidents and vice presidents knowingly retained
information concerning national security without being subject to criminal

mvestigations or charges. 23 Thixs historical record 1s important context for judging

0 Memorandum for All Federal Prosceutors: General Department Policies Regarding
Charging, Pleas, and Sentencing, Office of the Att'y Gen. (Dec. 16, 2022) at 1-2 (even if a
prosecutor 1s able to obtain and sustain a conviction, “a prosecutor should not commence a
prosecution if the prosecution would not serve a substantial federal interest,” and in
determining whether a substantial federal interest exists, the prosecutor should "weigh all
relevant considerations,” including nine enumerated factors): U.S. Dep’t of Just., Just.
Manual §§ 9-27.001, 9-27.230 (2023).

#t See Chapter One.

952 See nn.T68-T0 above.

%3 See Chapter Ten.
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whether and why to charge a former vice president {and president) such as Mr. Biden
for the same acts taken by several of his predecessors.

With one exception, there is no vecord of the Department of Justice prosecuting
a former president or vice president for mishandling classified documents from his
own admimstration. The exception is former President Trump. It 1s not our role to
assess the criminal charges pending agamst Mr. Trump. bur several materal
distinctions between Mr. Trump's case and Mr. Biden's ave clear. Unlike the evidence
involving My, Biden. the allegations set forth in the indictment of My, Trump. 1f
proven, would cleavly establish not only Mr. Trump's wilifulness but also serious
aggravating facts.

Most notably. after being given multiple chances to return classified
document= and avoid prosecution, My. Trump allegedly did the opposite.?3! According
to the indictment. he not only refused to veturn the documents for months but he
also obstructed justice by enlisting others to destrov evidence and then to lie about
it.9%5 In contrast. Mr. Biden alerted authorities. turned in classified documents to the
National Archives and the Department of Justice in 2022 and 2023. consented to the
scarch of multiple locations including hig homes. permitted the scizure and review of
handwritten notebooks he believed to be his personal property. and in numerous

other ways cooperated with the mvestigation. 930

Wl Superseding Indictment % 7-8, United States v, Trump. No. 23-CR-80101-AMC.
ECE No. 85

5 Id

9 See Chapter Two: see also US. Dep't of Just., Just. Manual § 9-27.230 (2023) (a
person's willingness to cooperale 15 a relevant factor in determining whether prosecution is
warranted),
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With respect to Mr. Biden's notebooks, the Reagan precedent provides an
additional reason to forgo criminal charges. The Department of Justice previously
informed a court in public filings that My, Reagan's diaries were both “currently
classified” and Mr. Reagan's "personal records. ™57 This should give the Department
pause before now concluding that Mr. Biden will be charged with a crime for retaining
his own classified writings. Such an about-face. without previous public warning that
1= sharper than the relevant executive order and regulations. would be =een by many
to violate basic principles of notice and fairness. 9 And even though it is possible the
Department lacked knowledge of all the facts about how Mr. Reagan stored his
diaries. officials knew theyv contained classified information and that 3Mr. Reagan was
treating them as his personal records. and it appears no one ever asked how the

diaries were storved or made efforts to vecover them. 93

7 Sge Chapter Ten.

258 Other officials have been prosecuted for the retention of classified notes—most
notably. David Petraeus, who served as a four-star general in the Army and later Direetor of
the Central Intelligence Ageney. See Plea Agrecement at @ 1. {nited States v. Petraeus, 3:15-
cr-00017 (W DLN.C. Mar. 3, 2015). ECF No. 2. There arc significant similaritics between
Petraeus’s case and Mr. Biden's, but the diffcrences are more significant. First, Petraeus’s
retention of notebooks violated numerous nondisclosure agreements he signed as an
emplovee of the Department of Defense. By contrast, by virtue of his unique constitutional
role as vice president, My, Biden signed no such nondisclosure agreements or attestations.
Second, Petracus lied when questioned by FBI agents, telling them he had not provided
classified information to his biographer. See i1d. at % 32. Mr. Biden's case began with a
proactive sclf-disclosure. and he has cooperated with the Department of Justice and special
counsel by consenting to multiple searches of his personal residence and offices. Third, there
was stronger evidence of willfulness in Petracus’s case, in light of his lies and obluscations,
whereas Mr. Biden has asserted his rightful ownership of his notebooks based on a long
history of former presidents and vice presidents retaining diaries, notes, and other writings
that contained classified information. Despite these important differences, Petraeus was
charged only with a misdemeanor violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1924, a statute that. as discussed
in Chapter Nine, 1s not applicable to the facts of this case.

40 See Chapter Ten.



[n the past forty vears, twelve men and women have served as president and
vice president. At least two—Mr, Reagan and Mr. Biden—have kept handwritten
notes containing classified material at their homes after leaving office. It 1s quite
possible that others had or presently have such handwritten notes in their personal
possession to this day. We have not identified aggravating facts that compel bringing
the first prosecution of such actions heve,

In reaching our decision. we did not consider every circumstance in which
criminal charges against a [ormer president or vice president for mishandling
classified information may he warranted. But on the facts of this case. given the
historical practices we have discussed. the evidence revealed in our investigation. and
the extent of Mr, Biden's cooperation, criminal charges are not warranted.”s
IL. OTHER FACTORS

We have also considered other factovs the Department traditionally applies
when considering charges for mishandling classified information. Those factors are:

(1) The volume of ¢lassified information and the manner in which it 1s stored:

(2) The sensitivity of the imformation, including the level of classification and
whether 1t 12 dated or recent:

(3) Reasons the person retained the information:

(4) Whether the information was disclosed to someone else. and under what
circumstances:

(5} Whether there is a potential foreign nexus:

{6) Whether the person made false statements related to the retention: and

i See 28 CF.R. § 600.7 (explaining that “[a} Special Counsel shall comply with the
rules, regulations. procedures, practices and pelicies of the Depariment of Justice ™).
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{7} Other relevant aggravating and mitigating factors.

While these factors cut in different directions. on balance, they favor
declination of charges against My, Biden.

The volume of classified information 1s not small. and while it could support a
decision to being criminal charges. it does not require such charges. As for the
sensitivity and recency of the information, the Afghanistan documents are relatively
old and concern a conflict that 1s now over. The notebook entries contain some highly
sensitive information that 1s more recent. dating as late as 2017, But My, Reagan also
kept classified information at home 1n his diavies after his presidency.

If My, Biden retained the classified documents intentionallyv. he appears to
have done s0 to defend his record and burnish his credentiale to run for president.
This factor counts against him. It is difficult to conceive of good reasons to risk the
nation's security by mishandling eclassified information. and bolstering one's
reputation s not one.

There 15 no evidence that Mr. Biden shared classified information with any
foreign person. As discussed in Chapter Twelve, though. he did share classified
information with Zwonitzer by reading from classified notebook entries to Zwonttzer
nearly verbatim. These entries included entries concerning human intelligence
sources, as well as entries that Mr. Biden had previously identified as classified or
potentially classified. ! My, Biden's decision to take home notebooks knowing that as

a whole they contained classified information. and then read verbatim notes from

il S(:J(_‘f (‘hapt(’l’ D,
2563



national sccurity meetings to his ghostwriter—recognizing those notes were at least
potentially clagsificd—counts squarely 1n aggravation.

We cannot prove that Mr. Biden made any false statements related to his
retention of classified information. As noted 1in Chapter Twelve, he provided one
answer to our written questions that was not credible—ihat when he desciibed his
notebook entries to Zwonitzer as classified or potentially classified. he did not veally
mean “classified,” he merely meant “private. 62 But. while incredible, we cannot
prove this statement was false. My, Biden prefaced it by explaining that he did not
remember the gpecific conversations in question, which occurred more than six vears
ag0.%% And even if this written answer 1= a strike against Mr. Biden. the other
instances of his cooperation with our investigation weigh heavils in his favor.

Other aggravating and mitigating facts addressed in the Justice Manual also
counsel agams=t prosecution. At the time of any (r1al or sentencing. My, Biden would
he well into his eightics, an age when relatively few people are prosecuted " He has
no criminal record."5 He is highly unlikely to be =entenced to prison or assessed a
significant fine "6 Anv deterrent effect of prosecution would likelv be slight % We
are not concerned with specific deterrence. as we see little risk he will veolfend. As
for general deterrence. future presidents and vice presidents are already hikely to be

deterred by the multiple recent criminal investigations. and one prosecution. of

2 Biden 12/1/23 written responses at 1,

NG [

1 See ULS. Dep't of Just., Just. Manual § 9-27.230(7) (2023).
M5 See fod. § 9-27.230(5) (2023).

968 Qee 1ef. § 9-27.23009) (2023).

9T See id. § 9-27.23003) (2023).



current and former presidents and vice presidents for mishandling classified
documents.?% Mr. Biden has served the nation for nearly fifty years as President and
Vice President of the United States and United States Senator.®% On balance, his

record of service also supports a decision to forgo eriminal charges.

The practice of retaining classified materal in unsecured locations poses
serious risks to national security, given the vulnerability of extraordinarily sensitive
information to loss or compromise to Americas adversavies. The Department
routinely highlights such risks when pursuing classificd mishandling prosecutions.
But addressing those risks through the eriminal law. the only means available to this
office. iz not the proper remedy here.

For the classified Afghanistan documents and the classified notebooks. we
helieve the evidence falls short of supporting eriminal charges. And other factors that
inform our decision under the Principles of Federal Prosecution lead us to conclude
that "the fundamental interests of society” do not “require” such charges *™? For these

reasons. we decline prosecution.

968 See i, § 9-27.230(3) (2023).
W0 See id. § 9-27.230(7) (2023).
970 See fdf. §§ 9-27.001. 9-27.220 (2023).
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CHAPTER FOURTEEN
CLASSIFIED DOCUMENTS FOUND AT THE PENN BIDEN CENTER
I FACTS
A, Description of the Penn Biden Center
The Penn Biden Center is housed in an office space leased by the University of
Pennsylvania on the sixth floor of a commercial office building near the United States
Capitol in Washington, D.C. The office space includes a reception area. conference
rooms. a kitchen and pantry. a copy room. a large office for Mr. Biden designed to
resemble the vice president’s West Wing office, and roughly a dozen smaller offices
and workrooms arraved 1n a cirele around a central, open office space. Mr. Biden's
office adjoins one of the smaller workrooms— sometimes called the “outer office”---

where Mr. Biden's personal assistant, scheduler, and trip divector sat.

= = : - o o
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Penn Biden Center floor plan¥™

#91 PRC Scheduler Tr. at 63-64.
B SCOH-000-461; FBI Serial 301 1.0 115,
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B. Events leading up to the discovery of classified documents at the
Penn Biden Center

[n March 2021, Mr. Biden’s dircctor of Oval Office operations visited the Penn
Biden Center at Mr. Biden's request.?"3 She described the purposes of the visit as: (1)
to Jook for personal items such as family photographs and awards that Mr. Biden
might want to display in the Oval Office, and (2) to "get a sense of what was there”
more generallv 970 The director of Oval Office operations took photographs to
document her visit and compiled an inventory with the help of an assistant.?™ In
addition to personal items such as framed photographs, flags, awards, books, and
challenge coing located in My, Biden's office. she noted the presence of "40 boxes™ 1n
a “hallway cloket.™6 She took photographs of the boxes?" After the visit, she
reported back to Mr. Biden what she had found. According to the director of Oval
Office operations. the conversation was “very [ast” and “pretty anformal,” and Mr.
Biden did not provide any further direction about the Penn Biden Center ¥

In Mayv 2022, White House Counsel Dana Remus undertook an effort to
retrieve Mr. Biden's files from the Penn Biden Center#™ Remus described the
original purpose of thar effort as gathering materials to prepare for potential

congressional inquiries about the Biden family's activities during the period from

*3 Divector of Oval Office Operations Tr. at 12-13.

Sl at 12-14, 19, 25.

995 Id. at 19-21; FBI Serial 348 114419 WH-SCH-000000003 at 17.

76 FBI Serial 348 1A4119; Penn Center Inventory, WH-SCH-000000003.

BT Serial 348 1A419: WH-SCH-000000007 at 10-11; Director of Owval Office
Operations Tr. at 19-20.

73 Director of Oval Office Opevations Tr. at 27-28.

70 Remus Tr. at 61-66; Moore 11/18/22, FBI Seral 16.
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2017 through 2019, when Mr. Biden was actively engaged with the Center.?™
Through later conversations. Remus learned that the Penn Biden Center's offices
contained a mix of Mr. Biden's materials—including personal material—that was not
hmited to records of his activities from 2017 through 20199 Eventually. the goal of
My, Biden's staff became to clear out all of his materal from the Penn Biden
Center. 92

Remus decided to ship material that could be relevant to furure congressional
inquirics to Patrick Moore. one of Mr. Biden's personal counsel in Boston,
Massachusetts, for further review by Moore and Bob Bauer.% Aoore's office had
become a repository for some of My, Biden's political materials, such as awards and
coples of speeches. ™! Bauer and Moore planned to inform the White House Counsel's
Office of what they found. 95 Strictly personal items would be shipped to My, Biden's
Delaware home %6

Remus inttially coordinated with the executive assistant, who had worked for
Mr. Biden both during his second term as vice president and at the Penn Biden

Center.98" The executive assistant offered to pack up Mr, Biden's files at the Penn

#0 Remus Tr. at 85, 75-76. 80: Moore 11/18/22. B Serial 16; Personal Attorney 1
12/8/22 I°BI Serial 10.

%1 Remus Tr. at 67. 80,

92 I ae 67 Dr. Biden Staffer 2 Tr. at 36-37.

5 Remus Tr. at 82-83.

91 Moore 11/18/22 FBI Sermal 16 at 2. 1

85 Romus Tr. at 82,

b fed. at 83

7 Id . at 66, 74-75: Executive Assigtant Tv, 1/4/23 at 3-4, 66, 95; FBIU Serial 350 L4121
524422 aomail from Remus, SCOH-0007 17,
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Biden Center.9%8 Remus understoed the executive assistant was going to segregate
personal files—such as photographs and handwritten letters to Mr. Biden—from files
related to his work.%? As the ecxecutive assistant later told investigators, “[a] lot of
the stuff was already packed up. 990

On June 28, 2022, the executive assistant came to pack up the remaiming
unpacked files.”! She completed the packing in about a half-hour %92 Her packing
involved simply transferring files from office drawers into Home Depot boxes she had
picked up earlier. ¥ In doing so. she did not review individual filex or documents. ¥}

Most of the packing involved boxing up files the executive assistant stoved for
Mr. Biden in the outer office she formerly occupied along with My, Biden's former
scheduler and trip director at the Penn Biden Center.® The outer office was
accesstble on one end from Myr. Biden's office.”% At the other end. the outer office had
a door to the Center's larger office area.®" Mr. Biden's office and the outer office are

depicted in the photographs below,

988 Kxecutive Assistant Tr. 1/4/23 at 97; Remus Tr. at 81-82: FBI Serial 350 1A121;
6/21/22 p-mail from Executive Assistant to Remus. SCOH-000748; 6/23/22 e-mail from
Former Executive Assistant to Remus, SCOH-000753.

#7 Remus Tr. at 89-90.

M0 Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 98-99; Executive Assistant 9/28/2023 Tr. at 142,

W BT Serial 350 1A421: 6/21/22 e-mail from Former Executive Assistant, SCOH-
000750; 6/23/22 e-mall from Former Executive Assistant to Remus, SCOH-000753.

2 Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 1:38-39.

993 Bxecutive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 98-99.

%1 I at 99,

WA Id. at 100-01: PRC Scheduler Ty, at 64,

w6 Moaore 11/18/22. I'BI Serial 16 at 2-3, 6: Personal Attorney 1 12/8/22, FBI Serial 40

%7 Penn Biden Center Lavout, SCOH-000452; FBI Serial 344 1A115.
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Mr. Biden’s office at the Penn Biden Center (Nov. 28, 2022)9%8

Mr. Biden’s office ai the Penn Biden Center (Nou. 28, 2022)%%

998 20221128 _ERT_0068; FBI Serial 14 1A14.
999 20221128_ERT_0060; FBI Serial 14 1A14.

260



The auter office at the Penn Biden Center (Nov. 28, 2022)""

1000 20221128_ERT 0074; FBI Serial 14 1A14.
001 20221128 _ERT_0075; FBI Serial 14 1A14.
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The executive agsistant also looked for files in Mr. Biden's office and other staff
offices but found neone.!%2 She e-mailed Remus that evening: “13 boxes. There are
clearly marked boxes with correspondence throughout 4 vears. 1% Ag the executive
assistant later told investigators, many of the 13 boxes she referred to were boxes of
correspondence files that had already heen packed up and stored in a storage closet
at the Penn Biden Center, '™ The others were the boxes she packed with files from
the outer office. 1003

Remus visited the Penn Biden Center two davs later. on June 30, 2022, with a
member of her staff and a top advisor to the First Lady.'"8 They expected to retrieve
the 13 boxes mentioned by the executive assistant.'¥” Remus planned to ship some
ol the boxes to Moore, %% The member of her staff and the advisor to the First Lady
would drive the rest to the Delaware residence. "% Upon arriving at the Penn Biden
Center. though., Remus discovered that there was much more rhan 13 boxes of
material belonging ro My, Biden, and some of it was not even packed.'?i® The project
of going through the volume of material and figuring out where things should go "was

a much bigger task™ than Remus had expected. 91! Remus and her colleagues left the

e fxecutive Assistant 17423 Tr. at 100-01.

1003 BT Serial 350 1A421: 6/28/23 e-mail to Remus. SCOH-000755.

Wl Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 140--1:4,

100 I, at 1.4,

s PRI Serial 364 1:A429: Remus Tr. at 90, 93-91. 1.13-16; WIHC Special Assistant Tr.
at 19.

1007 Remus Tr. at 1:38-39.

B0 fef gt 90-91.

e Bemus Tr. at 90: WHC Special Assistant Tr. at 16-17.

Wi Remus Tr. at 68, 138-39.

100 Jd at 68: gee afse Dr. Biden Personal Aide Tr. at 1142,
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Penn Biden Center that day without removing anything.1012 The photographs taken
by the director of Oval Office operations in March 2021 corroborated Remus’s

statements about the quantity and variety of Mr. Biden’s items stored at the Penn

Biden Center:1013

« K : 2 _!
Photos of a storage closet at the Penn Biden Center (March 2021)1014

Remus later contacted Moore and asked him to review and properly dispose of

the material stored at the Penn Biden Center.1015 Moore visited the Center months

later, on October 12, 2022, along with one of Mr. Biden’s Oval Office aides. 1916 Moore’s

1012 Remus Tr. at 68; WHC Special Assistant Tr. at 21,
1012 FBI Serial 348 1A419; Director of Oval Office Operations Tr. at 19-26; Penn Office
Inventory, WH-SCH-000000003; see also 3/17/21 e-mails between Oval Office Aides, WH-

SCH-000000002.
1014 Penn Office Inventory, WH-SCH-000000003 at 10; WH-SCH-000001234; FBI

Serial 348 1A419.
1015 Moare 01/12/23, FBI Serial 96 at 7; Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 4; Remus Tr.

at 68-69, 148.
1018 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 5; Dr. Biden Staffer 2 Tr. at 40.
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goal was to take stock of what was stored there, determine how much needed to be
reviewed. and create a plan for moving evervthing out.'™7 According to Moore,
conducting the review was not a high priority because nobody expected to find
classtfied documents or presidential records thepe, 100

The Oval Office aide accompanied Moore to facilitate his access to the Penn
Biden Center and his initial review of material.t'% While at the Penn Biden Center,
the aide also =earched for and found items that could be used at the White House,
such as gifts for visitors and Mr, Biden’s personal stationery and personal items 1020

Moore first nspected material in a back storage closet—pictured above—
located off the mail room/kitchenette.'92! He found a variety of items including gifts,
memorabilia. books, and condolence correspondence related to the 2015 death of My,
Biden's son. Beau Biden. 1022

Moore then inspected My, Biden's office space.!92% That space mcluded Mr.
Biden's office. a small closet in that office. and the outer office. 102!

Moore 1dentified six or seven boxes containing documents to review.!023 He

recalled finding at least some of those boxes in the small eloset in My, Biden's office

WE Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 5.

LS Jef at 1.

019 3y Biden Staffer 2 Tr. at 36, 15: 80: FBI Serial 8 1AL, 11/16/22 Narrative from
Bauecr at 2.

w0 Py Biden Staffer 2 Ty, at 71, 75-77: FBI Serial 8 1A5. 11/16/22 Navrative from
Bauer at 2.

2 AMoore 11718722, FBI Serial 16 at 5; Moore 1/12/23, FBI Serial 96 at 8: Bl Serial
318 1:4119; Penn Office Inventory, WH-SCH-000000003, at 10: WH-SCH-000001216.

1022 Moore 11/18/22. FBI Sertal 16 at 3-6: Moorve 1/12/23, FBI Serial 96 at 8.

125 Moore 11/18/22. FIBT Serial 16 ar 6.

1y [d

wes fof - Maore 1/12/23. FBI Servial 96 at 9.
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and moving them to the outer office for review. 926 When interviewed by FBI agents,
Moore believed the small closet was initially locked and that a Penn Biden Center
staff member provided a kev to unlock it, but his memory was fuzzy on that point. 102
He found the other boxes in the outer office. where he conducted his first cursory
review of the material in the boxes.'92% During that initial. quick review, Moore saw
copies of speeches. political documents. and campaign materials. 929 He also noticed
documents dating from My, Biden's time as vice president: the format of these
documents led him to believe they were from the White House 10 Moore knew such
documents were potentially presidential records under the Presidential Records Aet.
which must be stored at the National Archives.!?! He did not see any documents with
classification markings at the time. 32 AMoore left that dayv intending to return latev
and, among other things. conduct a more detailed review of the material and
determine whether any of 1t included presidential records. 1099

Moore returned to the Penn Biden Center several weeks later on November 2.

2022. with an associate from his law firm. 1% They planned to review the materials

28 See Moove 1/12/23. I'B] Serial 96 at 8-10; Moore 11/18/22. I'B] Serial 16 at 6.

1027 Maoore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 6. The executive assistant stated that the Home
Depot boxes she packed up during her June 2022 visit were lelt in the Outer Office. Executive
Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 98-99, 106-08; Exccutive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 117, She did not
move these boxes into the closet in Mr. Biden's office. Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 107-
08: Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 148-49,

1028 FRI Serial 96 at 9-10: FBI Serial 16 at 6.

2 FRT Serial 16 at 6.

st Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 6; Moore 1/12/23. FBI Sevial 96 at 8.

W3t Sep Moore 11718/22, FRBT Serial 16 at 6.

W52 Moore L1/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 6; FBI Sertal 8 1A5. 11/16/22 Narrative from
Bauer at 2.

W03 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 6: Moore 1/12/25. FBI Scrial 96 at 8-9.

03 Moore 11/18/22, FBl Serial 16 at 7; FBI Serial 8 1AS, 11/16/22 Narrative from
Bauer at 2.
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and send records that were not presidential records to themr firm office i Boston, 1099
Moore brought FedEx boxes, and the two packed up and eventually shipped some
materials theyv determined were clearly not presidential vecords. such as material
dated after Mr. Biden's vice presidency.'"’6 Thev set aside for further review four
Home Depot boxes containing folders labeled with dates from 2009 to 2017, vears
during which Mz, Biden served as vice president 1037

Moore began reviewing the material in one of the Home Depot hoxes. 103 Aboul
a third of the wav through the box. he found a manila envelope marked "EYES ONLY™
for the Viee President. !9 "[RAN” was handwritten on the envelope. ' Inside the
envelope. Moore found documents with classification markings.1%! He took the box
into the adjoming room and contacted Bauer, who in turn contacted the White House
Counsel, 1912 Members of the White House Counsel's Office then notified the National

Archives” gencral counsel. 'V Moore added Post-It notes to designate wheve he found

35 Neore 11/18/22. FBl Serial 16 at 7: FBI Serial 8 1A5. 11/16/22 Narrative from
Bauer at 2,

6 Moore 11/18/22. FBI Serial 16 at 7-9; FBI Serial 8 1A5. 11/16/22 Narrative from
Bauer at 2.

B Moorve 1171822 FBl Sertal 16 at 7. 9.

138 el at 7-9.

1059 fef ar 7-9.

g at 8.

1041 Jof.

iz Mogve 11/18/22. FBI Serial 96 at 8 FBI Serial 8 1:A5. 11/16/22 Narrative from
Bauer at 3.

e B Sertal 8 15, 11/16/22 Narrative from Bauer at 3: Moore 11718722, FBI Serial
16 al 8.
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documents with classification markings.!1?44 He photographed the files 1in the box,

which an archivist from the National Archives later labeled “Box 3.71043

Photo of Box 3 taken by Moore on or about Nou. 2, 20221046

Moore’s associate also discovered material with classification markings in

another box of files, which he had been reviewing page by page.1047 That box also

1044 Moore 1/12/23, FBI Serial 96 at 11.

1045 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 10-11; FBI Serials 17 1A19, 173 1A182; NARA
Archivist 2 12/2/22, FBI Serial 26 at 1-2.

1046 Bates-000016; FBI Serial 17 1A19.

1047 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 96 at 8; Personal Attorney 1 12/8/22, FBI Serial 40 at

3-4.
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contained other records that Moore thought could qualify as presidential records.1048
The associate used Post-It notes to flag documents he wanted Moore to look at and to
keep track of documents he removed to review.1049 Moore photographed the files in

the box, which his associate labeled “Box 1.”1050

Photo of Box 1 taken by Moore on or about Nov. 2, 2022105

1048 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 7-9.

1048 Peygonal Attorney 1 12/8/22, FBI Serial 40 at 4-5.

1050 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 10-11; FBI Serial 17 1A19; Personal Attorney 1
12/8/22, FBI Serial 40 at 5; NARA Archivist 2 12/1/22, FBI Serial 26 at 1.

1051 Bates-000028; Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 10; FBI Serial 17 1A19.
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Moore and his associate identified one other of the four boxes that potentially
contained presidential records but found no documents with classification markings

m that box.1052 The National Archives later labeled the box as “Box 2.71053

Photo of Box 2 taken by Moore on or about Nov, 2, 20221054

1052 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 9.

1053 Idl,: NARA Archivist 2 12/1/22, FBI Serial 26 at 1; FBI Serial 26 1A3I;
20221201_WFO_13.

1031 Bates-000030; Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 10; FBI Serial 17 1A19.
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The next day, November 3, 2022, two archivists from the National Archives
met Moore and an Associate White House Counsel at the Penn Biden Center.t05
Moore took the three Home Depot boxes out of the locked closet and put them in the
outer office. 196% He offered for the archivists to take the fourth (FedEx) box. but they
=aid the National Archives had nstructed them to take onlv the three, %! The
archivists returned a few davs later on November 8, 2022, however. and took the
fourth box along with 28 Federal Records Center boxes from the Penn Biden
Center. 1052 Moore told the archivists that the 28 boxes contained letters expressing
condolences related to the death of Beau Biden, 1063

Lipon reviewing the contents of the three boxes in a SCIF at the National
Archives. an archivist determined that they icluded nine documents with
classification markings totaling 44 pages.’%! Those documents were in Box 1 and Box
3.163 She estimated that about 90 percent of the documents in Boxes 1, 2. and 3 were
personal in nature and related to financial matters, correspondence, and pictures, 1066
No other documents with classification markings were found in any of the material

the National Archives took from the Penn Biden Center.!" Box 4 contained an

950 NMoore 1171822, FRI Sermal 16 at 10: NARA Archivist 2 11/10/22, FB Serial 3 at
2: NABA COS 11721722, FBI Serial 6 at 1-2.

60 Moore 11/18/22, F'B1 Serial 16 at 10.

11 Moore 11/18/22, FBI Serial 16 at 9-10.

bz fdoat 11 NARA Archivist 2 11/10/2022 FBI Serial 3 at 3.

e NARA Archivist 2 11/10/22, FBI Serial 3 at 3.

e Il a2,

W65 NARA Arvchivist 2 12/1/22. ¥BI Serial 26 at

66 NARA Archivist 2 11/1(/22, FBI Serial 3 at

6T NARA Archivist 2 12/1/22. FBI Serial 26 at

S Lo Lo
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otherwise blank page with a classification marking 1968 The page appeared to be the

last page of bound briefing material that had likely been removed from a classified

briefing book. 1069

FBI agents visited a SCIF at the National Archives on December 1 and 2, 2022,

to review and photograph the four boxes and their contents.1070

The PBC boxes in a SCIF at the National Archives for FBI review (Dec. I, 2022)107)

The National Archives later transferred custody of the marked classified documents

in Boxes 1 and 3 to the FBI.10%2

1968 NARA Archivist 2 11/10/22, FBI Serial 3 at 3.
1069 I

1070 BT Serial 26.

W71 20221201_WFO_0012; FBI Serial 26 1A31.
1072 F'BI Serial 173.
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https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/issues/foreign-policy/iran-deal
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Portion of Page 2 of vecovered document A7

l

Partion of page 3 of recovered document A7

L

Portion of page § of recovered document AT

1 Recovered document AT,
1083 Id
W I




L~

Portion of page 7 of recovered dociiment A7
The handwritten references to blocking "Arak™ and “heavy water” correspond to the
Obama White House's reference to blocking weapons-grade plutonium, 109
b. “Ukraine 02/09/15” and “VP Personal” file folders
The FBI located the marked classified document designated A8 among
unclassified documents i a green file folder labeled “Ukraine 02/09/157 within an
unlabeled green hanging folder.'™" Agenis located documents designated A9 and A10

among unclassified documents in a red {ile folder labeled "VP Personal” within an

1045 [(j‘

1096 The Historie Deal that Will Prevent Iran from Acquiring & Nuclear Weapon, The
White House, httpsi//obamawhitehouse. archives.goviissues/foretgn-policy/iran-deal (last
visiled Jan. 31, 202.3); The White House,
httpsiobamawhitehouse.archives.goviissues/foreign-policv/iran-deal (last visited Jan. 31.
2023) ("The third way Iran could build a nuclear weapon 1s by using weapons-grade
plutonium. The only site where Tran could accomplish this is the Arak reactor. a heavy-water
nuclear reactor.”).

0 Bocovered document A8 Evidence item 1B49.
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unlabeled green hanging folder. 1098

VP Personal” folder and unclassified contents''W0

1088 Recovered documents A9 and A10; Evidence item 1B49.

1089 20221201 WFO_0113. The document titled “Withdrawal Marker” is a placeholder
for the classified document A8. See FBI Serials 683 1A772, 26 1A31.

oo BRI Serial 26 1AS31, 20221201 WFQO_0117. The documents titled “Withdrawal
Marker” are placeholders for the classified documents A9 and A10. See FBI Serial 683 1A772.
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Appendix A neludes unclassified descriptions of documents A8 through A0,
Document AY 1z a telephone call sheet setting lorth the purpose and ralking points
for a call between Mr. Biden and the Ukrainian Prime Minister. My, Biden wrote a
“Get 4] copy of thix conversation from

note to his executive assistant on the sheet:

Sit Rm for my Records pleaze” and signed it “doe.”

12

o e

Lk
T e o ;J’iﬂb

S }

Handwritfen note from Mr. Biden on recovered docum.en{ Agam

C. Unclassified contents of Penn Biden Center Box 3
Like Box 1. Box 3 imncluded a wide variety of unclassified files of personal and

professional significance to Mr. Biden. To name a few:

e A file folder labeled “Gencalogy”™ with information about the ancestors of
Mr. Biden and Biden family history. 1102

s Varigus file {olders with documents related to Mr. Biden's “Cancer
Moonshot” initiative 1103

o A fNle folder labeled "Kconomy” with documents from 2015 related to
economic policy and meetings with officials such as the Secretary of the

Treasury. 1194

1o Recovered document A9,

102 NARA_SCAN_00001390-98: NARA Archivist £ 1171072022, FBI Serial 3.

s fg g NARA SCAN_00001505-16, NARA_SCAN_00001611-51; NARA Avchivist 2
1171042022, FBI Serial 3.

o NARA_SCAN _00001581-91: NARA Archivist 2 11/1(/2022. FBI Serial 3

281



e A file folder labeled “Notable Stories on the Life of Beau Biden™ with
compiled news clippings about Mr. Biden's son, 1193

D. Security and access controls at the Penn Biden Center

To access the Penn Biden Center, emplovees used a key fob, which thev had to
scan at the building’s front door. the elevator. and the Center sulte's front door. 1106
The Center did not allow visitors inside unless someone with a kev fob escorted
them. 119" The Center required the logging of visitors through a third-party sccurity-
management system. and visitors had to check in with building security upon arrival
i the building lobby 110+

Despite those controls. we cannot account for all visitors to the Center. In
practice. emplovees with keyv fobs could and sometimes did bring guests with them to
the Centrer without logging them with sceurity. ' The Center's office manager did
not maintain a visitor log. 1t The third-party vendor vetained its vizitor logs for only
one vear. so logs [or the vears 2017 through 2021, when My, Biden was a private
citizen. were not available to investigators. 11

The Center hosted visitors from 1ts inception until the recovery of marked

classified documents in November 2022, In keeping with its stated purpose to

U NARA_SCAN_00001716- 17 NARA Archivist 2 11/10/2022, FBI Serial 3.

Hos Fxecutive Assistant 17423 Tro at 103-101; PBC Director of Programs Ty, at 48-19:
PBC Scheduler Tr. at 63: Specchwriter Ty, at 92-93: OVP Intern Tr. at 11-42: Prescott Tr, ar
85-86.

H0TPRC Emplovee 2 Tr. at 2.1 Prescott Tr. at 86.

s egislative Affairs Staff' 1 Treoat 26; PRC Emplovee 2 1/16/23 Tre. at 16-18; Personal
Aide 3 3/28/23 Tr. at 147 PBC Emplovee T 1716523 Tr. at 71; PBC Scheduler Tr at 9. 100,

nes PR Divector of Programs Tr. at 60; PBC Scheduler Tr. at 100: PBC Employvee 2
1/16/23 Tr. at 16,

e PRE Emplovee 2 1/16/23 Tr. at 16,

0BT Sevial 345 1TALLE, SCOH-000448.
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“convene world leaders.” 12 the Center hosted foreign dignitaries for roundtable
events or 10 meet with Mr. Biden in his personal office. Center staff recalled events
and meetings with the former President of Mexico, the President ol Costa Rica. the
former Secretary General of NATO. the Prime Minister of Estonia, members of the
LUkrainian Orthodox Church. and Israell officials. 117? The Center also hosted more
than a dozen classes for University of Pennsyvlvania faculty, students, and interns
over a period of vears. For instance. a course on “Business Strategies for Engaging
with Government™ in March 2022 featured guest speakers from the U.S. Department
of Commerce. General Electric. and Google. 'l In addition. a cleaning crew came
through the Center every night to ¢lean the offices. 115

As a general matter. the administrative staff at the Center tried to keep the
offices locked or closed off during classes or events, 1118 However. My, Biden's office

did not lock. and the adjoining outer office where My, Biden's executive assistant

2 Penn Biden Center.  Cur  Mission  Statemient. DPenn  Biden  (Center,
https://global. upenn.cduw/penn-biden-center/our-mission-statement (last visited Feb. 2. 20241).

13 Speechwriter Tr. ar 101-02: PBC Emplovee 1 1/16/23 Tr. at 68; OVP NSA Staffer
2Tr. at 109; Legislative Affairs Staff | Tr. at 30: Prescott Tr. at 82-83; Personal Aide i 3/28/23
Tr. at 145; OVP Intern Tr. at 47-48. Mr. Biden also met with the former Prime Minister of
Ukraine in May 2017 when the Penn Biden Center was housed in a temporary office space
located at 701 Pennsylvania Avenue Northwest in Washington. DC. 5/14/17 e-mail from Penn
Biden Center Business Manager, SCOH-000453.

L BT Serial 346 1LA41T: 2/9/23 Penn Biden Center List of Classes and Seminars,
SCOH-000734.

HE PRC Emplovee 1 1/16/23 Tr. at 30.

6 Id at 30-34: PBC Scheduler Ty, at 71-72.
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maintained his files was alwavs accessible through My, Biden's office.i'7" Other
emplovees habits varied as to whether they kept their offices locked. 111%

The Center relaxed security measures after Mr. Biden stopped working therve
in April 20191019 Tt stall required visitors to check in with sceurity 1 the building
lobby, but they did not need a key fob or an escort in order to access the sixth floor of
the building 1?0 The Center also permitted University of Pennsylvania students who
took classes at the Center to work 1n the office space during the day.''2! The Center
was locked down for about two vears due to the COVID-19 pandemie. 122

E. Investigation of the classified documents recovered from the
Penn Biden Center

As described further below. Mr. Biden's now-former executive assistant
maintained the files 1in the four relevant boxes recovered by FBI agents from the Penn
Biden Center, two of which included marked classified documents, The executive
assistant originally mamtained those files in her office space outside My, Biden's
West Wing office and moved them—through two temporary spaces—to the Penn

Biden Conter. where she continued to add to the files.

7 Fxecutive Assistant 17123 Tr. at 103-04: PBC Emplovee 1 1/16/23 Tr. at 29-32.
76-77. PBC Emplovee 2 1/16/23 Ty, at 22-23, 60-61. For security reasons. the Vice President's
office could only be locked from the inside using a panic button. PBC Emplovee 2 1/16/23 Tr.
at 22.23- PBC Emplovee 1 1/16/23 Tr. at 76-77.

NS PR Divector of Programs Tr. at 49: OVP Intern Tr. at 12-13.

e fegislative Affaivs Staff' 1 Te ar 12-143,

1120 fof.

k2 !O’

tz PRC Emplovee T /168723 Tr. at 11-13: PRC Divector of Programs Ty, at 111: PRC
Emplovee 2 1/16/23 Ty, at 12; Riechetti Tr. at 151,
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We set forth in particular detail what we learned about these documents and
their path to the Penn Biden Center because they arve the most highle classified,
sensitive, and compartmented materials recovered during our investigation.

1. Document handling and filing in Mr. Biden’s vice
presidential office in the West Wing

My, Biden's office suite in the West Wing of the White House during his vice
presidency consisted primarily of his office and a connected front office.'12* During
his vice presidencey. Mr. Biden's first executive assistant and staff assistant worked
in his front office from the start of the Obama administration through mad-2012 1121
The assistants whoe staffed the front office at the end of the administration—the
exccutive assistant and Staff Assistant 3—started In mid-2012 and mid-20141.
respectively, 112

The front office stalf collected and organized Mr. Biden's records. 1126 Classificd
records were retrieved by members of My, Biden's National Security Affairs team or
sent to the White House Situation Room. 1127 The majority of unclassified records were
regularly sent to the National Archives as presidential records. ! Given the volume

of paper that passed through his office every dayv, 1f staff did not constantly collect,

Tes 12/21/22 Sraff Assistant 3 Interview, FBI Serial 36 at 2: Kxecutive Assistant 1/4/23
Tr. at 17-19.

M2t Seaflf Assistant 1Tr. at 15, 33-34; Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 3-2, 10,

12 BT Serial 36 at 1 Executive Assistant T'r. 1/4/23 at 3-1.

L26 Kxeeutive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 22-24, 30-31. 178-80; Staff Assistant 3 10/4/23
Tr. at 15-17: Staff Assistant 2 Tr. at 19 August 2015 West Wing Guide, SCOH-000427 at 3,
6.

L2 BRI Serial 36 at 3-4; Staff Assistant 3 10/1/23 Tr. at 16-17; Executive Assistant
1/4/23 Tr. at 23-24; Staff Assistant 2 Tr. at 20-21.

tizs PRI Serial 36 at 2-3; Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 22-23; Staff Assistant 2 Tr.
at 19-20.
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View of the front office toward the staff assistant’s desk (Dec. 20f6 RKH

Mr. Biden sometimes wrote a note on material he wanted to save.!13¢ For example,
he might write “save,” “save in office, or “file.”1135 [n at least one instance, Mr. Biden
wrote a note on a classified call-sheet instructing his executive assistant to retrieve

the transcript of a call with a foreign leader for “my [r]ecords.”1136

1133 1B001_00766834.
1134 Spe, e.g., August 2016 West Wing Guide, SCOH-000427 at 6; Executive Assistant

1/4/23 Tr. at 141, 200.
1135 August 2016 West Wing Guide, SCOH-000427 at 6; Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr.

at 141, 200.
1136 Evidence item 1B49:; Recovered Document A9.

287



Portion of a redacted vice presidential netecard with “File” writien on top''

The files kept in the front office also included some of Mr. Biden's personal
documents. 119 For example, Mr. Biden sometimes asked his {ront office assistants to
save poems he liked or vetrieve Biden-family genealogy information =tored in the
Alew 119

The front office axsistants occasionally reviewed thewr files. sclected material
they determined My, Biden no longer needed or wanted. and sent 1t 1o be archived. ! #
Based on the documents recovered from the Penn Biden Center. however. the
oceasional review of files stored 1n the front office was imperfect or not exhaustive.

Many of the files stored in the front office—hoth personal and official—were old. i 11

3 NARA-Bx2 VP Notecards_2016-0090; FBI Serial 281

118 192/21/22 Staff Assistant 3 Intevview, FBI Serial 36 at 2; Fxecutive Assistant 1/ 1723
Tr. at 76-77; August 2016 West Wing Guide, SCOH-000127 at 6.

th Evecutive Assistant 1423 Teo at 79-80; FExecutive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 25,

0 39/21/22 Staff Assistant 3 interview, FBI Serial 36 at 2-3.

M Executive Assistant 14423 Te. at 41, 193 Exccutive Asaistant 9/28/23 Ty, at 20,
¢9-70.
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Some dated back to Mr. Biden's first term as vice president or even his Senate

days. 11

2. Mr. Biden's move out of the viee president’s West Wing
office

At the end of the Obama administration, Mr. Biden’s staff preparved to pack up
and move out of his West Wing office and into a transition office in Washington.
D.C.15 Al Biden's front office staff. led by his executive assistant. packed up his
West Wing office. V't Packing the office was a challenge: Staff had to pack up and
move out by Inaugurarion Day while continuing operations until the very end of the
administration. % The executive assistant recalled packing evervthing up in "maybe
a couple of davs™ in Januavy 20171116

The front office staff packed up both Mr. Biden's office and the front office 111"
The front office contained the bulk of the files to he packed. The executive assistant
recalled packing hanging file folders {from the front office into boxes provided by the
General Services Administration. '™ The stafl assistant packed up the contents of

Mr. Biden's desk in his West Wing Office. 1" The desk contained some files, most of

Wiz Executive Assistant V423 Tr. ac 41, 193; Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 20,
69-70.

M3 11/17/16 Memorandum [(or the Vice President and Dy, Biden from Stalf, SCOH-
O00305-SCOH-000306; FBI Serial 1 1A91 FBI_00000177.

N Exeeutive Assistant 1/ 123 Tr, at 36-39,

NE L gt 36-39: Staff Assistant 3 12/21/22 Interview, FBI Serial 36 at 7.

G Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 38-39. Most of the files in the front office had not
been packed up as of January 11 or 12, 2017, Staff Assistant 4 Tr. at 111-15, 120-21.

Niv Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 37-39.

HHE Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 37.

1 Seaff Assistant 3 12/21/22 Interview, FBI Serial 36 at 5: Staff Assistant 3 10/1/23
Tr. at 92-93.
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which were personal—for instance. quotes and speeches that Mr. Biden referred 1o
often and notes from family members 1150

Mr. Biden's staff did not recall him packing any of his own boxes in the West
Wing Office.©¥% Nor did thev recall him directing them to bring specfic filex as they
were moving out of the White House. %2 However, there were a number of tvpes of
files that the executive assistant believed Mr. Biden would want to keep with him.
such as mementos relating to Beau Biden's death. the genealogy of the Bidens. news
articles, poliey papers, and copies of his schedules and specches. 1% She described the
packing process as somewhat "random. 179t She explained that “we knew that he was
going to write a book™ and "do some speaking engagements.” but “none of us knew
what we were gomg to need. 153

The execurive assistant did not believe the files thev packed contained
classified documents. 1% The front office staffs practice was 1o veturn classified
documents to their originating office or to the White House Situation Room., either

daily or whencver Mr. Biden was finished with them . '%7 Staff lacked the time when

A Seaff Assistant 5 1272122 Tnterview. FBI Serial 36 at 30 Stall Assistant 3 10/ 423
Tr. at 92-93.

15 Executive Assistant U423 Tr. at 38 Executlve Assistant 928/23 Ty at 11314,
fY Exeeutive Assistant 1AE23 Tr. at 82 Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 113-14;
Staft Assistant 3 Tr. at 93,

153 xecutive Asststant 1/4/23 Tr. at 83-87.

e [l at 87,

t3S [,

136 See Kxecutive Assistant 14023 Tro at 173-73, 177-79 lixceutive Assistant
9/28/2023 Tr. at 81,

WA Executive Assistant X123 Tr. at 23-27: Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 81
Staff Assistant 3 12/21/22 Interview, FBL Serial 36 at 1-5: Stafl Assistant 3 10/4/23 Tr. at 16-
18: 9/1/16 West Wing Guide, SCOH-00043.4 at 7. Occeasionally Staff Assistant 3 would store
classified material in the safe in the Viece President’'s Office on a temporary basis until she
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packing to review files methodically 1o ensure evervithing was disposed of
correctlv, 1198

A total of voughly fifteen boxes were moved from the West Wing Office to the
transition office in the adminiztration’s final davs 1Y% Once at the transition office,
Mr. Biden's staff did not unpack many of the boxes of files from the West Wing
Office. 1150 My, Biden was not there daily but did come by occasionally for meetings, 1161

In late June 2017, Mr. Biden and a core group of staff moved from the
transition office to the Penn Biden Center's temporary office in Washington, D. (1162
They staved in this office for several months while the Penn Biden Center's
permanent office was under construction. % Because Mr. Biden's staff knew they
would not he at the temporary office for long. thev did not fully unpack. and matenal

remained m boxes theve 1161

could veturn it to the appropriate National Security personnel. Staff Assistant 3 10/1/23 Tr.
ar 18-20.

a8 See Fxecutive Assistant 1/1/23 Tr.oat 30: Staft Assistant 3 12/21/23 Interview, FBI
Serial 36 at 7.

159 1/17/17 e-mail from Executive Assistant to Asscclate Divector of Admin., et al.,
SCOH-000238; 1/17/17 e-mail from Associate Director of Admin. to GSA Emplovee 1. et al,,
SCOH-000216; 1/19/17 e-mail from Executive Assistant to OVP Purchase Manager. et al.,
SCOH-000217: I/9/17 e-mail from Staff Assistant 1 to Associate Director of Admin. et al.
SCOH-000571; 1/4/17 e-mail from OVP Operations Staffer to Staff Assistant 3 et al., SCOH-
000145; Staff Asgsistant 1 Tr. at 119-20.

L0 Fixecutive Assistant 17423 Tr. at 51; Personal Aide 3 3/28/23 Tr. at 102-03.

Ul FExecutive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 48-49; Personal Alde 3 3/28/23 Tr. at 107.

N6z PRI Serial 72 1AT8; 6/12/17 c-mail from OVP Purchase Manager to PBC
Scheduler, SCOH-000716: 6/19/17 e-mail from OVP Purchase Manager to PBC Employec 2.
SCOH-000716; GSA Employee 2 Tr. at 53.

163 12/8/22 PBC Emplovee 2 Interview. FBI Serial 20 at 1: PBC Scheduler Tr. at 33;
Eseccutive Assistant 141723 Tr. at 35-56.

161 Executive Assistant 1423 Tr. at 534; PBC Scheduler Ty, at 57-58.
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In October 2017, My, Biden and his staff moved into the Penn Biden Center's
permancent office. 165 Once there. the executive assistant recalled unpacking some
hoxes but not all of them “hecause there was just no need.”!166 She unpacked some of
My, Biden's files mnto file drawers 1n the outer office adjoining My, Biden's office 1187
[n particular. she stored some files in a three-drawer filing cabinet adjacent to the
door to Mr. Biden's office. 188 The executive assistant could not recall how they
determined what to unpack versus what to leave in boxes, 169

When shown copies of the files in Boxes 1 through 3 recovered from the Penn
Biden Center. the executive assistant recognized many of them as filex she
maintained for Mr. Biden in the West Wing. 1'% For instance. with respect to a manila
envelope at the front of Box 3 laheled "Lavout of Beau's House.” she explained that
this file "was very mmportant” to My, Biden and “he wanted to have access to 16, 11!
She stated that the file "came from the White House.” where she had storved it in her
desk in the front office or in the credenza behind her: she then brought i1t to the Penn
Biden Center. where she stored it in the outer office. 72 The executive assistant also

identified her handwriting on many file folders in Boxes T and 3.''7 She noted that

Tsd 12/8022 PRC Emplovee 2 Intevview, FBI Serial 20 at 1; PBC Employvee 2 Trvo at 1
Bl Serial 341 1A115: 10/27/17 e-mail from PBC Employee 2 to Scott Hoffman. et al.. SCOH-
000777,

HeE Fixecutive Assistant 1/41/23 Tr. ar 63,

WSS e at 72

168 I at 72. 76.

69 Il ar 65-66.

U0 T arn 128-33. 147-18; gee generally Executive Assistant /1723 Tr. at 128-2003,

LS Fxeceutive Assistant /423 Troar 123-54 FB! SBerial 17 1A19. Bates-000016.

22 Bxecutive Assistant 174023 Tr. at 183-5-L

13 See, e.g., Exceutive Assistant 17423 Tr. at 133, 151, 155: I'BI Scral 26 1A31,
20221201_WFO_0052: FBI Serial 17 1A19, Bates-000019.
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some of the files in Boxes 1 through 3 predated her time in the White House and she
likely inherited many of them from her predecessor, 117

The executive assistant did not specifically recall any of the folders containing
classified documents. although she acknowledged that they could have been files she
maintained for Mr. Biden in the West Wing. She identified other files that postdated
the Obama administration as ones she likely maintained for Mr. Biden at the
transition office or the Penn Biden Center. 175

Numerous unclassified files in Boxes 1 through 4 contained handwritien notes
from Mr. Biden directing that the contents be “saved” or “filed.” The executive
assistant explained that these notes meant Mr. Biden wanted the files saved and kept
in the office rather than archived in case he wanted them later. During the
administration she did not have an expectation of where the files would go after Mr.
Biden's term as vice president.!''% But when she packed the files to move out. she
expected the files from the West Wing Office would travel with My, Biden to his new
office 1177

3. Origin of marked classified documents in the “EYES
ONLY” envelope

In January 2015—around the date handwritten on the "EYES ONLY envelope

recovered from the Penn Biden Center—the Obama administration was negotiating

071 Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 128-29, 1.16-47. 193,

N7 fof, at 206-12; FBI Serial 26 1A32, 20221202 WEG_029:2-94:
20221202_WTFPQ_0336; 20221202 WTK0O_0415-18.

W8 FExecutive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 87-28.

L Jd . at 27-29.
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the Jran nuclear deal.’"™ The administration sought to oblain concessions {from the
[ranian government that would Limit its ability to develop nueclear weapons.V™ In
exchange, the United States and other countries would case economic and trade
sanctions on lran 1180

During those negotiations. the administration worked both to gain
congressional support for the Iran nuclear deal and to ensure Congress did not take
action that would interfere with negotiations, in particular. by Imposing additional
sanctions on [ran. '8! Additional sanctions. in the administration’s view. would cause
Iran to walk awav from a deal and toward further development of nuclear
weapons. 12 The administration also opposed legislation that would purport to give

the Senate an up-or-down vote on the final Iran nuclear deal.

U vidence item 1818: Colin Kahl, lran Timeline. SCOH-000287 at 10-11.

B8 See, e.g., Key Points on the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action with lran.
TBO01_00009530: The White House, The lran Nuciear Deal: What You Need to Know about
the JCPON, SCOH-000456 at 1-5.

1180 See Legislative Affairs Staff 2 Tr. at 8-9; The White House, The [ran Nuclear Deal:
What You Need to Know about the JCPOA. SCOH-000156 at 8: Top Lines Points - Sanctions,
1B001_01913030; Sanctions Relief — Countering Iran's Reglonal Activities, 18001_01913085:
Sanctions FAQ's. 1BOOT_02226166.

1EL See 7/20/14 Memorandum for the President. Legislative Report for the Week of
July 21, 2001, 1B001_02436788 at 1-2; legislative Affairs Staff 2 Tr. at 8-9: 2/8/15
Memorandum for the President. Legislative Report for the Week of February 9, 2015.
1BOOT_01903177.

182 1/28/15 Briefing Memo from OVEP-NSA. Background and Points for Breakfast with
Senators on Iran Legislation, TBO01_02236623 at 5.

T8t Seg 1/20/15 Memo ve Telephone Call with Senater from White House Legislative
Affaivs Staff, NARA_SCAN _00001161: FBI Sertal 3: Memorandum for the Viee President,
Corker lran Legizlation: Poliey and Precedent Izsues, NARAWH_00016231.
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The administration sought to engage members of Congress to advance these
goals. Given his lengthy service in the Senate and longstanding velationships with
members of Congress, Mr. Biden assisted in that effort as vice president, 8!

As part of that effore, Mr. Biden scheduled a breakfast with six scnators on
January 29. 2015115 Colin Kahl, Mr, Biden's National Sceurity Advisor. e-mailed
sraff on January 24, 2015, stating that the "VP wants to do a breakfast next week”
with the aforementioned senators “to discuss Iran sanctions,” 1'% Rahl noted. "thix1s
the group that wravelled together to Israel and other spots in the Middle East - and
many came back in support of the Covker-Graham Iran legislation we oppose, 115

The daxv before the breakfast. Ny, Biden's national security staff gave him a
briefing memo stating that the =ix mvited Senators “returned from their recent trvip
to Isracl more skeptical of imposing new sanctions on Jran {(along the lines of the
Kirk-Menendez legislation) but more svmpathetic to Corker-Graham legizlation that
would give Congress [an] up-or-down vote on a final nuclear deal.”11%% The memo also

stated that “{a]dditional classified paper will be provided separately.” '™ Soon after

e egislative Affairs Statt 2 Ty, at 7-11; Legislative Affairs Staff 1 Ty, at 12-13: OVP
NSA Staffer T Tr. at 41-15.

185 1/29/15 Schedule for Viee President Joe Biden, NARAWLH_00000571.

186 1/24/15 e-mail from Kahl. 1BC01 02612074, Senator MoCain was on the initial list
of Senators proposed by Mr. Biden. hut not the final list of Senators invited to the breakfast
because he had a conflict on his schedule. See 1/27/15 e-mail from Mr. Biden's Divector of
Legislative Affatrs, 1BO0T1_026116235.

185 1/24/15 e-mail from Kahl. 1B001 _02253821.

nss 1/28/15 Bricfing Memo from OVP-NSA, Background and Points for Breakfast with
Senators on lran Legislation, 13001 02256623,

[BEL [d'
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e-mailing the memo. a staff member sent another message stating, “[t]here’l]l be more
classified material latey, " 1190
The evening before the breakfast with Senators, the White House and

intelligence community staff prepared a set of classified intelligence products for My,
Biden—documents designated A3 through A6 by the FBI—which was dehivered to
him the next merning in an envelope marked for his eves only. That night. My, Biden's
deputy national security advisor Jeff Prescott e-mailed Mr. Biden's staff:

There are IC products that are being generated per high

side traffic for the VP in advance of his breakfast tomorrow.

VP has indicated that he would like them delivered to him

as soon as possible anviime after 6:30am tomorrow

morning =0 that he can absorb before the breakfast

meeting, 9!
An NSC staff member responded in the e-mail’s reply thread: “Just to clarfv, these
are compartmented materials that can only be delivered 1n hardeopy."1#% The NSC
staffer said she had "econnected our CIA briefing ream”™ with the person who delivered
AMr. Biden's copy of the President’s Daily Brief every morning—his briefer—"so
hopefully she can facilitate the phyvsical transfer to the appropriate folks.” Mr. Biden's

briefer veplied, I will drop everything at NavObs by 063071193 My, Biden's bricfer

stated 1t was possible she packaged the documents in an envelope marked "EYES

e 1/28/15 e-mail from OV NSA Staffer 1. 1B0O01_02122385; 1/28/15 e-mail from
OVP NSA Staffer 1, 1B001_02256622: 1/28/15 Briefing Memo from OVP-NSA. Backeround
and Points for Breakfast with Senators on lran Legislation, 1B0G01_02256623.

HAL 1/28/15 e-mail from Prescott, TBOO1_02973019,

ez [d

WS 1/28/15 e-mail from PDB Briefer 2. 1B001 02973019,
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ONLY" because such envelopes might have been the only ones available in her office
at the time 1191
Prescott responded, asking Mr. Biden's briefer. "can vou please specifically
indicate the products that are responsive to this request and highlight them
separately for Milaide to deliver to VP?71%5 The bricfer responded she would do so.3196
Prescort replied telling her to “[p]lease bring one for VP and a separate copy for [Kahl|
both to NavObs."119" My, Biden's on-duty military aide responded on the thread, 71
will be in the kitchen at 0630 to take delivery. [ will hold [Kahl}'s with me and send
the VP’ up with the morning traffic.”119#
At 6:28 a.m. the next morning. the military aide notified the recipients of the
¢-mail thread that he had the sensitive materials:
[ have the PDBs and the other document for the V'P and
[Kahl} that [the briefer] dropped off. The VPs will he
delivered with his morning tralfic unless he contacts me or
any of vou and wants them earlier. I will hold [Kahl]'s until
he arrives. 1199
My, Biden's executive assistant asked, “can vou pls put note on the docs he was asking
about to highlight 1t."1290 The military aide replied. “they just went up and the
document said for VP eyves only." 20! A National Security Council staffer replied in

the e-mail chain that afternoon: “Hope the VP was satisfied with the materials/found

Het PNDB Briefer 2 Tr. at 72

V95 1/28/15 e-mall from Prescott, 1B001_02973019.

V96 1/28/15 e-mail from PDB Briefer 2, 1B001_02973019,

197 1/28/15 e-mail from Prescott, 1BO01 02973019,

198 1/28/15 e-madl from Military Aide 6. 1BO01_02973019.

N9 I,

1200 1/9249/15 e-mail from Executlive Assistant. IBOOT 02973019,
200 1/29/15 e-mail from Military Aide 6, 1BO01_ 02973019,
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Mr. Biden af the January 29, 2015 breakfast with a page of the handwritten notes (A7} found in the
EYES ONLY envelope'207

A former executive assistant to Mr. Biden confirmed that at times Mr. Biden
committed talking points to memory by writing them down, sometimes multiple
times.1208

We considered but ultimately rejected the possibility that Mr. Biden or his staff
collected the handwritten notes designated A7 from different people after a meeting
involving discussions and notetaking about the highly compartmented information
also found in the EYES ONLY envelope. The handwritten notes did not address the

same information as the other documents. No witness recalled an instance or practice

1200 SCOH-000776.
1208 Kxecutive Assistant 9/28/23 Tr. at 130-32.
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of collecting participants’ notes after a sensitive meceting in the White House. 129 And
that theory 18 inconsistent with the evidence that the rvelevant handwriting in A7
appears (o be a single person’s: My, Biden'e.

The =zpecial counsel asked My, Biden about the January 29, 2015 breakfast
with Senators and the handwritten notes in the EYES ONLY envelope during My,
Biden's interview.’?1® My, Biden had no recollection of the breakfast or the
handwritten notes, 12!

5. Mr. Biden’s continuing interest in the Iran deal after
receiving the EYES ONLY envelope

Myr. Biden's efforts to persuade members of Congress continued after the
hreakfast with Senators. Other examples included:

e atelephone eall with a senator on February 4, 20151212

¢ atelepbone eall with a vepresentative on Aprl 11, 2035.1258

e atelephone call with a representative on April 14 2015, =1

s ameeting with Senate Foreign Relations Committee Democrats on July 16,
2015, 1215

o a telephone call with a senator on July 29, 2015.1216

2l See, e.g., Kahl Class. Tr. at 27-28: Executive Secretary Staffer 4 Tr. ar 30:
Legislative Affairs Staff 2 Tr. at 22-23.

10 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 85-86.

121 Biden 10/9/23 Tr. at 85-86.

292 2/8/15-2/4/15 -e-malil thread re Call Request. 1TB001_02039129

RS I5-412/15  e-mail  thread among  staff re Readout of VP Calls
IBOOT 03791348,

214716 e-mail among staff re call with Congress vep.. 1BO01_03461705,

215 716/15 Event Memo from Staff, Meeting with Senate Foreign Relations
Committee Democrats to Discuss Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action  (JCPOA),
1B001_00009537.

1216 7/29/15 Telephone Call Sheet. Telephone Call with Senator Regarding Iran
Nuelear Deal, 1B001_02227386.
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¢  breakfast with members of the House Democratic members on July 30,
2015,12% and

o ameeting with House Democrats on July 15, 2015 321

Mr. Biden's interest in the Iran deal potentially extended bevond his official
duties and his time serving as vice president. In May 2016, Zwonitzer, the ghostwriter
for Promitse Me, Dad-—then in the planning phase—e-mailed My, Biden and his staff
a “one-page desceriprion of the hook we have been talking about.” 2% The description
proposed a “recounting of a small window of time . . . In the spring and summer of
20157 which “mav  be the most momentous epoch of the cight-vear
admimistration. 1220 The description hsted a number of administration activities
during that time, starting with the "negotiation of the framework of the Iran nuclear
deal and the effort to convince Congress to sign ofl on the pact.” 2% Ultimately.
however. Promise Me, Dad did not recount the negotiation of the lran deal or Mr.
Biden's role in it. The book's sole mention of the Iran deal is in a brief deseription of
a call with a senator 1n early 2015, whom Mr. Biden called “to touch base with him
on the {ran deal and on the Northern Triangle. and to bring him up to date on the
effort to get money set aside for the Army Corps of Engineers 1o deepen the Delaware

s

River channel,”™

21V 7/29/15 Event Memo, Breakfast with House Demaocratic Memhbers on lran Nuclear
Deal. 1BOOL 00009128,

=1 7/15/15 BEvent Memo. Meeting with House Democrats to Discuss the Joint
Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOMA)L TBO0O1_00009547: 7/15/2015 Schedule for Viee
President Joe Biden. 1B001_00011068.

121 5721716 e-mail from Zwonttzer, Zwonitzer-00007399: 5/23/16 e-matl from Pervsonal
Aide, 1TBR0O1_ 02171001,

1220 JRB-Book-ldea.doc. 1BO0OT _02171055.

R
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Mr. Biden and hix advisors—several of whom were affibated with the Penn
Biden Center and were former senior officials in the Obama administration!?25. ~had
a continwing interest in the Iran deal as a matter of foreign poliey after his time as
vice president. In October 2017, for example, his Penn Biden Center team provided
him =even notecards’ worth of updates on the “Iran Nuclear Deal” and the Trump
administration’s stance on 1t.1227 Hig staff also prepared remarks for him ro give at
the Brzezingki Annual Prize Lecture at the Center for Strategic and International
Studies; 122 roughly a full page of the remarks defended the Iran deal and criticized
the Trump administration’s threats to pull out of 11226 His staff later drafted a
"Decision Memo™ with the subject "Statement Should President Trump Announce
that He is Decertifving Iran’s Compliance with the [lran deal].”'?" The decision
memo set forth a proposed statement for staff to post to Mr. Biden's Facebook account
shortly after then-President Trump's expected announcement that he would not
recertify the Iran deal 122

In February 2018, Kahl sent Mr. Biden an Event Memo for a “Meeting with

[srach Leaders. " 7229 Kahl described actions taken by the Trump administration on

1223 See, e.g., Penn Biden Center-Affiliated University Emplovees — Preliminarvy List,
SCOH-000779; 3/19/17 e-mail from PBC Emplovee 2, SCOH-000780.

U /6/1T e-mail to Staff re 10-06 Foreign Policy Cards, SCOH-000351. Key Pacts,
iran Nuclear Deal — 10/3/17, SCOH-000352 (attachment 3 of 3).

1225 10/1/17 Draft, Remarks for Vice President Joe Biden. Brzezinski Annual Prize
Lecture at CSIS, SCOH-0003:11.

1226 Id, at 6.

22T 10/12/17 Decision Memo, Statement Should President Trump Announce that tHe
18 Decertifving Iran's Compliance with the JCPOA, SCOH-000359.

122k [d’

1229 2/28/18 Fvent Memo, Meeting with [sracli Leaders, SCOH-000361.
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the Iran deal and =et forth talking points for Mr. Biden to advocate for the deal with
[sraeli leaders, including Prime Minister Netanyahu.'?30 And a Penn Biden Center
staffer proposed “Iran deal post UNGA and fight with allies™ as one of several topies
for members of hiz team—including Kahl and Blinken —to brief Mr. Biden on 1n
October 20181251
II.  ANALYSIS

A, Insufficient evidence exists to prove Mr. Biden willfully
retained the classified information in the EYES ONLY envelope

There i1s msufficient evidence to prove bevond a reasenable doubt that My,
Biden mtentionally retained the classified documents in the KYES ONLY envelope
after his term as vice president or caused his staff to do so. Instead. the evidence
supports an mnocent explanation for the unauthorized retention of those documents.
Mr, Biden may have expected to need the material for further discussions with
members of Congress about the Iran deal. which he continued to have after his
breakfast with Senators on January 29, 2015, Given his practice of having his front
office stafl =tore files he wanted to keep close at hand. Mr. Biden likely gave the EYES
ONLY envelope to his executive assistant to keep within reach for future engagement
with members of Congress. He and his staff appear to have eventually forgotien about
it—along with other older files in the front-office collection—and staff members

unwittingly moved it out of the West Wing at the end of the administration.

JRER1N] [d at I. l(}—l‘;
1231 10/1/18 c-mail from PBC Staffer. SCOH-000001: FBI Serial 3414 14415,
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Ar. Biden's front office staff kept files in the front office that he wanted to keep
close at hand for reference.1232 The files recovered from the Penn Biden Center—
including those in the KYES ONLY envelope—were files his execurive assistant kept
in the front office and eventually moved to the Penn Biden Center.12% One member
of the front office staff periodically went through her files to identify material My,
Biden no longer needed. 23! but the executive assistant does not appear to have done
the same.!2% The age of many of the files recovered from the Penn Biden Center- -
some of which dated back to Mr. Biden' & first term as vice president—is consistent
with the possibility that the executive assistant and Mr. Biden simply forgot about
them. baving never purged or archived them. Some files vemained in the front office
in January 2017 that My, Biden likely no longer needed. wanted. or remembered.

Morcover, the KYES ONLY materials were stored in an envelope that was not
marked classified: My, Biden's executive assistant said the "EYES ONLY™
designation did not necessarily signifv classified contents. 123 She typically identified
classified material by the cover sheets. which she said were “usually alwavs
included. 237 She also said she would have respected the mstruction that it was for
AMr. Biden's eves only and would not have locked inside. 2% When interviewed, the

exccutive assistant did not recall seeing the EYES ONLY envelope while packing up

232 Executive Assistant 1/1/23 Tr. at 78-81. 85-86; Staff Assistant 3 12/21/22. FBI
Serial 36 at 2-3: Executive Assistant 9/28/2025 Tr. at 133-3-L

255 Fxecuflve Assistant 9/28/23 Ty, at 7-10.

tz FBI Serial 36 at 2-3.

123 [xecutive Assistant /423 Tr. at 39, 187-188,

123 Lxecutive Assistant /123 Tr. at 147-18, 136-64.

237 Executive Assistant 1/4/23 Tr. at 35,

1238 Executive Assistant /423 Tr. at 168-69.
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the West Wing Office or unpacking at the Penn Biden Center.'2% Even if she had
seen the envelope. 1t is reasonable to believe she did not know the contents werve
classified and would not have looked inside to check because of the EYES ONLY
stamp.

Some evidence suggests My, Biden had a motive to retain the documents in the

e

EYES ONLY envelope after he left office. but that evidence 1s weak, He did have &

o

continuing interest 1n the {ran deal, both as a matter of foreign policy and as ¢
potential topie Zwonitzer constdered for Mr. Biden's book. But there 12 no evidence
that he ever accessed or requested the EYES ONLY envelope after leaving office, or
that he knew his staff had moved it to the Penn Biden Center. None of his advisors
at the Penn Biden Center remembered the documents. The materials they prepared
for Mr. Biden on the Iran deal do not veference the type of classified information in
the EYES ONLY envelope. The executive assistant stated she had no knowledge of
the envelope’s contents and no memory of him ever asking about it. And Mr. Biden
did not appear to recognize the documents during his mterview with the special
counsel. He barely mentioned his role with the [van deal in Promise Me. Dad and does
not appear to have thought it an important part of his legacy, Some former advisors
stated Mr., Biden was pessimistic about negotiating with Iran but supported the

negotiations anvway i support of the president, 1210

1230 FExecutive Assistant 171423 Tr. at 159, 173-74: Executive Assistant 9/28/23 Ty, at
120, 1:35-36.
2w [ahl Class, Tre. at 3-6; Donilon Tr. at 30,
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Finally. several of the files in the bhox where the EYES OXLY envelope was
found appear to have been forgotten files of little value to Mr. Biden, such as the file
about a 2011 ski trip. The files. therefore. do not appear to be a set that My, Biden
personally curated. Nov do they appear to be the type of filex people keep close as a
matter of course 1n thewr evervday hives,

In summary, the innocent explanation for the retention of the classified
documents in the EYES ONLY envelope at the Penn Biden Center 18 not only
plausible. 1t 18 a better explanation than one of willful retention. There is thus
insufficient evidence to support charging Mr. Biden or anvone else with wiliful
retention of the documents in the KYES ONLY envelope at the Penn Biden Center.

B. There is insufficient evidence to support charging Mr. Biden for

the retention of the other marked classified documents
recovered from the Penn Biden Center

1. There is insufficient evidence to charge Mr. Biden with
willful retention of marked classified documents Al and
A2

The evidence does not suggest that Mr. Biden willlully retained documents Al
or A2, which related to engagement with China in Pre=ident Obama’s second term
and 4 summary of meetings with foreign leaders during a United Nations General
Assembly Week. The FBI found these documents among unclassified documents in
folders that Mr. Biden’s executive assistant maintained for him. Mr. Biden
occasionally asked his executive assistant to retrieve material for him from the files
she maintained, but she did not remember My, Biden ever going through the files
himself to retieve documents. And Mr. Biden did not move the files himself at the

cnd of the Obama administration.
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The move plausible explanation for the unauthorized retention of documents
AT and AZ is that the executive assistant stored and moved documents A1 and A2 to
the Penn Biden Center unwittingly. In her interview with the Spectal Counsels
Office. she credibly stated that she did not know the files she maintained mncluded
marked classified documents. Documents A1 and A2 did not have classified cover
sheets intended to draw attention to the classified nature of the contents. nor were
the folders contaming the documents marked to designate classified contents.

The evidence also suggests the executive assistant was not familiar with the
contents of the folders because she likely did not create them. The handwritten label
on the "Filing 10-10-16" folder {(containing document A2) does not appear to be the
executive assistant’s handwriting.'?* And the printed label on the "Sceond Term”
folder (containing document A1) 1x large and on the cover of the folder, unlike most of
the other printed labels. which appeay on the file-folder tabs,

It 1s also unilikelv a jury would find that. after the end of the Obama
administration. documents Al and A2 contained national defense information.
Document Al s a memorandum to Mr. Biden from his then-deputy national =ecurity
advisor. Jeff Prescott. discussing  general, high-level suggestions  for  the
administration = engagement with China in the second term. Document A2 1 a memo
from My. Biden to President Obama describing meetings he had with foreign leaders

during General Assembly Week at the United Nations. Unauthovized disclosure of

LU Compare TBOOLMARK 72 2.16-17-000002 (handwriting sample); Executive
Assistant 928723 Tr. at 81 (dentifving handwriting) with NARA_SCAN_00000097. FBI
Servial 3 ¢ Filing 10-10-16" foldev).
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such material could have revealed private. sensitive diplomatic constderations and
discussions within the Obama administration. But any prosecution involving those
documents would have to meet the defense that the Obama administration’s foreign-
policy and diplomatic considerations. while historically important. had become fay
less sensitive by the time the documents were moved to the Penn Biden Center.

There are reasons why Obama-cra diplomatic and foreign policy information.
such as that in documents A1 and A2. should retain 1t classification status after the
adminmstration ends=. But those reasons are nuanced compared to the large-scale and
well-known changes to policy. governance. and leadership style that occurred in the
White House from the Obama administration to the Trump administration. It is
unlikely a jury would conclude that. upon the onset of the Trump administration. the
foreign-policy views of the Obama-cra vice president and his advisors expressed in
documents AT and A2 remained imformation relating to the national defense that
would warrant a felony eriminal charge.

2. There is insufficient evidence to charge Mr. Biden with
retention of marked classified document A8

There is msufficient evidence to show Mr. Biden willfully retained document
A8 for many of the same reasons as documents A1 and A2, Document A8 is a
background memo for a meeting with a foreign leader. The FBI found document A8
among unclassified documents in a folder that Mr. Biden's executive assistant
maintained for him and that he did not go through or move himself.

For many of the same reasons as stated for documents Al and A2, the more

plausible explanation for the unauthorized retention of document A8 is that the
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executive assistant stored and moved it to the Penn Biden Center unwittingly. The
executive assistant did not intend to store classified documents in the files she
maintained. And the document and folder did not contain the cover sheets she relied
on to flag the presence of classified iformation.

3. There is insufficient cvidence to charge Mr. Biden with
retention of marked classified documents A9 and A10

Recovered document A9 1s a telephone call sheet setting forth the purpose of a
call between the Ukrainian Prime Minister and My, Biden and talking points for the
call, which occurred on December 11, 2015, It 18 mavked "SECRET.” A handwritten
note dated December 12. 2015, from Mr. Biden in the upper-right corner of the sheet
asks his executive assistant to “[glet copy of this conversation [rom Sit Rm for my
Records please.” Document A10 documents the substance of that call in the formar of
a non-verbatim transcript. It is labeled "CONFIDENTIAL™ and "EYES ONLY DO
NOT COPY.”

Given Mr. Biden's handwritten note. documents A9 and A10 have additional
indicia of willful retention by Mr. Biden as compared to the other marked classified
documents recovered from the Penn Biden Center. On a document bearing "“SECRET”
classification markings with talking points for a call. Mr. Biden asked his executive
assistant to get a copy of the transeript of the actual call from the Situation Room for
“my [r]ecords.” The executive assistant stored both the call sheet and the transeript
in a folder labeled “VP Personal.”” And a witness familiar with foreign-leader calls

stated that the content of such calls 1s typically classified by defauly. 122

2 Aelkeon Tr. at 98-99.
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Nonetheless, there 1s reasonable doubt that Mr. Biden willfully retained
documents A9 and A10. Mr. Biden's handwritten note does not request that his
exccutive assistant save the classified call sheet containing talking points for the call
(A9} in his records: rather. he only requested the transcript of the phone call 1tself.
And no jury could reasonably find that the substance of the call between Mr. Biden
and the Ukrainian Prime Minister was national defense mformation. The two
exchanged pleasantries and the Prime Minister heaped praise upon Mr. Biden for his
December 9. 2015 speech to Ukraine's parliament. Theyv did not engage in a
substantive policy digcussion. There max be technical or nuanced reasons to maintain
the classification of the call, but no reasonable jury could conclude the call or its
contents  were national defense information after the end of the Obama
administration. or that by asking for a transceript of the call My, Biden intended to
retain national delense information,

The evidence suggests that the marked classified documents found at the Penn
Biden Center were sent and kept there by mistake. Therefore, we decline any

criminal chavges velated to those documents.
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CHAPTER FIFTEEN
CLASSIFIED DOCUMENTS FOUND AT THE UNIVERSITY OF DELAWARE

In January, February, and June 2023, FBI agents identified and recovered just
over a dozen marked classified documents 1n Mr. Biden's Senate-era papers housed
at the University of Delaware. Almost all of these documents predate the Senate's
establishment of rules for the tracking and handhing of classified information. The
evidence does not suggest that Mr. Biden willfully retained these documents. Rather.
they appear to have been included in his large collection of Senate papers by mistake,
L Facts

A. Mr. Biden donated hundreds of boxes of senatorial records to
the University of Delaware library

As a senator. Mr. Biden accumulated hundreds of bankers boxes of records.
During his time as vice president, his staff shipped these records on a volling basis to
the National Archives storage facility in Marviand. wheve they were stored for Mr.
Biden as a courtesy. The Scnate records consisted of his personal senatorial files.
those of his staffers. and campaign materials. 28 While the records were not supposed
to include committee records, which helong to the Senate. senators’ staff commonly
intermingled committee documents with their senators’ personal papers.’?'t By the
time Mr. Biden became vice president, the National Archives had over 2.000 boxes

and 115 gigabytes of electronic data in courtesy storage for him. 124

1248 3/10/10 Aemo from OVP Counsel. 1BO0O1T_00038717.
1210 ] at 1 Senate Staffer 1 Tv. ar 23-26. 14,
263/ 10/10 Memo from OVP Counsel, 1B001_00038717.
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Within the first vear of his vice presidency. Mr. Biden's staff began
preparations to donate his senatorial papers to the University of Delaware.!?' In
spring 2011. Mr. Biden asked two of his former longtime Senate staffers to review hig
bhoxes In courtesy storvage.'?" These former staffers reviewed and catalogued the
boxes and recommended to him which papers to donate.'#* During the review.
netther staffer expected to or did find any marked clagsified documents, 124

In fall 2011, Myr. Biden formally agreed to donate his Senate papers and other
records to the University of Delaware. 1290 Between 2012 and 2015, the University's
Morris Library received over 2.000 boxes of My, Biden's =enatorial papers shipped
from the National Archives. the Russell Senate Office Building, and Mr. Biden's

Delaware home.'?3! Upon their arrival at the University of Delaware. the boxes were

23 BRI Serial 319 1.AL20: See, e.g.. July 2009 ¢-mails between University of Delaware
general counsel and My, Biden's Chiel of Staff, SCOH-000712.

17 Senate Sraffer 1 Tr. at 30-31. Senate Staffer 2.3/1 123 Tr. at 25, The staffers were
paid by the University of Delaware to perform the pre-gift review. Senate Staffer 2 3/14/23
Tr. at 65.

28 Senate Stalfer T Tr. al 35, Senate Staffer 2 3/14/23 Tr. at 25-26.

1219 Senate Sraffer 1 Tr. at 43 Senate Staffer 2 11/3/23 Tr. at 13. 26,

1250 FBI Sertals 282 1A302. 349 1A120; See 2/12/11 Letter from Mr. Biden to the
National Archives. SCOH-000011. The “Ceremonial Agreement to Gift” was signed in a
ceremony at the University of Delaware on September 16, 2011, while the actual deed of gift
was not fully executed until July 2016, See, e.g.. July 2011 and September 2011 e-mails
amongst University of Delaware staff. OVP Counsel, and personal counsel to the Vice
President, SCOH-000783, SCOH-000706; 7/15/16 Deed of gift, SCOH-000578.

51 RRL Serials 79 1A89. 282 1A301. 349 1A420; 5/30/12-6/5/12 e¢-mails between
former Senate staffer, current Senate staffer, and the University of Delaware, SCOH-000005,
SCOH-000007, SCOH-000008, SCOH-000010; 10/23/11 e-mail from former Senate staffer to
Mr. Biden, 1B0O01_02683701 (“However, [ have not forgotten about the boxes and files at your
house. I am looking to start on those just after Thanksgiving. However, [ know that you want
to get them out of there sooner rather than later.”): 1/31/13 e-mail from Avchivist to UDel
Morris Librarian and UDel library employee. SCOH-000714 (former Senate staffer was
*looking though about 20-25 boxes in the garvage . . . . From that group. he has about 2 boxes
of Senate material so far.”y When interviewed, the former Senate statfer did not recall
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placed in a secure storage arca. and the materials were reviewed over time by
archivists and other university staff, 1252

B. Marked classified documents discovered at the Morris Library

[n fall 2014, the Morris Library hived an itern to organize the Biden Senate
papers, separate out documents belonging to the Foreign Relations Committee. and
re-file the remainder.!?? In late 2015 or early 2016, the intern discovered. among
committee records, one document that was marked classified.’?3! She placed a sticky
note on the document indicating the number of the box 1n which she found it and the
fact 1t was marvked “"Secret." 1239

[n February 2023, an archivist reviewed the box the intern had flagged.
discovered the marked classified document within the box. secured the document in
a vault. and reported 1t to the FBL 2% Jgents retrieved the document that same
day. 127 The classified document is a two-page State Department cable from 1987
marked Secret concerning the NATO alliance. 123 A classification review by the State

Department determaned that the document was declasqified m 2012.123

reviewing Senate-era boxes at Mr, Biden's Delaware residence and transporting them to the
University of Delaware. Senate Staffer 2 11/3/23 Tr. at 9-10, 18-20.

o2 Archivist Ty, 2727723 ar 32.

125 Intern Tr. at 6-9.

250 fel at 10, 12-13.

R e oat 21-22. The intern expressed confidence that she advised her supervisor of
this discovery. fd. at 16-18. We were unable to determine why this issue went unaddressed
at that time.

125 Archivist Tr. at &1 Report of Avchivist interview. FBI Serial 79,

123 FRBI Serials 790 71,

5% Recovered document F1

2 Bl Serial 676,
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After this discovery, and with Mr. Biden's consent. in June 2023, the FBI
searched the contents of approximately 105 boxes at the Morris Library. the subset
of boxes that contained Senate Foreign Relations Committee materials. 1260 Two of
those boxes contained the following five marked classified documents:

1. Two-page letter to Richard G. Lugar, Committee on Foreign
Relations. regarding Conventional Avrmed Forces in Europe Treaty,
dated November 20, 1991 (signature block missing). marked
Secret. 261 According 1o a classification review. this document 1s
currently classified as Secret. 1262

2. Three-page document titled "Summary of March 11. 1977 Executive
Aeeting of Full Commaittee,” dated Mar. 11, 1977, marked Secret and
"CLASSIFIED COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN RELATIONS UNITED
STATES SENATE."126% A classification review of this document is
pending. 1261

3. Five-page document titled "Mutual Balanced Force Reductions
(MBFR),” dated July 1977. and marked Confidential.'2% According
to a classification veview. this document s currently classified as
Confidential. 1266

4. Six-page Staff Memorandum titled, "National Security Interests in a
Law of the Sca Treaty. March 6, 1979 Hearings,” dated March 2.
1979, marked Confidential and "For Committee Use Only. 1267
According to a classification review. this document Is currently
classified as Confidential, 1268

5. Threc-page Action Memorandum from Scnate Staffer 3 to nine
senators, including Mr. Biden. with subject, “Proposed 1980
Committee Budget — For Discussion During Meeting of Democrats in
5-201 at 2:00 p.m., Wednesday, January 23,7 dated January 23, 1980,

1z60 B Sertals 290, 292,

261 Recovered document Ga.
262 B Serial 676.

1263 Reeovered document (1.
o4 [FBT Serial 676.

155 Recovered document (G2,
1266 ['BI Serial 676.

1267 Recovered document (3.
1268 B Serial 678.



marked Confidential.’?%® The State Department did not provide a
classification determination for this decument. 2?9

C. Marked classified documents at the Biden Institute
1. Storage of Mr. Biden’s records at the Biden Institute

In addition to the thousands of hoxes of Senate papers Myr. Biden donated to
the University of Delaware, there was a smaller collection of mostly Senate-cra
material that remained stored at the Russell Senate Office Building and the National
Arvchives, During the vice presidency. My, Biden's former Senate staffers reviewed
the material to help him decide what, if any. he might donate to the University of
Delaware. Mr. Biden wanted to identifv and keep materials that may be “politically
sensitive. speeches {(from both the Senate era and vice presidency). photographs.
contact information. and personal (and campaign) materials. 1271 The staffers found
no marked classified documents during this veview,

Scveral months after the vice presidency . in July 2017, these materials, which
filled about 263 boxes. were shipped to the Biden Institute at the University of

Delaware. a domestic policy think tank establhished in 2017.12°2 The Biden Institute

128 Recovered document G-1. This document 13 a duplicate of Recovered document K1,
a document recovered from the Biden Institute. discussed later in this section.

1270 PRI Seral 676, See also Section (.23 below.

251 Aav 2017 e-mails between transition staffer and Executive Divector, SCOH-
000697, SCOH-00001 1: 12/15/16 mecting notes belonging to Senate Statfer 1, SCOH-000012;
Nayv 2017 e-matls between transition staffer and Senate Staffer 1, SCOH-000027, SCOLH-
000015,

1272 7/7/17 e-mail between transition staffer and Executive Director. SCOTT-000701;
see also 7/TAT-TTHT e-mails between transition staffer and Execcutive [hrector, SCOH-
Q00708
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was a space that Mr. Biden could use for free, where someone could continue 1o sort
through the materials. 1273
2. Biden Institute reviews the boxes

[n late 2018 or carly 2014, the Biden Institute hired the daughter of one of Mr.
Biden's personal attorneys as a part-time employee to review Mr. Biden's boxeg. 127
Over several months, she conducted what she described as a cursory review of the
boxes and imventoried their contents. 1273 She did not alert anvone to the presence of
classified mmformation.'2'6 When interviewed. she stated that she never saw any
documents with classification markings. 1277

Several others also reviewed these materials. Former Senator and My, Biden's
Senate Chief of Staff Ted Kaufman reviewed several boxes in 2014 to determine
whether they contained any of his own papers.12* Mr. Biden's sister, Valerie Biden

Owens. alzo reviewed some of these boxes and recalled secing speeches and

1253 3/10/17 e-mail from transition staffer to Biden Owens and Senate Staffer 1. SCOII-
000014 3/17/17 e-mail from transition statfer to Senate Staffer 1 SCOH-000015.

i June 2017 and January 2019 e-maitls between Bxecutive Dirvector and employvee,
SCOH-000693. SCOH-000696.

1235 Inventory attachment, SCOH-000677; I'BI Serial 110.

1226 F'3T Serials 89. 110.

1277 )-'d

1258 7719719 e-mail from [Executive Director to Kaufman, SCOH-000715; Executive
Director Serial 71 at 3-1 Biden Owens Tr. at 38. In January 2009. Mr. Kaufman was
appolinted to serve the remainder of Mr. Biden's term as Senator when Mr, Biden resigned
from the Senate to become vice president. Edward E. (Ted) Kaufman: United States Senator
from Delaware and Chief of Staff to Senator Joe Biden, 1973-2010, Oral History Interviews.
August 17 to September 27, 2012 Senatc Historical Office, Washingron, D.C..
https://www.senate goviabout/oral-historv/kaufman-edward-e-oral-history.him (last visited
dan. 31. 2024).
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schedules. 2™ One Institute staff member recalled looking in some of these boxes and
seeing framed photographs and gifts, 1280

3. Discovery of marked classified documents at the Biden
Institute

After the discovery of classified information at the Penn Biden Center in
November 2022, the Biden Institute’s Executive Dirvector notified Mr. Biden's
personal counsel, Bob Bauer, that the institute had done 1its own inventory of the
boxes 1n its possession and believed that four contained VP Speeches &
Transeripts, 12

In January and Februarvy 2023, FBI agents searched all 263 boxes stored at
the mstitute and determined that one contamed seven marked elassified documents
dated hetween November 1979 and June 1980.72%2 My, Biden's former Senate staffers
had reviewed this box before it was sent to the Biden Institute and omitted it from
the gift to the University of Delaware because the box contained campaign materials

{rom 1978, 128

2 Fxecutive Divector FBI Sermal 7.1 at & Biden Owens Te. at 59-GO.

280 OV Intern Tr. at 33-:31.

2R 1/19/23 e-mail from Executive Director to Bauer with attached inventory, SCOH-
DO0GGT, SCOH-Q00662. See alse 3/18/17 e-mail from OVP Purchase Manager to Senate
Stalfer 1 regarding Senate Records, SCOH-000027.

L2 PR Serials 66. 67; Recovered documents E1-K7.

283 Senate Staffev 1 spreadshect, SCOH-Q0005G; June 2017, SCOH-000041 (listing
boxes to send to the Biden Institute from the National Archives). The four documents were
found in a box with the vequisition number 329-94-341, #58. The Biden Institute emplovee
had performed a review of the box and added her own number, 252, to the box. The emplovee
inventorving the box had described 1t as containing “misc. news clips — some corvespondence”

fy—

from “e. mid-1970s.” [nventory attachment, SCOH-000677.
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Two documents were marked Seceret and five documents were marked
Confidential. The two Sceret documents and one Confidential document were found
i a folder labeled "Foreign Relations Commirttee.” The other four Confidential

documents were 1n a folder labeled “Europe.”
Below 1= a description of the documents recovered from the Biden Institute:

1. Three-page Action Memorandum from Senate Staffer 3 to mmne
senators. 1ncluding My, Biden, with subject. “Proposed 1980
Commuttee Budgetl — For Discussion During Meeting of Democrats in
5-201 at 2:00 p.m.. Wednesday, Junuary 23,7 dated January 23. 1980.
marked Confidential 12}

2. Two-page letter to Kdmund S. Muskie. Secretary of State. from Ted
Kaufman/Senator  Biden. dated June 4, 1980, marked
Confidential. 125

3. One page Action Memorandum, addressed to Senators Church. Pell,
and Biden. with subject “Letter to Secretary Muskie on
Consultations with the Allies on SALT and TNF.” dated Mav 29.
1980. marked Confidential 125

4. One page Action Memorandum, addressed to Senator Biden. with
subject “Re: Letter to Secretary Muskie on Consultations with the
Allies on SALT and TNF." dated May 29. 1980. marked
Confidential. 1257

5. Three page letter from Edmund S. Muskie, Secretary of State. to
Senators Church, Pell. and Biden, dated May 30, 1980. marked
Confidential 123

6. One page Action Memorandum, addressed to Senator Biden ("The
attached memo from Senate Staffer 4 on TNF Modernization is both

1281 Recovered document El. This document is a duplicate of Document #3 (G1)
discussed above in Section 11.

285 Recovered document B2,

1286 Recovered document 3.

1287 Recovered document E4.

1288 Recovered document E5.
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mteresting and disturbing”) from Senate Staffer 3 through Ted
Kaufman. dated November 28. 1979, marked Scerer. 128

-1

Two page Information Memorandum, addressed to Senate Staffer 3
from Senate Staffer 4, titled "TNF Modernization and Arms Control.”
dated November 26. 1979, marked Secrot. 129

For Documents 1 through 5. the State Department could not provide a
classification level in response to our request, though it noted that “{tjhe details
contained in some of these documents appear to have been highly sensitive ar the
time that these documents were created and ncluded information that appeared to
originate at executive branch federal agencies. 1297 According 1o the State
Department. these documents may or mayv not still be sensitive today. 29 The State
Department was unable to render an opinion as to Document 6.2 The State
Department could not provide a classification level for Document 7 but advised that
certain pages of this document may be classified if thev had been included in an
executive branch document. as the legislative branch does not have the authority to
classify documents, 1291

1. U.S. Senate rules on handling of classified information
during the timeframe of the recovered documents

The documents recovered at the University of Delaware all appear to have

1259 Recovered document 16,

129 Recovered document F7.

220 U8, Department of State, (lassification Review Results for State Department
Bquities, at 2 (Dec. 1, 2023): FBI Serial 676.

292 78 Department of State, Classification Review Results for State Department
Equities. at 2 (Dec. 1, 2023); Bl Serial 676.

2 1S Department of State, (Maseification Review Results for State Department
[quities, at 2 (Dec. 1. 2023): FBI Serial 676.

2ULTSL Department of State. Classification Review Results for State Department
Equities, at 2 (Dec. 1. 202:3): FBI Serial 676,
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originated from Mr. Biden's service on the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, My,
Biden served on the Committee from 1975 to 2009.1295 He became Ranking Minority
Member in 1997 and chaired the Committee in January 2001, from June 2001 to
2003, and again from 2007 to 2009.729% Ag a Committec member. My, Biden had access
to classified information relating to diplomatic nominees, treaties, and oversight
responsibilities for the Department of State.

In the mid- to late-1980s. several factors led to growing concern within the
Senate about the handling of classified information. " Among other things. cach
Senate office handled classified information differently. 129 Also, there was no central
recordkeeping system to track which Senate emplovees held a sccurity clearance. 1299
As a result, then-Minority Leader Robert Dole described the Senate’s handling of
classified information as "a disaster. waiting to happen.” 1300

[n response. in 1987, the Senate established the Office of Senate Security and
charged it with protecting classified information in Senate offices and committees. 1301

The Office’s Senate Security Manual established rules for the handling of classified

8 COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN RELATIONS. UNITEND STATES SENATE., MILLENIUM
EDITION 1816-2000, S Rep. No. 105-

28, at 101, www foreign.senate. goviimo/media/doc/CDOC-105sdoc28 Lpdf (senate.gov) (last
visited Jan. 23, 2024),

1206 Garrison Nelson and Charles Stewart 1T, COMMITTEES IN THE U5, CONGRESS
1993-2010 585 (CQ Press 2010).

1297133 CONG. REC. 9371 (Apr. 23. 1987} (statement of Sen. Dole}.

1208 [d’

1205 !UI

1500 !U’

BLS RES. 243 (100th Congress. 1lst Session, July 1. 1987) (on file with Oftice of
Special  Counsel); see  alse  Offices of the Sceretary, United States  Scnate,
https://'www . scnate . goviabout/otficers-staff/seeretary-of-the-senate/oflices-of-the-
secretary. htm# ~:text=The% 200fflce% 200t% 208 enate% 208 ecurity.in%20Senate % 200ffices
% 20and%20committecs (last visited Jan. 18, 2024).
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information.!?? Senators could not store Top Secret or Special Access material in
their personal offices. 0% Information at lower classification levels could be stored 1n
a senator's personal office. but only in an appropriate storage facility that the Office
of Senate Security had certified. ™! And senators could not remove classified
information from approved spaces or take it home with them 1395

In 1997 —after al) of the documents recovered at the University of Delaware
were created—the Office of Senate Security began tracking classified information
using a computerized svsrem. 56 Under this system. which exists 1o this dav. cach
copyv of a classified document coming into the Office 1s logged and given a unique.
physical barcode V" The system catalogues each document with an unclassified title,
subject. page count. document origin. document destination. and any codewords.150%
Thix wav, if a classified document was found in an unauthorized location, the Office

of Senate Security could identify the person who 1s responsible for that document.

B2 fefA(a).

v Security Manual, Otfice of Senate Securitv. Section [LL.A.7(a) note (Apr. 2007). The
manual's discussion of “Special Access” appears to be a shorthand reference to Special Access
Programs. a term defined in its glossary as “[a]ny program imposing need-to-know access
controls bevond those normally prescribed for access 1o Confidentialll] Seeret. or Top Secret
information.” fd. Special access programs are a subset of Sensitive Compartmented
Information. See Executive Order 13526 § 1.3,

L6 Security Manual, Office of Senate Security, Section [LAT {(Apy. 2007).

B I Section [TA12

i See Senate Kmplovee 17Tr. at 29.

T Senate Emplovee 2 Ty at 29, While these records arve stored electronteally, records
of a senator's physical access to classified document at the Office. as well as most other tvpes
of records maintained by the Office. were kept manually using handwritten logs. Senate
Emplovee T Tr. at 35.

LS Senate Employvee 1Ty, at 33-3.4



II.  ANALYSIS

The evidence does not establish that Mr. Biden or anvone else knowingly
removed or retained the classified documents found at the University of Delaware.
These documents appear to have been included in his Senate papers by mistake.

First, Mr. Biden depended on staffers to maintain his Senate files, orgamze
and pack them, transport them to the proper place of storage, and review them before
they were sent to the University of Delaware. No evidence suggests he knew these
classified documents were within his massive colleetion of Senate papers. Further,
given the age of the documents, we found no evidence that Mr. Biden personally
viewed any of them while he was a member of the Senate. Mr. Biden sat on the
committee that generated these documents. but it 1s entively plausible they were
handled by a staff member and that My, Biden never handled the documents himself
hefore they were filed among his papers. 15" There 1s alxo no record of Mr. Biden's
review of the documents before or after he donated them to the University. As a
matter of historical context, there have been numerous previous incidents in which
marked classified documents have been discovered intermixed with the personal

papers of former executive branch offictals and members of Congress. 1310

09 The 1991 letter addressed to Senator Lugar (then a Foreign Relations Committee
member) found within Mr. Biden's papers does not contain a signature block. Therefore, we
could not determine who sent the letter. or whether Mr. Biden ever viewed {or cver received)
the letter.

1310 Joseph Weber. When state secrets land in the hands of university librartans, WASH.
POST (Feh. 10. 2023, updated Feb. 19, 2023), https:/Avww washingtonpost.com/education/20
23/02/ 1¥/classified-documents-university-librarv-trump-biden-pence/ (last visited Jan. 31,
2024); Ronald G. Schafer, Presidential papers have long been turning up in unexpecled places,
WASH. POST (Feb. 4. 2023), https://www.washingtonpost.com/history/2023/02/01/presidentia
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sccond, before the Senate papers arvived at the Umiversity, Mr. Biden asked
two experienced staffers to veview them. The staffers knew to segregate documents
that were appropriate for the Morris Library gift. They did not identifs any classified
documents within these materials,

The staffers failure to do =o 1s likely due, in part, to the small number of
classified documents found within a large collection of the Senate papers. Another
possible reason is that several of the documents use markings that do not clearly
convey  their classified nature. Some of the documents are marked
"CONFIDENTIAL.” While that is a valid marking for classified information, the term
"CONFIDENTIAL is also used 1n other contexts not involving classified information.
Senate staffers could have understood these 1o be internal committee documents or
simply sensitive documents created by authors who wanted to limit the number of
people who viewed them.

Third. the classified documents were found in collections of papers My, Biden
had either already donated or planned to donate after his staff removed personal and
political materials. This suggests neither he nor his staff knew about or wanted to

keep the small number of classified documents later found there.

l-papers-documents-misplaced/: Zeke Miller et al.. Classified records pose conundrim
stretehring  back fo Carter, ASSOCIATED  PRESS NEWS  (Jan. 24, 2023,
hrttps:/fapnews.com/article/biden-trump-classified-documents-president-

23df0358eT2¢ 9acdta lebbead 136521 .8, GEN. ACCOUNTING OrF.. GAO/GDID-91-117,
REPORT T CONGRESSIONAL REQUESTORS: DOCUMENT REMOVAL By
AGENCY HEADS NEEDS INDEPENDENT OVERSIGHT 17-

23 (Aug. 1991), httpsi/www.gao goviassets/ggd-91-117.pdf (last visited Jan. 31, 202.1).
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Finally. none of these decades-old documents contains information so obviously
sensitive that a jury would find it compelling enough to convicer a former president
and vice president of mishandling classified imformation.

For these reasons, it 1 likely that the few classified documents found in Mr.
Biden's Senate papers were there by mistake. The documents found at the University

of Delawarve are not a hasis for criminal charges.



CHAPTER SIXTEEN
OTHER CLASSIFIED DOCUMENTS FOUND IN MR. BIDEN'S DELAWARE HOME

I. MARKED CLASSIFIED DOCUMENTS IN NOTEBOOKS

As discussed i Chapters Two and Four, three notebooks found in My, Biden's
Delaware home had marked classified documents placed inside them. One of these
notebooks. fabeled "Af/Pak 1.7 1s discussed in Chapter Six. For the other two. the
evidence does not suggest either that My, Biden retained the classified documents
inside them willfully. or that the documents contain national defense information.
Thus. these documents do not warrant criminal charges.

A. Documents found within notebook labeled “1/6/12 #2 Foreign
Policy”

The notchook labeled “1/6/12 #2 Foreign Policy™ vecovered from My, Biden's
basement den contained two marked classified documents. 331 One was three pages
of what appear to be PowerPoint slides. cach of which was marked
Sccret/ NOFORN/Pre-Decisional. ' The slides arve dated May 22, 2013, and discuss
various options for U8, troop levels in Afghanistan after 20141313

The notebook contains a corresponding handwritten entry dated May 24, 2013,
when Mr. Biden took notes during a National Security Councl meeting that he
attended through a secure video teleconference from his Delaware home. '3t While

we do not know exactly where inside the notebook the classified PowerPoint shdes

11 Notebook 11315,

1312 Recovered documents (U1, €2, (3.

it J

L Notehook entry 1B13-0039: 5/21/13 Final Schedule for Viee President Joe Biden,
NARAWH 00000122,

326



were located (because the slhides were found by a member of the White House
Counsel's Office rather than the FBI).1315 it 15 likely that Mr. Biden had the shdes at
his home during the National Security Council meeting, then placed the slides in the
notebook after the meeting, where they remained until discovered in 2023,

The sccond marked classified document in the notebook was a briefing
memorandum for Mr. Biden from his National Sccurity Affairs team dated November
1. 2013, and marked Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information.'5 The
memorandum briefed Mr. Biden in advance of a meeting with the Prime Mimster of
[raq.’*1" The document corresponds to an entry in the notebook where Mr. Biden
made handwritren entries about the Prime Minister's visit. indicating that My, Biden
placed the memorandum in his notehook during or soon after thet cvent. '3

For both marked classified documents found in this notebook. we investigated
whether My, Biden had reason to keep the documents. including by interviewing My,
Biden and relevant staff members, reviewing Mr. Biden's notebook entries. and
examining the public record. The evidence does not suggest that he intended to keep
these documents, and it 15 possible he put them 1n his notebook after meetings and

forgot about them. While one of the documents concerned troop levels in Afghanistan

B FRT Serial 441,

UG Recovered document 4. The document was classified by OVEP National Security
Affairs as Top Secret//SCIL The intelligence community has indicated that was an invalid
marking and should be mavked TS/HCS-(O/SIFORCON/NOFORN: FBI Serial 676; Notebook
1B15.

1317 Recovered document C4,

1318 PRI Serial 1.1



as of 20131317 an issue that remained of great interest to Mr, Biden. !0 because it
was a single document from vears after the Afghanistan 2009 policy review, it 1s
plausible that My. Biden left it in the notebook by mistake rather than storing it theve
intentionally.

Wenvestigated whether Mr. Biden encountered these classificd documents in
hix notebook after the vice presidency, but we did not find evidence that he did. There
15 no evidence he used this notebook when writing Promise Me, Dad, and the
classified documents were not relevant to the hook. and were not referenced 1n My,
Biden's recorded conversations with Zwonitzer. While it 1s natural to assume My,
Biden mayv have reviewed this notebook at some point after leaving office and found
the classified documents inside, we did not {ind evidence to establish this.

B. Notebook labeled “DAILY/MEMO”

Mr. Biden's notebook labeled "DAILY/MEMO.” which agents found m his
office/library on the main floor of his Delaware home. contained one page of a
PowerPoint slide marked Secret/NOFORN about national security priorities for the
second term of the Obama administration.’?! The slide’s subject matter suggests it
may have been distributed at. or in preparation for. a National Security Council
mecting. While the intelligence community has informed us that this document 13
properly marked, it does not appear to us to contain national defense information. 1522

The investigation also did not reveal evidence that Mr. Biden mtentionally kept the

141 Recovered documents (1, (2. (3.

20 See ("hapter Six

L2l Notebook 11325; Recovered document D21
L2 Soral 676,
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document after the Obama administration, or that he knew the document was in his
home.

For each of the marked classified documents found in My, Biden's notebooks.,
we cannot prove that My, Biden knew about or intended to keep the document after
he was vice president. or we cannot prove the document contains national defense
information. or both. These documents do not support eriminal charges against Mr.
Biden.

I1. “WEEKEND WITH CHARLIE ROSE” BINDERS

During their search of Mr. Biden's Delaware home in December 2022 and
January 2023, FBI agents found two nearly identical binders containing marked
classified documents: one in a box in the garage. and the other in a paper bag in the
office next to Mr. Biden's primary bedroom. %2 The evidence does not show that Mr.
Biden knew the classified documents were in his home. and it 1= plausible that they
were stored there by mistake.

Mr. Biden's staff assembled the binders to prepare him for an event in
September 2014, entitled "Weekend With Charlie Rose™ in Aspen. Colorado.!*?! He
flew to Aspen on Friday. September 19, 2014, and back to Delaware the next day. 1325

The guest hist included leaders in government and business, 1426

1233 Fvidence items 1B5. 1B31, 1B77.

B2U9/17/14 e-mails  amongst  OVP National  Security Affairs  staff
NARAWTT_00011307 ("Poroshenko paper, including background (classified)™).

1425 9/15/14 e-mail from Dircctor of Programs, NARAWI[_00010985 (attaching Mr.
Biden's schedule from September 19, 2014): 9/18/14 e-mail {rom Director of Programs,
NARAWH_000109:13 (attaching Myr. Biden’s schedule from September 20, 2014).

1326 9/18/141 Event Memo, Weekend with Charhe Rose Dinner,
NARA_SCAN_00D016386.

329



The binders included materials on foreign poliey topies to prepare Mr. Biden

for an mterview with Charlie Rose on September 20, 2014142 A staff member who

compiled the binder e-mailed his colleagues proposing itg contents, stating that one
document would be classified and another might be 1328 The recovered binders
contents generally track this e-mail.'2% The marked classified documents in the
binders include the following:

s An Event Memo. marked Seeret, from a National Sccurity Affairs advisor
preparing Mr. Biden for a lunch on September 17, 2014 at the Naval
Obscrvatory with a foreign leader, 1330 This memo was in both the binder in
the garage (as a two-page document) and the binder in the upstairs office
{as a three-page document).

*» A ten-page document labeled In  part, “Background.” marked
Secret/NOFORN. which appears to be an attachment to the Event Memo
referenced 1mmediately above ™! This document also was in both
recovered binders 1932

s A five-page document titled in part, "Scenesetter for National Security
Advisor Susan Rice.” Tt lacks classified headers or foorers but does have
portion markings indicating 1t contains Secret information. '™ This
document was 1n both binders and covresponds to the staffer's e-mail
describing one paper as potentially classified. !

127 Communications Divector Tr. at 16: 99141 Interview Memo., 1B001_000531917
(memo prepacing Mr. Biden wirth an “off-the-record interview with Charlie Rose™ on
september 200,

B8 0/17/101 ¢-matls  amongst OVEP  National Security Affairs staff,
NARAWH 00011307,

v Compare 917/14 e-mails amongst OVP National Securitv Affairs  staff,
NARAWEL_ 00011307 with 1BO0S-CHARLIE ROSE BACKGROUND MATICRIAL

10 (lagsifled  documents Bl D23: 91814 White House Press Release.
1B00T 02563106 {deseribing lunch with Mr. Biden and foreign leader at the Naval
Observatory).

Ll Classified documents B2, D24,

2 9/17/14 0 e-mails amongst OVP National  Becurity Affairs staffl
NARAWH_00011307 ("Poroshenko paper. including background (classified)™).

HH (Masstfied documents 133, 1325,

U519/17/11  e-mails  amongst  OVP National  Security Affairs  stafl,
NARAWH 00011307 ("Poroshenko paper. including background (elassified)™.
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In one of the boxes recovered by the National Archives from the Penn Biden
Center was a copy of one unclassified document that was 1n both of these binders—
the dinner scating chart—in a folder labeled "Aspen. CO.” 123 Thig folder at the Penn
Biden Center contained no marked classified documents. 339

[n searching the contents of the box in rhe garage where they found one of the
"Weekend With Charlie Rose” binders, agents found binders {from other trips Mr.
Biden took as vice president in the same box. ¥ A naval enlisted aide recalled that
My, Biden kept such binders after returning from his trips. '

Within the paper bag in the upstairs office adjoining Mr. Biden's primary
bedroom. where agents found the other "Weckend With Charliec Rose”™ binder, they

also found personal documents that predate January 2017, when My, Biden left the

vice presidency.'?# We could not determine when or how the bag—and the binder
within 1t containing marked classified documents—arvived at the location where
agents found 1t 1 January 2023,

These facts do not support a conclusion that Mr. Biden willfully retained the

marked classified documents in these binders. The cover of one binder was marked

unclassified, the other had no classification marking. and we cannot show that My,

B8 PR Sertal 30 “Aspen CO7 folder. NARA_SCAN_00001634. Seating Charr,
NARA SCAN 00001635, 9/18/11 Event Memo. Weckend with Charlie Hose Dinner
NARA_SCAN 00001636,

Lias PR Serial 3.

a0 BT Serial 701,

BONEAT Tr. at 126-27.

i PR Seral H18.



Biden reviewed the binders after his vice presidency or knew the classified decuments
were inside. [t is plausible that he retained these documents by mistake.
III. MARKED CLASSIFIED DOCUMENT IN THIRD-LEVEL DEN

FBI agents found one document with classification markings in the third-Jevel
den area. Agents found the document inside a blue file folder with the handwritten
label "AMPUTATIONS Feb '11.7 which was in a pile of miscellaneous materials on
the bottom shelf of a bookease.1?'? The document was marked Secret/NOFORN and
related to events in Egypt. ¥ This document’s subject matter does not velate to the
label on the folder or the documents surrounding 1t. We cannot show that My, Biden
knew thig document was in his home, and the location of this document with
unrelated materials makes it plausible that it was filed 1in error and that Mr. Biden

kept this document by mistake.

1343 Recovered document D22; FBI Serial 77.
131 J

333



CHAPTER SEVENTEEN

DELETION OF AUDIO RECORDINGS BY MARK ZWONITZER,
MR, BIDEN’S GHOSTWRITER

At some point after learning of Special Counscel Hur's appointment, Mr. Biden's
ghostwriter. Mark Zwonitzer. deleted digital audio vecordings of his conversations
with Mr. Biden during the writing of the book. Promise Me, Dad.'3 The recordings
had significant evidentiary value. But Zwonitzer turned over his laptop computer and
external hard drive and gave consent for investigators to search the devices. Ax a
result. FBI technicians were able to recover deleted recordings velating to Promise
Me, Dad. Zwonitzer kept. and did not delete or attempt to delete. near-verbatim
transcripts he made of some of the recordings, 3% He also produced those detailed
Notes 1O INvestigators,

After reviewing available facts. analyvzing governing law. and considering the
Principles of Federal Prosecution, we decline to bring charges against Zwonitzer
related to his deletion of the audio recordings. Charges agalnst Zwonitzer are not
appropriate both because the available evidence 1s insufficient to obtain and sustain
a conviction, and because. even 1if the evidence were suflicient, the Principles of

Federal Prosecution do not support any charge in these circumstances.

145 [T)o ensure a full and thorough investigation.” the Attorney General's
appointment order authorized us to investigate and prosecute “federal ciimes committed in
the course of and with the intent to interfere with, the Special Counsel's investigation, such
as perjury., obstruction of justice. destruction of evidence. and intimidation of witnesses.” 28
C.F.R. § 600.1(a).

1316 AMost of these files were essentially transceripts of the conversations. and Zwonitzer
intended and viewed them as such. Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. 7.1 96. But in some instances, the
files included portions that were more akin to Zwonitzer's notes of conversations rather than
near-verbatim transcripts. For simplicity’s sake. we refer to these files as transeripts.
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I FACTUAL BACKGROUND

I'BI agents contacted Zwonitzer to request an interview and to seck records
related to his work ghostwriting two of Mr. Biden's memoirs, Promise Me, Dad and
Promises to Keep. Zwonitzer provided investigators records that included near-
verbatim transcripts and some audio recordings. When reviewing these materials,
investigators noticed that there were some transcripts for which there was no
corresponding audio recording. They then learned from Zwonitzer's attorneyvs that,
before the FBI contacted Zwonitzer. he deleted the recordings of his conversations
with Mr. Biden. Zwonitzer then provided all electronic devices that contained or were
used to create the recordings and transcripis related to Promise Me, Dad.

Zwonitzer stated that at some point he deleted the audio files subfolder from
his luptop and external hard drive.’3" No relevant deleted files were recovered from
the laptop. Deleted audio files were recovered from a subfolder on the external hard
drive laheled "Audio.” Based on the available evidence from the forensic review, we
assess that all deleted audio files were recovered from that subfolder. 13 For three of
the vecovered files, portions of the audio appeared to be missing, and a fourth file
appeared to have portions overwritten with a separate recording. ' These results

are possible when forensic tools are used o recover deleted files. 130 For cach of these

BT Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. 14-15.

B FBL Operational Technology Division Report. FBI Serial 700,

1319 BRI Serial 684,

150 File carving is a digital forensic process of extracting data from a storage device
by scanning the entire storage device at the byte level. including areas not assigned to the
file system. Carving can retrieve files that are no longer known to the file svstem. such as
those a user has deleted.
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four incomplete or overwritten files. Zwonitzer produced his corresponding
transcripts to investigators.'®! These notes summarized the content of the
conversations, two of which were with Mr. Biden and two of which were with Beau
Biden's doctor, 1432

After producing the materials to investigators, Zwonitzer gave (two consensual
interviews during which he provided relevant information without seeking immunity
or any protections or assurances (such as a proffer agreement). Zwonitzer was
forthright that he had deleted recordings.!'®¥ In his words. “I simply took the audio
files subfolder from both the G drive and my laptop and slid them into the trash. 1
saved all the transcripts . . 7135 Zwonitzer believed he did this at some point during
the peviod between the end of January 2023 and the end of February 202333 He
rook this action before the FBI contacted him about the investigation and requested
that he produce evidence.!%% Zwonitzer explained that at the time he did so. he was
“aware  of the Department of Justice investigation of Mr. Biden's potential
mishandling of classified materals. #97 A= for why he deleted the audio recordings.
Zwonitzer gave the following reasons:

e As a practice. while he saved transcripts of recorded conversations
indefinitely, he deleted audio recordings after completing a writien work to

ISUEFBI Sertals 315, 336: JRB-07: JRB_(2_16_2017: Doctor-02-16-2017%: Doctor-03-16-

2017,
B FPBI Serials 315, 336: JRB-07: JRB_02_16_2017: Doctor-02-16-2017: Doctor-03-16-
2017,

Lt Zwonitzer T/ 123 Tre. at 1.4-15.
11351 {d_'

155 Jofat 15,

1456 fd at 15-16.

37 Id . at 16,
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protect his interviewee's privacy.'™® Zwonitzer cxplained that he did not
have an established practice as to when he deleted audio recordings; vather.
he would do w0 at convenient points in time, such as when he moved to a
new residence or when he happened to notice that he «till had audio
recordings from past interviews, !

o Zwonitzer had received vague but threatening c-mails from groups hostile
to Mr. Biden, and private conversations that included Zwonitzer had been
published on the Internetr.1? Accordingly, Zwonitzer was concerned that
his computer could be hacked and the audio recordings of his conversations
with Mr. Biden published online.'3%! Those recordings contained personal
informartion. including Mr. Biden's veflections on the death of his son
Beau. t362

¢ In January 2023. Zwonitzer had finished working on a book about the
apabilities of a cvber-surveillance svstem called Pegasus. 13 Zwonitzer
stated that he had a “heightened sense of awareness” of the capabilities of
Pegasus. which he described as “the most . . . {rightful cvbersurveillance
tool . . . on the market out therc right now." 136! The book discussed how
Pegasus was used to spy on people around the world—including heads of
state. diplomats, and journalists %63 The Pegasus tool could be used to
“capture all videos, photos. emails. texts. and passwords - encrypted ov
not. 1366

Investigators asked Zwonitzer if he had deleted the recordings because of the
special counsel's investigation. Zwonitzer replied that he “was aware that there was

an investigation” when he deleted the recordings and continued, “['m not going to say

1398 el at 15,

I Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Ty, at 22,

1860 Jof, at 1.

La61 Id

1562 ‘."d'

1365 Lwonmitzer 1/4/21 Te. ar 77; Laurent Richard & Sandrine Rigaud., PEGASUS: THE
STORY  OF  THE  WORLD'S  MOST  DANGEROUS  SPYWARE  (2023)  (e-book),
https://us. macmillan.com/books/9781250858696/pegasus (last visited Jan. 31, 2024),

61 Zwonitzer L/4/24 Tr. at 77.

B3 Laurent Richard & Sandrine Rigaud. PEGASUS: THE STORY OF THE WORLD'S MOST
DANGEROUS SPYWARE (2023} (e-hook),
https//us.macmillan.com/books/9781250858696/pegasus (last visited Jan. 31, 2024).

1386 Id
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how much of the percentage it was of myv motivation.”’%" When asked whether he
deleted the recordings to try and prevent investigators [rom obtaining them,
Zwonitzer said that he did not and further explained. "when [ got the subpoena and
when I realized that [ still had audio that [ did not know I had on the laptop. [ made
sure to preserve that for this investigation.” %8 Zwonitzer also explained that at the
time he deleted the recordings. he did not expect the investigation to involve him!'369
and that he did not think the audio recordings contained information relevant to
classified information. 1570

According to Zwonitzer. he decided 1o delete the recordings on his own: no one
told him to do s0.'3"" Nor had he been in contact with anvone from My, Biden's circle
of staff. friends. and conflidants about his participation in an interview with the
Special Counsel's Office. 2 Our investigation—which included witness mterviews
and review of phone and e-mail records—did not uncover any evidence that Zwonitzev
had been 1in contact with anvone about his decision to delete the recordings.

I1. THE EVIDENCE 1S INSUFFICIENT TO OBTAIN A CONVICTION FOR QOBSTRUCTION
OF JUSTICE

A. Legal Standard
The two relevant statutory provisions that criminalize the destiuction of

evidence are 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c){D) and 18 U.S.C. § 1519, While in practice the proof

6T Zwonltzer 773123 Tr. at 17.
B Zwonitzer 14424 Tr. at 68,

V6% Zevonitzer 7431725 Tr. at 16.
L Awonitzer 1/4/21 Tr. at 66.

I Ywonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. at 17-22.
T .
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needed to sustain a conviction under cither statute 1s often very similar, the two
provisions differ in their clements. 1475

Seetion 1512(e)(1). like most federal obstruction statutes. requires proof of a
nexus” or “link” to a speeified pending or foreseeable official proceeding. 71 What
constitutes an “official proceeding” 1s enumerated 1n a statutory list and includes
proceedings before (1) a federal judge or federal court, (2) a federal grand jury. or (3)
the United States Congress.!™ Section 1512(¢)(1) also requires proof that the
defendant acted "corruptly.” And while courts have given slightly different definitions
to that term. it gencrally requires proof that the defendant acted with the purpose of
wrongfully impeding the due administration of justice.’s Under any formulation,

“corruptly” 1s a heightened mens req )%

L Compare 18 1.S.C§ 158 12(e) 1) with 18 U.B.CL § 1519,

U nitod States v, Whiede Horse, 35 Folth 1119, 1121-23 (8th Cir, 2022) (°§ 1512(e)( 1)
requires proof of a nexus between the defendant’s action and an official proceeding ™y United
States v. Matthews, 505 F.3d 698. 707-08 (7th Cir. 2007} (applying the nexus requivement to
§ 1512(c)(1)).

s 18 US.CL§ 1615(a)(1): see, e.g.. United States v. Young, 916 F.3d 368, 38.1-85 (1th
Cir. 2019} (applving § 1512{c)(1) to federal grand jury procecding).

L6 See United States v Ak, 701 F.3d 883, 887-88 (8th Cir. 2012); Matthews, 50
F.3d at 704-06: Leonard B. Sand & John 8. Siffert. MODERN FEDERAL JURY INSTRUCTIONS -
CRIMINAL € 46.10 (Matthew Bender & Company, Inc., Release No. 838 2023).

17 The Supreme Court has held that the word is "normally associated with wrongtul,
immoral. depraved, or evil.” Arthur Andersen LLP v. United Stafes, 544 U5, 696, 705 (2003).
The various formulations of corruptly amount to the same general requirement of proving a
bad purpose. See, e.g., United Stales v. Roberison, 86 F.4th 335, 359-63 (D.C. Cir. 2023)
(affirming jury instruction for § 1512(e)X2) charge that defined corruptly as requiring
“unlawful means, or act{ing| with an unlawful purpose, or both™ and “consciousness of
wrongdoing”): Maithews, 505 F.3d at 701-06 (purposefully and wrongtully impeding the due
administration of justice): United Stales v. Delgado, 984 F.3d 135, 452 (5th Cir. 2021
(“knowingly and dishonestly, with specific intent to subvert or undermine the due
administration of justice™: U'nited States v. Gordon, 710 F.3d 1124, 1151 (10th Cir. 2013)
("with an improper purpose and to engage in conduct knowingly and dishonestly with the
specific intent to subvert, impede or obstruct™).
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By contrast. Section 1519 permits prosecutions in broader circumstances. For
a Section 1519 prosccution, the government need not show a link to a specified
proceeding, it need only show the commission of an obstructive act with the intent to
impede. obstruct. or influence an investigation that is within the federal
government's jurisdiction. ' ¥ Additionally, Section 1519 does not require proof of
corrupt intent, and instead requires proving that the defendant acted "knowingly . ..
with the intent to impede. obstruct, or influecnce.” While a defendant must commit
the obstructive act knowingly. the defendant does not need to know whether the
investigation he mtends to obstruct falls under the jurisdiction of the federal
government, 59

Thus. Section 1519 criminalizes (1) knowingly: (2} altering. falsifving.
destroving. mutilating, concealing. covering up. or making a false entry in any record,
document. or tangible object: (3) with the intent to impede. obstruct. or mfluence the
mvestigation or the proper administration of any matter within the jurisdicuon of a

department or agency of the United States 1350

19 Unted States v. Moyer., 674 F.3d 192, 209-10 (3d Cir. 2012) (government only
required to prove an intent to impede an investigation into “any matter” that 1s “ultimarely
proven to be within the federal government's jurisdiction™): {nited Stafes oo Grayv. 692 F.3d
3140519 (6th Civ, 2012) (*[Tlhe plain language of the statute only requives the Government
to prove that [the defendant} intended to obstruct the investigation of any matter that
happens to be within the federal government's jurisdiction.” (alteration in original)); {nifed
States o Grayv, 612 7.3d 371 376-377 (2d Cir. 2011 ¢*[f]n enacting § 1519, Congress rejected
any requirement that the government prove a link between a defendant’s conducet and an
imminent or pending official proceeding. ™).

W United States v, Hassler. 992 F.od 243, 216-47 (4th Cir. 2021 (so holding and
collecting cases),

1380 See f{assler. 992 [7.3d at 246-47; Unvted States o Hund, 526 ¥.3d 739, 743 (11th
Civ. 2008): United States v. Kernell, 667 F.3d 746, 756-57 (6th Cir. 2012): Sand & Siffert.
above, at ¥ 46.13.
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(Given that Section 1519 is less burdensome because it does not require proving
a nexus requirement or a corrupt intent. we evaluated Zwonitzer's conduct under that
provision. A prosecution under Section 1512(¢)(1) would fail for the same reasons.

B. The evidence does not support a charge under Section 1519

Zwonitzer admitted, in a consensual, recorded interview. ] simply took the
audio files subfolder from both the fexternal hard] drive and my laptop and slid them
into the trash."#3% Thereflore, Zwonitzer knowingly deleted audio files, 132 hut the
avallable evidence cannot establish bevond a reasonable doubt that Zwonitzer did so
with the intent to impede. obstruct. or influence this federal investigation.

In his mterviews, Zwonitzer offered plausible. innocent reasons for why he
deleted the recordings, First, out of concern for privacy. he had a practice of deleting
all audio recordings of interviewees in his possession and had done so previously.
Second, Zwonitzer was concerned that the materials could be hacked and published
online. This concern was increased by his recent work on a book discussing a powerful
cvber-surveillance system known to target journalists. among other groups. While
Zwonitzer admitted to being aware of the special counsel investigation, he did not say
that his goal was to keep evidence from heing uncovered by that investigation.

Instead. Zwonitzer explained that “when I got the subpoena and when I realized that

B8l Zwonitzer 7/31/23 Tr. at 11-15.

182 See Kernell, 667 .3d at 756-57 (affirming sufficiency of evidence in Section 1519
conviction where defendant deleted files from his computer and ran a defragmentation
program); {‘nited Slates 1. Wortman, 188 F.3d 752, 753-55 (Tth Cir. 2007) (affirming
sufficiency of evidence in Section 1519 conviction where woman destroved a CD containing
child pornography that belonged to her boytriend).
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I 23]l had audio that I did not know 1 had on the laptop. [ made sure to preserve that
for this investigation, 383

Zwonitzer's later actions—including the production to the special counsel of
transcripts that mention classified information—suggest that his decizsion to delete
the recordings was not aimed at concealing those materials from investigators,
Significantly, Zwonitzer voluntarily consented to two interviews and could have. but
did not. invoke the Fifth Amendment to decline to produce the transcripts. his laptop.
and the external hard drive. And when FBI agents contacted Zwonitzer. they were
unaware that audio recordings existed or where Zwonitzer's electronie devices were
located.

Therefore, agents did not have probable cause for a4 warrant to search those
devices and recover the recordings. Investigators only learned of the evidence because
Zwonitzer was forthmght, explained his actions. produced the relevant electronic
devices, and consented to the scarch of those devices. Zwonitzer's own consensual
statement 18 the only evidence of when he deleted the vecordings: without it
investigators would not have learned whether he did <o before or after learning of the
speelal counsel's appomtment and federal criminal investigation. And while
Zwonitzer admitted to being aware of the investigation at the time he deleted the
files, the context 1in which this statement was made—during a consensual and
voluntary interview—supports the conclusion that Zwonitzer acted with good [aith

and did not intend to impede, obstruct. or influence this investigation.

B8 Zwonitzer 14721 Tr, at 68,
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Perhaps most significantly, Zwonitzer preserved near-verbatim transeripts
that contain incriminating information about Mr. Biden, including transcripts of the
February 16, 2017 conversation where Mr. Biden said he “just found all the classified
stuff downstairs.” Preserving these transcripts was Inconsistent with a motive aimed
at impeding the investigation. While there 1s unique evidentiary value in a subject’s
own voice as captured on an audio recording. we would expect a person mtending to
obstruct justice to also conceal or delete the notes that memorialized the same
probative information. Zwonitzer could have just as easily “slid” the files containing
the notes into the trash as he had done with the audio recordings. Instead, he
preserved the transeripts and produced them to mvestigators. And he later produced
the devices on which the recordings had been stored and consented to a search of
those devices. None of this is consistent with intent to obstruct justice or the
mvestigation,

For these reasons, we believe that the admissible evidence would not suffice to
obtain and sustain a conviction of Mark Zwonitzer for obstruction of justice,

III. DECLINATION 1S ALSO APPROPRIATE BECAUSE ON BALANCE, RELEVANT
AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING FACTORS DO NOT SUPPORT ZWONITZER'S
PROSECUTION
Even if the evidence available were sufficient to obtain and sustain Zwonitzer's

conviction for obstruction of justice. we would decline prosecution hecause on balance,

relevant agpravating and matigating factors do not support his prosecution.!**!

Zwonitzer willingly provided significant cooperation to the investigation without

Bt S Dep't of Just., Just. Manual § 9-27.230 (2023).
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sceking or receiving any protections or assurances. He was forthright in describing
his conduct and working with investigators to obtain all relevant evidence in his
possession. And his cooperation was uniquely valuable as the evidence that he
provided was highly probative and not otherwise obtamnable. Finally. prosccuting

Zwonitzer under these circumstances would detrer others from cooperating as he did,
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CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that no criminal charges are warranted

n this marter.
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B2-1 | binder (in garage); | 9/17/14 ) from staff members, with subject "[7.8. None CONFIDENTIAL®
behind “Russia” Energy Assistance to Ukrvaine.”
tab
S — . [ e 1 o R e o .
“Weekend With . e . i
\ . - A paper with subject "Scenesetter for e ‘ i
Charlie Rose . . . . o No classification headev or fooler; !
. . S e 0 - National Security Advisor Susan Rice's ) ‘ . P ?
B3 binder (in garage), | 8/29/14 ) o o ‘ T . portion markings indicate an SECRET ;
. o Visit 1o China.” Theve 1s no indication of an T v Ty e
behind “Russia overall elassification of SKCRET.
author.
tah
f\ paper Litled Somnd lm m Nal;ondl
“Foreiwgn Policy: Secwity Naveative” desembing goals the
B4 2nd Term” Undated 1 Obama Administration could seek to SECRET/NOFORN SECRET/NOFORN** :
file folder achieve in its second term. Therve is no I
i mchcatlou of an author. l ‘
‘ A Vh mmamlum or the Pl(“—:](l(‘]]l ﬁ onl 1119 E
Vice Presudent with the subject ; ;
[ s . “Engagement with China in the See f
] o e g i G n e st |
. . . » paper suggests activities Vice . e .
© B4 2nd Term’ Undated 1 ) PRPOLSHERORTS act No Classification Marking CONFIDENTIAL*
i . President Biden could do 1n his second
file folder N
term to “buld on my work last year by
Cngaging with China's leaders in (he
: smcmd term.’
e - i A document containing three Jists: "Foreign
Foreign Policy: Pohey Must Do,” “Foreign Policy  Want to
B4-2 2nd Term” lUindated } o ' e S L No Classifiestion Marking CONFIDENTLAL®*
o Do " and "Management Administrative.
file folder i . T
There is no indication of an author.

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other U8, goverament agencies before settling on a final classification.
“* Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State

Departme

i equitics).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Doc. . Page . . : ; i i
D Contained In Date Cougnt Summary Classification Markings Results (ge?,liti:lﬁeatmn
pl seap [P PEYTTSY Mt N NT . o T
“oreign Policy: i\ IOV.&T!,I(?UH ‘»’ﬁi’f nt'(-ulfilll)w}m‘ Ném"al TOP SECRET/NOFORN/Pre-
B5 2nd Term” Undated 9 oouniy bounetlt Meeling: Helinng a decisional CONFIDENTIAL®
file folder Second Term Agenda” and “Prepared by (first and socond slides only)
' National Security Stafl,” ou the title slide. i o i i Y
A Memorandum for the President from the
National Security Advisor with the subject
G A YT 1T D G “Meeting on Afghanistan and Pakistan.” TOP SECRET WITH TOP
, FACTS FIRST i , .
Bé file folder 9/29/09 ) The memo states its purpose as Lo prepare SECRET/NOFORN/CODEWORD TOP SECRET/NOFORN®
! President Obama for "a meeting with |his] ATTACHMENTS
senior national securtiy team on September
30, 20097
A veport from the Office of the Director of 7 o o o o
- ) i . TOP? SECRET/H ‘
- “IFACTS FIRST” PR _ National Intelligence addvessing topics TR e . o ne iy TOP SECRETHHCS-
BT file folder 1209 A related to the 1LS. war in Afghanistan. The HUMINT /C(())ﬂ/f\[}l;ﬁ/g(f)\l{(,()}vN()I P/STHORCON/NOFORN/FISA®
report 1s an attachment to 36, e
A photocopy of an infographic related (o )
Afghanistan and Al-Qa’ida that is partially No marking 1n the header or footer
cut off on the top, bottom, and right-hand ’ o 5 CoTe N
side. The original and compleo of the photocopy, but the original
B8 bAE‘ lb. KRS Undated 1 wfographic —obtained from the National d()(l:umnm. ' o.b'tamed ﬁ'om the _ SECRET/NOFORN
file folder i ) X National Archives--was marked
Archives-—iz labeled as a product of the TOP SRCRWT/
National Counterierrorism Center. The H(‘%H]/:’F(‘Iffz)f{(l‘();\]/N()F()R"\T
original infographic was an attachment to e o e o
136.
A report from the Office of the Direcior of
gy | TAUTSFIRST o 0 ) National Intelligence addvessing topics TOP SECRETY TOP SECRET/HCS-
) file folder ' ) ’ related to the U.S. war in Afghanistan. The HCS/SVORCON/NOFORN PISHORCON/NOFORN
report 18 an attachment to 36,
A report from the Office of the Director of
“"FACTS FIRST™ R National Intelligence addressing topics RTPRRTe S T T Y
. 4 . ; SECRET/NOF RETH/NOFORN
B1g file folder 9/27/09 4 related to the U S. war i Aflghasistan. The SECRET/NOFORN SECR |
report 1y an atlachment to BG. J J

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other L1.S. governnent agencies beflore settling on a final classification.

** Hhghest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State
Department equities).
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Date

Page
Count

Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Summary

Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

FACTS FIRST

B file folder

9/27/09

FACTS FIRST”

1312 file folder

9/23/09

A report from the Office of the Divector of
Natwonal Intelligence addressing lopies

report 1 an attachment (o BG.

related 1o the ULS. war in Afghanistan. The

A BState Department cable from
Ambassador Anne Patterson at the US,
“mbassy in [slamabad. Pakistan, with the
subject “Reviewing Our Afghanistan -
Pakistan Scrategy.” The cable 1s an
attachment to BG.

“FACTS FIRST”
file folder

Undated

"FACTS FIRST”

; B313-1 fle felder

922109

“FACTS FIRST”

B1li.2
Bi3-2 file folder

9/29/09

A paper titled "Afghamstan/Pakisian

Minimal Conditions Necessary ta Achieve

:Our Cove (Goal” The State Depavtment

| authored the document. The paper is an
attachment to B6.

A letier frgm the president of a foreien
country Lo President Obama that addresses
“the ongeing situation in Afghanistan”™ and
sets forth the foreign country's views on the
war. The document does not include
classification markings, but states in the
header that it 1s “Confideniial . . . For
Pregident Obama.” Document 1315
references the letter as an attachment..

e e e e =

SECRET/NOFORN

SECRET/#NOFORN

SECRET/NOFORN

SKECRET**

SECRET/REL TO USA. GBR

None

A quarter-page of typewritten text titied
“Notes rom Meeting on September 29,
2009 1:30-3:30 "Small Group Meeting:
Afshanistan/Pakistan.” The text quotes a
question asked by then-Tirector of the
Jentral Intelligence Agencey Leon Panelta
of then-Secretary of Defense Robert Gates
and provides the yes-or-no answer to that
question given by “Intelligence, State and
Defense”

None

SECRET**

CONFIDRNTIAL**

SECRET/NOFORN**

* Agenecy with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other U8, government agencies before settling on a final classification.
** Highest level of elassification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Seewmity Counal (including an assessment of State

Depariment equities).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

- — e _ e - : et
Doc. . Page " .
D Contained In Date Cougnt Summary Classification Markings Results cge(zflizs‘:lﬁcatmn
An e-mail copying the text of a September
25, 2009, State Department cable from the
LS. Embassy in Kabul, Afghanistan.
WP A (T 101 Tp Cors authored by Ambassador Kar] Eikenberry
FACTS FIRST aut v : )
1314 file folder l Y25/09 3 with the subject "KARZAL MY SECRIT SECRET
’ ‘ "OBSERVATIONS.” The subject of the e-
mail and text of the cable include a
’ ‘ designation and each paragraph is portion-
{ mavked “(8).” which stands for Secret.
| CFACTS RIRST A paper titled "Counterinsurgency (COLN)
Bl4-1 EA X tndated | 4 vs. Counterterrorism (CT) Strategios™ that Nene TOP SECRET/NOFORN*
file folder : S !
‘ J‘ has no indicalions of author,
A paper titled "Some Facets and
Considerations” that addresses topics
}Ei‘:{;‘;:ﬁ :(111 ((:%Jixiifu::; Itjil(::lzf\: H’?hv TOP SECRETHACS-Ou
B15 PAC'ILS FIRST Undated 2 document appears to have been auihored TOP SECRETHHSCH/NOFORN 115el (,()NT’HO I“ :SYSTILM
file folder within the White Houwse bocause if is MARKINGS}/
i Lhe Wiite House heeause 10 1s ORCON/NOFORN*
critical of Intelligence Community
assessments, The document veferences
Document B13-1 as an attachment.
“FACTS FIRST A PawerPoint slide titled “Pathway to
- Bie | file folder Undated 1 COMISAF Initial Asscssment” that does } SECRET/NOFORN SECRET/NOFORN
} e fotde I nol indicate an author.
- “FACTS FIRST” : A Power Point slide with the partial title ‘ TR T OV T
o BT Flo folder 10/13/09 | 1 |CI0s Update” L SECRET SECRE]
L I _ . i i _ R
PACTS FIRST A large-formalt infographie in the form of .
Big s - Undated? i table. The table addresses the capabililies SECRET/NOFORN ' SECRET/NOFORN
file folder . ) - |
of the Afghan govermment. !
] Lo , S L I _

2 Investigators located the document on the conference 1able in the Situation Room in White House photographs dated OQcrober 14, 2009.

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need (o consult with other U.S. government agencies before setiling on a final classification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Departinent acting as a proxy for the National Sceurity Council (including an assessment of State

Department equities).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

None

SECRET/NOFORN

SECRET/NOFORN

TOP SECRET/SCL

SECRET/NOFORN

TOP SKECRET/HCS-0-
PHORCON/NOFORN

Doec. . P
Contained In Date age Summary
in Count
An unstgned, handwritten letter with the
FACTS FIRST salutation "Mr. President.” »letter
318.1 \" I'S FIRS1 10/18/09 3 salutation \Il. | I(H]d&‘,ni The 1(11.&1
file folder appears to he in draft format and discusses
COIN strategy in Afghastan.
B19 k ;\F, FS FIRST | o/13/09 - A ..Powe.ermI.)rs-a;;(:[}la-n.lon riﬂgz'wdl_]‘lg )
file folder Afghanistan titled “Sunday Smal! Group.
— . — - . S . - . .
A Memorandum for the President from the
National Security Advisor with the subject
) . Weekly Update on Afghanmstan and
“FACTS FIRST” N .
B20 aLie 8731709 3 : Pakistan.” The memo included two
file folder i e - ey
attachments, labeled “Talb 17 and “Tahb 2.
that are documents B21 and B22,
respectively,
A one-page Memovandum for the President
from then-Secretary of State Hillary
Rodham Clinton dated August 26, 2009,
“FACTS FIRST” attaching a seven-page Memorandum to
: . 26/0¢ £ : . ‘ ‘
B2t file folder #/26/09 i he President from Special Representative
: Holbrooke dated August 28, 2009, with
subject "Alghamisian/Pakistan Weekly
L Report — August 22-August 28 20097

Cover mema:
SECRET/NOFORN/NODS
(UNCLASSTFTED when sepavate
from attachment)
Holbrooke Memio:
SECRET/NOFORN/NODIS

SECRET/NOFORN/NODIS

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other U.8. government agencies before settling on a [inal classification.
#* [lighest level of classification handhng recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy Jor the National Secuvity Council (including an assessment of State

Department equities).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

— ~ . . e e e e - S
Doc. . Page " g : Results of Classification W
D Contained In Date Count Summary Classification Markings Review
— | -
A one-page. unclassificd Memorandum for
Asszistant to the President and National
Secuvity Advisor firom then-Defense '
Secretary Robert Gates altaching a five-
page Central Command ("CENTCOM”) T o
weekly update for August 17-23, 2009, from LPI\,” (()\MT
. “FACTS FIRST” ‘ General David Petraeus. The Gates memo M“(’R,[‘J L/NOFORN . .
B22 . 8/24/09 184 o T e T MNF.-1 Update: SECRET/NOFTORN
file folder also attaches a six-page Multi-National i LT 17 g . i
. s T SECRET # NOFORN /
Force - Irag "MNF-T") weekly update for . .
. . . 2001190221
the same week from General Raymond
Odicrno. Theve are two coples of the cover
: memo from Gates and the CENTCOM
_l ‘ update. The CENTCOM update includes
'I an update on Afghanistan.
. B I S

¥ B22 also includes a copy of the last erght pages of the first copy of General MeChrystal’s assessment. olherwise designated as parvt of Document B23. Those pages are not
counted in this entry.

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to conswlt with other U.S. government agencies hefore sottling on a final classification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department aciing as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State
Department cquitics).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Results of Classification
Review

Doe. . P .
I(I,)c Contained In Date Coaugr?t Summary Clasgsification Markings

A one-page. unclassified letter from
General Stanley MeChrystal, Commandoer,
United States Forces - Afghanistan /
international Security Assistance Force,

f Afghamstan, attaching a document titled

: “Commander’s Imtial Assessment” dated

; ; ! August 30, 2009, and authored by General ; 3
‘ “FACTS FIRST ) ’ h A o TONFIDENTIAL REL CONFIDENTIALAREL TSAL
Ij\fﬁ]r{‘?oil]i?] £/30/09 126! MeChrystal (only the first 58 pages CONFIDENTIAL REL CONFIDENTIALZREL TO USA

NA SAF SAF, NAT
included in B23). NATONMBAF [SAF, NATO

B23 then inchudes another cuopy of the ;
letter from MeChrystal, with the (ull 66- ' ;
page assessment attached. The second copy .
of the aszessment containg handwritten
markings and notes.

A one-page Memorandum for the President
from the Vice President with the subject
“Alghanistan” with "DRAFT handwiitten
at the top. The memo atiaches a nine-page
paper titled “"Afghanistan Discussion
Paper: A Counter Tevrovism Plus’

SRACTS FIRST” Strategy.” The paper does not specily an !
s ) 9/10/09 9 author, but the classification-authority TOP SECRET ! TOP SKCRETH#NOFORN* i
file folder o ‘ o
Fhlock indicates it was classified by Antony
“Blinken.

B241

The last two pages of B23 are a printout of
an article in Newsweek titled “The
Geopolitics of Golf” by Richard N, Haass

i _L published en September 3, 2009

T The last three pages of B23 ave a printour of an opinion picce from the New York Times dated August 20, 2009, titled “[n Afghanistan, the Choice is Qurs” by Richard N
Haass. Those pages are not counted in this entry.

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other U8, government agencies before settling on a {inal classification,
** Highest level of classification handling vecommended by the Statle Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State
Department equities).
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Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

“AFGANASTAN
B25 2009”
file folder

11/25/09

"AFGANASTAN
1325-1 2009"
file folder

1127109

A Memorandum for the President from the
Vice President that includes handwritten
notes, edits, and markings. It also includes
partially cut-off fax-machine markings for
November 25, 2009, a1 around 2:43 pim.
The memo begins. “[hleve are some final
thoughts en Afghanistan and Pakistan,
which may help shape the argument you
make 1o the Amevican people.” The memao
supports Mr. Biden's belief “that we should

Biden sought to “relay the highlights of 5
conversation with Karl Kikenberry and
recommend that vou call him.™ A
handwrilien note next to that sentence

| states. “Thie 18 g stand up guy will take
risks.”

| Handwuvitten Letter to President Qbama
and Drafis. See full deseription in text of
veport.

"TAFGANASTAN
B2G 2009°
file {folder

14/12/08

i
|
|

not increase owr forees” in Afehanistan. Mo

TOP SECRET

SECRET**

None

A Memorandum for Primeipals from the
National Security Advisor with subject
“Afghanistan-Pakistan: Tellowing up on
November 11 Meeting.” The memo begins:
“Based on our meeting with the President
on November 11, we have developed
revised implementation guidance to
achieve our national corve goal in
Afghanistan and frame a vaviant of ‘Force
Option 2A.77 There are handwritten notes
and markings on the fivst and last page of

the memo. The memo includes a list of «ix
%[ questions on pages 3 through <.

- _ ——————— . (S S

SECRET/NOFORN

Declassification date passed on |
11/9/2019; handle as marked until
official declagsification review **

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other 1.8, government agencies before settling on a final classification.
“* Highest level of classification. handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Sceurity Counci! (including an assessment of State

Department equitics).
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— - I e - E .- .
| Doe. Page Results of Classificati
Contained I Dat ar ] " . - 5 O assification
| D nta n ate Coant Summary Classification Markings Review
A memoranduny that is nearly identical 1o
the memo designated as B26, except that.
CAFGANASTAN this memo is dated Novenmber 13, 2009, TOP SECRET and Declagsification date passed on
B27 2009 - 11/13/09 b includes a yed “TOP SECRET stamp a1 | SO RITNOFORN ©11/972019: handle as marked until
- § | ; PeBa Pl A A - i . . .
file folder 3 the top and bottom of cach page (in i official declassification review #*
addition 1o the “SECRIET/NOFORN"
marking). and has a list of seven questions.
A Memorandum for the National Sceurity
Advizor from the Vice President. The memo | Declassification date nassed
“AFGANASTAN beging: “Jim — You requested comments on leﬁ 1(:7210]1(51_ ;10'11 (l? ¢ F_)(ls?e.k 011“1
1328 2009 11/15/09 1 a proposed paper to the President, TOP SECRET it s DANEIE A5 markec
SN o ; _ . until official declassification
file folder following up on our November 11 meeting roview. ¥
;v on Afghanistan-Pakistan, with a focus on VIEW.
the Afghanistan sirategy. Here are mine:”
T A docunient titled “Talking Points” with
» handwritten date ® 9”7 m Lhe rclassificat & passe
“AFGANASTAN the h.m-xi“] itten rht(,l 1 1/} 109" in Lrh‘& T)u,ld'a:’alflrfauam date passed on
; P . - upper-right corner of the first page. The R, 11/11/2019; handle as mavked
| B29 2009 1111049 3 Rt - e rOP SECRET : L .
: S talking points appear to be for My, Biden o until official declassification
file folder . ) . ok
deliver to President Obama on the lopic of review.”*
the Afghanistan Strategic Review.
A paper titled "Alternative Mission for
. anistan” wi author mdicated ¢
AFGANASTAN (he bedumcton dote Ot 20" i ine apper-
1330 2009 10/29/09 3 e ha o pate Gl e |l SECRIT SKCRET
. right corner. It “describes an alternative |
file folder T ;
mission Lo properly resourced ]
: counterinsurgency in Alghanistan.”
& "AFGANASTAN A document titled “Talking Pomts for call
I B3l 20097 Undated i to Secretary Gates” addressing the CONFIDENTIAL and SECRET SECRET
L fite folder “strategic review n Afghanistan.
v “AFGANASTAN A typewrtten portion of the draft memo
2000” Undated 1 included as part of documents 825 and None TOP SECRET/NOFORN®

file folder

B25-1.

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other 118, government agencies before sertling on a final classification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State
Department equities).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Results of Classification
Review

SECRET/NOFORN

CONFIDENTTAL/REL TO USA,
1BAF. NATO

Strategy: Civilian Coneerns.”

D Contained In Date goafft Summary Classification Markings
CAFGANASTAN A I.’o?-'erPoin)l. Prcst—zntf}tli()n titled "(TJ(‘,S_
B32 2009” 11/11/09 12 B“"f to the I_" “_t“““‘“" ’\,”“’,“g Other LOpICs. | o TR L USA. ISAF, NATO
file folder t.l}(_! shdes.dehcnbvl and assess 111:.'.0.0
different force options for Afghanistan.
PowerPoint slides nuinbeved 13-15 that are |
likely pavt of the same presentation as B32. Slides labeled 13, 14:
“AFPGANASTAN 11/11/09 The first shde s titled "Progression of Full- CONFIDENTIAL
B33 2009” NG 3 Spectrum COIN The second slide is titled RIEL/NATO/NSAY
file folder (est) “lmportance of Full-Spectrum COIN" The Shde labeled 15: SKCRETH/REL
thivd slide includes a chart and is titled USA, ISAF, NATO
Foree Level Decision Points”
Five PowerPoint slides numbered 16-20
.k T A AT A Tt A N that are likely part of the same Shdes labeled 16: SECRET
R34 A G?d\(l)jg?lAl\ 11/11/09 5 1J1iesentation as Di32 gn(l B33, Tho ﬂl.‘St. . Shdes labeled 17-19:
file folder (est) .f:‘:lld(‘,l.‘i a (:Iharl titled ":‘Xllerpahye M]ssum SECRET//REL UISA, TSAF, NATO
in Afghanistan.” The last slide is titled Shide labeled 20: None
“Projected ANSTEF Growth Decision Points.”
"AFGANASTAN N Tt kil o] ety
1335 2009" Undated 1 A PowerPoint shide tilled "Securing SHORET/NOFORN
. Additional Allied/Partner Contributions.
file folder
A Memorandum for the President. from
: i "AFGANASTAN then-Defense Secrctary Robert Gates,
B3g | 20097 10/30/09 1 responding to a request from the National SECRET/NOFORN
file folder Security Council. The memo attaches the
document designated as B37.
A Memovandum for Principals from the
National Security Advisor with ihe
handwritien date "11-8" 1 the upper right
SAFGANASTAN , ‘i’;‘;‘f" reea "d,i[f’lg the "“l"“*’vf”’ hsted SKCRET WITH
B37 2009” Undated 1 Afghamistan. - he altachments are hsic SECRET/NOFORN
file folder as: {1) Tab A; Secretavy (.:al.u..f-‘- “ . . ATTACHMENT
Memorandum and “Alternative Mission for
Afghanigtan™ Paper and (2) Tah B
Ambassador Eikenberry's Cable. "COIN

SKCRET

Agency could not determime
classification.

SECRETINOFORN

SECRET/NOFORN

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other 1.8, government agencies before settling on a final clagsification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State

Department equities).
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Doec. . Page Results of Classificati
Cont dI D . . . esults o assification
D ontained In ate Count Summary Classification Markings Review
A Siate Deparvtment cable from the 115, )
“APGANASTAN | Embassy in Kabul, Afghanistan authored
1338 2009 11/6/09 | A by Ambassador Rarl Kikenberry with SKCRET with a NODIS hanner SKCRET**
file folder subject “COIN STRATEGY: CIVILIAN
i CONCERNS."
wq e . | A PowerPoint slide describing an "Qption R
1/6/12 #2 Foreign Y C i
\ D TF £ for the distvibution and composition of SECRET/NOFORN/PRE- :
Cl Policy BI22/13 1 P ‘ . . SECRET/NOF N
Vn(l)vllgzok ’ (LS. forces in Afghanistan after 2014 DECISTONAL SECRET/NOFORN
U i There 1s no ndication of an author.
a it ey e A PowerPoint slide describing an “Option |
U612 #2 Foreig e R g .
(9 ’ Polic ,.(,)“ 1an 519213 ! )" for the distribution and compaosition of SECRET/NOFORN/PRE- SRCRITYNOFORN
- '\IOLPIJ?])()k e LLS. forees 1 Afghanistan aficr 2014, : DECISIONAL T '
B There 13 no indication of an autho-. [ ,
U L A PowerPomt slide deseribing an “Option !
1/6/12 #2 Foreign ‘ T i o . . i
. - . C+" for the distribution and composition of SEKCRET/NOFORN/PRE- |
C3 Policy BI2211. ) . ‘ SECRET/NOFQRD i
l \Io(l)(\]l()(}mk 2L ! LLS. forees in Afghanistan after 2014, DECISIONAL SECRET/NOFORN \l
T There 1s no indication of an author.
i A Memorandum for the Vice President !
| from the Office of the Vice President
g . ! National Security Affairs regarding u
1/6/12 #2 Foreig 1 ‘ ‘ R T -
¢4 ’ I)U]i(‘yfnmgn 117115 3 \‘ moeting with ITragt Prime Minister Malila. TOP SECRETHSC TOP S]*)C]{.E]'IWHCS.
\Y‘HL(‘}.)‘O()k : The memo sets forth *|a] few things to note R : Q/STHORCON/NOFORN*
s i advance of your Malili meeting”™ and
provides “a concise distillation of the 1ssues
‘ J with Traq that may be helpful ”
| i . e of Undetermined: Legislaiive Branch
! [ ! % Stdﬂ.‘ Memma“ndulm o Me L.uh('h of the CONFIDINTIAL document witheut indications of
| ; l Commitiee on Foreign Relatious on . o . ‘ o
| - ' wrp D - A with red tag stapled to the cover | information devived [rom classified
! [INTL] ; Ferrorism: Protection and Policy” that memo Fxocutive Branch information
i Di TERRORISM” 6/30/76 53 “discusses the security of American i ) ’ ’ ) )

fite folder

I I

embassies and diplomats abroad i the
wake of the killing of Amibassador Meloy
and My, Waring v Bebut”

CLASSIFIED COMMITTEE (N

¢ FOREIGN RELATIONS UNITED

STATES SENATE

Marking is not a necessarily a
national-security classification
because this is a Legislative
Branch document.**

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consull with other U8, government agencies befove settling on a final classification.
** Highest level of elassification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council {including an assessment of State
Departient equities).
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Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

“Biden Mecting
w/Chancellor
D2 Schmidt 6/10/80- 6/13/80 6
6/12/807
file folder

"GREECE” Total: 9

L3 file folder 3780 Marked: 2 |

I _ — __,ﬂ{
YUGOSLAVIAY O . Total: 6

D1 file folder 378 Marked: 1 |

| NEGOTIATIONS ON CYPRUS” marked

page

A Memorandum for the Record from a
Senate staffer with subject "Senator
Biden's Meeting with Helmut Schmidt”
that recounts the discussion at a meeting
between Mr. Biden and Cerman Chancelior
Hehnut Schmidt on June 11, 1980.

Three separate memoranda:
©a Z-page memo titled “US-GREEK
RELATIONS™ mavked "LIMITED
OFFICIAL USKY

* a Z2-page memo Litled "STATUS OF

“CONFIDENTIAL" on the fivst page

* a b-page memo titled "REINTEGRATION
OF GREEK FORCES INTO MATO
MITITARY COMMAND STRUCTURE
marked "CONFIDENTIAL® on the serond

i Dragoslay MARKOVIC, President of the

] '

A B-page State Department memo with
subject "Visit to the United States by

Assembly of the Socialist Federal Republic
of Yugoslavia, and delegation.” The memo
attaches "[bhographic information on
Markovic and other members of the
delegation.” Page 6 is 4 vne-page

biography of Markovie marked ‘

“CONFIDENTIAL”®

There are two copies of the memo and {

attachment, which Bl separately

designated D4 and 125, l

CONFIDENTTAL

with tag stapled to the cover

memo

CLASSIFIED COMMITTEL ON
FOREIGN RELATIONS UNITED

STATES SENATE

CONFIDENTIAL

‘ Undetermined: Legislative Branch
document without indications of
mformation dertved from classified
Executive Branch information.

Muarking 18 not a necessarily a
national-security classification
because this 15 a Legislative
Branch document.**

Undetermined: Legislative Branch
document without indications of

L information derived from classified

Executive Branch information.
Marking 18 not a necessarily a

natienal-secuvity classification
because this is a Legislative

Branch document . **

CONFIDENTIAL

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
classification guidelines.

* Agency with highest recommmended classification would necd (o consult with other U.S. government agencies befove setthng on a final classification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the Siate Depariment acting as a proxy flor the National Security Council (including an assessment of State

Dapartment equities).

A-14



Appendix A; Recovered Documents

Summary

Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

A B-page State Department memo with
subject "Visit to the United States by

r Dragoslav MARKOVIC, President of the
Assembly of the Socalist Federal Republic
of Yugoslavia, and delegation.” The momo
attaches “[bliographic information on
Markevic and other members of the
delegation.” Page 61s a one-page
biography of Markovic marked
VCCCONFIDENTIALY

There are two copies of the memo and
attachment, which FBI separately
designared 1)4 and D5,

A memorandum titled "NDVARD
KARDEL): A PRIMER ON HIS
TITINKING”

Doc, . Page
D Contained In Date Count
YUGOSLAVIAY Total: 6
i . T
15 file folder nare Marked: 1
‘. \ ]
" i
“YUCOSLAVIA
D6 Y ["FJ()%JI AVIA Lindated ‘ 5
file folder
i f
“SALT 1T file
folder in a
. Redweld folder e )
P71 apeled coppy, | Undated 3
BIDEN August
| 1979
i
. o "Other Arms
f - Control” file folder
in a Redweld . Total: 6
D3 folder labeled Undated Marked: 4
“CODEL BIDEN
August 19797

CONPFIDENTIAL

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
classification guidelines.

SECRET

A memorandum titled "SALT LT thai
discusses predictions regarding
negotiations for a Strategic Arms
limitations Talk 111

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
classification guidelines.

CONFIDENTIAL

A G-page memorandum tided "MBWR™ thai
discusses the "Mutual and Balanced Fovee
Reduclion negotiations”™ that "began in
November 1973 1in Vienna.”

The last two pages are not marked
Confidential and set out "Anticipated
Soviel Points” and "Suggested LIS Points.”

Likely UNCLASSIFIED, subject to

formal declassification review **

CONFIDENTIAL

CONFIDENTIALA/FORMERLY
RESTRICTEIY DATA

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with sther U8, government agencies befove settling on a final classification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Couneil (ncluding an assessment of State

Department equities).
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ID

Doc.

Contained In

Date

Page
Coung

Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Summary

Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

Do

“Other Arms
Control” file (older
in a Redweld
folder labeled
“CODEL BIDEN
August 1979"

Undated

A memorandun titled “Comprehensive
Test Ban” that discusses issues expected to
arise upon the resumption of the “trilateral
CTB talks in Geneva® that “recessed in late
July and are expected Lo vesume again in
September”

1o

“Senator Biden”
file tolder in a
Redweld folder

labeled “CODEIL

RIDEN August

1979

it

“Senator Biden”
file folder in a
Redweld folder
labeled “CODNERIL
BIDEN August
1979

Undated

CONFIDENTIAL

A memorandum tutled "CODEL BIDRKN"
that sets forth “a tentative draft outline of
the manner in which the delegation might
want to make its first presentation on
SALT at the Plenary session with the
Supreme Soviel.”

5725/79

112

D13

“Senator Biden”
file folder in a
Redweld folder

labeled “*CODEL.

BIDEN August

1979

“Senator Biden”
file folder in a
Redweld folder

labeled "CODEIL

BIDEN August

1979"

BI16G/TY

S/10/79

A bography of a memher of a foreign

s delegation.

A biography of & member of a foreign
delegation.

A biography of a member of a foreign
delegation,

Likely UNCLASSIFIED, subject 10

formal declassification review . **

CONFIDENTIAL

CONFIDENTIAL

NOPFORN at the tep (confidential
marking appears cut offy and
CONFIMENTIAL at the hotiom

CONFIDENTIAL NOFORN

Likely UNCLASSIFIED, subject to |
fovmal declassification review **

BECRET/NOFORN

Clagsification upgraded in
accordance with current
classification guidelines.

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
classification guidelines,

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
classification guidelines.

* Agency with highest yecommended classification would need to consult with other U8, government agencies before settling on a final classification.

** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State
Department equities).
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Contained In

Date

Pape
Count

Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Summary

Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

1314

“Senator Biden”
file folder in a
Redweld folder

labeled “CODEIL

BIDEN August

19797

8110079

16

D16

D17-1

i

“Senator Biden”
fite folder 1n a
Redweld fulder

labeled “CODKI.

BIDEN August

19797

“Senator Biden”
file folder in a
Redweld folder

labeled “CODEL

BIDEN August

19797

“Senator Biden”
file folder in a
Redweld folder

labeled *CODEL

BIDEN August

1979”

“Senator Biden”
file folder 1 a
Redweld folder

fabeled “CODEL

BIDEN August

19797

bI29/79

e ————

Undated

2217

TILBITY

A biography of a member of a foreign
defegation.

A biography of a member of a foreign
delegation.

A hography of a member of a foreign
delegation.

A biography of a member ol a foreign
delegation.

A biography of a member of a foreign
delegation.

I CONFIDENTIAL

CONFIDENTIAL

CONFTDENTIAL

; CONFIDENTIAL

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
aceordance with current
classification guidclines,

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
clagsification guidelines.

None

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded 1n
accordance with current
classification guidelines.

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
classificarion guidelines,

SECRET/NOFORN

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need 1o consult with other U8, government agencies before settling on a final classification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the Natwonal Security Counel (neluding an assessment of State
Dapartment eqguities).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Results of Classification
Review

SECRET/NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
classification guidelines.

SECRET#NOFORN

Classification upgraded in
accordance with current
classification guidelines.

[eclassification date passed on
11/11/2019; handle as marked
until official declassification
review.

SECRET/NOFQRN*=

State Department noted that the
document may be overclassified.

SECRET/NOFORN ‘

ch]))c' Contained In Date (}]?oaug:t Summary Classification Markings
| “Senator Biden”
i file folder in a
Redweld folder e A Liography of a member of a foreign R (1 e
DIS | beled “CODLL | 529079 1 delegation 5 CONFIDENTIAL
BIDEN August
1979"
“Senator Biden”
file folder in a
D19 fg’e‘ll‘g’gldcgi‘)’i‘h &/15/79 1 ge?ggi‘t;‘;ﬁ“’ of'a member of a foreign CONFIDENTIAL NOFORN
BIDEN August
1979"
A State Department cable from the 1S,
Embassy in Kabui with subject
"HELMAND VIEWS ON 1.5, TROOP
“Af/Pak 1 LEVELS IN AFGHANISTAN." The Cgbl(,‘,
1320 : 11/21/09 5 “was drafted by the State Representative to CONFIDENTIAL
Notebook ; N L L
the 2d Marime Expeditionary Brigade, and
7its Commanding General. Brigadiey
General Lawrence Nicholson | | . reviewed !
jthe] cable” ‘
Two PowerPoint slides. The first slide is
titled “Scoping Key Priorities for the
Second Term” and sets outs "Key Products
N1 “DAILY/MEMO” Undated o | to Prepare for the January NSO meeting on SECRETH/NOFORN
e Notebook ’ "~ - Priorities.” The slide i1s marked (first slide only)
“SECRET/NOFORN.” The sccond slide is
unmarked and depicts a flow chayt for a
Natonal Security Council process.
A document titled "CJCS 12-Hour Kgypt
"APUTATIONS 2/11/11 }IJ:))L;!'?&S'(lepiﬂletit(qli'g li??dtt}(l)atthlz\lgglldlm -
D22 Feh 11" ] o o e o ‘ ) SECRETH/NOFORN
file folder {est.) 1'evoh‘1t10n in Egypt and the 1'€)zslgnat1.(m of
Hosni Mubarak from the presidency in
| Egypt. |
R . : N ..

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other 1.8, government agencies before settling on a final classification
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Counceil {including an assessment of State

Department equities).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Doe.
D

Contained In

Date

Page
Count

Summary

Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

123

“Weekend Wiith
Charlie Rose”
binder
{in bedroom
office); behind
“Russia” tab

D24

“Weekend With
Charlie Rose”
binder
(in hedroom
office): behind
“Russia” tah

91714

9/17/15H
{est.)

[¥25

1

“Weekend With
Charlie Rose”
binder
{in bedroom
office); behind

“Russia” tab

"FORKIGN
RELATIONS
COMMITTER"
file folder

| 8/29/14

1/23/80

“KLUROPE”
file folder

6/4/80

10

An BEvent Memo from an OVP national
securily staffer titled “Lunch with
Ukrainian President Poroshenko” for a
lunch at the Naval Observatory on
September 18, 2014, The memo describes
the purpose of the lunch, the participants.
the press plan. and the sequence of events.

SECRET

A paper attachment to D23 ttled “Tab B -
BACKGROUND" discussing 1ssues related
I to Russian aggression toward Ukraine.

i There 1s ne indication of an author.

A Paper titled "Scenesetter for National
Security Advisor Susan Rice's Visit 1o
China” with no indication of an author.

SECRET/NOFORN

No elagsification header or looter:

portion markings indicate an
overall elassificaiion of SKCRET.

An Action Memorandum from a Senale
staffer 1o mine Senators, including Mr.
Biden, with subject “Proposed 1980
Committee Budget -- For Discussion
Puring Meeting of Democrats in 8-201 at
2:00 p.m .. Wednesday, January 23" The

document s 1dentical to (4.

A letter from three Senators on the
Committee on Foretgn Relations. including
Mr. Biden, to Seeretary of State Edmund 8.
' Muskie intended to express concerns about
delays in SALT and TNF arms
negotiations. There are stapled unclassified
notes and correspondence attached to the

| letter.

CONFIDENTIAL

SECRET®**

TOP SECRET/NOFORN

SECRET**

i Depariment of State did not
identify any potentially sensilive
Eixecutive Branch information.
The "CONFIDENTIAL” marking,
therefore, does not appear Lo be a
national security classification

marking. **

CONFIDENTIAL

Department of State did not
identify any potentially sensitive
I Executive Branch information.
The "CONFIDENTIAL” marking.
thervefore, dees not appear to be a

national security classification
mavrking. **

i

%

* Agency with highest recommended classification would necd to consult with other U8, government agencies before settling on a final classification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State
Departinent equities).
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Classification Markings

Resulis of Classification
Review

CONFIDENTIAL

I . e
Doec. Page
Contained In Date Su *
ID Count minary
" An Action Memorandun addressed (o
N “BUROPH . ) bgnatm‘s thr(l:u be.malm.'.s mclu(‘lmg My,
E3 . 5/29/80 | 2 Biden vegarding ihe letter to Secretary of
file folder ‘ . o . . ‘
State Edmund 8. Muskie recommending
“ft]hat you each sign the attached letter. :
i ) ST ) |
Another copy of the Action Memorandum
‘ “KUROPE » s ; design‘at(:d Iﬁ? wi.t.h ;}n Llll(“,lﬁ.‘ifj?ﬁf?d note .
JOE:! ; 5/29/30 2 from Senate Statfer 5 to Mv. Biden
file folder .
attached to the front of memo
i recommending My. Biden sign the letter,
I L o e
} An earher version of the letter from chree
Senators on the Committee on Foreign
Relations, including My, Ihden. to
E5 "E[.i’R‘OI’I’C“ B/50/80 9 .S(s(:retar_y of State Edmund S. Muskie
file folder intended to express coneeims aboul delavs
i SALT and TNT arms negotiations, There
are stapled unclassified notes and
fcorrespondence attached to the letier.
Two copies of a one-page Action
“FOREIGN ’ | Memorandum from a Senate staffer, thim
K6 RELATIONS 1172879 ‘ 9 Ted Kaufman, to Mr. Biden attaching a
: COMMITTER” ' ‘ “memo from another Senate staffer
file folder (designated by TBI as K7y on TNI?
modernization,

CONFIDENTIAL

CONFIDENTIAL

SECRET

Departmeni of State did not
identify any potentially sensitive
Executive Branch information.
The “CONFIDENTIAL” marking,
therefore, does not appear to be a
national security classification
marking **

Department of State did not
identify anv potentially sensitive
Executive Branch information.
The "CONFIDENTIAL” marking,
therefore, does not appear to be a
national security classification
marking, **

Department of State did not
wdentify any poientially sensitive
Executive Branch information.
The "CONFIDENTIAL” marking,
therefore. does not appear to be a
national security classification
marking. **

UNCLASSIFIED**

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other 1.8, government ageucies before settling on a final clagsification.
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the Stare Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council Gneluding an assessment of State

Department equities).

A-20




Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Daoc. . Page Res o ion
Cont D . X . . esults of Classification
D ontained In ate Count Summary Classification Markings Review
Undetermined: Legislative Branch
document that may contain
- [*1_(,)1{131(}{\{ An Information Memorandum from g - sensitive Exe_:(:ulwe liranch
[0 RELATIONS 11/26/79 9 Senate Staffer to another Senate staffor SECRET ‘lnf()l'n}.ﬂl,l()?]: Whlph may ha,vc been
COMMITTERE" B regavding “T'NF Modernization and Arms SECRET declassified given age of the
file folder ! Control.” docume.m. Marl‘ung 18 not a
i necessarily a national-sccurity
classification because this 1s a
o ) 1 - Legislative Branch document **
"With the
Compliments of
the American ‘ A State Department cable from SECRT
Pl KEmhbassy, Bonn” L217sT . Ambassador Burl at the American . e Cable automatically declassified
and "Senator A 2 Embassy in Bonn with subject "Proposal with a brown stvip amm}d th(f. i on December 31, 2012%*
Juseph R. Biden, | for a NATO Wise Men's Study ™ document labeled “Restricted.” | R
?J ll.‘!
file foldey
! Undetermined; Legisiative Branch |
document that mayv contain
A Senate Committec en Foreign Relations QECRIT sensitive Bxecutive Branch
SSUMMARY OF MARCH 11, 1977 . T information. Marking 1s not a
, “GREECE” . - . EXECUTIVE MEETING O FUT.L. with & cover sheel labeled . necessarily a nallonajfspc'uriiv
Gl file foldey LK 3 COMMITTEL (Closed 8-116. 10:30 - CLASSIF,{ ED COMMITTEE ON Cla'.‘-,'.f-.ii.fl‘(:{lt‘i()l'l because fh'i;‘. 15 E.i
1915 T . FOREIGN RELATIONS UUNITED o ‘ T T .
1opm) regarding the testimony of e n et (1t . Legislative Branch document, **
Ambassador Clark M. Clifford. STATIS SENATE
Includes Foreign Government
Information
“MUTUAL
BALANCED . o
O Il*‘()l{(‘T’ Ty 1977 5 A paper titled “Mutual and Balanced [Force CONFIDNENTIAL CONFIDENTIAL/IFOBRMERLY
REDUCTION | ‘ Reduction (MBFR).” ’ - ‘ RESTRICTELD DATA
MBFR" file folder |

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other 1.8, government agencies before settling on a final classification.
** [lighest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the Natienal Security Council {(including an assessment of State

Department equities),
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Appendix A: Recovered Documents

Doc.
ID

Contained In

Date

Page
Count

Summary

Classification Markings

Results of Classification
Review

Gl

G4

“FOREIGN
RELATIONS
COMMITTEE”
file folder

“FOREIGN
RELATIONS
COMMITTEE"

tile folder

“CFE briefing
book material”
file folder

3279

1/23/80

A Senate Commuttec on Foreign Relations
Staff Memorandum titled “National
Security Interests in a Law of the Sea
Treaty Maveh 6, 1979 Hearmegs.”

An Action Memorandum to mine Senators.
including Mr. Biden, with subject
“Proposed 1980 Committee Budget - For
Discussion During Meeting of Democrats in
S-201 at 2:00p.m.. Wednesday. January
23.7 The dogument is identical to 101,

11/20/91

Aletter to Richard GG, Lugayr, Chairman of
the Committee on Foreign Relationg, from
an unspecified sendey regarding foregn

compliance with the CFE Treaty.

CONFIDENTIAL

CONFIDENTIAL

Undetermined: Legislative Branch |
document ihat may contamn
gsensitive Kxecutive Branch

information. Marking is not a
necessarily a national-security
classification because thisis a
Tegislative Branch document.**

Department of State did not
identify any potentially sensitive
Executive Branch informaticen.
The "CONFIDENTTAL” marking.
therefore, does not appear to be a
national security classification
mavking **

Undetermined

* Agency with highest recommended classification would need to consult with other US. government agencies before settling on a fjna} t:l:issﬂ'i(:éiti()l]. .
** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State
Department equities).
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Appendix B: Classification Review Results for Select Notebook Entries and Other Handwritten Material !

Handwritten Item

Entry Page

UUnlabeled notebook
{entries {rom 11/27/2008 -
715/2009)

Lindated
(Jikely 6/17/09 or 6/18/09)

“AffPak 17
notebook

‘ “AffPak 17
I notebook

11/28/09

V172704

FFOREIGN POLICY
1A13/09 - /13127
notebook

“FOREIGN POLICY
10/13/09 - 1/13/12”
notehook

"FORKIGN POLICY
10/13/09 - 1/13127
notebook

"FBI Serial 676.
2 1B64-00066.
T IB64-0065.
FIBE6-0003-22.
5 1B66-H082-841.
G 18B51-0073.
TIBA1-0074.
3 1B51-0080-81.

A16/10

Lndated

4729110

20 loose pagoes

1 page?

mserted in
noteboolk!

e

5 pages®

2 pages?

2 pages”

2 pagest

Pakistan

Description Entry Date Count Entry Topic Results of Classification Review
LInlabeled notebook H5/29/09
fentrics from 1 1/27/2008 - (entry has typo indicating 1 page? A foreign adversary TOP SECRET™**
THH2009) 2008)

CONFIDENTIAL*

Handwritten memorandum to POTUS
regarding the Afghanistan strategy review

SECRET**

Afehanistan / Pakistan

Afghanistan / Pakistan

Pakistan

Foreign adversary

TOP SECRET/HCS-0//

[1 SCI Control System Markings)//

ORCON/NOFORN

TOP SECRET/SI/NOFORN**

SECRET**

TOP SKCRET/HCS-O/

[3 SC Control Sysiein Mavkings]//
{2 5CI Control Systein Markings|//

ORCON/NOFORN

## Highast level of classification handling recommended by the State Department aciing as a proxy {o the National Security Council (including an assessment of State

Department equities).
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Appendix B: Classification Review Results for Select Notebook Entries and Other Handwritten Material

Handwritten Item
Description

Entry Date

Entry Page
Count

Entry Topic

“FOREIGN POLICY
10/13/09 - 1/13/12°
notebook

11/29/11

2 loose pages
inserted in
notebook?

. .
Foreign adversary

Unlabeled notebook
(eutries from 4/20/2009 -

12/4/2009)

Unlabeled notebook
{entries from 4/20/2009 -
12/4/2009)

Unlabeled notebook
(eniries from 4/20/20609 -
12/4/2009)

12710 - 8-3-147
notebook

1-7-10 — 8-3-147
notebook

“1-7-10 — 8-3-147
notchook

Undated
(Likely 1/1/1 1)

1 page'V

1727411

4/25/11

1 page!

6 pagegt?

hI28/11

7 pages!t

Results of Classification Review

SECRET**

Briefing on sensitive topics

TOP SECRET/HCS-O/ORCON/NOFORN™ :

Situation Room meeting with POTUS
regarding Afghanistan and Pakistan

National Security Council meeling
regarding Afghamstan and Pakistan

SECRET/HCS-OHORCON/NOFORN

TOP SECRET/NOFORN**

Recollection of raid on Osama Bin Laden

1009713

“Miscellaneous
1/9/10 - 1/17/127
nolebook

Y 1BA1-0121-0122,
¢ 1B63-0012.

M 1B63-0016.

12 1R63-0026-29.
15 1B30-0030-33.
" 1B30-0065,

15 1B30-0003-94.
% 1B5/2.0001.

lindated

1 page’!

2 pages!®

Notes from the President’s Daily Briel

TOP SECRET/HCS-O#
14 SC1 Contrel System Markings]//
ACCM [Program Name]//
ORCON/NOFORN

SECRET/NOFORN

Naotes from the President’s Daily Brief

6/19/13

1 page'

SECRET**

Brief from the National Security Agency

SECRET/REL

** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Security Council (including an assessment of State

Department equilies).
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Appendix B: Classification Review Results for Select Notebook Entries and Other Handwritten Material

Handwritten Item Entry Page . . ip s .
Description Entry Date Count Entry Topic Results of Classification Review
; .
“1/6/12 #2 Foreign Policy™ . - . ‘ . : i : )
? o lg'n ohicy : 2022/12 2 pagoes!” Situation Room meeting with POTLS TOP SECRET**
notebook
“IForeign Policy 11/2013 - 2014 Vi/i4 | page’s Accumulaied qt.xelm.irms ﬁ"um President’s SECRET**
notebook Daily Briefs
s ‘ ot o T ) i ]
foreign Policy 11/2013 - 201/ + Ovs :
Foreign Policy 11/2013 - 2014 oy 2 pages!? Meeting in the Oval Oﬂl.(,e with national QR ORI
notehook security advisors
“Forelgn Policy 11/2013 - 20147 ; ) Mecting in the Sittuation Room with . .
- . : / P 3 nasesit S . SRR
notebook 1 $pages POTUS vegavding a forewgn adversavy SECRI
“Fovelgn Policy 11/2013 - 20147 = ! G o Notes regarding Unmanned Aerial Systems T
nolebook BI19/TA 2 pages with POTUS SECRET
“Foreign Polic 2013 - 2014 o | National Security O 1l meeting in the IET P
Foreign Pohicy 1172013 - 2014 V12614 1 pages?? | itional ‘aec‘uut}, (. (]Ull(li. meeting in the SICRET**
notebook Sttuation Room
Foreign Policy 11/2013 - 2014 S | page? A meeting v‘\nh‘ John Kerry regarding a SECRET/NOFORN
notebook ! forcign adversary
Forexgn Poliey 1172013 - 2014 4/1/15 1 page?! . Notes from the President’s Daily Briel TOP SECRET**
notebonk '
[ P T, <|, e U o
Rotecards b?lm.d from Hearth a9/17/13 ] nmecat'q o Notes from the President’s Daily Briel TOP SECRET**
Railing {front unly)?? J ‘

T 1B15-0012-13.
HI1B65-0012.
Y 1B67-0013.
"IB6T-0019-20.
2L IBET-0038.
2 1B67-0063-65.
2 1B67-0075.
H1B67-0076.
25 18323-0012.

-

** Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acling as a proxy for the National Security Couneil (including au assessment of State
Department equities).
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Appendix B:

Handwritten Item
Description

Entry Date

Entry Page
Count

Classification Review Results for Select Notebook Entries and Other Handwritten Material

Results of Classification Review

| Notecards Seized from Hearth
Railing

Notecards Seized from Hearth -

10/15/13

1 notecard
(front only)2

Notes from the President’s Daily Brief

1 notecard

TOP SECRIT**

SEPTEMBER 20167
notebook

(likely G/18/15)

T pagesd

M 11323-0015.

27 1B23-0006-7.
3 IB58-0029-31.
24 1B58-0033.

30 1B58-0079-82.
T 1B58-0094.

32 1B57-0014.
1BST-0061-65.

|
R

Meetng with PO'TUS and national security
leaders

SECRET/HCS-O/ORCON/NOFORN

Ruiline 8/19/14 (front and Notes from the President’s Daily Brief SKECRET#*
& hack)2?
“Foreign Pulicy” Situavon Roomt Meeting with POTUS and
116tebook ¥ 10/28/14 b pages®™ the Joint Chiefs regarding military SKCRET
readiness
“Foreign Policy” Meeting with POTUS. the Secretary of
njofebook - U434 2 pagess Defense. the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, SKCRET=®®
and other advisors
“Foreign Policy” . - - o Meeting with "POTUS+ Brass+NSC” AT TP A YLD
notebook 12714715 PAGES vegarding Counter ISIL Strategy Review SECRET/NOFORN
Foreign Policy 124016 1 page’ Sceeure Video lE’l(‘C()]‘]f’E‘,l‘EIl(‘,E.é regarding SECRIETH/NOFORN
notebook | homealand threats 4
“Daily AUGUST 2014 - I
SEPTEMBER 2016” Undated 2 pages?? Foreign policy meciing notes SECRETH/NOFORN
notebook
‘Daily AUGUST 2014 - } Undated
l

** [{ighest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy lor the Nationa! Security Council (including ap assessment of State

Department equities).
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Appendix B: Classification Review Results for Select Notebook Entries

Handwritten [tem
Description

Entry Date

e e

Entry Page
Count

and Other Handwritten Material

Entry Topic

Results of Classification Review

“FOREIGN POLICY /104157
notebook

“FOREIGN POLICY 6/10/15”
notebook

?

RIS

(first two pages undated)

"FOREIGN POLICY 6/10/15”

b pagestt

DI4/16

2 pages’?

[.J eyl . i
oreign adversaries

CONFIDENTIAL**

Counterterrovism discussions, including on
I

“Acela Norith Bound”

Siluation Room meeting with POTLUS

SECRET**

notebook

T 1R22-0013-15.
M 1R22-0023.
3 122-0024.
ST 11322-0026
58 1B20-0034.

: : reg SECRET/NOFORN
notebook BI3116 2 pages regavding Afghanistan SECRET/NOFORN
.y . - o
FOREJGN POLICY 6/10715 1517 2 pages’’ Sensitive Topic TOP SECRET/NHCS-Q/ORCON/NOFORN
notebook
“DAILY 1215415
2026-2017-2018 6/13/16 I page? Natienal security meeting SKCRET/NOFORN

“* Highest level of classification handling recommended by the State Department acting as a proxy for the National Sccurity Couneil (including an assessment of State

Department equities).
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Appendix C: Evidence Items

Recovered
Evidence| Date Location Seized or Descripti documents N
Item # Seized Producing Party seription contained within otes
Evidence item
1Bo1! 11/28/22 PRC i Hard drive found in hox labeled: VP Records
1 S _ . Ide to the content's higher elassifications
ox contaming miscellaneous documents with and sensitivities. the folder "Facts First "
1B042 12/21/22 Wilmington Residence classifications up to TOP SECRET. Collected Bd-5, B25-38 ‘“15 '1:”9‘11;1(13\;1( (li(gomellz : i;‘d ei(t)e.ipdnz;‘-.‘
. ‘as removed Bd s ntered as
from the garage. separate evidence, designated as 1B44.
L e : _ -
Red Folder with handwritten "Faces First”
183447 12/21/22 Wilmington Residence containing documents with classifications up to B36-1324 Originally contained within 184,
TOP SECRET/HCSH#NOFORN.
_ Box containing binders with classified
1BOLY 12021722 Wilmington Hesidence documents up to SECRET/NOFORN. Collected i31-133
from the garage.
- . o . Three (3) pages with classification markings vy e Documents woere omginally contamed
b F192/4 i 5 Jdenee g - . -
113 snzs o Wilmington Residence SBCRET/NOFORN/Pre-decisional. ¢1-C3 wiihin notebook (1B15).
______ S S F IS _ -
‘ . I ‘ Three (3) pages with clagsification markings Documents were originally contained
A 9 ; , o - . ., ; k
1B14 1/12/23 Wilmington Residence TSSO 1 within notebook (1B15).
- g . Black spiral notebook labeled:
5 AP / sidence ek on : -
1B15 1/14/23 Wilmington Residence “1/6/12 #2 Foreign Policy J
L S U | S A I _ -
1B Serials 12, 14, 23
L FBI Serals 29, 35, 134, 181, 195, 284, 322, 143, 512,

PRI Serials 29,
PFRI Serials 29,
FFBI Senals 43,
6 FBI Serials 443,

35, 195, 440, 443, 510, 512,
356, 195, 270, 284, 701.

44, 160, 682.

44, 160, 682.

7 FBI Serals 44, 46, 47, 134, 322, 682.



Appendix C: Evidence Items

Recovered
Evidence Date Location Seized or Description documents
Ttem # Seized Producing Party P contained within

Evidence item

Notes

; Box labeled: Save the Attic: Foreign Travel.
1B178 1120723 Wilmington Residence Contained miscellaneous documents with 12103
classification markings up to CONVIDENTTAL.

Box labeled: International Travel 1973-1979. | -
1818 120023 Wilmington Resudence Contained miscellancous documents with D4-119
| classification markings up to SECRET

L. M e S cmem . - J—
]
. s ‘ Black spiral notebook labeled:
‘ L ‘ L. 3 36 P10
15320 1120423 Wilmimgton Residence SDALLY 12/15/15 and 2026-2017-2018."
At the time of the search, three notebooks
were fpund in the same location, seized and
‘ entered into evidence, collectively
. . o . Black spiral notehook labeled: { ) - v
18224 1/20/23 Wilmingteon Residence o e Tyt T g s it designated as 1B22. For evidence handiing
FOREIGN POLTCY 6/10/15 and review purposes, each notebook was
given its own FBI evidentiary number:
1B22, 1B6T and 11368,
I S . _ . . [ [ . . N R R |
18672 /20423 Wilmington Residence BIE?;:3\1;:1][;::]::(\;“1};:’2)(1)\11;1[‘?(})1;(41 [nitially collected with 11322, )
: . o ‘ 3lack spirg tebook labeled: . . o
1868 J 1/20/23 Wilmington Residence “()l[):a]?)ia/}:lijtl;o:l] ,[{,m]é)]“;)$ 1169 190(-](5" Initially collected with 1822,
) : .00se, miscellancous papers with handwritice
1R231 120123 Wilmimgton Residence Loose, miscellancous 11.11)91% with handwritien |
: notes {notecards). -

B IPBI Sevials 19, 77, 270, 2841, 639.
Y FBI Serials 49, 77, 270, 284, 639.
10 FBI Sevials 19, 77, 248, 322.
MBI Serials 49, 77, 322,

2 B Serials 49, 77, 322.

BBl Serials 49, 77, 322

FRT Berials 49, 77, 322, 664.
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Appendix C: Evidence Items

Location Seized or
Producing Party

Description

Recovered
documents
contained within
Evidence item

Notes

Wilmington Residence

Black spiral notebook labeled: “Daily/Memo”

Wilmingten Residence

Black spiral notebook labeled:
"FOREIGN POLICY 10/13/09 - 1/17/127

D21

At the time of the search, eight notebooks
were found 1n the same location, seized and
entered into evidence, collectively,
designated as 1B25. For evidence handling
and review puvposes, each noetehook was
given its own "Bl evidentiavy number:
1B25, 1861, 1852, 1B62, 1B63, 1B64, 1865,
and 11366,

Wilminglon Residence

Black spiral noicbook labeled:
“Miscellaneous from /910 - 1/17/127

Wilmington Residence

Black spiral unlabeled notebook with fivst
Imtevior page statmg:
"12-2-09, 11-15-10"

Wilmington Residence

Evidence Date
Item # Seized
1B251% 1/20/23
1BA16 1720123
1B5217 1720023
186218 1/20/23
1B631¢ 1/20/23
1B6420 1720723
1136541 1/20423

Wilmington Residence

Black spiral unlabeled notebook with fivst
nterior page stating:

Review"

"Afghamstan - Pakistan Review December 2010

Initially collected with 1825,

Tmually collected with 1B25.

iniaily collected with 18325,

Initially collected with 11325,

Black spiral unlabeled notebook with entry
dates 11/27/08 1o 7/15/09

Wilmington Residence

Black spiral notebook labeled:
“POST BELECTION?

15 FBI Serials 49,
16 BT Serials 49,
TFRI Serials 49,
4 FBI Sexrals 49,
1" "Bl Serials 49,
2t FBI Serials 49,
21 PRI Serials 49,

,

-
i
,

7,

. 322, 682,
322.
322
322,
322,
322.

-3

Initially collected with 1B25.

[nitially collected with 11325,




Appendix C: Evidence Items

Recovered |
Fvidence| Date Location Seized or Description documents Not
Item # Seized Producing Party escriptio contained within otes
Evidence item
I el @ry1yee i - =Y .
1B66G2 2o | Wilmington Residence Black bpn:li [;l{;f:kh(ljf‘)k labeled: D20 Initially collecied with 11525,
Various documents i blue file folder labeled
1 Bo7e 1/20/23 Wilmington Residence 1\mputahon§ l*_ elb 1‘1, (,()Illal;lerl document with D22
clagsification warkings up to
SKCRET/NOFORN.
At the time of the seavch, four notebooks
! were found in the same location, scized and
1 Black notebook labelod: entered into evidence, collectively
153302 1/20/23 Wilmington Residence aee 2 SRR designated as 1830, For evidence handling
1/5/10 — 8/3/14 .
and review purposes, each notebook was
given 1ts own FBI evidentiary numbey:
11330, 11357, 1BB&. and 11359.
- . ‘ Black notebook labeled: . .
YRS 2042 /1 ! ssidence ‘ R . dally collected w 30.
1857 1720423 Wilmington Residenc “Dasly AUGUST 2014 - SEPTEMBER 20167 Initially collected with 1B30
1135826 1/20/23 Wilmington Residence Hlat.:Ak‘noLI(almo)l-c l.abf?l(‘(i: Initially coliected with 1B30.
Foreign Pohey
- ‘ . Bluck notebook labeled: i . .
TN 2072 / sl wsidence . - nally collecte 1B30.
| 11359 1720/23 Wilmington Residence DAILY 2016 Initially collected with
! ' Blue unlabeled binder contained documents . |
1833148 1/20/23 Wilmington Residence with classification mavkings up to N23-125 ;
SECRET/NQOQFORN. ]
- - . ——— S B ———— e - . e —_—— —

2 FRI Serials 49, 77, 322,
2 FBI Serials 49, 77, 270,
I FRT Serials 49, 77, 248,
25 FBI Serials 49, 77. 322,
2 WR] Serials 49, 77, 322,
25 FBI Serials 49, 77, 322,
28 W3 Serials 49, 270,

=1 =1 ~1 =1
s R e |

1~
I

LN IN

682.
284.
322
284, 701,



Appendix C: Evidence Items

Description

Recovered
documents
contained within
Evidence item

Notes

Unmarked Box - 329.94.341 containing
documents with classification markings up to
SKCRET.

I1-E5

Manila folder labeled: With the Compliments of
the American Embassy. Bonn, Senator Joseph
R. Biden, Jr. Contained documents with
¢lassification marking up 10 SECRET.

One laptop, with charging cable,

Manila envelope labeled: Iran 1730/15, Eyes
Only VPOTUS. From Box 3 stored at
NARA. The envelope contained documents
with classification mavkmegs up to TS/SCL and
handwntten notes.

A3-AT

Documents from Box 1 stored at NARA with
classification markings up to TS/SCL

Documents from Box 3 stored at NAIRA with

classification markings up e TOP SECRET

A1-A2 (Box 1):
AB-AT0 (Box 3)

Brown paper bag labeled: Baldueer's, containing
various items.

Legal sized brown folder labeled: CFE Bricfing

Book Material, containing documents with
classification mavking up to

, — el
Evidence | Date Location Seized or
Item # Seized Producing Party

1B35% 1/27/23 Umiversity of Delaware
1B37% 2/3/23 HUniversity of Delaware
1B43y 3323 PBC Scheduler

1B48# 4113/23 NARA

113493 4/13/23 NARA

18774 5123123 Wilmmgton Residence
1136945 6/6/23 University of Delaware
R N |

SECRETANOFORN.

2 FBI Serals G7, 270, 284, 466.
SOFBT Serals 71, 270, 284,

M FBI Serial 108.

32 FBI Serial 173,

44 FBI Seral 173.

SUFBI Semals 287, 294, 591,

5 FB1 Serials 292, 441,

1B31 was originally located mside this
Balduce bag.




Appendix C: Evidence Items

Recovered
Evidence | Date Location Seized or D - documents N
Item# Seized Producing Party eseription contained within otes
Evidence item
legal sized brown folder labeled: Foreign
Yolata 2 (0 | R NNy . i
IR0 617123 University of Delaware I\(,ldim'ns (.Jomm?l.t(,al.. (onl‘.lm.mg,, documents (13-(14
with classification markings up 1o
CONFIDENTIALL
Legal sized brown folder labeled: Muiual
ol wh e D SR L B . ; -
B GITIS University of Delaware Balanced t oree h(,du(,_l‘llon I'\(IBI R, contaming (12
documents with classificaiion marking up 1o
CONTIDENTIAL.
Taegal sized hrown folder labeled: Greece.
1B72% 6/7/23 University of Delaware containing documents with classificaton (:]
markings up to SKCRET.
_ ; . SR R T e . - _
IBT8Y | 6/29/23 Jwonilzer Stlver Laptop (Wlth power charvging cord i
: included)
S S . - ,, —— R -
1B70%0 ' 629723 ‘ Fwvonituer Silver (3 Drive (\_vith USl‘i connection cord and
device case mmcluded)
Derivative Evidence — Dgital copy that
1R8O Ti5/23 Zwomtzer contains audio files and documents from 1B78 Derived from 1B78 and 1B79.
and 11379
B8 | 76723 Lwanitzer Ove (1) DVD containing digital copies of full Derived from 1879,
length carved audio files from 11379,

B Serals 292, 441.
7 FBI Serials 292, 441,
8 1FBR1 Serials 292, 441.
3Bl Serial 315,
WEFRI Serial 315.
1 KBl Serial 320,
12 "RI Semal 320.

-G




Appendix C: Evidence [tems

Recovered
Evidence! Date Location Seized or D . documents
Item# Seized Producing Party escription contained within Notes
Evidence item
Empty, ripped cardboard box. One top flap Original container of ali 1B04 items which
1Bg7# 1/22/24 Wilmingioen Residence labeled "Desk File” and the opposite {lap were repackaged as described in Chapter 7

labeled "Calinet”.

13+ FBI Serials 680. 681.
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were packed and moved during the transition out of the vice presidency and between residences,
He pointed to tlaws in the asswmptions behind specitic lines of questioning.

At the outset of the interview. vou recognizaed that the questions yvou planned Lo ask
“relate to events that happened years ago.” but nonetheless expressed vour hope that the
President would ~put torth [his] best efforts and really tny 1o get [his| best recollection in
responsc to the questions we ask.,”™ 1. Dayv L at 4. It is hardly fair to concede that the President
would be asked about events vears in the past. press him 1o give his “hest” recollections. and
then fault kim for his imited memory,

The Prestdent’s inability to recall dates or details of events that happened vears ago is
neither surprising nor unusual. especially given that many guestions asked him to recall the
particulars of statf work to pack. ship. and store materials and turniture in the course of moves
between residences. The same predictable memory foss occurred with other witnesses in this
investigation. Yet. unlike your treatment ot President Biden. vour report accepts other
witnesses” memory loss as completely understandable given the passage of time. For example.
vou accepted without denigrating John MeGrail's tailure to remember certain events while he
served as then-Viee President Biden's counsel: “McGrail's memory ot these ¢vents could well
have faded over the course of more than 6 vcars.” Report at 238 n.923: see wiso id. at 67. 69
(noting Mr. McGrail's fatlure (o recall events despite emails that place him in the center of
various discussions). So. too. you accept the memory lapse of one of the President’s personal
lawwvers who testitied that in his initial search of the Penn Biden offices certain boxes were stored
in a locked closet. noting only that ~his memory was [uzzy on that point.” fd at 265, And the
events on which yvou found the fawyver's memory to be “tuzzy™ occurred only a few months
before his interview. fel see aiso id. at 64. 66 (noting without comment the faitures of
recollection by numerous statfers).

Your treatment of President Biden stands in marked contrast to the lack of pejorative
comments about other individuals. {tis also in contrast to your own description of the
President’s responses on other subjects as “clear forceful testimony™ that would be “compelling”
toajury, fd at 233,

Notonly do vou treat the President difterently from other witnesses when discussing his
limited recall of certain vears-ago events. but vou also do so on occasions in prejudicial and
mflammatory terms. You refer to President Biden's memory on at feast nine occasions 2
number that is itsel gratuitous. But cven among those nine instances. your report varies. tis
one thing to observe President Biden's memory as being “signilicantly Himited™ on ¢ertain
subjects. fd at 3. It is quite another to use the more sweeping and highiy prejudicial language
emploved later in the report. This language is not supported by the facts. nor is it appropriately
used by a federal prosecutor in this context.

We request that vou revisit vour descriptions of President Biden's memory and revise
them so that they are stated in a manner that is within the bounds of your expertise and remit.

2. Your report criticizes President Biden's “decision o keep his notebooks at home in
unfocked and unauthorized containers™ as “totally irresponsible.” applying 1o him the same
criticism. in the same words. he had directed at former President Trump [or keeping marked

[



classified documents. /d at 228, Setting aside the signiticant difference of law and facts
between the two cases (which the ceport recognizes). this kind of eriticism of an uncharged party
violates “long-standing Department practice and protocol.” See Oflice of the Inspector General.
LLS. Department of Justice. A Review of Various Actions by the Iederal Bureau of Investigation
and Department of Justice in Advance of the 2016 Election (June 2018) (finding that former I'BI
Director James Comey vielated this practice and protocol when criticizing as “extremely
careless” former Secrctary of State Hillary Clinton's usc of unclassificd svstems to transmit
classified material). Using President Biden's own words does not make the ¢riticism compliant
with Department practice.

3. Inan audio recording with Mr. Zwonitzer. the President said: 1 just found all the
classiied stull downstairs. T wrote the President a handwritten forty -page memorandum arguing
agamst deploving additional troops to Alghanistan on the grounds that it would not matter.”™ Yet
vour report appears (o conclude that the President was referring o marked classified Atghanistan
documents. rather than the precise document referred o in the actual recording: the President’s
handwritten letrer to President Obama about Atghanistan. which the President viewed as a
sensitive and private communication. Indeed. the President testified in his interview that.
although he didn’t remember the comment to Mr. Zwonitzer. the ~only thing that {he| can think
of " was this handwritten letter to President Obama. Tr.. Dayv 1L at 38, We believe that an
accurate recttation of the evidence on this point would recognize the strong likelihood that the
President was referring in the recording to his private handwriten letter 1o President Obama
the one mentioned on this recording immediately after the ¢ight words that y ou are focused on--
rather than the marked classitied Afghanistan documents discovered in the Wilmington garage,

4. Your report erroncously (and repeatedly) imakes statements about the value of the
marked classified Alghanistan documents to President Biden. such as President Biden had a
“strong motive” to keep them and they were an “irveplaceable contemporaneous record.” like the
notebooks. Reportat 2030 231, These statements are contrary {o the evidence and the
documents themselves. First, the President foreefully westified that he never thought about”™
writing a beok about the 2009 Atghanistan policy review. Tr. Day 1L at 22, Thus. the President
had no need to retain the documents for that purpose. Second. the 2009 Atghanistan policy
review was one of the most widely covered foreign policy decisions in history. documented in
near real-time by public releases of government documents. leaks to newspapers. and
publications by writers like Bob Woodward. The idea that the President needed to keep any
classilied documents related to these events. let alone the particular ones {found in his garage. 13
implausible. This is particularly true given that the documents at tssuc primarily consist of
drafts. duplicates. and a disorganized and incomplete assortment of briefing materials and
presentations—nothing remotely resembling a consciousty selected set ot documents kept for
hustorical value. Indeed. vour report acknowledges that certain “important”™ documents are not in
the tolders, meluding documents that—it President Biden had sought to keep documents tor
history’s sake {which he did noty  one would expect to be included. However. your report tails
to deseribe the haphazard and essentially random nature of the documents discovered. We
believe that a fair and more accurate recitation of the evidence on this peint would include a
deseription of the documents that makes clear they do not appear to have been intentionally
selected for retention,

3



5. Your characterization of the box in the garage as containing only matters of “great
personal significance™ to the President is inconsistent with the facts. The evidence shows that
this tattered box contained a random assortment of documents. including plainly unimportant
ones such as: a short-term vacation lease: a VP-cra memorandum on furniture at the Naval
Observatory for purchase: talking points from speeches: campaign material; empty folders: a
1995 document commemorating Syracuse Law’s 100-yvear anniversary: and other randomm
materials. In his interview. President Biden commented regarding one of the {olders. which read
“Pete Rouse™: ~Christ, that goes back a way.” confirming that he had not encountered that
matcrial in recent years. Tr.. Day L at 144, When asked how things like a binder labeled “Beau
lowa™ got into the “beat-up™ box. the President responded ~Somcbody must ve. packing this up.
just picked up all the stutt and put it in a box. becausc I didn’t.” /d at 146. When asked about
the later-dated material. the President responded: “[s|ec. that’s what makes me think just people
sathered up whatever they found. and whenever the Tast thing was being moved. So the stutt’
moving out of the Vice President’s residence. at the end of the dayv. whatever they found. they
put - they didn't separate it out, you know, Speakers Bureau and Penn or whatever the hell it is.
or Beau. They just put it in a single box. That's the only thing I can think of.” {d at 147. Some
of the documents in the box contain what appears to be staff handwriting  including a D.C. tax
return and a W2- further indicating that the box was likely lilled by staff. We belicve that an
accurate recitation of the evidence on this point would include a deseription of these facts.

6. [n the course of his recorded conversations with his writing assistant. the President
makes a comment-—they didn"t even know T have these,” Your report repeatediy cites the
comment {¢.g.. Report at 8. 64. 650 230, 242 and. from these sixowords, asks the reader to
conclude that President Biden was ~distinguish|ing] between his notecards. which his statl was
in the process of implementing protocols to safeguard. and his notebooks. which “they didn’t
even know [have.” [ at 630 The President’s comment does not support this unlounded
conciusion. It is unciear who the President was referring to as “they™ or what he was refering to
as “these.” et afone that he was somehow distinguishing between his noteeards and his
notchooks. We believe the report should not make such unsupported assumptions-  or leave the
erroncous impression that the fact of President Biden's notebooks was unknown. when the report
itselt shows that it was well known and even documented in photographs.

7. There are a number of inaccuracies and misleading statements that could be corrected

with minor changes:

o “We considered the possibility that Mr. Biden alerted his counsel that classified
documents were in the garage but our investigation revealed no evidence of such
a discussion because if it happened. it would be protected by the attorney-client
privilege.” Report at 22, In fact. your investigation revealed no evidence of such
a discussion because it did not happen --not because of any privilege. The
President testified he was unaware that there were any ¢lassified documents in his
possession, Tr.. Day Il at 2. 41-42, You did not ask him in his interview or in
the additional written guestions if he had —alerted his counsel™ about classified
documents: if you had. he would have torcefully told you that he did not.

o The report states that the President Biden's book. Promise Me, Dad. ~is not

known to” contain classificd information. Report at 97. The book does not
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